
- 1 -

CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD

CABINET: DYDD IAU, 15 RHAGFYR 2016 at 3.30 PM

A Cabinet Meeting will be held in the Neuadd Y Ddinas on at 3.30 pm

A G E N D A

Apologies & Declarations of Interest  

1  Cofnodion y Cyfarfodydd Cabinet a gynhaliwyd 10 a 21 Tachwedd 2016  
(Tudalennau 1 - 8)

Arweinydd  

2  Adroddiad Dilyn i Fyny Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru ar yr Asesiad Corfforaethol - 
Datganiad Gweithredu  (Tudalennau 9 - 46)

Gwasanaethau Corfforaethol a Pherfformiad  

3  Cofrestr Risg Corfforaethol - Adolygiad Canol Blwyddyn 2016/17  (Tudalennau 
47 - 68)

4  Sail y Dreth Gyngor 2017-18  (Tudalennau 69 - 88)

Blynyddoedd Cynnar, Plant a Theuluoedd  

5  Ail-gomisiynu Teuluoedd yn Gyntaf  (Tudalennau 89 - 148)

Addysg  

6  Gofynion Llety yn Ysgol Uwchradd Cantonian  (Tudalennau 149 - 156)

Trafnidiaeth, Cynllunio a Chynaliadwyedd  

7  Ffordd Gyswllt Dwyrain y Bae  (Tudalennau 157 - 164)

8  Map Rhwydwaith Integredig  (Tudalennau 165 - 208)

9  Cyfnewidfa Drafnidiaeth Gorllewin Caerdydd  (Tudalennau 209 - 222)

PAUL ORDERS



- 2 -

Chief Executive



CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL 
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD
       
MINUTES

CABINET MEETING:  10 NOVEMBER 2016

VENUE: NORWEGIAN CHURCH

Cabinet Members Present: Councillor Phil Bale (Chair) 
Councillor Sue Lent 
Councillor Peter Bradbury
Councillor Dan De’Ath 
Councillor Bob Derbyshire 
Councillor Graham Hinchey 
Councillor Susan Elsmore 
Councillor Sarah Merry
Councillor Ramesh Patel 

Observers: Councillor David Walker
Councillor Judith Woodman

Officers: Paul Orders, Chief Executive
Christine Salter, Section 151 Officer
Davina Fiore, Monitoring Officer 
Claire Deguara, Cabinet Office

44 MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETINGS HELD ON 28 SEPTEMBER 2016 
AND 13 OCTOBER 2016 

RESOLVED: that the minutes of the Cabinet meetings of the 28 September 2016 
and 13 October 2016 be approved.

45 2017/18 BUDGET PROPOSALS FOR CONSULTATION 

The Cabinet received an update on the budget reduction requirement for 2017/18 
which included reflection of the Provision Local Government Settlement together with 
details of draft budget proposals for consultation prior to submission to Council.  

It was proposed that formal budget consultation would be launched on Thursday 10 
November 2016.

RESOLVED: that

1. the budget savings proposals as attached at Appendix 2 be approved as the 
Cabinet’s Budget Savings Proposals for Consultation.

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



2. It be noted that the formal budget consultation will commence on the 10 
November 2016 and run until 11 December 2016. The results of the 
consultation process will then be considered by Cabinet as part of preparing 
their final 2017/18 budget proposal.

3. It be noted that the Chief Executive as Head of Paid Service will be issuing all 
necessary statutory and non-statutory employment consultations in respect of 
the staffing implications of the proposals.

46 TREASURY MANAGEMENT MID-YEAR REPORT 2016/17 

Annexes A&B to Appendix 1 to this report are not for publication as they
contain exempt information of the description in Paragraphs 14 and 21 of 

Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

This Cabinet received an update on the Council’s Treasury Management activities 
highlighting the Mid-Year position at 30 September 2016. 

It was reported that during the financial year to date, the Council had operated within 
the treasury limits and prudential indicators set out in the annual Treasury 
Management Strategy in February 2016.

RESOLVED: that Council be recommended to note the Treasury Management Mid-
Year Report 2016-17 (Appendix 1)

47 COMMISSIONING APPROACH FOR FLYING START CHILDCARE PLACES 

Appendix 4 to this report is exempt from publication because it contains 
information of the kind described in Paragraph 16 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A to 

the Local Government Act 1972

Cabinet considered a report outlining the proposed commissioning approach to 
Flying Start Childcare places.  Flying start is an early years’ programme for families 
with children under 4 years of age, the Cardiff programme is the largest in Wales and 
represents 25% of the 0-3 years population in Cardiff.  The report seeks to ensure 
there is sufficient provision for families wishing to take up the programme. 

RESOLVED: that 

1. the proposed model for commissioning Flying Start childcare places for eligible 
Flying Start families, as set out in the body of the report and appendix 1 of the 
report be approved  

2. authority be delegated to the Director of Education and Lifelong Learning in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services & Performance, 
the Cabinet Member for Early Years, Children and Families, the Council’s 
Section 151 Officer and the Director of Law and Governance;

a. to deal with all aspects of the procurement of Flying Start Childcare 
Services as set out in the report, up to and including the award of 
contracts;

Page 2



b. to deal with all ancillary matters which pertain to the recommissioning 
proposals set out in this report, including, without limitation, making 
decision as to any direct award of contracts that may be required until the 
recommissioning arrangements are in place;

3. the direct award of contracts for the provision of Flying Start Childcare 
services funded by the Flying Start Programme to each of the 13 existing 
providers named at Appendix 5, such contracts having a term of 3 years plus 
an option to extend for up to a further period of 12 months be approved.

48 SUSPENDING THE RIGHT TO BUY 

At the start of the item Councillor Graham Hinchey declared a personal and 
prejudicial interest in this item as his spouse is employed by a Housing 

Association.  Cllr Hinchey left the meeting and took no part in the decision 
making.

Cabinet considered a report outlining the proposal to go out to public consultation to 
apply to suspend the Right to Buy.  Currently Council tenants have the Right to Buy 
their home, the Housing (Wales) Measure 2011 gave local housing authorities the 
ability to apply to Welsh Ministers for a direction to suspend the Right to 
Buy/Acquire in areas of housing pressure for a period of up to 5 years.  A further 
report will be brought to Cabinet outlining the outcome of the consultation.  

RESOLVED; that 

1. the issues set out in this report be noted and it be agreed that public 
consultation take place on the proposal to apply for a suspension of Right to 
Buy/Acquire.

2. a further report setting out the results of the consultation and proposed way 
forward be brought to a future meeting of the Cabinet.

Page 3



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL 
CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD
       
MINUTES

CABINET MEETING:  21 NOVEMBER 2016

VENUE: INSOLE COURT

Cabinet Members Present: Councillor Phil Bale (Chair) 
 Councillor Peter Bradbury
Councillor Dan De’Ath 
Councillor Bob Derbyshire 
Councillor Graham Hinchey 
Councillor Susan Elsmore 
Councillor Sarah Merry
Councillor Ramesh Patel 

Observers: Councillor Judith Woodman

Officers: Paul Orders, Chief Executive
Christine Salter, Section 151 Officer
David Marr, Deputy Monitoring Officer 
Claire Deguara, Cabinet Office

Apologies: Councillor Sue Lent
Councillor David Walker

49 PROPERTY INVESTMENT ESTATE UPDATE 

Appendix 2 of this report is not for publication as it contains exempt 
information of the kind described in paragraph 14 of part 4 and paragraph 21 of 

part 5 of schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

Cabinet considered a report detailing the new 5 year Investment Estate Strategy.  
The Investment Estate is the Council’s portfolio of non-operational property held for 
the primary purpose of generating income to support the Council’s revenue budget.  
Jones Lang La Salle have been appointed as the Council’s external property advisor 
and will be consulted on all property transactions affecting the Investment Estate.

RESOLVED: that the Investment Estate Strategy 2016 – 2021 attached as Appendix 
1 to the report be approved, subject to an amendment to page 17 of the Strategy to 
identify the Head of Strategic Estates and the designated Leader Offcer. 

50 TIDAL LAGOON CARDIFF UPDATE 

Cabinet received a report providing an update on the latest position with regard to the 
potential proposals to construct a Tidal Lagoon between Cardiff and Newport.  The 
report details the potential opportunities and issues of the potential scheme.  

Page 5



Page 2 of 3

RESOLVED: that 

1. the report be noted, and, in the event the project is progressed, to request that 
the Environment Scrutiny Committee establish a Scrutiny Task and Finish Group 
process including the gathering of independent expert advice in order to derive 
more detailed information and clarity on potential opportunities and issues, and 
to report back to Cabinet with an enhanced understanding ahead of any 
requests for the Council to formally engage in the planning process; and 

2. In the event the project is progressed, to Officers be authorised to; 

(i) further liaise with the developers of the project in order to confirm a 
Planning Performance Agreement which secures the necessary resources 
for the Council to fulfil its required duties as the project is taken through 
the planning process, 

(ii) undertake a detailed appraisal of the potential economic, social and 
environmental implications of the project for Cardiff, and 

(iii) engage with the developers of the project to understand more fully the 
public benefit which would be offered to offset the potential risks. 

51 2016-17 QUARTER 2 PERFORMANCE REPORT 

The Cabinet received the Council’s performance report for Quarter 2 (July to 
September) of the 2016-17 financial year.  It was reported that 60% of Corporate 
Plan Commitments were Green and 62% of Performance Indicators were green

RESOLVED: that the current position regarding performance, the delivery of key 
commitments and priorities as at Quarter 2, and the action being taken to address 
areas of concern be noted.

52 BUDGET MONITORING - MONTH 6 REPORT 

Cabinet considered the Budget Monitoring position for month 6.  The overall position 
indicated a projected overspend of £537,000 an improvment of £313,000 on the 
month 4 position.  The overall position continues to reflect financial pressures and 
shortfalls against budget savings targets in directorate budgets.  It is anticipated that 
management actions taking during the year will enable this to be reduced by the year 
end.

RESOLVED: that

1. the potential outturn position based on the first six months of the financial year 
be noted.

2. The requirement for all directorates currently reporting overspends as 
identified in this report to put in place actions to reduce their projected 
overspends be reinforced. 

Page 6



Page 3 of 3

53 SCHOOL ORGANISATION PROPOSALS: THE PROVISION OF ENGLISH-
MEDIUM AND WELSH-MEDIUM PRIMARY SCHOOL PLACES IN THE 
ADAMSDOWN AND SPLOTT WARDS 

Cabinet received a report detailing the proposed modification to an agreed School 
Organisation Proposal relating to the provision of English-medium and Welsh-
medium primary school places in the Adamsdown and Splott wards.  Following 
receipt of updated pre-school population data it has been identified that the demand 
for primary school places in the Adamsdown and Splott wards will fall and therefore a 
modification to the previous proposals is necessary.  

RESOLVED: that

1. Officers be authorised to seek the agreement of Welsh Ministers of the 
proposed modification to the agreed school organisation proposal as set out at 
paragraph 7.

2. Officers be authorised to review projections and demand for English-medium 
primary school places in the area to inform the future progress of the proposed 
expansion of Moorland Primary School. 

3. the delay to the completion date for the delivery of the new build school for 
Ysgol Glan Morfa as set out at paragraph 11 be noted.

54 COMMISSIONING OF REPLACEMENT BUILDING MAINTENANCE 
SERVICES FRAMEWORK 

Cabinet considered the proposed commissioning of the replacement building 
maintenance framework.  The annual value of the framework is £25.7 million, the 
proposed framework seeks to address a range of significant difficulties with the 
previous, very diverse, arrangements for the supply and management of building 
maintenance and improvement works.

RESOLVED: that

1. the strategy approach for the commissioning for Housing Repairs and 
Maintenance and Disabled Adaptions as set out in this report be approved.

2. Authority be delegated to the Director of Communities, Housing and Customer 
Service, in consultation with the portfolio member for Health, Housing and 
Wellbeing and the section 151 Officer and County Solicitor, to deal with all 
aspects of the procurement relating to Housing Repairs and Maintenance and 
Disabled Adaptations, including setting the contract evaluation criteria and the 
award of contracts.

3. Authority be delegated to the Director of Communities, Housing and Customer 
Service to make the interim contractual arrangements necessary for the 
continuation of service until the new contracts are in place

4. It be noted that recommissioning of Non-Domestic services be taken forward 
as a second phase and will be the subject of a separate cabinet report. 

Page 7



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 3

CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD
CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL 

CABINET MEETING: 15 DECEMBER 2016

WALES AUDIT OFFICE CORPORATE ASSESSMENT FOLLOW 
ON REPORT – STATEMENT OF ACTION UPDATE

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
AGENDA ITEM: 2

PORTFOLIO: LEADER (ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND PARTNERSHIPS)

Reason for this Report

1. To provide an update to Cabinet on progress made during 2016/17 to 
implement the various commitments contained within the Council’s 
Statement of Action, which was developed in response to the 
recommendations made in the Wales Audit Office Corporate Assessment 
Follow On report.

Background

2. The Auditor General for Wales must report on an annual basis on how 
well Welsh councils, fire and rescue authorities, and national parks are 
planning for improvement in delivering their services. In addition, the 
Auditor General for Wales must conduct a Corporate Assessment of 
every local authority in Wales once every 4 years and has powers to:

 make proposals for improvement;
 make formal recommendations for improvement;
 conduct a special inspection and publish a report and make 

recommendations;
 recommend to Ministers of the Welsh Government that they 

intervene in some way.

3. In March 2014, the Wales Audit Office undertook a Corporate 
Assessment of the Council which sought to assess if the Council was 
capable of delivering its priorities and improved outcomes for citizens. 
This assessment, which focused on performance in 2013/14, also drew 
on the work of other Welsh inspectorates, including Care & Social 
Services Inspectorate Wales (CSSIW) and Estyn.

4. On 1 September 2014, the Wales Audit Office published its findings in 
the form of a Corporate Assessment report, which was received formally 
by the Cabinet on 18 September 2014. The report also committed the 
Wales Audit Office to carry out a follow-on visit in 2015 to determine 
whether the issues identified in the Corporate Assessment report had 
been satisfactorily resolved. This was undertaken in September 2015.Page 9

Agenda Item 2



Page 2 of 3

5. The Wales Audit Office published its Corporate Assessment Follow On 
report on 26 February 2016 and the report was received formally by the 
Cabinet on 10 March 2016. The report contained one statutory 
recommendation and 14 proposals for improvement, which related 
specifically to the following key areas:

 leadership & management;
 governance;
 performance reporting; and
 corporate enablers (including human resources, use of assets, 

financial planning processes; IT arrangements and information 
governance arrangements).

6. The single recommendation of the Wales Audit Office Follow On report 
was that the Council must ensure that it addresses the 14 proposals for 
improvement to deliver improved outcomes within the next 12 months.

7. In response, the Cabinet agreed a Statement of Action and proposed 
timetable on 21 March 2016, as required by the Wales Audit Office and 
within 30 days of receipt of the Follow On report. An updated 
Organisational Development Programme was also agreed by the Cabinet 
on 16 June 2016, which had been reviewed and reshaped in order to 
address specifically the proposals for improvement contained within the 
Follow On report.

Issues

8. The Statement of Action constitutes the Council’s mechanism for 
monitoring progress made during 2016/17 to implement the agreed 
actions in response to the one recommendation and 14 proposals for 
improvement made previously by the Wales Audit Office. For each 
action, details are provided of progress made to date and current status 
(i.e. ongoing or completed), the timescale within which it will be delivered 
and the senior officer responsible for implementation. A copy of the 
Statement of Action progress report (dated November 2016) is attached 
as Appendix A to this report.

9. Progress against the actions contained within the Statement of Action 
has been discussed at regular liaison meetings between the Council’s 
Head of Performance & Partnerships and Wales Audit Office 
representatives, where agreement has also been made to revise some of 
the implementation dates, as necessary. In addition, the Leader, Chief 
Executive and Corporate Director (Resources) also meet regularly with 
Wales Audit Office representatives.

10. An update report on the Statement of Action was considered by the 
Council’s Policy Review and Performance Scrutiny Committee on 15 
November 2016. A copy of the subsequent letter received from the Chair 
of the Scrutiny Committee (dated 23 November 2016) is attached as 
Appendix B to this report.

Page 10



Page 3 of 3

11. The Council will continue to monitor implementation of the Statement of 
Action during 2016/17 and liaise accordingly with the Wales Audit Office 
on progress made. In addition, the Wales Audit Office will look to 
incorporate relevant areas of the Statement of Action into related 
thematic reviews in order to assess the overall effectiveness of 
improvements made by the Council.

Reason for Recommendation

12. To enable the Cabinet to consider progress in implementing the various 
commitments contained within the Council’s Statement of Action.

Financial Implications

13. This is a progress update on the implementation of the Council’s 
Statement of Action. In the event of any resource requirements arising in 
delivering further progress on the implementation of improvement actions 
contained within Appendix A, then funding will be found from within 
existing budgets.

Legal Implications

14. There are no direct legal implications arising from this report and the 
contents. However Cabinet should be aware that failing to meet the 
obligations set out in the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 as 
judged by the Auditor General for Wales could ultimately result in 
intervention by the Welsh Government.

RECOMMENDATION

Cabinet is recommended to note the progress made in implementing the 
Council’s Statement of Action during 2016/17.

PAUL ORDERS
Chief Executive
9 December 2016

The following appendices are attached:

Appendix A: Statement of Action Progress Report (November 2016)

Appendix B: Letter from the Chair of the Policy Review and Performance 
Scrutiny Committee (dated 23 November 2016)

The following background papers have been taken into account:

Cabinet Report, 21 March 2016: Wales Audit Office Corporate Assessment 
Follow On Report – Statement of Action

Cabinet Report, 10 March 2016: Wales Audit Office Corporate Assessment 
Follow On Report

Page 11



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 29 

Wales Audit Office Corporate Assessment Follow On Report – Statement of Action 

Progress Report December 2016 

RECOMMENDATION 

R1: The Council must ensure that it addresses the proposals for improvement as set out in this report to deliver improved 
outcomes within the next 12 months 

Ongoing Actions 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

R1 Undertake a review of the Council's 
Organisational Development Programme 
(ODP) 

Jun-16 Chief 
Executive 

Completed.  The review of the ODP was undertaken in 
April – May 2016.  This work led to the re-shaping of the 
ODP for 2016/17, specifically some refining of the 
Commercialisation Programme and the introduction of the 
Performance & Governance Programme.  A report of this 
review was taken to the Policy Review and Performance 
Scrutiny Committee on 7th June and to Cabinet on 14th 
June.   

An independent review of the ODP will be undertaken in 
Spring 2017. This will be the three-year point for the 
programme and therefore a suitable time in which to 
assess its effectiveness and ensure any subsequent 
iteration of the ODP (or potential new programme) is fully 
fit to meet the challenges of the future. 

Appendix A

P
age 13



Page 2 of 29 
 

PROPOSALS FOR IMPROVEMENT: Leadership & Management 
 

P1: Develop further engagement opportunities with staff and Members to consistently embed a constructive performance 
management culture across the organisation to help deliver improved outcomes. 
 
Ongoing Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P1 Development of a new programme for 
member communications and engagement 

Jun-16 
(original) 
 
May-17 
(revised) 

Chief 
Executive 

Action Plan relating to outcomes from the Member 
Communication Survey – Let’s Talk About It - developed 
by Democratic Services.  Following on from this, weekly 
updates for Members are now being issued.  Officers are 
currently exploring the possibility of using storify.com as an 
innovative way to create a newsletter.  The remainder of 
this work will be progressed through the Member Support 
and Induction programme ready for the next incoming 
Council. 
  

 
Completed Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P1 Review and refresh of the Council's 
programme of staff engagement 

Apr-16 Chief 
Executive 

Completed.  The staff engagement programme has been 
refreshed and is being implemented for 2016/17. 
 

 

  

P
age 14



Page 3 of 29 
 

PROPOSALS FOR IMPROVEMENT: Governance 
 

P2: Clarify the roles and responsibilities within the Council’s decision making framework. In particular: 
a. ensuring that meetings of the Informal Cabinet meetings are recorded appropriately; 
b. ensuring that the title and roles of Assistants to Cabinet Members’ are applied consistently ensuring that their limited 

roles and responsibilities do not cloud any accountabilities; 
c. review the role and membership of Cabinet Advisory Groups to ensure that those members involved do not sit on any 

Scrutiny Committee responsible for scrutinising the same/similar issues; and 
d. ensure that a decision is made on the issue about whether to delegate executive decision-making to individual Cabinet 

Members. 
 
Completed Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P2a Key action points from informal meeting of the 
Cabinet will be recorded by the Cabinet Office 

May-16 Monitoring 
Officer 

Completed.  Guidance Note provided by Interim 
Monitoring Officer to Cabinet Office on 25th April 2016.  
Also circulated to Cabinet Members for information on 
4th May 2016. 

P2b Role description for Assistants to Cabinet 
Members will be included within the Council's 
Constitution and provided to all post-holders to 
assist in clarifying roles and responsibilities 

Jul-16 Monitoring 
Officer 

Completed.  The Assistant to Cabinet Member role 
profile went to Constitution Committee on 21st 
September and was recommended to full Council for 
approval.  It was agreed as an amendment to the 
constitution by full Council on Thursday 20th October.    

P2c Terms of Reference for Cabinet Advisory 
Groups will be agreed 

Jul-16 Monitoring 
Officer 

Completed.  Terms of Reference were agreed by 
Cabinet 19th May 2016. 

P2d Constitution Committee to undertake a further 
review of the volume and category of decisions 
taken by the Cabinet over the last 12 months 
and consider making provision within the 
Council's constitution for executive decision-
making to be delegated to individual Cabinet 
Members   

Sep-16 Monitoring 
Officer 

Completed.  A report on this went to Constitution 
Committee on 21st September, thus completing the 
review.  It was agreed that this issue should be 
considered at the start of the next administration in 
May 2017. 

 

P
age 15



Page 4 of 29 
 

 

P3: Further strengthen the Council’s scrutiny function by: 
a. developing an approach to scrutinising cross cutting issues; and 
b. ensuring that any vacancies on scrutiny committees are filled quickly. 

 
Ongoing Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale 
Lead 
Officer Progress 

P3a Review of Scrutiny to be undertaken with 
recommendations to be implemented 
from the start of the next political term 

Dec-16 
(original) 
 
May-17 
(full completion) 

Monitoring 
Officer 

The Review of Scrutiny Project was formed as part of 
the ODP in April 2016. Scrutiny Chairs were informally 
consulted in June 2016.   
 
After the approval of the project brief by the ODP Board 
in September 2016, a range of activity has taken place, 
or is underway, including research that incorporates 
previous review activity and stakeholder engagement 
that has included the Council’s Senior Management 
Team (SMT), Scrutiny Chairs and which will be open to 
all Members.   
 
The project is due to report its findings in Spring 2017, 
with the decision on the future structure of Scrutiny to be 
made at the start of the next Council term. 
 

 

 

P
age 16



Page 5 of 29 
 

Completed Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P3a Implementation of the recommendations 
of the Improving Scrutiny Report  

May-16 Monitoring 
Officer 

Completed.  Scrutiny Chairs considered a Project 
Progress Report at the Chairs’ Liaison Forum on 6th June 
2016.  Chairs’ 2015/16 self-evaluations conducted 15th – 
25th May 2016.  Dip Sample evaluation of five Scrutiny 
items from 2015/16 undertaken and completed by May 
2016.  Annual Member Survey issued on 19th May 2016.  
Recommendations of WAO Corporate Assessment 
considered during Committee work programming in July 
2016.  Quick Wins now implemented.  Further 
improvement action plans transferred to Review of 
Scrutiny Project. 
 

P3b Appointments to vacancies on scrutiny 
committees to be considered as a 
standing item on all council meeting 
agendas 
 

May-16 Monitoring 
Officer 

Completed.  Action in place. 
 

 

  

P
age 17



Page 6 of 29 
 

 

P3b Examine reasons why vacancies exist on 
scrutiny committees as part of the Annual 
Member Survey 

May-16 Monitoring 
Officer 

Completed.  Annual Member Survey closed on 16th June 
2016 to maximise number of respondents.  45 Members 
responded.  Results have identified a range of Members’ 
perceived challenges around participating in Scrutiny.   
 
On the basis of these perceptions, an options paper was 
prepared and discussed with Group Whips in May and 
June 2016, with Scrutiny chairs in June 2016, and with 
Democratic Services Committee in July 2016.   
 
Full Council in July decided to temporarily (to May 2017) 
reduce the number of Members sitting on Scrutiny 
Committees to 8 Members.   
 
As of 9th September, there were just 3 elected Member 
vacancies, and it was hoped that following the 
Plasnewydd by-election later in the month an additional 
Member could be found for Economy and Culture 
Scrutiny committee.   
 
A co-optee vacancy on Children and Young People 
Scrutiny Committee was filled via the usual Parent 
Governor election process, with the new co-optee 
attending her first committee on 27th September. 
 

 

 
 

P
age 18



Page 7 of 29 
 

P4: Ensure that all committee agendas, minutes and decision-logs are published in a timely manner on the Council’s 
website, and increase the number of committees that are webcast. 
 
Ongoing Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P4 Extend the webcasting of committee 
meetings to include one scrutiny meeting 
per month 

Dec-16 Monitoring 
Officer 

Scrutiny Chairs discussed this at their Liaison Forum on 
6th June 2016.  Plans in place to achieve this 
commitment.  A pilot committee to act as a dry run in 
November 2016.  First live webcast scheduled to be 
Economy & Culture Scrutiny Committee on 8th 
December. 
 

 
Completed Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P4 All scrutiny committee agenda, minutes 
and decision logs to be published in a 
timely manner 
 

Apr-16 Monitoring 
Officer 

Completed.  Continued monitoring of performance by 
Democratic Services on a quarterly basis in 2016/17. 

 

  

P
age 19



Page 8 of 29 
 

 

P5: Enhance Member accountability by: 
a. ensuring that the Standards and Ethics Committee plays a more proactive role in promoting and enforcing the Cardiff 

Undertaking for Councillors and supporting policies in relation to Member conduct and behaviour; and 
b. strengthening member development and learning programmes based on competency assessments to improve skills 

and understanding to enable them to undertake their roles more effectively; and 
c. determining what training should be considered essential for Members to discharge their role effectively. 

 
Ongoing Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P5b Democratic Services Committee to review 
Member Development & Training and to 
agree new approach and programme to 
commence in May 2017 

Dec-16 Monitoring 
Officer 

Project Brief considered by Performance and Governance 
Programme Board, and discussed by OD Board in 
September.  Democratic Services Committee considered 
the draft plan on 21st September 2016.  An officer board 
has been established to do further work on this. 
 
Democratic Services Committee’s task and finish group 
met in July to review Cardiff’s 2015/16 Member 
Development Programme, and considered the results of 
the 2016 Member Survey relating to Member 
Development to make recommendations on induction 
arrangements for 2017. 
 

P5c Democratic Services Committee to agree 
essential training and frequency of training 
prior to start of new council term in May 
2017 

Dec-16 Monitoring 
Officer 

The member induction programme was considered by 
Democratic Services Committee on 7th December.  
Further work will take place prior to a finalised 
programme going to Democratic Services Committee in 
March.  

 

  

P
age 20



Page 9 of 29 
 

 
Completed Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P5a Standards & Ethics Committee to publish 
biannual Member Briefings on the work of 
the Committee underlining the importance 
of the Cardiff Undertaking and member 
conduct and behaviour 
 

Aug-16 Monitoring 
Officer 

Completed.  The first Member Briefing was issued on 
26th August 2016, and further will follow. 

 

  

P
age 21



Page 10 of 29 
 

 

PROPOSALS FOR IMPROVEMENT: Performance Reporting 
 

P6: Further strengthen performance reporting arrangements to support decision making by: 
a. including SMART performance measures within directorate delivery plans, and ensure that these are reported to 

Cabinet and scrutiny to demonstrate progress; 
b. consistently using and reporting on a Red/Amber/Green rating for Corporate Plan commitment actions and Directorate 

Plan actions in quarterly reports provided to Scrutiny; 
c. mandating consistent service level plans; and 
d. prioritising key performance indicators (KPIs) where the Council will seek to demonstrate improved performance and 

outcomes. 
 
Ongoing Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P6c Service planning framework to be 
developed focusing on providing a robust 
and proportionate approach to collating, 
analysing and using performance 
information data not captured within 
Directorate Delivery Plans 
 

Oct-16 
(original) 
 
Mar/Apr-17 
(revised) 

Head of 
Performance 
& 
Partnerships 

The Business Planning project within the Performance & 
Governance programme is developing an approach to 
planning that will incorporate service-level plans in 
2017/18. This will follow on from a refreshed approach 
to Directorate Delivery Planning. 
 

P6d A Balanced Scorecard approach that 
focuses on those KPIs which best measure 
the Council's performance and outcomes 
will be developed and implemented 
consistently across the Council 

Jun-16 
(original)  
 
April-17 
(revised) 

Head of 
Performance 
& 
Partnerships 

An initial reporting model was taken to SMT for 
discussion in June and further developments have been 
made as a result of these discussions.  Work is ongoing 
to develop and improve a model which gives an at-a-
glance view of Council-wide indicators underpinned by a 
performance report that gives detail of Directorates’ 
challenges, achievements and performance. This will 
build on the model used within Neighbourhoods 
Services; scorecards are being developed for other pilot 
areas with the aim of developing a whole-Council 
approach ahead of the new financial year. 

P
age 22



Page 11 of 29 
 

 
Completed Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P6a All Directorate Delivery Plans to include 
SMART objectives 

Apr-16 Head of 
Performance 
& 
Partnerships 

Completed.  The Council’s Corporate Performance 
Team worked with Services’ performance management 
leads to undertake a peer review of 2016/17 Directorate 
Delivery Plans to ensure the inclusion of SMART 
objectives. Further work will also be undertaken in this 
area as part of the Business Planning project, which will 
develop the planning approach for 2017/18. 
 

P6b Guidance on how actions should be 
Red/Amber/Green rated to be 
communicated to Improvement community 

May-16 Head of 
Performance 
& 
Partnerships 

Completed.  A consistent approach to RAG-rating 
activities set out in Directorate Delivery Plans has now 
been developed, building on the Council’s existing Risk 
Management matrix.   
 
An automated approach has now been developed to 
RAG-rating Performance Indicator outturns, using 
formulae that automatically classify outturn results on 
the basis of corporately-set tolerance levels. 
 

 

  

P
age 23



Page 12 of 29 
 

PROPOSALS FOR IMPROVEMENT: Corporate Enablers 
 

P7: Adopt a more cohesive and co-ordinated approach to corporate enabler functions to better help the Council drive 
improvement. 
 
Ongoing Action 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P7 Refreshed Performance Management 
Strategy to focus on role of Corporate 
Enablers and make recommendations for 
improvement 

Sep-16 
(original) 
 
May-17 
(revised) 
 

Head of 
Performance 
& 
Partnerships 

A new Performance Management Strategy will be 
developed ready for launch in May 2017. The Strategy 
will give an overview of the Council’s approach to 
managing service performance, with an emphasis on how 
this approach will maintain a focus on improving 
outcomes for our residents and service users, and 
facilitate constructive use of performance information 
across a range of forums. The Strategy will incorporate 
the outputs from the three Performance Management 
projects within the ODP, as well as other work that has 
been taken forward by the Council’s Performance Team 
and wider Performance Network. The Strategy will 
include a Framework element that will enable a range of 
colleagues to apply the principles of the Council’s 
approach to Performance Management. 
 

 

 
  

P
age 24



Page 13 of 29 
 

P8: Further develop the Council’s performance management arrangements by: 
a. enhancing the Council’s performance management strategy to include guidelines timescales, processes and 

procedures to support a consistent approach; and 
b. increasing the level of performance management and challenge undertaken by the central performance team. 

 
Ongoing Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P8a Update the framework element of the 
Performance Management Strategy to 
reinforce these areas before further 
development of the overall strategy 

May-16 
(business as 
usual basis) 
 
May 2017 
(complete 
version) 

Head of 
Performance 
& 
Partnerships 

The Performance Management Framework for the 
Council is currently being developed. It will incorporate 
the outputs of the Performance Management projects 
within the ODP and other activity that is currently ongoing 
to continually develop and improve the ways in which the 
Council manages its performance. The Performance 
Management Framework will then underpin the 
Performance Management Strategy, enabling colleagues 
across the organisation to apply the principles of the latter 
document. 

P8a Review and refresh the Performance 
Management Strategy 

Sep-16 
(original) 
 
May-17 
(revised) 

Head of 
Performance 
& 
Partnerships 

A new Performance Management Strategy will be 
developed ready for launch in May 2017 as described 
above. 
 

P8b Improvement team to increase level of 
performance management and challenge 

Mar-16 
ongoing 

Head of 
Performance 
& 
Partnerships 

This work is being taken forward through the 
Performance Support and Improvement project within the 
Performance & Governance programme and the 
Performance Support Group (PSG). The PSG comprises 
senior representation from across the Council that, 
supported by the Corporate Performance Team, identify 
and investigate areas of challenging performance, 
highlight areas of strong performance and provide SMT 
and other senior audiences with assurance that 
operational performance issues are being managed in a 
consistent and effective way. 

 

P
age 25



Page 14 of 29 
 

 

P9: Further develop the Council’s Human Resource processes and strategies by: 
a. strengthening the Council’s staff appraisal process by including explicitly measureable objectives, capturing 

information on training on a corporate basis, and developing links to staff’s future career aspirations to support 
workforce and succession planning; and 

b. further embedding the Council’s workforce strategy and integrating this with financial and service planning. 
 
Ongoing Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P9a Deliver the Performance Management 
Project. 

Mar-17 Chief HR 
Officer 

Review of Personal Performance & Development Review 
(PPDR) scheme - PPDR Focus Group discussions have 
been completed and the feedback has been collated in a 
report.  
 
The report has identified 6 themes on which to base our 
review of the current process: Delivery, Content, Time 
Management, Ratings, Technology, and Learning & 
Development.  Based on the employee feedback and 
project board input, a draft version is currently being 
prepared for full consultation, feedback and discussion.  
 
In September we engaged with the Project Board, 
Ambassador Group, the Academy, Senior Management 
Forum and Works Council. During October we revisited 
the staff focus groups with the draft proposals for further 
consultation. In November, the draft version of the new 
approach was launched to the organisation through the 
Employee Roadshows and consultation will be 
undertaken with Trade Unions and PRAP Members in 
December. 
 

 

 

P
age 26



Page 15 of 29 
 

 

P9a Delivering Learning & Development Project 
including: 1. City of Cardiff Council Academy 
Board to oversee priorities for workforce 
training corporately 

Mar-17 Chief HR 
Officer 

Approval was given at the Academy Board meeting in 
April for the roll-out of the Cardiff Manager Programme to 
Grades 7 and below, and for the appointment of a Service 
Delivery Lead to focus on the co-ordination and delivery 
of quarterly Pitch Perfect events, and for the pilot of a 
Digibus proposal to take Essential Skills screening to 
‘hard-to-reach’ workplaces.   
 
The Service Delivery Lead was appointed in July. The 
next Pitch Perfect Training Scheme will start in October 
and will culminate in a Final event in early December.   
 
Academy Board meeting in July agreed to take forward 
pilot within Commercial Services focusing on Essential 
Skills assessment tool (WEST) and essential skills 
training for front-line staff.  Discussions to roll out NVQ 
qualifications for front-line staff in Commercial Services, 
City Operations, Communities and Social Care are being 
progressed. Funding is available via Cardiff & Vale 
College (CAVC) for the next 3 years.   
 
Work has been completed on the development of the 
Academy’s training facilities at City Hall which were fully 
operational from October 2016.  The development has 
also enabled the successful relocation of the Social Care 
Training Unit (including Care First) to City Hall to 
complement the Office Rationalisation project. 
 

 

 

P
age 27



Page 16 of 29 
 

 

P9a Delivering Learning & Development Project 
including: 2. Cardiff Manager Programme 
extended to all managers Grade 7 and 
below 
 

Mar-17 Chief HR 
Officer 

Cardiff Manager Programme (CMP) for Grades 7 and 
below started on 4th May 2016 and all courses to the end 
of July were fully subscribed.  Courses from August 2016 
to March 2017 were made available through DigiGov on 
22/05/16.   
 
The Academy scheduled 56 CMP sessions from May – 
December 2016 and is running at close to 100% capacity.  
Feedback from participants is that they appreciate having 
the opportunity to attend this training and 84% have said 
that they would like to take the ILM L3 award.  
 
To increase capacity, the Academy has increased class 
size from 12 to 16 (except Finance sessions). Further 
sessions from December have been scheduled. 
 

P9b Deliver the Workforce Planning Project 
including: 1. Development of process for 
succession planning across the Council 

Mar-18 Chief HR 
Officer 

Initial research is underway which started in May 2016.  
Other aspects of the Workforce Planning project are 
taking this into consideration as a long-term objective to 
ensure that there are seamless links and the succession 
planning process can develop from the workforce 
planning toolkit and data. 
 

P9b Deliver the Workforce Planning Project 
including: 2. Development of Workforce 
Planning guidelines and toolkit including a 
technology-based solution 

Jan-17 Chief HR 
Officer 

Research on toolkits taking place in order to ascertain 
best practice.  Review of processes in Core Cities.  Draft 
toolkit was produced during September for review by 
Directorate representatives.  The toolkit will have a variety 
of tools to allow for workforce planning at a variety of 
levels of maturity and dependent on the requirements of 
the particular Directorate. 
 

 

 

P
age 28



Page 17 of 29 
 

 

P9b Deliver the Workforce Planning Project 
including: 3. Develop profile information for 
service area use in financial and service 
planning 

Sep-16 Chief HR 
Officer 

Review of information provided for 2016/17 taking place 
also liaison with Business Planning project so that there is 
a seamless link.  Identification of additional profile 
information underway including an assessment of what 
can be delivered from current systems and what would be 
required in the future. 
 

P9b Deliver the Workforce Planning Project 
including: 4. Develop a strategy for the 
temporary, casual and agency workforce 
taking account of social inclusion and youth 
engagement 

Mar-17 Chief HR 
Officer 

Initial planning underway and discussions taking place 
with colleagues in other Directorates.  Draft paper to be 
available in the New Year for discussion at SMT.  To 
include section on process for providing work placement 
opportunities within the Council to young people as well 
as those looking to re-enter employment. 
 

 

 

Completed Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P9a Deliver the Performance Management 
Project including: 1. Development of e-
learning module on SMART objective setting 

Mar-17 Chief HR 
Officer 

Completed.  The existing PPDR e-learning modules have 
been re-designed to include more detail on SMART 
objectives.  It includes an explanation of SMART, process 
of developing a SMART objective, identification of 
SMART objectives and writing SMART objectives.  E-
learning module completed and available to support 
managers in setting objectives. 
 

P9a Deliver the Performance Management 
Project including: 2. Setting SMART 
objectives is to be a Corporate Objective for 
all managers 2016/17 
 

Mar-17 Chief HR 
Officer 

Completed. 

 

P
age 29



Page 18 of 29 
 

 

P10: Complete the data capture exercise relating to the use of assets and develop a single system to hold appropriate asset 
management information. 
 
Ongoing Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P10 Submit detailed business case to Investment 
Review Board for final approval 

May-16 Director 
Economic 
Development 

Presentations received from leading 3rd party 
providers.  Project scope broadened to include Design 
Construction Excellence Wales report and statutory 
compliance. Business Case for Real Estate IT software 
has been reviewed and aligned with H&S IT 
requirements.   
 
Business case presented to Investment Review Board 
(IRB) early November detailing preferred option for Real 
Estate IT solution.  Approval granted by IRB to undertake 
tendering process. Tender anticipated to commence early 
2017 following completion of detailed requirement 
specification. 
 

P10 Subject to approval from Investment Review 
Board, implement the new Corporate Asset 
Management system 
 

May-18 Director 
Economic 
Development 

Progressing as per above. 

 

 

P
age 30



Page 19 of 29 
 

P11: Ensure all outstanding actions from the Construction Excellence Wales review of the Council’s building maintenance 
framework are completed. 
 
Ongoing Action 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P11 Complete all outstanding actions from the 
Construction Excellence Wales (CEW) 
review of the Council's building maintenance 
framework 

Mar-17 Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

The Building Maintenance Performance board chaired by 
the Assistant Director of Communities oversees the 
actions that were recommended by CEW.  The majority 
are now closed, however a couple are still in progress 
including the recommendation to create a community 
benefits board.   
 
Statutory Maintenance Programme Our main 
mechanical and electrical framework contractor (Kier) 
deliver a statutory maintenance programme on behalf of 
FM Building Services. There is now a yearly maintenance 
plan for all those buildings within Building Services control 
or signed into the SLA.  A process for certifications 
received and repairs required is in place to ensure 
statutory compliance is achieved.  A new software 
package to monitor and manage Statutory Obligations on 
all Council assets is being progressed in partnership with 
Caerphilly County Borough Council Health and Safety 
team; this will also provide an improved service to opted-
out schools to manage their obligations.   
 
Community Benefits A community benefits board is still 
in progress and will form a formal part of the next 
reiteration of the Framework. To date two apprentices (1 
x mechanical and 1 x electrical) have been appointed 
through CAVC. A community project through our 
materials supplier Travis Perkins is being investigated. 
 

 

P
age 31



Page 20 of 29 
 

 

P12: Further strengthen the Council’s financial planning processes by: 
a. developing more explicit links between the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and the Council’s improvement 

planning arrangements; 
b. strengthening links between the Medium Term Financial Plan and service plans; 
c. ensuring that savings proposals owned by Directorates are linked to the Organisational Development Programme 

where relevant, are fully costed, and that delivery is driven by the Organisational Development Programme Board; and 
d. ensuring all budget savings plans are fully developed as appropriate with realistic timescales when the annual budget 

is set. 
 
Ongoing Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P12a Develop more explicit links between the 
MTFP and improvement planning 
arrangements as part of the 2017/18 budget 
process 

Dec-16 Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

Initial meeting held with Head of Performance & 
Partnerships in June 2016 in order to scope out the two-
way interaction between the building up of the MTFP and 
the improvement planning arrangements.   
 
This in-principle agreement was followed up by respective 
officers during August. The shift in timetable referred to in 
12d has provided greater opportunity to ensure the links 
between these processes are strengthened and 
enhanced during the course of 2016/17 in preparing for 
2017/18 onwards.   
 
Work is currently being undertaken to identify and 
establish links with the Corporate Plan in respect of 
revenue and capital budgets. This will include the impact 
of recent legislation such as the Well-being of Future 
Generations Act (WFG). 
 

 

 

P
age 32



Page 21 of 29 
 

 

P12b Strengthen the link between the MTFP and 
service plans as part of the 2017/18 budget 
preparation work 

Dec-16 Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

Initial high-level saving plans for 2018/19 are being 
developed by officers and detailed savings plans have 
been received for 2017/18.  These plans have been 
reviewed for detail and achievability, and were discussed 
at joint SMT/ Cabinet Meeting on 18th July which resulted 
in further work needed to refine proposals or identify 
alternative ones.  Due diligence work continues to take 
place in respect of all plans.  Specific piece of work is 
being undertaken in partnership with Social Services 
Directorate in order to further refine the links between the 
service plan and the MTFP by identifying the range of 
cost/saving impact of each intervention.  Continual review 
of MTFP ensuring cross reference to current and future 
service plans. The half-year position of the Corporate 
Risk Register has been taken to cabinet and Audit 
Committee respectively and the results have been tested 
against the MTFP.  SMT workshop was held in early 
October on WFG with the results of that being scoped out 
and then tested back to consider impact on service 
delivery plans. 2017/18 Directorate budget proposals 
submitted for consultation have been preliminarily 
considered together in respect of WFG and will be 
continually reviewed at points in time in order to maintain 
that strategic link and focus. 
 

 

 

P
age 33



Page 22 of 29 
 

 

P12c Review, as part of Budget Strategy, the 
opportunities to enhance linkages between 
savings proposals from Directorates and 
the Organisational Development 
Programme 

Jul-16 
(original) 
 
May-17 
(revised) 

Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

Monthly meetings continue to take place between the OD 
Operational Manager and the Service Accountancy 
Manager.  Currently, links have been made to business 
cases that have been accepted for 2016/17 budget 
savings where OD are assisting in order for them to be 
achieved.  These will be reported to OD programme to 
highlight the impact of change, but will remain the 
individual Directorate's responsibility for achievement 
against the accepted saving proposal.  2017/18 saving 
proposals have been shared with OD to ensure that early 
sight enables early engagement with Directorates in 
delivering budget proposals in a full and prompt manner. 
OD are fully engaged in thematic areas such as 
digitisation both in terms of identifying technology and 
suitable areas within the Council that could benefit. 

P12d Continue - and build upon - approach 
adopted for 2016/17 budget 

Mar-17 Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

2017/18 Budget commenced with Directorates providing 
budget proposal savings by 13th May 2016.  Budget 
Strategy approved by Cabinet on 14th July 2016. The 
period between July and October has been a continuing 
review of suitability and diligence in respect of Directorate 
budget savings proposals. Regular updates have been 
shared at Directorate, SMT and Cabinet level. Provisional 
Settlement was received as anticipated on 19th October, 
the results of which were compared against the 
assumptions that were contained within the Budget 
Strategy. The Budget Strategy was revised accordingly 
with the new set of assumptions and the 2017/18 Budget 
Proposal report was considered at Cabinet on the 10th 
November 2016. Following approval at Cabinet, Public 
Consultation commenced on the 11th November 
2016.  The focus of the work currently is further due 
diligence and detail on the 2017/18 budget proposals and 
requests have been submitted for further detailed plans 
for 2018/19. 

 

P
age 34



Page 23 of 29 
 

 

P13: Further strengthen the Council’s IT arrangements by: 
a. further developing the draft Digital ICT strategy and formally agreeing this strategic vision for delivering digitally 

enabled services; 
b. deploying the Customer Relationship Management system fully to appropriate services across the Council; 
c. implementing the mobile scheduling and flexible working technologies where appropriate; and 
d. expanding the number and depth of ICT KPIs measured and reported, to cover the whole ICT service, and benchmark 

against public service comparators. 
 
Ongoing Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P13b Initiate project to deliver phase 2 of the 
CRM 

Jun-16 
(original) 
 
(new date 
TBC) 
 

Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

Due to technical issues roll-out of the CRM has not met its 
original timescales. The supplier for CRM – SAP – has 
escalated the Council’s concerns to global level in order to 
seek a resolution to this issue, resulting in senior 
representatives from across SAP’s worldwide structure 
working directly with the Council. A new timescale will be 
established once this work has been completed.  
 

 

  

P
age 35



Page 24 of 29 
 

 

 

P13c Roll out flexible working across the 
Council for those workers who would 
benefit from delivering their services in a 
range of locations 

Dec-16 Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

We currently have around 1,750 staff with remote access to 
the corporate network, many of whom work as home 
workers, work flexibly at home or work out of the office on an 
ad-hoc basis.  These staff traditionally use PCs, laptops or 
tablets to access Council systems.   
 
We have 280 staff using customised mobile applications to 
work directly from site rather than visiting offices.  This 
includes care workers and our community maintenance 
teams. In addition to this we have 1,500 users with remote 
access to email to allow them to access their messages from 
wherever they are.   
 
Further business cases being developed to underpin future 
phases of these various models of flexible working and since 
April over 400 social care staff have received laptops/tablets 
& new smartphones to mobilise their working practices and 
allow them to work in a more flexible and efficient manner.  
 
To further support mobile working we have created 40 
touchdown points across the city where staff can call in to 
charge their devices, access public Wi-Fi, use meeting 
rooms, have quiet places to work or just pick up print-outs. 

 

 

P
age 36



Page 25 of 29 
 

 

P13d Review the ICT additional performance 
reporting requirements and establish a 
revised basket of KPIs 

Mar-17 Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

We are working with SOCITM Wales and the Welsh Unitary 
Authority ICT leads to discuss a common approach to KPIs 
across Wales but also with reference to wider SOCITM 
member KPIs within English authorities.  Cardiff has led on 
the procurement of an all-Wales SOCITM benchmarking 
exercise which is benchmarking aspects such as digital 
maturity, IT maturity, IT performance and IT cost 
effectiveness and will use the outcomes of these 
benchmarks to inform potential future KPIs in addition to, or 
to replace existing KPIs.  The benchmarking commissioned 
to review Local Authorities' digital maturity is now in the 
process of being procured by Welsh Government via 
SOCITM for wider use. 

 

 

Completed Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P13a Digital Strategy 2016-21 to be considered 
by Cabinet 

May-16 Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

Completed.  Strategy approved by Cabinet on 19th May. 
 
The implementation of the Strategy is ongoing across the 
Council, both through the OD Programme and service 
activity.  

 

  

P
age 37



Page 26 of 29 
 

P14: Further strengthen the Council’s information governance arrangements by: 
a. completing the outstanding actions from the Information Commissioner’s Office audit on data protection and 

information confidentiality; 
b. increasing the level of staff completion of the Council’s information confidentiality and data protection e-learning 

training programme; 
c. fully implementing the Electronic Records Management System across the Council; 
d. improving the Council’s response rates against statutory targets in respect of data protection subject access requests 

and Freedom of Information Act requests; and 
e. completing a Caldicott principles into practice self-assessment. 

 
Ongoing Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P14a Continue to implement the Action Plan 
following most recent audit by the 
Information Commissioner's Office 

Mar-17 Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

Building Security:  A review of County Hall security was 
undertaken by the Corporate Security Manager.  This 
included promoting a proactive security culture through 
the wearing of security identification as well as control of 
visitors, contractors and members of the public who visit 
the building.  Good progress has been made, for 
examples segregating pedestrian access areas as part of 
the car park revisions, upgrading the car park lighting to 
LED in the first three bays, installing new software 
(Kalamazoo reader) to monitor visitors to County Hall and 
establishing revisions to the hours staff use the side 
entrance.  A review of CCTV coverage and ID access 
cards has also been completed and a project plan has 
been developed.  Subsequent actions will be completed in 
Spring 2017.   

 

 

P
age 38



Page 27 of 29 
 

 

    ICT Security Officer training to be reviewed by OM IT 
Services: ICT forensic investigation training completed by 
ICT Security & Investigations Officer.   
 
Starters, Leavers & Movers (SLAM) process to be 
revised: Work is almost complete on joining the datasets 
between our key personnel systems SAP and DigiGOV 
with Cardiff’s Active Directory (AD) to ensure the process 
of dealing with starters and leavers is more efficiently 
managed.   
 
This data matching and linking process will remove any 
ambiguity of leavers’ details between these systems 
allowing more timely disabling and deletion of accounts. 
This integration is in final stages of data cleansing and 
testing. Data from the personnel systems will be used to 
populate AD as appropriate and vice versa in order to 
improve the quality of data in all three systems and 
ensure data in all three systems are then updated in sync. 
This improved data integration will allow speedier setup of 
users and also more timely removal.  
 
A report will be presented to SMT shortly to obtain their 
agreement on more timely removal of email and system 
accounts of staff leaving the organisation and meetings 
are also taking place to understand how we can more 
quickly setup accounts for staff joining at short notice, 
such as agency workers. 
 

 

 

P
age 39



Page 28 of 29 
 

 

P14c Rollout EDRMS to remaining users (circa 
4,000) 

Apr-17 Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

Additional resource recruited to accelerate roll-out.  On-
boarding process re-worked to facilitate increased uptake.  
To date SharePoint has 14 live sites with 579 users (12% 
of Council employees) now using the system. 15 further 
sites with 272 users are currently being developed and 
are expected to be deployed between January and May 
2017 with a remaining 57 sites based on the organisation 
structure today that are yet to be developed.  
 
An additional resource request is being presented to the 
IRB board in December 2016 to assist with escalating the 
speed of the roll-out and to enhance the training. 
 

P14d Seek approval to bring all SARs and FOI 
requests within the corporate responsibility 
of the Improvement and Information Team 

Sep-16 Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

Improved compliance within the Children’s Services area 
is significant and has proved that a centralised process is 
more effective.  Further discussion needed in order to 
deliver the Adult Services work. The work to understand 
the impact on performance and compliance to deliver the 
service for Communities has taken place. Discussion 
scheduled for 7th December with the Director of 
Communities and Housing, and the Head of Finance. 
 

 

P
age 40



Page 29 of 29 
 

Completed Actions 
 

Ref Action Timescale Lead Officer Progress 

P14b Implement new Information Governance e-
learning training programme 

May-16 Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

Completed. E-learning package finalised and translated.  
Release due in October 2016 (w/c 17/10/16 for SMT, w/c 
24/10/16 for all staff) and closure date of end of 
December 2016.    Work is ongoing with HRPS to ensure 
that the starters and leavers process is more efficient 
which will enable improved roll out. 

P14e Undertake a review of existing information 
governance monitoring arrangements to 
provide assurance that they appropriately 
reflect Caldicott principles  

Mar-17 Corporate 
Director, 
Resources 

Completed.  The NHS CPIP assessment questions have 
been completed (May 2016) by the Corporate Information 
Governance Team and the Director of Social Services.  
Assessment and Action Plan completed and shared with 
the Information Security Board on 2nd September 2016.  
NB// The full NHS assessment process is currently not 
available for use.  Further enquiries are underway with 
NWIS.   

 

 

P
age 41



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



City of Cardiff Council, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff Bay, CF10 4UW E-mail: nhowells@cardiff.gov.uk 

My Ref: T: Scrutiny/PRAP/Comm Papers/Correspondence 

 
Date: 23 November 2016 
 
 
Councillor Phil Bale  
Leader 
City of Cardiff Council 
County Hall 
Cardiff 
CF10 4UW 
 
 
Dear Councillor Bale 
 
Policy Review & Performance Scrutiny Committee: 15 November 2016. 
 
On behalf of the Policy Review & Performance Scrutiny Committee thank you for 

attending Committee for consideration of the Wales Audit Office (WAO) Corporate 

Assessment Review Follow On report. Please also pass on the Committee’s thanks 

to Christine Salter, Davina Fiore and Joseph Reay for supporting this item and 

answering Members’ questions. I have been asked to pass on the following 

observations and concerns.  

 

The Committee wishes to commend you on the generally strong progress the Council 

has made in delivering the Corporate Follow On Statement of Action. Members have 

some concern that the Leadership and Management heading has just one action, 

and were looking for evidence of how Leadership has improved. The Committee was 

reassured that continual improvement in staff engagement is in place, with the 

introduction of the Chief Executive staff roadshows, the launch of a staff app, 

openness to staff ideas, and development programmes in place for staff to support 

succession planning.  

 

The Committee is interested in progress around IT, specifically the customer facing 

system, CRM. We are reassured to hear that the integration of our existing systems  

with SAP are considered by the company to be critical given the cutting edge nature 

of our work with them, are being addressed at the highest level, and that there are 

teams on site to develop solutions. We note the Council cannot deliver a customer 

portal until the digitalisation issues currently experienced by C2C operators are 

resolved. We were interested to hear the Council has a contractual relationship with 

two partners, SAP plus a gold standard implementation partner. Therefore, as CRM 

is considered the key customer facing system, Members are frustrated we are not 

further ahead and will keep a close eye on developments. We feel that the Council 

should have a resolution date in mind and have some concerns that there is no 

deadline in place or definite date as to when the problem will be resolved. We would 

consequently request an update on SAP/CRM when there is something significant to 

report back. 

. 

Page 43



City of Cardiff Council, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff Bay, CF10 4UW E-mail: nhowells@cardiff.gov.uk 

Members wish to clarify how the WAO are monitoring progress on the Council’s 

Statement of Action, and whether in fact they consider good progress has been 

made. We note the regular informal discussion between the Head of Performance 

and WAO, at which they are ensuring the Council understands the barriers and takes 

mitigating actions. We endorse the more formal governance of public reporting to 

Cabinet and Scrutiny. In April 2016 you indicated you were unclear whether WAO 

would undertake a further formal review visit in 12 months time. Following this 

meeting we are still unclear as to whether the Council can expect a further 

inspection. 

   

The Committee notes that Lead officers are named throughout the Statement of 

Action, making them accountable for performance. We welcome the officer view that 

performance management needs to be mainstreamed into the management of all 

services.  We are less clear as to how performance focussed Directorates are, and 

whether they face any consequences for poor performance. We have noted that the 

Council will undertake a self assessment within this financial year of how well 

performance is embedding, and will factor this into our work programming. 

 

.To Recap, actions arising from the Scrutiny are as follows: 

 

 As CRM is considered the key customer facing system, we will keep a close 

eye on developments. We have some concerns that there is no deadline in 

place or definite date as to when the problem will be resolved. We would like 

an update on SAP/CRM as soon as there is something significant to report 

back; 

 

 We are still unclear as to whether the Council can expect a further WAO 

inspection. As Council will undertake a self assessment within this financial 

year of how well performance is embedding, we will factor this into our work 

programming 

 

Please could I ask that you relay our comments and observations to the Cabinet, and 

once again please pass on my thanks to all Cabinet Members and witnesses who 

attended for consideration of this important assessment of the Council’s 

arrangements to secure continuous improvement. 

 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
COUNCILLOR NIGEL HOWELLS 
CHAIR, POLICY REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

Page 44



City of Cardiff Council, Atlantic Wharf, Cardiff Bay, CF10 4UW E-mail: nhowells@cardiff.gov.uk 

 
cc   Members of the Policy Review & Performance Scrutiny Committee 

Paul Orders, Chief Executive 
Christine Salter, Corporate Director Resources 
Davina Fiore, Director Governance & Legal Services  
Joseph Reay, Head of Performance & Partnerships 
Claire Deguara, Cabinet Support Office  

 Naomi Evans, PA to Leader 

 

Page 45



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 4

CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD
CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL

CABINET:  15 DECEMBER 2016

CORPORATE RISK REGISTER 2016/17 (MID-YEAR)

REPORT OF CORPORATE DIRECTOR RESOURCES

AGENDA ITEM: 3
 

PORTFOLIO: CORPORATE SERVICES & PERFORMANCE (COUNCILLOR 
GRAHAM   HINCHEY) 

Reason for this Report  
 

1. To bring the Corporate Risk Register (CRR) to the attention of the Cabinet, 
in order to consider the strategic risks facing the Council. 

Background 

2. To support the arrangements for good corporate governance, it is 
necessary for the Council to have a clear statement of its overall position 
in relation to corporate risks, which is subject to regular review.  

3. The CRR should identify the main risks facing the Council so that elected 
Members and Senior Management can make informed decisions and 
prioritise actions, with these high level risks in mind. The CRR process 
involves identifying and assessing key risks, and taking proportionate 
action to manage risks within an acceptable level (risk appetite). Risk 
registers are used to record and track how identified risks are currently 
being managed together with details of planned commitments to reduce 
risks further, where required. 
 

4. The CRR is a key governance document which continues to be updated 
and presented to the Senior Management Team quarterly, to ensure their 
collective ownership and agreement of the strategic risks facing the 
Council. It is reported to the Cabinet and Audit Committee on a biannual 
basis. The Cabinet last sighted the CRR on 27 July 2016, at which time it 
set out the year-end position 2015/16.  

5. For the Mid-Year update a detailed review of the CRR was completed to 
ensure that the key corporate risks facing the council are represented and 
assessed consistently. This review involved the Senior Management 
Team, the Risk Management Steering Group and the Risk Champion 
Network. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 3



Page 2 of 4

Issues 

6. The CRR is currently made up of 24 risks, which have been reviewed and 
updated to reflect the mid-year position. To assist in this process, a 
guidance document was produced by the Information Governance and 
Risk Team and issued to each risk owner to ensure risks are framed and 
scored on a consistent basis. The full register was shared with all 
Directors at the Senior Management Team meeting on 15 November 
2016, to gain their collective agreement. 

7. A Corporate Risk Map (Appendix A) has been produced which plots 
corporate risks in the standard risk matrix format and connects the risk 
score with the risk appetite this represents. The corporate risk appetite is 
presently being explored by the Risk Management Steering Group and 
officers, and engagement will be made with Cabinet when a draft position 
has been developed. The intention is to further improve information and 
guidance to ensure consistent and proportionate responses to 
opportunities and risks. 

8. In defining risk appetite , there are four areas of the risk spectrum.

Minimalist
Preference for ultra-safe business delivery options that have 
a low degree of inherent risk and only have a potential for 
limited reward.

Cautious
Preference for safe delivery options that have a low degree 
of residual risk and may only have limited potential for 
reward.

Open

Willing to consider all potential delivery options and choose 
the one that is most likely to result in successful delivery 
while also providing an acceptable level of reward (and 
value for money etc.).

Hungry
Eager to be innovative and to choose options offering 
potentially higher business rewards, despite greater inherent 
risk.

9. The following changes have been made to the CRR since the 2015/16 
year end:

 Two new risks have been added – ‘Promoting Independence’ and 
‘Safeguarding’ with Delayed Transfers of Care now covered within 
Promoting Independence;

 Two risks have been downgraded from ‘red’ to ‘red/amber’,  
‘Organisational Development’ and ‘Performance management’;

 One risk was downgraded from ‘red / amber’ to ‘amber / green’ – 
‘Schools SOP’;

 One risk has moved position, but remained within the same overall 
priority rating -  ‘Information Governance’  

Page 48



Page 3 of 4

 Two risks have been removed - ‘Local Development Plan’ and ‘Delayed 
Transfers of Care’.

10. Risks on the CRR are currently scored between medium and high ratings, 
with eight risks (1/3) scored as ‘red.’ This represents both an improvement 
on the year-end position and a more accurate representation of the 
management of corporate risks.  

11. It is important to note that risks are liable to change as circumstances 
alter, and that the CRR presents the position at a point in time. The 
potential impact on the Council of the UK leaving the European Union is a 
particular issue that will be monitored and considered for inclusion at the 
appropriate time. The Register itself will continue to be refreshed quarterly 
and the identified risk owners have a responsibility to ensure the risks 
included on the register remain focused and relevant.   

12. In order to recognise the importance of monitoring and reviewing the 
CRR, the Member Risk Champion, Councillor Graham Hinchey, has an 
important role as set out in the Council’s Risk Strategy. This role includes 
raising the profile of risk management and promoting the benefits to 
Members, as well as promoting the accountability and responsibility of all 
staff within the Council. The Member Champion will bring forward ideas 
from the Members to the Risk Management Steering Group considered 
relevant for the CRR.

13. It is appreciated that there is considerable detail in the complete register 
and, therefore, three appendices are attached; Appendix A is the 
Corporate Risk Map while Appendix B is a summarised version and 
Appendix C details the complete register.

Reason for Recommendation

14. As part of the arrangements for good corporate governance, it is 
necessary for the Council to have a clear statement identifying what 
strategic risks the Authority faces. The CRR will update Members and 
enable them to make informed decisions. In addition, the Council will be 
able to demonstrate that there are effective and robust systems in place 
for managing risk. 

 Legal Implications 

15. There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. However, 
one of the benefits of identifying risk is that mitigation measures may be 
taken, if appropriate, and consequently successful claims against the 
Council may be avoided altogether, or reduced.

Financial Implications 

16. There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. The 
Corporate Risk register will be used to guide the Internal Audit Plan and 
the Council’s resource planning processes and forms an important part of 
the governance arrangements for the Council.

Page 49



Page 4 of 4

Recommendation

The Cabinet is recommended to note the content of the Corporate Risk Register.

CHRISTINE SALTER 
Corporate Director Resources 
9 December 2016
 
The following Appendices are attached: 

Appendix A - Corporate Risk Map 2016/17 (Mid-Year Position) 
Appendix B - Corporate Risk Register 2016/17 Mid-Year Position (Summary)
Appendix C - Corporate Risk Register 2016/17 Mid-Year Position (Detailed)

Page 50



Performance 
Management

(Was B2)

U
nl

ik
el

y
Li

ke
ly B

C
=
C

Li
ke

lih
oo

d

Organisation 
Development

(Was B2)

Schools SOP
(Was C1)

Climate 
Change & 

Energy 
Security

Asset 
Management

Budget 
Prioritisation

(Was B2)

Financial 
Resilience

(Was B2)

Budget 
Monitoring 

(control)

Schools 
Delegated 
Budgets

Education 
Consortium 

and 
Attainment

ICT Platforms 
unsuitable / 

outdated
(Was C2)

Social 
Services - 

Cost

Major

Business 
Continuity

Significant

Workforce 
Planning

Moderate Minor

Information 
Governance

(was A2)

Ve
ry

 U
nl

ik
el

y

Legal 
Compliance

Risk Appetite

Hungry       ---

Open                  ---

Cautious       ---

Minimalist ---

Social 
Services & 
Wellbeing 

Act

Ve
ry

 L
ik

el
y

A

Welfare 
Reform

D

1 3

Waste 
Management

2 4

Hostile 
Vehicle 

Mitigation

Consequences

Health & 
Safety

Fraud, 
Bribery & 

Corruption

Promoting 
Independence

(New)
Safeguarding

(New)

Corporate Risk Register – 2016/17 (Mid Year Position) Appendix A

P
age 51



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



CORPORATE RISK REGISTER – Mid Year Summary 2016/17              Appendix B
Risk Description Inherent Risk Residual Risk Risk Owner Cabinet Member

EVENT DRIVEN RISKS

Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act
Failure to implement the Social Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014.

 

High Priority
B1

Medium Priority
(Red/Amber) B3 Tony Young

Councillor Sue Lent,
Deputy Leader - Early Years, 

Children & Families

Councillor Susan Elsmore 
Health, Housing & Wellbeing

Hostile Vehicle Mitigation in Cardiff
Vehicle Borne Improvised Explosive Device (VBIED) detonating in an area identified as a high risk crowded 
place, as a result of the inappropriate boundary treatments and access control processes protecting and 
managing it.

High Priority
A1

High Priority
B1 Andrew Gregory

Councillor Ramesh Patel
Transport, Planning & 

Sustainability

Welfare Reform
That the Council cannot meet its statutory obligations with the increased demands and reduced budgets placed 
upon it by the Welfare Reform including: Universal Credit, further reduction in Benefit Cap, size restrictions for 
social tenants and restriction of social housing rents to LHA levels. Lack of information, short timescales for 
implementation and the large number of citizens affected makes these changes a significant risk.  

High Priority
A2

High Priority
B2

Sarah McGill
(Jane Thomas)

Councillor Susan Elsmore 
Health, Housing & Wellbeing

Waste Management 
Failure to achieve targets for Landfill allowance, specifically for Biodegradable Municipal Waste and WG 
statutory Recycling Targets. Ineffective delivery of recycling targets and residual waste treatment. Failure to 
comply with EU recycling waste directive.

High Priority
B1

High Priority
B2 Andrew Gregory Councillor Bob Derbyshire 

Environment

Education – Schools - SOP
Large scale Capital Programme (£164m) with tight timescales for delivery, in context of very rapidly growing 
primary age school population.

High Priority
B1

Medium Priority
(Amber/ Green) C3

Nick Batchelar
(Janine 

Nightingale)
Councillor Sarah Merry

Education 

ONGOING RISKS

Education Consortium & Attainment
The Central South Consortium does not deliver effective services that challenge and support Cardiff schools to 
improve and Educational Attainment does not improve at the required rate.

High Priority
B1

Medium Priority
(Red/Amber) C2

Nick Batchelar
(Angela Kent)

Councillor Sarah Merry
Education

ICT Platforms Unsuitable/ Outdated
The ICT platforms  (desktop, software, network, servers, and telephones) will not be able to support the 
technologies required by the corporate change programme and deliver effective service to the council, or will not 
provide a reliable service due to age and condition of equipment and systems.

High Priority
A2

Medium Priority
(Red/Amber) B3

Christine Salter
(Phil Bear)

Councillor Graham Hinchey 
Corporate Services & 

Performance

Safeguarding
Systemic failure in the effectiveness of the Council’s safeguarding arrangements together with other statutory 
safeguarding partners. 

High Priority
B1

Medium Priority
(Red/Amber) C1

Tony Young
&

Davina Fiore

Councillor Sue Lent, 
Deputy Leader - Early Years, 

Children & Families

Councillor Susan Elsmore  
Health, Housing & Wellbeing

Councillor Graham Hinchey 
Corporate Services & 

Performance
Budget prioritisation
Failure to deliver the statutory obligation of setting a balanced annual budget and a fully informed  Medium Term 
Financial Plan which takes into account statutory budget planning obligations (compounded by the risk of only 
receiving annual settlement figures from the Welsh Government).    
 

High Priority
A1

Medium Priority
(Red/Amber) C2

Christine Salter
(Ian Allwood)

Councillor Graham Hinchey  
Corporate Services & 

Performance

Financial Resilience
The Financial resilience of the Council over the medium term is significantly weakened so that it is financially 
unable to discharge its statutory obligations and services to the citizens of Cardiff.

High Priority
A1

Medium Priority
(Red/Amber) C2

Christine Salter
(Ian Allwood)

Councillor Graham Hinchey  
Corporate Services & 

Performance

Budget Monitoring (Control)
Failure to achieve the budget set, inclusive of budgeted spend and savings across Directorates, with increased 
use of emergency finance measures and the drawdown of reserves. 

High Priority
A1

High Priority
B2

Christine Salter
(Allan Evans)

Councillor Graham Hinchey 
Corporate Services & 

Performance

Health and Safety
Ineffective compliance of health and safety through poor application and embedding of the ‘Framework for 
Managing Health and Safety in Cardiff Council. 

High Priority
A1

High Priority
B1

Christine Salter Councillor Graham Hinchey 
Corporate Services & 

Performance

Climate Change & Energy Security
Un-preparedness to the effects of climate change due to lack of future proofing for key (social and civil) 
infrastructure and business development, and inability to secure consistent energy supply due to rising energy 
costs and insecurity of energy supply.

High Priority
B1

High Priority
B1 Andrew Gregory Councillor Bob Derbyshire  

Environment

Information Governance
Information handled inappropriately leaves the Council exposed to intervention and financial penalties issued by 
the Information Commissioner (ICO). This includes information held by Cardiff Schools. 

High Priority
A1

High Priority
B2

Christine Salter
(Vivienne 
Pearson)

Councillor Graham Hinchey  
Corporate Services & 

Performance

Social Services - Costs
Failure to reduce the cost of delivering social services. High Priority

B1
High Priority

B2 Tony Young
Councillor Sue Lent, 

Deputy Leader - Early Years, 
Children & Families

Promoting Independence
Failure to sustain an effective whole system approach that enables adults with significant health needs to remain 
in, or return to, their own homes and reduces the need for / length of hospital stays.

High Priority
B1

Medium Priority
(Red/Amber) C1 Tony Young Councillor Susan Elsmore 

Health, Housing & Wellbeing

Performance Management
A performance management culture is not embedded within the Council leaving the Council exposed to 
intervention by Welsh Government in line with the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 and associated 
requirements.

High Priority
B2

Medium Priority
(Red/Amber) C2

Christine Salter
(Joe Reay)

Councillor Graham Hinchey 
Corporate Services & 

Performance

Organisation Development
OD projects fail to deliver the radical change required to deliver efficiency savings and service changes, due to 
service and resource pressures.

High Priority
B1

Medium Priority
(Red/Amber) C2

Christine Salter
(Dean Thomas)

Councillor Graham Hinchey  
Corporate Services & 

Performance

Business Continuity
Large scale incident/loss affecting the delivery of services.

High Priority
B1

Medium Priority
(Red/Amber) C1 Christine Salter

Councillor Phil Bale, 
Leader – Economic 

Development & Partnerships

Education – Schools Delegated Budgets
Secondary Schools with deficit budgets do not deliver agreed deficit recovery plans, impacting on the overall 
budgets for all schools.

High Priority
A2

Medium Priority
(Red/Amber) C2

Nick Batchelar
(Neil Hardee)

Councillor Sarah Merry
Education

Legal Compliance
Changes in services and staff roles across the Council resulting in:
- gaps in Council wide knowledge of the local authority framework of responsibilities and duties within which we 

have to operate;
- inability to deliver the services in accordance with all duties and responsibilities due to lack of resource:

In each case leading to increased risk of challenges.

Reduction and changes in front-line services, discretionary and statutory, will lead to increased risks of challenge 
from users and other stakeholders affected.

High Priority
B2

Medium Priority
(Red/Amber) C2

Davina Fiore Councillor De’Ath
Skills, Safety & Engagement 

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption
Fraud, financial impropriety or improper business practices increase as internal controls are weakened as 
resources become severely stretched. 

High Priority
B2

Medium Priority
(Red/Amber) B3

Christine Salter
(Ian Allwood)

Councillor Graham Hinchey 
Corporate Services & 

Performance 
Page 53



CORPORATE RISK REGISTER – Mid Year Summary 2016/17              Appendix B
Risk Description Inherent Risk Residual Risk Risk Owner Cabinet Member

Asset Management 
Ensure effective operation of the Council’s Asset Management Board to achieve effective strategic oversight and 
identified savings.

High Priority
B2

Medium Priority
(Amber/Green) D2 Neil Hanratty

Councillor Phil Bale, 
Leader – Economic 

Development & Partnerships

Workforce Planning
Importance of forecasting and planning to build capability and capacity for the future is not fully recognised and 
embedded.

Medium Priority
(Red/Amber) B3

Medium Priority
(Red/Amber) B3

Christine Salter
(Philip Lenz)

Councillor Graham Hinchey 
Corporate Services & 

Performance

Page 54



CORPORATE RISK REGISTER – Mid Year Review 2016/17 Appendix C           

Page 1 of 13

Risk Description Potential Consequence L C Inherent 
Risk Current/Existing Controls L C Residual 

Risk Proposed Improvement Action
Risk Owner & 

Cabinet 
Member

EVENT DRIVEN RISKS

Social Services and Wellbeing 
(Wales) Act

Failure to implement the Social 
Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act 
2014.

Reputational / Financial / Stakeholders / Service 
delivery / Legal / Partnership / Community

 Legal challenge around interpretation of ‘duties’ under 
the ‘wellbeing’ concept.

 Increases in demand, or service offer, stimulated by 
new duties under the Act.

 Social care sector staff not sufficiently trained to 
implement Act from 6th April 2016.

B 1 High 
Priority

 Governance arrangements in place to ensure effective monitoring of 
progress across the region.

 Senior lead officers identified with responsibility for each work stream.
 Regional task and finish groups established for each work stream and 

action plans being delivered.
 Director leading workforce development planning for the region.
 Officers contributing to national work groups as required.
 Regular reports to Scrutiny Committee with references to Cabinet in 

place.
 DEWIS launched and implementedGrowth identified as part of 2016-17 

budget.
 Joint approaches to developing opportunities across Cardiff, the Vale of 

Glamorgan and University Health Board (UHB) closely monitored 
through the regional Strategic Leadership Group.

 Regional Partnership Board commenced April 2016
 Establishment of the Regional Implementation Plan.

B 3 Medium 
Priority

(Red/
Amber)

 Potential growth bid for 2017/18 currently being assessed.
Tony Young

Councillor 
Sue Lent, 

Deputy Leader 
- Early Years, 

Children & 
Families

Councillor 
Susan Elsmore 

– 
Health, 

Housing & 
Wellbeing

Hostile Vehicle Mitigation in 
Cardiff

Vehicle Borne Improvised Explosive 
Device (VBIED) detonating in an 
area identified as a high risk 
crowded place, as a result of the 
inappropriate boundary treatments 
and access control processes 
protecting and managing it.

Service Delivery / Reputation / Legal / Financial / Health 
& Safety / Financial / Partnership / Community & 
Environment / Stakeholders

Potential for:-
 Large no’s of fatalities, injuries to public in crowded 

place.
 Extensive structural damage and/or collapse of 

surrounding buildings.
 Major fire.
 Damage/disruption to utilities (gas, electricity, water 

etc.)
 Immediate impact to businesses in the Cardiff area.
 Media coverage affecting public perception, leading 

to a loss of public confidence directly resulting in 
reduced business, retail and tourism revenues 
generated in the city.

 Area to be viewed as a risk for potential future 
business investment.

 Inability to attract major future national and 
international events (political, sporting etc.)  

 Increase in demand for council services/support for 
all affected.

 Current economic climate to reduce the 
effectiveness of any recovery/regeneration of the 
area

A 1 High 
Priority

 All existing identified high risk; crowded places have been formally 
assessed.

 Most crowded places have an extremely limited and in some cases 
‘third party managed’ access control process to operate them; 
providing little/no challenge.

 Most crowded places have varying standards of boundary treatments 
protecting them; providing a limited/cursory visual deterrent but little/no 
protection from a hostile vehicle.

 CONTEST Protect/Prepare Task & Finish Group maintains the City 
Gateways Public Realm Enhancement Scheme, with agreed options 
for suitable PAS 68/69 mitigation for appropriate boundary locations; 
referred to as ‘gateways’.

 19 (38%) of the identified ‘gateways’ into the crowded places already 
benefit from PAS 68/69 mitigation in place, implemented as a direct 
result of Home Office (Crowded Places) and Olympic Legacy funding.

 The estimated cost for the procurement and installation of the PAS 
68/69 mitigation and ancillary services is £3.6 Million.

 Work is ongoing with City Operations to advise developers across the 
city in relation to appropriate mitigation required.

 The Cardiff City Centre Access Control Protocol is currently operating 
at the heightened response level, reflecting the UK National Threat 
Level; permitting vehicles onto the pedestrianised areas within Cardiff 
City Centre using strict parameters.

 The Tabernacle Access Control Document is fully operational and sits 
and as an annex document to the main City Centre Access Control 
Protocol. It enables the Urban Traffic Control Officers to better manage 
Tabernacle ‘users’, covering their requirements whilst adhering to the 
existing Traffic Regulation Order.

 Wales Extremism and Counter Terrorism Unit (WECTU) Counter 
Terrorist Security Advisor’s (CTSA’s), the Emergency Services & 
Cardiff Council provide Project Argus and EVAC/Griffin training across 
the city to raise awareness for likely impacts associated with major 
incidents and in particular, terrorist attacks. The sessions also cover 
the support likely to be immediately available from the emergency 
services and Cardiff Council, the practical and simple preparations 
people/organisations can make prior to incident occurring to help 
themselves manage and recover from its impacts.

B 1 High 
Priority

 The CONTEST Protect/Prepare Group will continue to 
monitor and review the scheme to ensure it is fit for purpose 
until it is fully installed.

 The CONTEST Protect/Prepare Group will give a status 
report to the Cardiff CONTEST Board

 The CONTEST Board will continue to try and identify 
external funding sources/opportunities from Welsh 
Government, Central Government to conclude scheme and 
appropriately mitigate the risk.

 City Operations to commence a small Working Group to 
look at short term and longer terms options to deliver the 
strategy or provide mitigation as funding 
sources/opportunies from third parties has not been 
identified.  The City continues to hold World Events such as 
the Champions League final in 2017 and therefore the risk 
remains.

Andrew 
Gregory

Councillor 
Ramesh Patel – 

Transport, 
Planning & 

Sustainability

P
age 55



CORPORATE RISK REGISTER – Mid Year Review 2016/17 Appendix C           

Page 2 of 13

Risk Description Potential Consequence L C Inherent 
Risk Current/Existing Controls L C Residual 

Risk Proposed Improvement Action
Risk Owner & 

Cabinet 
Member

Welfare Reform

That the Council cannot meet its 
statutory obligations with the 
increased demands and reduced 
budgets placed upon it by the 
Welfare Reform including: Universal 
Credit, further reduction in Benefit 
Cap, size restrictions for social 
tenants and restriction of social 
housing rents to LHA levels. Lack of 
information, short timescales for 
implementation and the large 
number of citizens affected makes 
these changes a significant risk.  

 Private landlords stop renting to benefit claimants
 Social housing rents become unaffordable to some 

claimants, in particular those under 35 and with large 
families.

 Increased homelessness and demand for temporary 
accommodation

 Increased rent arrears, increased evictions 
 Redeployment / Severance for 140 staff 
 Changing demands on Council stock resulting in 

increased voids and/or undersupply of smaller 
properties.

 Barriers to building additional affordable housing 
Supported accommodation becomes unaffordable 
impacting on social services and vulnerable 
homeless clients.

A 2 High 
Priority

 Communities staff continue to work closely with private landlords and 
advice agencies to mitigate wherever possible the reduction in benefit. 
To date private landlords have not withdrawn from the benefits market in 
large numbers but changes in the economy could influence this in the 
future so this will continue to be monitored closely. 

 Discretionary Housing payments are being used to top up the benefit 
claims of those most affected by the changes and to pay rent in advance 
and bonds to help tenants to move accommodation where necessary. 

 Timely information is being given to claimants to help them respond to 
the changes.

 A streamlined process is in place for re-housing tenants who need to 
downsize as a result of the social housing size restrictions. DHP is being 
used to pay removal costs and to cover shortfall while tenants are 
waiting to move. 

 A new Welfare Liaison team has been created within the housing service 
to assist tenants affected by the changes. Work is underway to identify 
those affected by the reduced Benefit Cap and to advise them 
accordingly. 

 The number of properties becoming vacant has increased as a result of 
Welfare reform and this combined with other issues has resulted in a 
significant increase in void rent loss. Work is being done to encourage 
exchanges rather than transfers.  

 Universal Credit has commenced in Cardiff, very small numbers 
affected. The scheme has been changed to include more information 
sharing for landlords and this should offset some of the risk. The council 
is providing face to face services on behalf of the DWP including digital 
inclusion and budgeting advice.

 The implications of the restriction of social housing rents to LHA rate are 
being considered in partnership with RSLs and options for providing 
shared / low cost housing are being considered. Work is ongoing to 
review supported housing schemes and prioritise this ahead of the 
changes.

 The Advice Hub in Central Library is providing comprehensive advice 
services for those affected by Welfare Reform.

 The Welfare Reform Task Group is working well in coordinating multi-
agency activity and developing appropriate interventions during a difficult 
transition period for many people affected. 

 Briefings continue to be provided to Members on Welfare Reform and 
further information is sent as appropriate.

B 2 High 
Priority

 Universal Credit was introduced from 30/11/15 but only for a 
small number of claimants.  A review of workforce is 
currently underway using approximate roll out timetable. 
Agreement has been reached with DWP to provide face to 
face services for UC claimants and funding will be provided 
for this in the current year. Services and appropriate 
publicity are being developed.

 Digital inclusion training and banking support has been 
successfully implemented and will continue to be monitored.

 Additional resource has been agreed for supporting council 
tenants with the Universal Credit changes, staff have been 
recruited to assist with this and the new team is working 
well.

 Work has been undertaken to cost the potential risks of 
Universal Credit and this will continue to be updated as the 
more information is known.  

 Size restriction for social tenants and the Benefit Cap 
remains a significant risk with potential increased arrears 
and homelessness; the Cap is due to reduce to £20k in 
January  and working groups have been setup involving 
RSLs, childrens services, famileis first and a range of other 
partners who may be able to help support these families.

 Regular meetings are held with social housing providers to 
monitor and improve processes.  

 DHP spend is being monitored carefully, to date spend is 
within budget. Work is ongoing to establish how the fund 
can best help those affected by the deceresed benefit Cap. 

  Work has been carried out on the impact of possible council 
rent redecreases on the HRA business plan and discussion 
is ongoing with social landlords about the impact of possible 
rent decreases on future housing development. Currently 
this does not apply in Wales.t 

 The impact of the changes to rent levels for under 35 is 
currently under review with all social landlords considering 
how they can contribute to a solution to this issue. At 
present all are continuing to  house young applciatns as 
normal.

Sarah McGill

(Jane Thomas)

Councillor 
Susan Elsmore 

– 
Health, 

Housing & 
Wellbeing

Waste Management 

Failure to achieve targets for 
Landfill allowance, specifically for 
Biodegradable Municipal Waste 
and WG statutory Recycling 
Targets. Ineffective delivery of 
recycling targets and residual waste 
treatment. Failure to comply with 
EU recycling waste directive.

Reputational / Financial / Stakeholder / Service delivery 
/ Legal / Environmental / Community 
 Significant financial penalties for failure at up to 

£200/tonne or incorrectly capture tonnage data
 Procure disposalelsewhere with additional costs.
 Reputation damage
 Increased costs of landfill and alternative treatment 

markets
 Risk to grant funding (currently £6.9m 2016/17), 

potential in year cuts, future year grant reductions 
and changing terms and conditions

 No MTFP for future grant funds or capital confirmed 
by WG

 Reducing Grants; reducing market values for 
recyclates; market collapse for recycling outlets

   Risk of legal challenge

B 1 High 
Priority

Policies / Strategy
 Previous updates contain the policy position improvements between 

2008-2015. 
 Waste Management Strategy 2011-2016 was approved on 13th Jan 

2011 and was revised and approved in April 2015.
 Several progress reports have been made to Cabinet and Environmental 

Scrutiny in that period. 
 Monthly performance tracking of recycling has been established to help 

predict the end of year position.
 Steps taken to improve MRF processing rates means less waste to 

treatment.
 Commercial recycling centre opened March 2014, its performance is 

increasing with more commercial HWRC being identified. 
 Focus on pre-sort on the HWRCs is showing improvements in site 

recycling.
 Restrictions to Cardiff domestic householders have reduced tonnage 

profiles in qu4 of 2015/16.

Contracts / Projects
 Several Contracts have been put in place for additional materials to be 

recycled from the HWRC’s. 
 Interim contract in place for disposal of biodegradable green/food waste 
 A flexible Interim Disposal Contract in place with Biffa for 2-10 years; 

commenced April 2009.
 Aggregate recycling is now in place.
 Recycling litter bins are in place in the city centre.
 New initiatives such a charging for bulky waste, commercial recycling 

centre, sweepings, mattress and carpet recycling schemes are all 
underway.

 New HWRC delivery model is underway. 

This year, placing the focus on pre-sort high quality recycling and 
removing the reliance on post sorting of waste.

Prosiect Gwyrdd
Financial Close occurred December 2013 Viridor are the appointed 
contractor which commenced Sept 2015. Removes risk of failing 

B 2 High 
Priority

Risk of Fines
 The targets for statutory recycling in 16/17 is 58%,  64% to 

be achieved by 2019/20, therefore, the risk rating remains 
high, due to seasonality and risk of recycling market 
collapse. 

 Risk remains high that recycling performance and weather 
impacts on green waste could lead to a status quo in 
recycling performance or at worse a drop in performance

 The risk of failing the biodegrdable limits to landfill has been 
minimised due to the current disposal route.

Policy / Strategy
 The outline waste strategy has been approved by Cabinet 

April 2015. The first phase of reducing residual waste 
capacity to force higher dry recycling and food and green 
waste recycling was completed in 15/16. Flats Strategy to 
improve waste and recycling collections from flats is 
designed to enable greater recycling and food waste from 
hard to capture areas, to be implemented in 2016/17. This 
included a business case on current recycling methods.

 The sweepings contract is secured and operating.
 Exploring reuse partners, Market test and intial procurement 

was not successful, so further work is required to secure a 
partner.

 Working with other Local Authorities to explore TEEP 
business cases and/or exploring joint working options

 Delays have been experienced in the HWRCs changes, 
which will reduce the recycling potential and waste 
minimisation activities that were planned for 2016/17 
onwards.

Contracts / Projects
 Progress the Organic procurement is to timescale to SCD of 

01/04/17. Interim contracts remain in place.
 An Contract for residual treatment is in place for when the 

landfill closes and to ensure LAS targets are met and tax 
avoided wherever possible.

Neil Hanratty

Councillor 
Bob 

Derbyshire - 
Environment

P
age 56



CORPORATE RISK REGISTER – Mid Year Review 2016/17 Appendix C           

Page 3 of 13

Risk Description Potential Consequence L C Inherent 
Risk Current/Existing Controls L C Residual 

Risk Proposed Improvement Action
Risk Owner & 

Cabinet 
Member

biodegradablke waste limit to landfill

Organic procurement
The procurement of a processing facility for food and green waste was 
completed for both Cardiff and the Vale of Glamorgan. The new facility will 
be operational in 2016, whilst the interim arrangements remain in place. 

Household & Commercial Waste Collections
Household Waste collections were changed further towards the WG 
recycling blueprint is now underway by changing to: smaller fortnightly 
black (with accompanying hygiene services) and weekly food and dry 
recycling and fortnightly green waste. National government discussions on 
comingled recycling remain an issue and further modelling on the best 
option for Cardiff will be completed in 2016/17.

Collaboration work
Working and engaging with Welsh Government on legal and policy 
changes.
 

 New markets for carpets and mattresses are being explored
 
Project Gwyrdd 
 Financial Close occurred December 2013, service 

commencement started 01 April 2016, all risks regarding 
treatment and recycling of the ash (IBA) derived from 
residual now lie fully with the contractor.
 

 To help secure 2015/16 IBA, recycling began in 15/16 to 
secure additional recycling tonnages. Furthermore, for 
2016/17, the contractor has secured recycling for flue gas 
residues which will offer a further 1%.

Collections
 Commercial waste operations have refined the marketing 

package for recycling in the commercial sector to increase 
recycling from commercial waste collected by the Waste 
Collection Authority that is included in the total MSW (and 
therefore relevant to statutory targets). 

 Set and achieve new commercial recycling opportunities for 
new materials and new income opportunities – targeting 
commercial food collections and schools.

MRF
 A high risk remains in the materials market fluctuations 

influenced by world-wide pricing affecting the volume of 
material recycled. In 15/16 Glass market impacts severely 
risked several 1000’s tonnes of glass, this situation was 
recovered but highlights the ongoing volatility and risk to 
meeting statutory targets.Markets remain weak in 16/17.

Education – Schools - SOP

Large scale Capital Programme 
(£164m) with tight timescales for 
delivery, in context of very rapidly 
growing primary age school 
population.

Reputational / Legal / Financial / Social / Stakeholder / 
Health & safety.

 Insufficient primary places in some areas of the City.
 Further degeneration of school buildings
 Reducing educational standards.
 Project cost and time overruns
 Risk that Welsh Government do not approve 

individual project funding if not satisfied with 
Business Cases.

 Difficulties associated with data source and 
production could undermine proposals and 
stakeholder trust in the SOP change process

B 1 High 
Priority

 A significant proportion of the Schools Organisation Programme has 
been delivered to date including:-

  A new Pontprennau Primary School 
  Refurbishment to Millbank Primary School
  An extension to Adamsdown Primary School
  An extension to Coed Glas Primary School
  An extension to Ysgol Y Wern
  New Science Block at Fitzalan High

 These address in the main the sufficiency issues in the Primary Sector.

 The Procurement of the new Easten High School, in partnership with 
Cardiff & Vale College is complete, the construction contract signed for 
£26m with Willmott Dixon and the buildings works commenced on site.

 The procurememt of the 3 new primary school buildings for Howardian 
Primary, Ysgol Hamadryad and Ysgol Glan Morfa is complete, at 
£13.5m with Morgan Sindell.  The schools are currently being designed 
and will be submitted for planning approval in January 2017.

 The procurement of the new High School in the West is due to 
commence in the Autumn 2016 with a contractor being appointed to 
design & building the school in Jaunary 2017.

 Assets being considered corporately to maximise the opportunity to 
focus funds realised within the Council and through other sources on 
fewer high quality buildings.

 Extensive work on the 21st Century Schools Band B funding now to 
take place during 2016 to submit progress to WG in Autumn 2017.

 Restructure of team completed. 

C 3  Medium 
Priority

(Amber/ 
Green)

All risks being monitored and reported to Schools Programme 
Board.

 ‘Turn Key solutions’ being progessed on all new school 
builds i.e. one contract, single point of management and 
responsibility

 Two step procurement methods being undertaken on all 
procurements

 Standardised design methods being used where possible
 Continued active dialogue with Welsh Government and 

other professional parties to support progress and 
development

 Prioritise population data development to support accurate 
projections and forecasts for existing resident populations 
and to support effective s106 negotiations going forward

 Ensure consistent monitoring and reporting of all risks to 
Schools Programme Board. 

 Capacity strengthened in SOP Team.
 

Nick Batchelar

(Janine 
Nightingale)

Councillor 
Sarah Merry -

Education 

ONGOING RISKS

Education Consortium & 
Attainment Reputational / Legal / Financial.

• Budget implications.

B 1 High 
Priority

The authority has made satisfactory progress against the Estyn 
recommendation that relates to the Central South Consortium.
   

C 2 Medium 
Priority

 Officers will continue to ensure the agreed commissioning 
arrangements are refreshed and delivered and impact 
positively on the performance of schools.

Nick Batchelar

P
age 57



CORPORATE RISK REGISTER – Mid Year Review 2016/17 Appendix C           

Page 4 of 13

Risk Description Potential Consequence L C Inherent 
Risk Current/Existing Controls L C Residual 

Risk Proposed Improvement Action
Risk Owner & 

Cabinet 
Member

The Central South Consortium does 
not deliver effective services that 
challenge and support Cardiff 
schools to improve and Educational 
Attainment does not improve at the 
required rate.

• Educational standards falling behind other LA’s.
Potential impact on Estyn judgement for LA.
• Intervention from WG

Estyn reported in March 2016 that Overall, Cardiff schools are being 
challenged more rigorously and supported more effectively to improve.  
There have been improvements in most of the outcome indicators at all 
key stages, although the performance of a few of Cardiff secondary 
schools is still a significant concern.  The work of the school improvement 
service commissioned from the regional consortium is based on clear 
priorities and a good understanding of Cardiff schools.  Since the 
monitoring visit in 2014, the local authority has worked well with its schools 
to engage school leaders and to develop a change in culture in which 
schools are more aware of their responsibility for their own improvement.  

In February 2016, following their inspection of the Central South 
Consortium, Estyn reported that the Consortium had a clear vision and 
strategy to improve schools that is understood by m0ost stakeholders and 
underpins support for school improvement well. The consortium works well 
with its local authority partners to share information about the performance 
of schools across the region, and to identify schools causing concern. 
 
There is a strong working relationship between the local authority and the 
regional consortium.  The local authority has moderated the outcomes of 
categorisation in partnership with the regional consortium, and this has led 
to a more accurate view of school performance, an improved model of 
differentiated support and challenge, and earlier intervention in schools 
causing concern.    

The performance management and quality assurance of the work of 
challenge advisers is now more systematic, and the authority has taken 
robust steps to improve practice where underperformance is identified.  
There are robust processes to quality assure the reports of challenge 
advisers, and this has led to an improvement in the consistency and 
precision of their reports.  Processes to validate judgements through the 
collection of first-hand evidence are improving, and this is beginning to 
provide the authority with a more accurate evaluation of their schools.  
Through school improvement meetings, challenge advisers are developing 
a better understanding of the role that wider services in the local authority 
play in improving schools.  

The local authority works productively with its regional consortium to 
address the specific needs of Cardiff schools, and to promote school-to-
school working.  A few Cardiff schools are acting as hubs to disseminate 
good practice and to provide training and networking opportunities across 
the consortium.  School improvement groups (SIGs) of teachers and 
leaders across the region are working on key improvement issues, and 
these groups focus well on evaluating their work in terms of outcomes for 
pupils.  The local authority has commissioned the regional consortium to 
deliver a comprehensive range of leadership development programmes 
specifically to address leadership issues across its schools.  These include 
training for aspiring leaders, middle leaders, headteachers at various 
stages of their careers, and development for those leaders who are 
capable of supporting. 

(Red/
Amber)

 Education Directorate delivery plan now refreshed with clear 
accountabilities and performance measures. These will be 
share with the consortium and associated roles, 
responsibilities and accountabilities agreed.

 Recruit a Secondary senior challenge adviser with well-
developed knowledge and skills to build on the progress 
made to date.

(Angela Kent)

Councillor 
Sarah Merry -

Education 

ICT Platforms Unsuitable/ 
Outdated

The ICT platforms  (desktop, 
software, network, servers, and 
telephones) will not be able to 
support the technologies required 
by the corporate change 
programme and deliver effective 
service to the council, or will not 
provide a reliable service due to 
age and condition of equipment and 
systems.

  Reputational / Financial / Stakeholder / Service 
delivery.

  Loss of PSN services.
 Service delivery impacts from unreliable/unavailable 

ICT systems.
  Cardiff seen as unable to deliver on aspirations.
 Poor morale from frustrations with inability to deliver 

services.
 Potential for income losses from revenue collection 

impacts.
 Unable to meet delivery deadlines on both business 

as usual and transformation projects.

A 2 High 
Priority

Measurements put in place to track impact.
 Existing ICT budget spend focused on dealing with critical issues, capital 

and revenue budget resource provided to address major issues.
 Spending complete for renewal/upgrade of highest risk items, in particular 

firewalls, core servers/switches, external bandwidth and network storage.
 New system down analysis process in place to ensure that key pressure 

points are rapidly identified and fixed with minimum disruption.
 New deliveries are all being designed for a 99.99% minimum uptime, with 

critical systems targeted at 99.999% (equating to less than 6 minutes per 
year).

 Due to mitigation actions so far to reduce the risk, the risk of critical 
service downtime has been reduced to medium.

 Additional load balancers to be purchased for application resilience in key 
systems.

 All SAP hardware has been replaced and software versions brought to 
latest levels

 Continued replacement of unsupported window servers. 
 Publication of system and application support lifecycles to allow business 

users to plan replacements as required.
 Thin client server farms fully refreshed with new hardware and software 

versions upgraded and aged thin client Xtreme PC’s being phased out

B 3 Medium 
Priority

(Red/
Amber)

 Continued assessment of priorities for replacement – 
removal of systems out of supplier support is the main 
priority.

 System owners are being tasked to identify action plan for 
replacing systems out of supported levels.

 Firmer engagement with business on decommissioning or 
replacing unsupported platforms and applications.

 Replace aged contact centre telephony.
 Assessment of equipment required replacing to maintain 

PSN compliance
 Further revenue and capital investment in 2017/18.
 Pilot leasing scheme within schools to be considered for 

corporate desktop estate.
 Migrating remote workers users to latest agile working model 

where possible.
 Replacement of older slower disks in many PC’s with solid 

state disks to improve performance and extend usable life
 Continued reduction in aged Xtreme devices some of which 

were over 11 years old – over 1500 replaced in last two 
years leaving 1800.

Christine Salter

(Phil Bear)

Councillor
Graham 

Hinchey - 
Corporate 
Services & 

Performance

P
age 58



CORPORATE RISK REGISTER – Mid Year Review 2016/17 Appendix C           

Page 5 of 13

Risk Description Potential Consequence L C Inherent 
Risk Current/Existing Controls L C Residual 

Risk Proposed Improvement Action
Risk Owner & 

Cabinet 
Member

Safeguarding

Systemic failure in the effectiveness 
of the Council’s safeguarding 
arrangements together with other 
statutory safeguarding partners

Reputation / Financial / Stakeholders / Service delivery 
/ Legal / Partnership / Community

 A child/ren or adult/s suffers avoidable significant 
harm or death.

 Reputation of Council and partners.
 Severe adverse publicity.
 Potential regulator intervention.
 Loss of confidence by the community in the safety of 

children and adults.
 Loss of confidence of staff in the overall “safety” of the 

service, impacting on morale, recruitment and 
retention.

 Potential litigation with associated financial penalties.

B 1 High 
Priority

 Implementation of Social Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 in 
relation to the strengthening of adult safeguarding.

 Strategic review of safeguarding governance across the region in 
partnership with the Vale of Glamorgan Council.

 Strategic review of the functioning of the Regional Safeguarding Adults 
Board (completed).

 Ongoing implementation of the child Sexual Exploitation Strategy.
 Implementation of the Corporate Safeguarding Board work programme.

C 1 Medium 
Priority

(Red/
Amber)

 Strategic review of the functioning of the Regional 
Safeguarding Children Board (imminent).

 Growth bids to support operational safeguarding capacity in 
safeguarding teams.

 Training staff in relation to Adult Protection Orders.
 Cardiff Council to host the all-Wales Adult and Child 

Protection Procedure re-write.

Tony Young

Councillor 
Sue Lent, 

Deputy Leader 
- Early Years, 

Children & 
Families

Councillor 
Susan Elsmore 

– 
Health, 

Housing & 
Wellbeing

Davina Fiore

Councillor 
Graham 
Hinchey, 

Corporate 
Services & 

Performance

Budget prioritisation 

Failure to deliver the statutory 
obligation of setting a balanced 
annual budget and a fully informed  
Medium Term Financial Plan which 
takes into account statutory budget 
planning obligations (compounded 
by the risk of only receiving annual 
settlement figures from the Welsh 
Government).    

Reputational / Financial / Legal / Service delivery / 
Stakeholder

 Risk of failing to meet statutory obligations.
 Risk that service delivery impacted due to uncertainty 

in the budget planning process resulting in decreasing 
resources or failure to effectively prioritise spend in 
line with Corporate Plan Objectives.

 Risk that settlement figures will not be as anticipated 
giving an element of uncertainty to any proposals 
from Cabinet during public consultation and beyond.

 Risk that savings identified as part of business as 
usual and efficiencies have not been robustly 
reviewed for achievability and will not delvier as 
planned.

 Risk that financial constraints and budget proposals 
result in unintended consequences such as  
increased instances of non compliance and financial 
impropriety. 

 Risk that annual budget settlement frustrates medium 
/ longer-term planning and that the cycle does not 
integrate with other business cycles and vice versa.

 Risk of unbalanced budget as savings required over 
the medium term become harder to achieve and their 
impact on service delivery more difficult to manage.

 Risk that organisational development does not align 
to the financial strategy in relation to budget reduction 
requirements.

 Additional obligations such as Wellbeing of Future 
Generations Act leading to Council failing in statutory 
duty. 

 

A 1 High 
Priority 2017/18 and Medium Term

 The 2017/18 Provisional Settlement is due 19 October. July 2016 
assumption was a -1% decrease and this has now been amended to -
0.25% as a result of indicative population and RSG redistributional 
movements shared prior to the Provisional announcement.

 The 2016/17 settlement allowed the Council to reduce risk and improve 
resilience through addressing the pace and scale of the most challenging 
saving proposals, reviewing planning assumptions and introducing a new 
financial resilience mechanism. This mechanism will continue to be 
reviewed in order to reduce future risk but allow one-off investment and 
development in the meantime.  

 The final 2016/17 Budget was underpinned by Directorate Savings of 
£20.344m, Council Wide Savings of £2.895m and Addressable Spend 
Savings of £5.596m; a total of £28.835m

 2016/17 and the following two years savings proposals were 
underpinned by the Reshaping the Base exercise undertaken in 
conjunction with SMT and Informal Cabinet as part of 2016/17 Budget 
Strategy Development. This exercise has been refreshed and reviewed 
in looking at 2017/18 and 2018/19 budget proposals 

 /The MTFP set out in the July Budget Strategy Report shows an  
estimated Budget Reduction Requirement of £75.297m for the medium 
term (2017/18-2019/20).

 The July Budget Strategy Report looks to identify £17.977m savings for 
2017/18 with the use of earmarked reserves, Council Tax increase and 
Cap on schools growth to identify the remaining £7.204m.

 The 2017/18 Directorate budget proposals were developed over the 
period of May – July. Those proposals have beren shared informally with 
Cabinet and been subject ot a level of due diligence testing. Draft 
proposals have been developed and continue to be worked upon for 
2018/19.

 Capital Programme assessed for additional commitments and new bids 
with a prioritisation assessment being undertaken over the period of 
August to November. The impact on cost of borrowing is looked at in 
alignment with the prioritisation so that any schemes approved can be 
funded through the overall financial envelope.

 Close working with Policy team in respect of alignment with Corporate 
Plan and duties under Wellbeing of Future Generations Act.

C 2 Medium 
Priority

(Red/
Amber)

2017/18 and Medium Term  
 Contune the work that ensures alignment with the demands 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act with the 2017/18 
Budget Strategy and any proposals.

 Ensuring closer alignment with objectives of the Corporate 
Plan and the Organisational Development Programme in 
order to ensure resources are allocated appropriately and 
that longer term financial savings are developed in enough 
time to be realised in the medium term.

 Consultation and engagement on the Budget Proposals on 
target for early November in order to ensure timetable for 
Budget to be agreed at February Council. This is to ensure 
adequate time is built in to consider the feedback from the 
consultation and engagement process.

 Leading up to the provisional settlement and beyond, there 
will be an ongoing review of key planning assumptions and 
scenarios in order to react swiftly to the announcement on 
19 October 2016.   

Medium Term
 Continued due diligence, challenge of proposals and 

development of detailed plans for both 2017/18 and 
2018/19.

 

Christine Salter

(Ian Allwood) 

Councillor
Graham 

Hinchey - 
Corporate 
Services & 

Performance

Financial Resilience

The Financial resilience of the 
Council over the medium term is 
significantly weakened so that it is 
financially unable to discharge its 
statutory obligations and services to 
the citizens of Cardiff.
 

Reputational / Financial / Legal / Service delivery / 
Stakeholder

 The risk that the Council will not be able to react to 
adverse situations through a combination of poor 
imprudent planning and significant challenges such as 
increasing demands for services such as social 
servies, education, roads etc.

 The risk is that the Council will not be able to operate 
within the financial funds available to it and fail in its 
statutory duty to deliver services.

 Reputational risk of defaulting on creditor / payroll  
payments thus creating uncertainty across the 

A 1 High 
Priority

 The Council regularly reports in relation to its financial performance 
and monitoring.

 The Council used the better than anticipated provisional settlement 
for 2016/17 to improve financial resilience as previously outlined. This 
included the establishment of a £4m financial resilience mechanism 
to protect the Council from the uncertainties associated with the 
absence of multi-year settlement information whilst allowing for one-
off investment in the mean-time.

 The Wales Audit Office’s Report into financial resilience scored the 
Council as low risk in terms of financial governance and control and 
medium risk in terms of financial planning.

 Improvement actions associated with the medium risk for financial 
planning related to 1) the improvement of savings plans and 2) the 

C 2 Medium 
Priority

(Red/
Amber)

 Key stakeholders are briefed on this position and financial 
triggers against this snapshot continue to be developed and 
reviewed.

 Work in respect of improving savings plans continues in 
order to increase the % of savings proposals accepted that 
delver. The key focus is  due diligence, challenge and 
development of detailed plans but with an emphasis and 
accountability to the directorate which proposed the saving. 
Savings documentation has also been reviewed and 
developed with the aim of ensuring consideration and 
capture of key factors relating to savings proposals.

 Links between the MTFP, OD Programme, Service Plans 
and Improvement Plans continue in order to further build on 

Christine Salter

(Ian Allwood) 

Councillor
Graham 

Hinchey - 
Corporate 
Services & 

Performance

P
age 59



CORPORATE RISK REGISTER – Mid Year Review 2016/17 Appendix C           

Page 6 of 13

Risk Description Potential Consequence L C Inherent 
Risk Current/Existing Controls L C Residual 

Risk Proposed Improvement Action
Risk Owner & 

Cabinet 
Member

community of Cardiff and beyond.
 The risk that this leads to intervention and increasing 

adverse impacts on the community of Cardiff that rely 
on the services being delivered by the Council.
 

improvement of links between the MTFP and Organisational 
Development Programme, Service Plans and Improvement Plans. 

 A financial snapshot has been developed in respect of the financial 
resilience of the Council and is reviewed 3 times a year and report at 
Budget Report (Feb16 & Feb 17), Budget Strategy (Jul) and to Audit 
Committee. 

work already undertaken in the Budget Strategy Work 
Programme.

Budget Monitoring (Control)

Failure to achieve the budget set, 
inclusive of budgeted spend and 
savings across Directorates, with 
increased use of emergency 
finance measures and the 
drawdown of reserves. 

 Inability to balance spend, against budget, for the 
financial year.

 Requirement to implement emergency measures to 
reduce spending during the financial year thus 
adversely impacting on ability to meet Corporate plan 
objectives.

 Requirement to drawdown from General Reserves at 
the year end. 

 Impact on the 2016/17 Budget where issues remain 
with achieving 2015/16 budget savings and any 
unachieved savings brought forward from 2014/15. 

 

A 1 High 
Priority

 Clear financial procedure rules setting out roles and responsibilities for 
budget management are in place.

 In recognition of the quantum of savings and the risks posed a £4 million 
General Contingency was allocated in the Budget.

 Availability of General Reserve should this be required.
 The final 2015/16 outturn showed a surplus of £1.696 million. However 

this included an overspend of £4.635m in relation to directorate budgets 
with shortfalls of £6.586m against 2015/16 savings targets and £2.837m  
against shortfalls carried forward from 2014/15. 

 As part of the 2016/17 Budget process £3.029m of these budget savings 
not achieved were written back into the budget.

 The Corporate Director of Resources, Chief Executive and Cabinet 
Members have continued to hold challenge meetings going forward into 
2016/17 in all areas both to address shortfalls against budget proposals 
accepted but also the overall financial position of each directorate. 

 The 2016/17 Month 4 monitoring report presented to Cabinet highlighted 
an overspend of £850,000. Directorate budgets projected to be 
overspend by £6.5 million partially offset by general contingency of £4 
million.

 Full financial monitoring processes is in place for month 3 to 11 of the 
financial year including achievement of budget savings with months 3 to 
6 completed. 

 Monthly meetings held between service accountants, directors and 
Cabinet Members.
 

B 2 High 
Priority

 The balance of any 2015/16 or 2016/17 savings targets 
designated as not being achievable will be reviewed and 
considered as part of the 2017/18 Budget.

Christine Salter

(Allan Evans) 

Councillor
Graham 

Hinchey - 
Corporate 
Services & 

Performance

Health and Safety

Ineffective compliance of health and 
safety through poor application and 
embedding of the ‘Framework for 
Managing Health and Safety in 
Cardiff Council. 

Reputational / Legal / Financial / Service delivery
 Fatalities 
 Serious injuries 
 Prosecution – fines for body corporate and/ or 

fines/imprisonment for individual 
 Claims

A 1 High 
Priority

 Dedicated team of competent Health and Safety Advisers providing 
specialist advice and guidance. 

 Implementation of the ‘Framework for Managing Health and Safety’ 
based on the HSE model for successful health and safety management 
as detailed in the Council’s Health and Safety Policy (revised 2014).  

 The five key elements of the management system model for 
occupational health and safety are:- 

 Policy 2. Organising - Control, Co-operation, Communication, 
Competence 3. Planning 4. Measuring Performance and 5. Audit and 
Review.  (These elements encompass a wide range of actions including 
development and implementation of relevant policies and procedures, 
risk assessing, Annual Directorate  Health and Safety Action Plans, 
corporate health and safety objectives, Directorate and Council Annual 
Health and Safety Reports, monitoring by Directorates , training, 
consultation with trade unions through corporate and Directorate 
meetings, accident reporting and investigation and auditing). 

 Directorates carry out suitable and sufficient risk assessments as 
appropriate and ensure any necessary control measures are 
implemented and monitored. 

 Health and Safety Advisers carry out a programme of health and safety 
audits, focussing on high risk activities, and undertake other inspections 
/ investigations as necessary.

 Annual Business Objectives for Health and Safety Advisers.
 Code of Guidance on Leading Health and Safety for Senior Managers 

and Headteachers included on CIS.
 

B 1 High 
Priority

 Service Level Agreement commenced in March 2016, 
following this a review of current arrangement for health and 
safety has been undertaken, the following issues have been 
highlighted as priority for improvement action:-

 Statutory Maintenance Compliance – Provide a central 
system of recording statutory inspections and monitoring the 
closing out of resulting remedial tasks in line with legislative 
requirements. H&S to Support with development and 
implementation and monitor compliance statistics.

 Review of Policy/Codes of Guidance – Review and bring up 
to date required H&S Policy and guidance to ensure they 
are reflective of current legislation and best practice.  

 Implement programme of Health and Safety Training via. 
The Academy in order to ensure competency and ongoing 
refresher training.

 H&S and OH to improve Health Surveillance in line with 
legislative requirements, review policy and establish health 
surveillance clinic within the city to increase attendance and 
reduce disruption to front line services.

 Review Violence at Work and PACD System to ensure that 
they remain effective in reducing the risk from members of 
the public who are known to be aggressive/violent.

 Review Asbestos Management Arrangements to ensure that 
the risk from exposure to asbestos is adequately managed 
in line with Legislative requirements.

 Ensure current health and safety resource is targeted at 
high risk areas of the organisation in order to mitigate risk 
and reduce loses.  Annual Review and monitoring plan 
produced.

 Assist in providing a discrete health and safety support 
service for schools via. SLA in order to reduce the risk to 
staff and pupils and improve statutory compliance on health 
and safety matters.

 

Christine Salter

Councillor
Graham 

Hinchey - 
Corporate 
Services & 

Performance

Climate Change & Energy 
Security

Un-preparedness to the effects of 
climate change due to lack of future 
proofing for key (social and civil) 
infrastructure and business 
development, and inability to secure 
consistent energy supply due to 
rising energy costs and insecurity of 
energy supply.

Reputational / Financial / Stakeholder / Service delivery 
/ Legal / Partnership / Community / Health & Safety

Flooding & increased frequency and severity of storm 
events:
 Loss of life and personal injury
 Direct damage to property, infrastructure and utilities
 Contamination and disease from flood and sewer 

water and flood on contaminated land
 Increased costs of insurance
 Break up of community and social cohesion

B 1 High 
Priority

Emergency Management Unit
Cardiff Council Emergency Management Unit is working through the Local 
Resilience Forum (LRF) structure to ensure planning is carried out with 
consideration of flood risk.
• Cardiff Area Community Risk Register is developed and 
reviewed on a regular basis by the Cardiff Area Risk Group. It takes into 
account changes in the national risk register and how those changes affect 
Cardiff.
We are engaging internally with The Welfare of Future Generations Act to 
integrate the community work with the Councils strategy and externally 
with voluntary organisations such as C3SC to provide training to 

B 1 High 
Priority

Flood Risk Management
 An officers flood working group has been establish to 

improve internal and key stakeholder communications on 
flooding issues.

 Identify where flood risk information is in place for key social 
and civil infrastructure and identify where there are gaps (i.e. 
contaminated land).To consider flood risks recognised in the 
Community Risk Register in the Community 
Planning/Integrated Partnership process. Community 
resilience workshops continue in high risk areas 

 The proposal to further progress Surface Water modelling 

Andrew 
Gregory

Councillor 
Bob 

Derbyshire - 
Environment

P
age 60



CORPORATE RISK REGISTER – Mid Year Review 2016/17 Appendix C           

Page 7 of 13

Risk Description Potential Consequence L C Inherent 
Risk Current/Existing Controls L C Residual 

Risk Proposed Improvement Action
Risk Owner & 

Cabinet 
Member

 Blight of land and development

Increased summer temperatures:
 An increase in heat related discomfort, illness and 

death, increasing pressure on health and emergency 
services

 An increase in demand for limited water supplies
 Damage to temperature sensitive infrastructure 

(transport systems, electrical systems).  
  Migration of biodiversity.

Inconsistent energy supply and cost:
 Inability to deliver public services
 Decrease in economic output
 Disruption to the supply of utilities 
  Increased transport costs
 Increased costs for heating / providing services to 

buildings
 Increased fuel poverty

community groups across Cardiff
• Cardiff Council Emergency Management Unit have in place a 
long term communication strategy in Cardiff in conjunction with multi 
agency partners highlighting flood awareness alongside other emergency 
eventualities and how residents, businesses and communities can be 
aware of the risks in their area and hence better prepare for them should 
that risk materialise. Cardiff has 5 active community flood plans with others 
in the planning stage. We have produced a ‘Preparing for Emergencies – A 
Guide for Communities’ document which is now available to all agencies 
and organisations. It provides information on how to prepare, respond and 
recover from an incident including flooding. The document can be found 
via the following link; https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-
Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Emergency-Planning-and-
Resilience/Emergency-Planning-and-Resilience/Pages/default.aspx

Energy Management Unit
 The Council procures competitive energy contracts through the Crown 

Commercial Services on a 6 monthly purchasing window for the 
following 12 month financial year.  

 Key sites are fitted with back-up generators for emergency backup, 
specifically for IT systems.

 The Carbon reduction Strategy 2022 identifies projects and activities 
through 4 strands in order to achieve a 35% reduction in the council’s 
carbon emissions from electricity and gas by 2022. These include; 
Renewables, energy Efficiency, Design and Asset Management and 
Behaviour Change.

 The new strategy is accompanied by a project programme which is 
currently being implmeneted with projects categorised across all strands.

 Key project acheivements include 16 LED lighting upgrades to schools, 
700kW of solar PV installed across the estate as well as the comissioing 
of the Radyr Weir Hydroelectric scheme with a capacity of 400kW,

 Progress in 2015/16 has achieved a 6.9% reduction in carbon versus 
2013/14 baseline.

Local Flood Risk Management Strategy
A Local Flood Risk Management Strategy was produced as a requirement 
of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010 in accordance with WG’s 
Flood & Coastal Risk Strategy guidance. The LFRMS integrates; the 
PFRA, a coastal protection strategy, stakeholder communications and sets 
a clear corporate approach to flood management. 

Flood Risk Management Plan
In 2013, as a requirement of the Flood Risk Regulations 2009, the 
Environment Agency, working with Natural Resources Wales and Lead 
Local Flood Authorities, produced the updated Flood Map for Surface 
Water (uFMfSW). The maps identify the risk, extent, velocity and hazard 
posed to Cardiff for a series of rainfall events. 

These maps have been used to inform the Flood Risk Management Plans, 
which Cardiff have produced as a requirement of the Flood Risk 
Regulations 2009. The plan sets out how Cardiff Council will over nthe 
next six years manage flooding so that the communities most at risk and 
the environment benefit the most. The plan does this by:

 Highlighting the areas most at risk of flooding from surface 
water, ordinary watercourses and groundwater in Cardiff 
Council’s area;

 Draws conclusions from these risks; and
 Sets out the measures that will be implemented over the 6 year 

cycle to mitigate these risks and make our communities more 
resilient. 

Planning
The Local Development Plan was adopted in January 2016 and includes 
policies seeking to reduce flood risk and new development. In order to 
monitor the effectiveness of these policies the LDP Annual Monitoring 
Report (AMR) includes indicators relating to flood risk which set targets 
that no planning permissions will be granted for highly vulnerable 
development within C2 floodplain area and only within C1 floodplain area if 
it meets TAN15 tests. There is also an indicator committing the Council to 
prepare Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) relating to Flooding to 
support and amplify the flood risk related policies in the adopted LDP. 

Sustainable Development Unit
 Changing Climate, Changing Places pilot project.
 Share learning experiences of climate change related risks with 

Integrated Strategy partners as and when information becomes 
available.

 Strategic climate change resilience action plan approved by Cabinet as 
part of a wider One Planet Cardiff Cabinet Report. Actions and 
recommendations in the plan cover heat planning and flooding issues.  

further in line with national guidance and deadlines to inform 
the Cardiff Area Flood Plan  awaits the next guidance from 
the Welsh Government  

 To consider the long term planning implications for coastal 
protection owned/managed by the Council . Funding of 
£400k has been secured from Welsh Government for 
2016/17 to develop a Project Appraisal Report to manage 
coastal flooding and erosion risk. The appraisal must 
consider wider benefits, and project appraisal will seek to 
identify options to remedy coastal erosion and will also have 
a consideration for the coasts flood defence standards.

Emergency Management Unit
 To consider flood risks recognised in the Community Risk 

Register in the Community Planning/Integrated Partnership 
process. Community resilience workshops continue in high 
risk areas 

Sustainable Development Unit
 Climate Change to be considered as part of the Well-Being 

Assessment and subsequent actions in the Well-Being Plan.
 Work to be undertaken with both the Covenant of Mayors 

and the Compact of Mayors to agree a consistent method of 
emissions reporting and action planning so as to not 
duplicate effforts and get maximum benefit from the 
commitments.

Energy Management Unit
 Progress has been made to establish up to date energy 

budgets.    
 Deliver development of local power generation within city 

boundaries and with neighbouring LAs by securing heat 
networks, deliver the fuel Poverty strategy through 
measures such as Cyd Cymru, ECO and Green Deal 
opportunities, provide supplementary planning guidance on 
passive and renewal heating systems to new build and 
retrofit schemes.

 Energy security related issues to inform corporate financial 
systems revised buying and power consumption monitoring 
arrangements to save money and reduce demand and 
provide corporate & community planning for Energy City 
Wide to Business and public sector.

 Further guidance to be disseminated to service areas on 
energy security and energy savings opportunities such as 
implementation of Carbon Culture, delivering extensive 
energy invest to save programmes on the Council Estate.

 Delivering renewables within larger properties to lower 
dependency to grid supply.

 Energy Performance certificates undertaken to Council 
owned stock to improve understanding along with a variety 
of energy efficiency measures (cavity / loft / external wall 
insulation and boiler upgrades) funded via ARBED, ECO 
and Green Deal. 

P
age 61

https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Emergency-Planning-and-Resilience/Emergency-Planning-and-Resilience/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Emergency-Planning-and-Resilience/Emergency-Planning-and-Resilience/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.cardiff.gov.uk/ENG/Your-Council/Strategies-plans-and-policies/Emergency-Planning-and-Resilience/Emergency-Planning-and-Resilience/Pages/default.aspx


CORPORATE RISK REGISTER – Mid Year Review 2016/17 Appendix C           

Page 8 of 13

Risk Description Potential Consequence L C Inherent 
Risk Current/Existing Controls L C Residual 

Risk Proposed Improvement Action
Risk Owner & 

Cabinet 
Member

 Corporate PI on climate change resilience developed to help support the 
authority and its services to be prepared for a changing climate, and to 
enable robust reporting to WG on this work (in line with the potential 
reporting requirements of the Climate Change Act and Well-being of 
Future Generations Act). However, there has been limited response 
from Directorates due to key staff leaving and organisational changes. 

 The Council has signed up to the Compact of Mayors in addition to its 
existing commitment to the Covenant of Mayors.  Initial data submitted 
for the Compact of Mayors Carbon Disclosure Project.

Information Governance

Information handled inappropriately 
leaves the Council exposed to 
intervention and financial penalties 
issued by the Information 
Commissioner (ICO). This includes 
information held by Cardiff Schools.

Reputational / Financial / Legal / Service delivery / 
Stakeholder

 Leads to the Information Commissioner issuing 
notices of non-compliance

 These could consist of: 
 a Stop Now Order which would mean that no 

personal data could be processes by the Council in 
its entirety

 An Information Notice which would mean that a 
service would have to provide information in a very 
limited period  thereby impacting on service delivery

 Undertaking which requires an Action Plan of 
Remedial Measures which would be subject to ICO 
Audit

 Enforcement Notice requires immediate improvement 
action to be put in place 

 Financial Penalty up to £500,000 (currently)

A 1 High 
Priority

 Information Security Board chaired by the SIRO held quarterly.
 Suite of Information Governance Policies in place.
 Processes for Information Requests, Data Loss in place.
 The Information Governance Training Strategy in place and a revised e-

learning programme developed to take forward data protection training.  
This e-learning platform is a bilingual training programme.

 Information Requests and Training compliance monitoring reports 
provided and reported to Information Security Board, SIRO. 

 The processing of CCTV requests (section 35 requests) has been 
centralised to ensure that these are dealt with appropriately

 ICO Consensual Audit determined that the Council is considered to have 
a ‘reasonable level of assurance’ in place

 Procurement contracts to include a clause regarding 3rd Parties 
processing personal data

 Privacy Impact Assessment process realigned and a PIA Board 
established to ensure that the Council, when changing systems and 
processes where personal data is involved, considers relevant 
legislation. (in preparation for the new EU requirements) 

 PQA process includes the requirement for PIA’s where personal 
information is being processed

 Advice and assistance provided to the National Adoption Service and 
Rent Smart Wales  continues as Cardiff Council is the Data Controller for 
these services

 Advice and assistance provided to collaborative services of the 
Educational Consortium, Vale, Valleys and Cardiff Regional Adoption 
Service where Cardiff is not the Data Controller

 Advice and Guidance Service in operation to Cardiff Schools (with the 
execption of Eastern High and St Illytds) to support compliance within 
schools and governing bodies

 Advice and guidance available to Directors and Lead Officers on the 
Information Governance aspects of Alternative delivery Models

 Digitisation of Records forms part of the considerations of the OD 
Programme for services becoming ‘digital by default’

 Work to support the Share Regulatory Service (SRS) is in place to 
ensure that the on-going information governance requirements are met 
and delivered linked to the wider Governance arrangements of this 
venture

B 2 High 
Priority

 The Information Governance Team (responsible for the 
Governance of CCTV) have compiled a register of all CCTV 
devices owned by the Council.  A review of the use of these 
devices is being undertaken through the council’s 
Information Security Board and the nominated Directorate 
Information Asset Owners

 Review remaining 10% of Information Requests siting in 
Directorates with a view to bringing them into the ‘One 
Council Approach’ by December 2017

 An Information Governance Maturity Model is being drafted 
to assess the overall Council position in relation to 
Information Governance Risk by December 2017

 Digitalisation of paper records strategy to be developed and 
agreed by March 2017

Christine Salter

(Vivienne 
Pearson) 

Councillor
Graham 

Hinchey - 
Corporate 
Services & 

Performance

 

Social Services – Costs

Failure to reduce the cost of 
delivering social services.

Reputational / Community / Legal / Financial / 
Stakeholders / Service delivery

Quality and range of services and interventions 
compromised, e.g.:

 Safety and welfare of individuals in the community 
compromised.

 Achievement of good outcomes for service users 
compromised.

 Shortage of appropriate services including 
placements.

 Inability to meet key objectives and performance 
targets.

 Increase in challenges from carers, including financial 
challenges.

 Increase in Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC).

B 1 High 
Priority

Strategic service improvement governance arrangements including:

 Organisational Development Programme.
 Multi agency Improving Services to Children Board.
 Adult Services Improvement Board.
 Vulnerable Families Partnership Board.
 Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH).
 Social Services Reshaping Programme.
 Adult Social Care Strategic Commissioning Programme.
 Internal Review team within Assessment & Care Management 

continues to focus on delivery of targeted reviews and reviewing 
packages of domiciliary care for individuals.

 Assessment & Case Management Business Process Review - 
commenced with corporate resources.

 Adult Social Services Position Statement completed.
 Remodelling Children’s Services implementation commenced.
 Remodelling services to disabled children commenced – supported by 

Intermediate Care Fund (ICF).
 Community Resource Team moved to 7 day working.
 Comprehensive ICF funded interventions designed to strengthen 

domiciliary care capacity in place.

B 2 High 
Priority

 Redesign services for children with emotional, behavioural 
or mental health difficulties (UHB led).

 Locality pilot designed to integrate Council, Housing, 
Primary Care, GP clusters and domiciliary care  provision 
within defined geographical areas to commence in 2016-17 
– plans progressing well.

 Identify commercialisation opportunities.

Tony Young

Councillor 
Sue Lent, 

Deputy Leader 
- Early Years, 

Children & 
Families

Councillor 
Susan Elsmore 

– 
Health, 

Housing & 
Wellbeing

P
age 62



CORPORATE RISK REGISTER – Mid Year Review 2016/17 Appendix C           

Page 9 of 13

Risk Description Potential Consequence L C Inherent 
Risk Current/Existing Controls L C Residual 

Risk Proposed Improvement Action
Risk Owner & 

Cabinet 
Member

Promoting Independence

Failure to sustain an effective whole 
system approach that enables 
adults with significant health needs 
to remain in, or return to, their own 
homes and reduces the need for / 
length of hospital stays

Reputational / Legal / Financial / Community / 
Stakeholders / Service delivery

 Increase in Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC).
 Poorer outcomes for adults.
 Potential ministerial intervention incurring significant 

reputational and political risk.

  

B 1 High 
Priority

 Leadership group established to tackle DToC - consisting of Cabinet 
Members from the Cardiff, Vale of Glamorgan, Chair of UHB and 
relevant officers.

 Performance challenges set to improve DToC - includes ongoing close 
monitoring of DToC Plan.

 Joint action plan received and agreed by the Health Minister under 
frequent review to monitor progress.

 Health & Social Care Integration - continued progression on integration 
with Health - partnership / governance.

 Community Resource Team moved to 7 day working.
 Comprehensive ICF funded interventions designed to strengthen 

domiciliary care capacity in place.
 Strategy to engage more proactively with the market in order to support 

better sustainability in domiciliary care established.

C 1 Medium 
Priority

(Red/
Amber)

 Strategic review of reablement as part of ODP.
 Strategic review of Matrix (Adam) and Proactis 

commissioning platform under way with a view to 
considering new framework arrangements for the 

Tony Young

Councillor
Susan Elsmore 

- Health, 
Housing & 
Wellbeing

Performance Management

A performance management culture 
is not embedded within the Council 
leaving the Council exposed to 
intervention by Welsh Government 
in line with the Local Government 
(Wales) Measure 2009 and 
associated requirements.

Reputational / Service delivery / Stakeholder 
 The strategic and corporate level changes do not 

have the intended impact because they are not fully 
embedded in operational practices. 

 Council unable to accelerate performance 
improvement as planned/desired.

Outcome Agreement 2013/16
Financial
 The WG guidance for the Outcome Agreement for 

2013/16 means that there is a risk of not securing all 
or part of the £3.2m funding for 2013/14 and 
subsequent years

B 2 High 
Priority

 The Council’s refreshed Corporate Plan, which sets out four key 
priorities along with a series of related Improvement Objectives, was 
approved alongside the budget in February 2016.

 The Council’s improved approach to the way it manages its performance 
was recognised by the Wales Audit Office’s follow-on report, but it is also 
clear there is more work to be done to build on the success achieved so 
far. A new Performance Management programme will be put in place to 
deliver the required change.

 The Council’s developing approach to Performance Management will 
continue to develop the way in which Benchmarking data is used, with 
specific emphasis on measuring the Council’s improvement compared to 
Wales and Core Cities.

 Balanced Scorecards are produced each quarter and circulated to 
Cabinet and Directors for use in improving communication of 
performance. The continuing development of a scorecard approach to 
reporting will be a key part of the Performance Management programme 
of activity.

 

C 2 Medium 
Priority

(Red/
Amber)

  
 A Performance Management Programme has been 

launched to address three key areas relating to Reporting, 
Planning and Challenge. 

 Planned areas of focus include:
- Developing a reporting framework that allows the right 

audiences to focus on the right level of detail to better aid 
decision-making

- Ensuring greater effectiveness of corporate planning 
frameworks, with clearer accountabilities and enhanced 
‘line of sight’ 

- Increasing the transparency with which we manage our 
performance 

 The project teams have ensured their work incorporates 
the requirements of  The Well-Being of Future 
Generations Act 2015, and the managed transitions 
between the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009 
and the requirements of the new legislation. 

 The project teams have developed a new Quarterly 
performance report template that has been considered 
and accepted at SMT and formed the basis for reporting 
at Q1. 

 The project teams will be continuing to evolve this 
template to ensure greater focus of reporting. Consistent 
RAG ratings have been agreed and developed for 
Corporate Plan commitments. The project teams are now 
considering an agreed approach for target setting.

 The three key areas of the Performance Management 
Programme are ongoing

 Outputs of this projects are:
 Incremental changes for the Quarterly Report for the 

Quarter 2 performance report.
 The Self Assessment process has been completed and 

fed into the SMT Corporate Plan workshop which 
identified high level key themes that link the Wellbeing & 
Future Generations Act.

 A new Directorate Delivery Plan template has been 
developed which also incorporates the Future 
Generations requirements and the 5 ways of working.  A 
Directorate Delivery Plan executive summary is currently 
being explored.

 A consistant RAG methodology has been developed to 
enable a mathematical approach be applied to 
performance indicators

 A scorecard is being developed for the Quarter 2 
performance and will be presented to PRAP.
PSG (Performance Support Group) has been established.  
Quarter 2 performance report will be viewed at the 
meeting on the 20th Ocotber with one of  the outputs of 
this being a structured conversation being developed for  
the Star Chamber agendaA consistant and robust 
approach to target setting is being developed.

Christine Salter

(Joe Reay)

Councillor
Graham 

Hinchey - 
Corporate 
Services & 

Performance

P
age 63



CORPORATE RISK REGISTER – Mid Year Review 2016/17 Appendix C           

Page 10 of 13

Risk Description Potential Consequence L C Inherent 
Risk Current/Existing Controls L C Residual 

Risk Proposed Improvement Action
Risk Owner & 

Cabinet 
Member

Organisation Development

OD projects fail to deliver the 
radical change required to deliver 
efficiency savings and service 
changes, due to service and 
resource pressures. 

 The Council’s budget constraints are so severe that 
the consequence of not delivering large-scale 
change could have a major impact on customer 
services.

 Radical changes to service delivery models may 
impact on the Council’s reputation if not planned, co-
ordinated and governed effectively.

 If change is not delivered, there could be unplanned 
reduction in staffing to achieve savings, which would 
result in loss of business knowledge and resources 
to implement change.

 Reputational impact if services do not meet 
increasing customer expectations.

 If change is not effectively planned, managed and 
implemented it may be delayed and subsequently 
impact on the Council’s ability to achieve necessary 
savings and service improvements.

 With the increased budget pressures, the Council 
may not have sufficient capital and revenue to invest 
in technology which would achieve medium and 
long-term improvements and savings.

B 1 High 
Priority

 Governance arrangements established, led by the Chief Executive and 
Programme Boards, chaired by Directors to ensure change is delivered 

 Disciplined approach, where risk assessment forms an integral part of 
the approach to change

 Programmes initiated with dedicated resources 
 Experienced gained by managing programmes and projects over a 

number of years, building on lessons learned
 Building capacity and capability across the organisation through 

development opportunities and skills transfer
 Appropriate engagement and stakeholder management, including Trade 

Union meetings and updates for PRAP, Scrutiny and Internal Audit.
 Improving compliance to project and programme management 

governance standards by streamlining core processes and enhancing 
reporting, increasing transparency across change initiatives.  

 Continued implementation of Programme & Project Management 
Database to enhance management information and reporting.  
Investment Review Board review/approve Business Cases and prioritise 
resources.

 Organisational Development Board joined up with Senior Management 
Team who meets monthly to discuss the OD Programme. This ensures 
all Directors are fully engaged with the OD Programme.

 OD/SMT Board approved Programme Briefs for Reshaping Services, 
Enabling & Commissioning and all component programmes. OD/SMT 
have approved the draft Digital Strategy, ahead of formal submission to 
Cabinet in May 2016.

 Improved reporting for the OD Programme has been developed 
(Dashboard Reports) and implemented at OD/SMT Board.  These 
reports are produced 4-weekly.

 Appointment of programme managers to oversee the OD Programme 
(OM2 in April 2015 and OM1 in August 2015) has provided additional 
capacity and direction.

 SharePoint implementation within OD began in December 2015 and will 
continue through spring 2016, further improving information 
management, efficiency and internal communications.

 Control Risk Self Assessment tool piloted in OD to inform strengths and 
weaknesses in controls and help prioritise areas for improvement.

C 2 Medium 
Priority

(Red/
Amber)

 New Programmes & projects being initiated as part of 
Organisational Development – driving change from within 
Directorates, but corporately governed.

 Digital Services Roadmap to be developed / finalised and 
used to inform delivery.

 Further work required to improve programme reporting and 
information flow.

 Further work required to understand the interdependencies 
for all the projects ongoing in the OD Programme to ensure 
best use of resources and no duplication of effort.

 Enabling technologies to be realigned as appropriate to the 
priority areas.

 Meetings have taken place with DMTs to discuss ongoing 
OD Programme and future projects that may require OD 
support so that resources can be planned accordingly.

 Annual review of the ODP that will map out the next steps 
for key projects and initiatives.

 Working with Finance to ensure that saving plans included 
in the medium term financial plan are directly linked to the 
ODP.

 Resources plan being developed by OD Team to ensure 
current and future projects have adequate resources. This 
plan will be shared with SMT in quarter 3. 

 An organisational development process has been drafted to 
ensure that any new work given to the OD team is reviewed 
and prioritised. This new process may well lead to some 
work not being resourced by the OD team and therefore we 
are looking for SMT to be involved in this new way of 
working. This is to be presented to SMT in quarter 3 and 
links in with the resources plan for the OD team.

Christine Salter

(Dean Thomas)

Councillor
Graham 

Hinchey - 
Corporate 
Services & 

Performance

Business Continuity

Large scale incident/loss affecting 
the delivery of services.

Reputational / Legal / Financial / Stakeholder / Service 
delivery / Health & safety
 Health and Safety – potential impact on staff and on 

the public relying on our most, time sensitive, critical 
services.

 Legal action -Failure of key services could lead to 
Legal action againt the council.

 Financial - Failure of key services could led to 
significant financial cost both in terms of 
Ombudsman action and Enforcement action from 
regulatory bodies  as well as individual leagal action 
against the corporate body where service failure 
leads to legal action against us from private 
claimants.

 Reptational - Impact on key services to the public 
could lead to significant reputational damage to the 
organistaion.

 Stakeholder – Impact on key stakehodlers as result 
of failure.

 Service delivery – Potential significant impact on 
service delivery to the public, impact of key services 
could lead to significant impacts to the public and the 
corporate body un delivering its services.

B 1 High 
Priority

 The Council has a BCM Champion who sponsors BCM at a strategic 
level and is actively supporting the BCM Programme.  

 We have an approved Business Continuity Policy which is aligned to 
ISO22301.

 BCM Intranet web page.
 BCM toolkit is now available on CIS allowing all service managers to 

develop an appropriate BCM response for their services allowing future 
effective maintenance and audit. BCM workshops are available from the 
BC Officer on request.

 The Council has employed a Business Continuity Officer (appointed 
October 2010).  The officer is a qualified ISO22301 lead auditor. 

 The Emergency Management Unit has developed an Incident 
Management Plan (Cardiff Councils Emergency Management Plan) to 
ensure alignment with ISO22301 this has been distributed to all 
Directorates. 

 The Council has a 24 hour Incident Management structure for Gold and 
Silver Officers. 

 The Red and Amber activities were last reviewed in July 2014. The BCM 
Champion presented a report to the SLT on the position on all the Red 
and Amber activities. Directors, Assistant Directors and Chief Officers 
were tasked with ensuring that their Red and Amber activities had 
business continuity plans produced and audited by the end of 2014/2015.

 A partnership approach between the Emergency Management Unit and 
the Corporate Risk Steering Group is helping to raise awareness and 
drive forward the BCM programme.

 74% of our most time critical activities (Reds) now have Business 
Continuity plans which have met, or are going through, audit. Work on 
the remaining plans is ongoing to close gaps and bring them up to date 
and in line with the corporate audit requirement

 24 % of our Amber activities now have business continuity plans which 
meet the business continuity audit requirement.

 Cardiff Council is a member of the Core Cities Business Continuity Group 
and has been for the last 6 years. This membership allows the sharing of 
best practice and joint initiatives between group members.  

 The Business Continuity Officer has been working closely with the 
procurement section of Resources to ensure that the resilience of 
suppliers is considered carefully when procuring services which are 
important to our most time sensitive activities, our Red and Amber 
activities.

 Internal Audit conducted an audit of the Business Continuity Risk  in the 
first 2 quarters of 2015 / 2016 a briefing note has been issued to SLT on 
the current position and actions moving forward to further enhance our 

C 1 Medium 
Priority

(Red/
Amber)

 The BC Officer is working closely with Facilities 
Management to ensure they have effective plans in place to 
help manage possible business disruptions to our core 
buildings.

 Work with ICT to ensure our core infrastructure is as 
resilient as practical to support a resilient and effective 
delivery of essential ICT services and the effective planning 
for recovery of critical IT services after an incident that 
affects our IT. 

 The Emergency Management Unit are planning a piece of  
partnership work with ICT to support areas that provide red 
activities in assessing the impact the loss of technical 
services, and ensuring suitable mitigation is in place  to 
make our red services more resilient, where this is possible.

 Work with the teams involved with looking at the potential of 
using alternative delivery models for council services. 
Identifying risks associated with alternative delivery models 
for specific services and recommend potential risk 
management solutions for implementation, to protect the 
delivery of our most critical services.

Christine Salter

Councillor Phil 
Bale, Leader –

Economic 
Development & 

Partnerships

P
age 64



CORPORATE RISK REGISTER – Mid Year Review 2016/17 Appendix C           

Page 11 of 13

Risk Description Potential Consequence L C Inherent 
Risk Current/Existing Controls L C Residual 

Risk Proposed Improvement Action
Risk Owner & 

Cabinet 
Member

organisational resilience.
 Facilities Management have identified a vulnerability within one of our 

electrical emergency generator supplies which the BC Officer is working 
to support the closure of this vulnerability.

 The BC Officer is actively supporting the development of an appropriate 
Threat and Response Policy to support council security arrangements. 

Education – Schools Delegated 
Budgets 

Secondary Schools with deficit 
budgets do not deliver agreed 
deficit recovery plans, impacting on 
the overall budgets for all schools.

Reputational / Legal / Financial.
 Budget implications.
 Reducing educational standards.
 Intervention from WG

A 2 High 
Priority

 2016/2017 Budget allocations issued to schools in early March 2016 
and monitoring arrangements put in place for those schools showing 
financial concern. 

 Officers from Education and Financial Services have worked with 
individual schools through Headteachers and Governing Bodies to 
formulate Medium Term Financial Plans (MTFP) to seek to either 
balance individual school deficits within four financial years or to ensure 
that the accumulated deficits were frozen or slowed as much as 
possible. .

 The previous fall in pupil numbers for certain schools made it clear that 
a longer period than four years was needed in order to achieve a 
balanced medium term position

 Officers continue to monitor and challenge those schools in deficit 
before allowing any additional financial commitments, both staffing and 
other expenditure.

 Work ongoing with all schools but focussed targeting on specific 
secondary schools to continue to dampen the growth in deficits and 
ensure that those that do occur are recoverable. 

 Reviewing closely with Education Management Team and SOP in 
particular as to the opportunities available to address short medium term 
fall in pupil numbers for certain secondary schools

 For each school in deficit, the Council has identified  a monitoring officer 
to provide an independent challenge to the school. This is in addition to 
the LFM Officer currently supporting that school

 Individual school budget monitoring positions reported to Education 
Management Team on a quarterly basis

C 2 Medium 
Priority

(Red/
Amber)

 Council make full use, if necessary, of formal warnings and 
powers of intervention.

 Officers have exercised the statutory powers of 
intervention in three secondary school governing bodies 
which is beginning to have a positive impact on the ability 
of the Council to ensure schools meet the targets set out in 
their deficit recovery plans.

 Officers exercise the statutory powers of intervention on a 
school or schools in deficit who are unable to provide a 
medium term financial plan, this may involve removing 
delegation from a Governing Body.

 Officers explore through the School Organisation Planning 
process how different organisational arrangements for 
schools would affect the supply of pupils to schools thus 
affecting their delegated budgets. This will include an 
understanding of the long term impact of any unused 
school supply places on the funding formula. 

 School Budget Forum has agreed a revised protocol for 
responding to schools in deficit and this needs regular 
review with a tightening on the number of deficit budgets 
accepted. This has been reflected in the harder message 
contained within the 2016/17 school budget letters and the 
2016/17 Budget Report.

 Finance Officers continue to meet with Challenge Advisers 
to discuss individual schools in respect of their financial 
and school standard performance.

 The Council has been able to protect school delegated 
budgets over and above the Welsh Government threshold 
and a smaller number of schools than in 15/16 have been 
identified as requiring meeting with S151 officer and senior 
education officers. These meetings tookl place in April and 
early May.

 Work is continuing with the School Budget Forum and 
consortium to ensure that the formula funding mechanism 
is transparent and remains fit for purpose whilst 
considering any interaction or impact of any grant 
allocation decisions.

 Maintaining the need for financial probity whilst ensuring 
that each school has the opportunity to improve school 
standards.

 Working with consortium to ensure that maximising value 
from constituent parts of Education Improvement Grant is 
secured and that there is clarity of allocation mechanism 
for 2017/18 and beyond.

 Developing the medium term budget strategy for 2017/18 
and providing early notification to budget forum and 
individual schools of likely impact of said strategy.

Nick Batchelar

(Neil Hardee)

Councillor 
Sarah Merry -

Education 

Legal Compliance 

Changes in services and staff roles 
across the Council resulting in:

- gaps in Council wide knowledge 
of the local authority framework of 
responsibilities and duties within 
which we have to operate;

- inability to deliver the services in 
accordance with all duties and 
responsibilities due to lack of 
resource:

in each case leading to increased 
risk of challenges.

Reduction and changes in front-line 
services, discretionary and 
statutory, will lead to increased 
risks of challenge from users and 
other stakeholders affected.

Reputational / Legal / Financial / Service delivery                

 Increase in number of challenges with consequences 
in terms of already stretched resources and impact of 
adverse decisions

 Implementation of decisions delayed due to 
challenges and potentially fatally disrupted.

 Impact on projects if reputation for sound 
management and implementation of projects is 
damaged

 Major incident.
 Adverse press/media reaction
 Involvement from Welsh Government in terms of 

performance standards or measures.
 Increased costs on external legal support

B 2 High 
Priority

 Professional internal legal and financial advice provided to a high 
standard.

 Maintaining robust decision making process with legal implications on all 
Council,  Cabinet and Committee reports and Officer decision reports at 
Director level.

 Appropriate use of NPS Legal Services by Solicitors Framework to 
increase resilience.

 Dedicated teams in specialist areas e.g. equalities, FOI / DPA.
 Sharing training/publications received.

C 2 Medium 
Priority

(Red/
Amber)

 Prioritisation of work to make best use of internal expertise 
(including programme of projects in accordance with SMT 
decision)

 Continue efforts with exploration of collaboration with other 
legal services to see if there is the potential to increase 
resilience and / or efficiencies.

 Further development of  standard precedents with guidance 
for use in cases of low value/low risk/repetitive  matters

 Provide legal training to Directorates to develop knowledge 
within Directorates of specific statutory functions.

 Encourage Directorates  to ensure  reports are discussed at 
preliminary stage in development to ensure all legal issues 
are addressed early 

Davina Fiore 

Cllr DeAth - 
Skills, Safety & 
Engagement

P
age 65



CORPORATE RISK REGISTER – Mid Year Review 2016/17 Appendix C           

Page 12 of 13

Risk Description Potential Consequence L C Inherent 
Risk Current/Existing Controls L C Residual 

Risk Proposed Improvement Action
Risk Owner & 

Cabinet 
Member

Fraud, Bribery and Corruption
 
Fraud, financial impropriety or 
improper business practices 
increase as internal controls are 
weakened as resources become 
severely stretched. 
 
 

Reputational / Financial / Legal / Service delivery / 
Stakeholder
 Increase in frauds and losses to the Council.
 Reputational risk as more frauds are reported.
 Increased time investigating suspected fraud cases.
 

B 2 High 
Priority

  The Council communicates a zero tolerance approach to fraud, bribery 
and corruption.

  Regular review of relevant policies and procedures e.g. the Fraud, 
Bribery and Corruption Policy. 

  Financial Procedure Rules and Contract Standing Order and 
Procurement Rules frameworks for staff to follow.

  Dedicated team of professionally trained and experienced investigators 
to prevent deter and detect fraud against the Council.

   Proactive work on National Fraud Initiative exercises led by the Internal 
Audit team, in collaboration with the Cabinet Office and Wales Audit 
Office.

  Receipt and dissemination of fraud intelligence alerts from law 
enforcement agencies.

  Regular reports to the Section 151 Officer and Audit Committee and the 
Chief Executive.

  Audit Committee review and assess the risk management, internal 
control and corporate governance arrangements of the authority.

  Independent assurance from Internal and External Audit on the 
effectiveness of governance, risk and control.  

   Procurement team compliance role relating to contract procedure rules.
  Savings proposals are reviewed and supported by a robust business 

case and process in consideration of risks to the operation. 
  Ongoing delivery of briefings to Schools on fraud and control risks.
  Cardiff Manager Programme includes session on risk management and 

compliance / control.
  Senior Management Assurance Statements – challenge to Directors and 

the Chief Executive.
  Approval of new Fraud, Bribery and Corruption Policy and Money 

Laundering Policy at Cabinet, June 2015.
   Provision of disciplinary management information on DigiGov.
  Multi-team collaboration in the development of the updated Disciplinary 

Policy and supplementary guidance materials.
 Developed mandatory disciplinary e-learning module for all managers to 

complete. 
  A package of mandatory e-learning modules were developed for the pool 

of Hearing Chairs, Investigating Officers and Presenting Officers 
throughout quarter one 2016/17.

 A pool of Hearing Chairs and  Investigating Officers have commenced  
mandatory face to face and e-learning training. 

 Presenting officer face-to-face training and e-learning modules 
commenced in Q2.

 Mandatory disciplinary e-learning module for all managers to be  
completed as part of the PPDR process by 31 July 2016.

 Reported to Audit Committee September 16, to ensure awareness of the 
three documents published by CIPFA and an Executive Summaru on 
Fghting Fraud and Corruption Locally.

B 3 Medium 
Priority

(Red/
Amber)

  Seek approval of a policy for Monitoring Employees at work 
and a management framework for its enactment.

 Continue to deliver the mandatory face to face training for 
investigating Officers to improve the standard of 
investigations.

 Continue to deliver the mandatory face to face training for 
Disciplinary Hearing Chairs, and monitor training. 

  Continue to build upon and enhance the mandatory face to 
face training programmes. 

  Review process for ensuring appropriate fraud, bribery and 
corruption awareness for Council officers. 

  Delivery of Cardiff Manager Programme.
  Review a sample of Disciplinary Hearing outcomes for 

consistent application of the Disciplinary Policy. 
  Challenge inconsistent disciplinary sanctions and report 

findings to the Section 151 Officer and Audit Committee.
  Enhance DigiGov to facilitate changes introduced by the new 

Disciplinary Policy and the production of management 
information, by the end of quarter 3 2016.

 By the end of 2016/17 effectiveness will be measured 
against the Fighting Fraud and Corruption Locally Strategy.

 A Fraud Publicity Strategy has been approved, to publicise 
the Council’s approach to counter fraud work / sanction 
activity and explain the roles and responsibilities of key 
parties.

Christine Salter

(Ian Allwood)

Councillor
Graham 

Hinchey - 
Corporate 
Services & 

Performance

P
age 66



CORPORATE RISK REGISTER – Mid Year Review 2016/17 Appendix C           

Page 13 of 13

Risk Description Potential Consequence L C Inherent 
Risk Current/Existing Controls L C Residual 

Risk Proposed Improvement Action
Risk Owner & 

Cabinet 
Member

Asset Management 

Ensure effective operation of the 
Council’s Asset Management Board 
to achieve effective strategic 
oversight and identified savings.

Reputational / Legal / Financial / Health & Safety / 
Stakeholders
 Poor use of assets / VFM.
 Lost opportunity for capital receipts.
 Increased maintenance.
 Prosecutions / fines.

B 2 High 
Priority

 Cabinet formally approved a new Property Strategy in November 2014.
 Corporate Asset Management Board and supporting Working Group 

now set up to raise property profile and introduce more structured, 
disciplined approach to management of property and the Office 
Accommodation Rationalisation Programme.

 Established rolling programme of ‘Fitness for Purpose’ reviews of all 
council properties providing high level assessment of the current 
performance and value of buildings.

 Carbon Management / Energy Efficiency - Certificates / General 
Awareness / Introduction of Energy Renewables Strategy. 

 Established Implementation Plan for the new Property Strategy.  
 Determined governance and work programme updates for new 

Corporate Asset Management Board at meeting in January 2015.
 Review of Investment portfolio completed.  Report on future strategy and 

direction of non-operational estate presented to PRAP in January 2015 
for onward consideration by Cabinet in June 2015.

 Asset Management Plan considered by Cabinet in July 2015.
 Future Strategy and direction of the Council’s non – operational 

Investment Estate approved by Cabinet in November 2015.
 Asset Management Board and Partnership Board fully operational.
 Delivered targets in Corporate Asset Management Plan in 2015-17 as 

follows:
 Gross internal floor area reduced by 3.5%
 Maintenance backlog reduced by @£4.4m
 Running cost reduced by £1m
 Delivered £6.7 million capital receipts
 Corporate Asset Management Plan 2016/17 considered by Cabinet in 

July 2016.
 A property investment board has been established comprising officers 

from Strategic Estates, Capital and Revenue Accounts and also an 
external property advisor. The external property advisor was appointed 
in March 16.

 Advisor appointed in Q1 to assist with the review of all investment assets 
and to develop an Investment Estate Strategy.

 Completed Insole Court community asset transfer (CAT), which was the 
largest CAT in Wales.

 Progressing Corporate Asset Management Plan targets.  In quarter 2 we 
achieved 0.9 reduction in GIA, 2.2% reduction in running costs, 
£3,054,000 reduction in maintenance backlog, and £2,401,710 in capital 
receipts.  

D 2 Medium 
Priority

(Amber/ 
Green)

Investment Strategy will be presented to Cabinet for 
agreement in Q3. Neil Hanratty

Councillor 
Phil Bale, 
Leader –

Economic 
Development & 

Partnerships

Workforce Planning

Importance of forecasting and 
planning to build capability and 
capacity for the future is not fully 
recognised and embedded.

Reputational / Financial / Stakeholder / Service delivery 
 Poor service delivery due to ineffective use of 

resources. 
 Lack of resources with the knowledge and skills the 

Council requires for future delivery 
 Loss of resources and recruitment problems.
 Poor morale
 Loss of experienced staff members including 

managers
 Reduce the likelihood of attracting high calibre 

managers to Cardiff Council 
 Risk of not meeting statutory and legislative 

requirements in relation to specific workforce 
requirement e.g. social care.  

B 3 Medium 
Priority

(Red/
Amber)

 The Workforce Planning Project forms one of the projects within the 
Workforce Strategy programme with its purpose  to  review, develop and 
implement workforce planning 

 The Workforce planning project has a  completed project brief identifying 
a number of key outputs required  for workforce planning 

 HRPS provided the Workforce Planning data within the Resources/Staff 
section of Directorate Delivery Plan

 Behavioural Competence Framework implemented, including 12 
behavioural competencies set out in 4 levels as a way in which the 
Council describes its people and jobs.

 Work is being carried out on linking processes that can be used for the 
identification and development of potential e.g. Recruitment & Selection, 
PPDR and Cardiff Academy and underpinning these with the 
Competency Frameworks. 

 The Workforce Planning approach commenced with the roll out of the 
new tool and managers guide in March 2014. Whilst awaiting an IT 
solution, a new tool has been developed to enable the organisation to 
take a snapshot of where they are currently and to start to consider the 
‘skills‘ requirements piece

 Managers’ guide to WFP developed and disseminated to Directorates 
March 2014.  

 The Behavioural Competency Framework has been reviewed and 
stakeholder feedback collated to inform a revised approach which has 
been implemented  

 Additional research and benchmarking undertaken to help inform WFP 
approach going forward; including – attendance at WLGA – Work Force 
Planning Wales event. LGA/ Skills for Local Government hosted COP 
event. 

 HR working with Directorates where required, to help identify 
appropriate strategies to support their WFP agenda.

 Workforce strategy developed and agreed by Cabinet in April 2015
 Options appraisal to deliver a workforce planning IT solution to be 

developed

B 3 Medium 
Priority

(Red/
Amber)

 Workforce planning dashboard data provided to each 
Directorate to inform Directorate Delivery Planning 
discussions and development. The alignment of DDP’s and 
the Workforce Strategy has been piloted within Children’s 
Services.  

 Workforce Strategy signed off In April 2015 and a refreshed 
Workforce Planning approach is being taken forward in a 
number of ways. Children’s Services have developed a 
Workforce Strategy for their area. Some test work has been 
carried out of a Workforce Planning Canvas tool. Resources 
have held a workshop which focussed on Professional and 
Technical areas to inform the key skills required for the 
Directorate going forward. Work has been carried out to 
build workforce planning into the Directory Delivery Plan 
process for 2016/17. There is also a review underway with 
Procurement colleagues of the Service Review Toolkit to 
fully integrate Workforce Planning into the tool kit. In 
addition work is still ongoing to identify a suitable Workforce 
Planning IT solution.  Work has taken place with Cardiff and 
Vale College to look at an Essential Skills diagnostic tool.  
Work is being carried out with WLGA and WAO to look at a 
Wales wide workforce planning process for use within Local 
Authorities.

 The project Plan for the Workforce Planning Project gives 
full details of the improvement action plan. The milestones 
are set out in the project plan and regularly reviewed.  This 
plan is reviewed monthly through the Workforce Strategy 
programme which in turn reports through to the Enabling 
and Commissioning Board.

Christine Salter

(Philip Lenz)

 Councillor
Graham 

Hinchey - 
Corporate 
Services & 

Performance

P
age 67



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



Page 1 of 6

CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD
CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL 

CABINET MEETING: 15 DECEMBER 2016      

CALCULATION OF COUNCIL TAX BASE

REPORT OF CORPORATE DIRECTOR RESOURCES

AGENDA ITEM: 4  

 
PORTFOLIO: CORPORATE SERVICES & PERFORMANCE (COUNCILLOR 
GRAHAM  HINCHEY) 

Reason for this Report 

1. The information is required by the Welsh Government under its powers in 
section 68 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended.  
Cabinet has the authority to approve the Council Tax base following the 
determination by Council in 2013 which delegated such further decisions 
to Cabinet. 

Background

2. Section 33 of the Local Government Act 1992 requires each billing 
authority to calculate the Council Tax Base each year. The Local 
Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base)(Wales) Regulations 1995, 
as amended, contain rules for this calculation, which in essence, are as 
follows: -

a) Determine the number of chargeable dwellings in each valuation 
band, taking account of exemptions and anticipated changes 
during the year. 

b) Adjust the numbers in each band to take account of the 
disablement reductions.

c) Allow for discounts in respect of unoccupied properties and those 
occupied by one person only.

d) Weight the adjusted total for each band to equate it to band D.

e) Repeat the calculation for each of the six Community Councils 
that issue precepts.

Issues

3. The Council tax base calculation is a complex annual exercise that is 
used by the Welsh Government (WG) for the distribution of Revenue 

Page 69

Agenda Item 4



Page 2 of 6

Support Grant. It is also used by the Council for calculating the council 
tax charges for each year. Appendices A to G set out the detailed 
calculation.  As the Appendices are in a format prescribed by WG the 
following points explain the details included in those Appendices. 

 The number of domestic dwellings in the valuation list in force at 
the 31st October is used and adjusted to take account of 
anticipated new properties, demolitions, appeals and exemptions 
which is represented as chargeable dwellings (line A1 Appendix 
A). 

 Properties in receipt of disablement relief receive a reduction of 1 
band in their amount payable. Lines A2 and A3 reflect these 
adjustments. For example the number of properties in band B (at 
line A1) amounting to 17,787 is reduced by 74 for those that will 
receive the 1 band reduction and increased by 268 for those 
properties coming down from band C. This gives a new total of 
17,981.

 An estimate of the number of single person discounts (B2) and 
empty property discounts (B3) are also taken into account in the 
calculation. Line C1 represents the total number of equated single 
person discounts (25% discount each). This total is then divided 
by 4 to convert to assumed full properties and deducted from line 
A3 to reach the weighted total in line C2. 

 To convert the total in each band to a band D equivalent the 
appropriate ratio as set out in line C3 is applied to reach the total 
band D equivalents in C4.

4. The total band D equivalent properties calculated are then adjusted to 
take account of the estimated collection rate, as well as any contributions 
in respect of M.o.D. properties, as follows: -

2016/17 2017/18
143,390.40 a) Total Discounted chargeable 

dwellings: band D equivalent
145,161.14

98.5% b)   Estimated Collection Rate 98.5%
141,239.54 a) x b) 142,983.72

48.55 M.o.D. exempt dwellings : band D 
equivalent

48.55

-------------- --------------
141,288.09 143,032.27
-------------- --------------
(141,288) (143,032)

5. The table overleaf shows an increase in the Council Tax Base of 1,744      
properties at band D equivalent. 

6. Prior to 2008/09, average increases in new properties were over 2,000 
per year.  There has been a downward reduction in the number of new 

Page 70



Page 3 of 6

properties, averaging less than 1,000 per year but this is predicted to 
increase in 2017/18.   In future years, due to the Local Development Plan 
and Housing Partnership Programme, it is anticipated the scale of 
development could see more significant increases in new properties 
which will have a consequential increase on the council tax base. 

7. It is proposed to keep the ultimate collection rate at 98.5%.  As can be 
seen in the table below since 2013/14 the ultimate collection rate has 
increased from 97.7% to the current level of 98.5%, an increase of 0.8%.  
Due to potential impacts as a result of changes in welfare arrangements, 
uncertainties about the economy and inflation, it is prudent to continue 
with the current estimated ultimate collection rate for 2017/18.This 
position will continue to be kept under review and closely monitored. 

Financial Year Ultimate Collection Rate
2013/14 97.7%
2014/15 98.2%
2015/16 98.3%
2016/17 98.5%

Schedule of precept payments

8. Regulations require that by 31 December each year the Council inform 
each of its precepting authorities of the proposed dates of monthly 
precept payments in the following year and determines a payments 
schedule by 31 January.

9. Currently instalment payments to the South Wales Police Authority are 
paid on the last working day of each month and to the Community 
Councils on 1 April, and it is recommended that these arrangements 
should continue for 2017/18.

 
Reasons for Recommendations

10. It is a statutory obligation for the Council to agree its council tax base 
annually and this figure is used for council tax setting.

Legal Implications

11. The council tax base is essentially the constituency of council tax payers 
having regard to the fact that some persons will be entitled to reductions 
in council tax and others will be eligible for exemptions from payment. 
The council tax base is calculated in accordance with a complicated 
formula laid down in the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax 
Base) (Wales) Regulations 1995, as amended. 

12. The central provision is regulation 3, which provides that the council tax 
base is calculated by multiplying the total of the ‘relevant amounts’ by the 
authority’s estimate of its collection rate for the year. It is therefore 
necessary to identify both the ‘relevant amount’ and the ‘collection rate’. 

Page 71



Page 4 of 6

13. Regulation 3 of the Local Authorities (Calculation of Council Tax Base) 
and the Council Tax (Prescribed Classes of Dwellings) (Wales) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2000 inserts a new regulation 5A into the 
1995 Regulations.  This provides for the calculation of “the relevant 
amounts” by a billing authority for financial years beginning on or after 1 
April 2005.  The relevant amount for each council tax band is a measure 
of the number of dwellings in that band after taking account of exempt 
dwellings and discounts.

 
14. The ‘relevant amount’ is the maximum sum which the authority would 

recover in respect of the dwellings in the particular band. However, the 
regulations anticipate that this will not always be the case. Thus in order 
to ascertain the council tax base, it is necessary to determine the 
collection rate. This is governed by regulation 3 of the 1995 Regulations. 
The Council must estimate its collection rate for the financial year by 
estimating the aggregate of the amounts in respect of Council tax for the 
year which are likely to be paid to the Council expressed as a proportion 
of its estimate of the total of such amounts which are payable to the 
Council taking into account certain discounts. In order to calculate the 
council tax base, the authority then adds up the total of the relevant 
amounts previously calculated and multiplies this by the estimate of the 
collection rate. This leaves the ‘council tax base’. The sum which the 
authority has calculated must be raised locally and is then divided by the 
Council tax base figure to give the ‘basic amount of council tax’ as 
defined in section 33 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

15. The relevant day for the financial year commencing 1 April 2017 will be 
31st October 2016. 

16. All decisions taken by or on behalf the Council must (a) be within the 
legal powers of the Council; (b) comply with any procedural requirement 
imposed by law; (c) be within the powers of the body or person 
exercising powers of behalf of the Council; (d) be undertaken in 
accordance with the procedural requirements imposed by the Council 
e.g. standing orders and financial regulations; (e) be fully and properly 
informed; (f) be properly motivated; (g) be taken having regard to the 
Council's fiduciary duty to its taxpayers; and (h) be reasonable and 
proper in all the circumstances. 

Financial Implications

17. The council tax base will be used to set the specific council tax charges 
for 2017/18 when the budget is approved. There are a large number of 
variables that are included in this calculation such as new properties, 
demolitions, effect of appeals, changes to discounts and exemptions and 
it is important to ensure that the resulting estimate of properties is as 
accurate as possible.  A small percentage variance could result in a large 
difference against the budget.  The tax base calculation is also used by 
the Welsh Government for the determination of the distribution of 
Revenue Support Grant. The final financial settlement from the Welsh 
Government will include the redistribution impact of these figures across 
Wales. 

Page 72



Page 5 of 6

18. The increase in the tax base as set out in this report is estimated to 
generate an additional £2,211,636 in 2017/18 without raising the actual 
rate of tax. Of this sum £362,490 represents the extra revenue for the 
Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales whilst Cardiff Council 
will receive an extra £1,849,146.  At present, this money is not taken into 
account in our draft budget position.  Established practice is to wait until 
the Final Financial Settlement from WG before taking any benefits from 
increased Council Tax base.  This is because if a Council’s Council Tax 
base increases relative to the tax base of other Councils, then Revenue 
Support Grant will reduce as a direct consequence.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Cabinet is recommended to agree that: -

(1) the calculation of the Council’s tax base for the year 2017/18 be 
approved;

(2) pursuant to this report and in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Tax Base) (Wales) Regulations 1995, as amended, the 
amount calculated by Cardiff Council as its council tax base for the year 
2016/2017 shall be 143,032;

(3) pursuant to this report and in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Calculation of Tax Base) (Wales) Regulations 1995, as amended, the 
amounts calculated by the Council as the council tax base for the year 
2017/18 in the community areas subject to a precept shall be as follows:-

Lisvane 2,350
Pentyrch 3,258
Radyr 3,651
St. Fagans 1,295
Old St. Mellons 1,400
Tongwynlais 823

(4) the arrangements for the payment of precepts in 2017/18 to the South 
Wales Police Authority be by equal instalments on the last working day of 
each month from April 2017 to March 2018 and the Community Councils 
be by one payment on 1 April 2017, be on the same basis as that used in 
2016/17 and the precepting authorities be advised accordingly.

CHRISTINE SALTER
Corporate Director Resources
9 December 2016

The following Appendices are attached:

Appendix A: Calculation of the council tax base for the City and County 
of Cardiff

Page 73



Page 6 of 6

Appendices B-G: Calculation of the council tax base for the 6 Community 
Councils

Page 74



CARDIFF COUNCIL APPENDIX A

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION FOR 2017-18

DESCRIPTION

BAND              

A*

BAND      

A

BAND        

B

BAND      

C

BAND         

D

BAND        

E

BAND         

F

BAND       

G

BAND     

H

BAND      

I TOTAL

Dwellings per V.O. listing 0 4,040 18,129 31,874 34,953 29,337 20,925 9,846 2,688 1,401 153,193

All Chargeable Dwellings (A1) 0 3,707 17,787 29,986 33,083 25,547 19,424 9,515 2,619 1,401 143,069

Disabled (A2) 0 8 74 268 341 326 302 171 41 49 1,580

Adjusted chargeable Dwellings (A3) 8 3,773 17,981 30,059 33,068 25,523 19,293 9,385 2,627 1,352 143,069

Dwellings with no discount (B1) 2 883 8,128 16,834 20,183 17,328 14,417 7,526 2,157 1,179 88,637

Dwellings with one discount (B2) 6 2,866 9,704 13,015 12,639 8,003 4,745 1,796 419 154 53,347

Dwellings with two discounts (B3) 0 24 149 210 246 192 131 63 51 19 1,085
.

Total number of discounts (C1) 6 2,914 10,002 13,435 13,131 8,387 5,007 1,922 521 192

Weighted Total (C2) 6.50 3,044.50 15,480.50 26,700.25 29,785.25 23,426.25 18,041.25 8,904.50 2,496.75 1,304.00

Band D Relation (C3) 5/9 6/9 7/9 8/9 1 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9 21/9

Band D Equivalent (C4) 3.61 2,029.67 12,040.39 23,733.56 29,785.25 28,632.08 26,059.58 14,840.83 4,993.50 3,042.67 145,161.14

P
age 75



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL APPENDIX B

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION NOVEMBER 2016
LISVANE

DESCRIPTION BAND    A*
BAND   

A

BAND     

B

BAND     

C

BAND      

D

BAND     

E

BAND     

F

BAND     

G

BAND   

H

BAND     

I TOTAL

Dwellings per V.O. listing (+ projections) 0 0 2 12 45 58 143 717 292 197 1,466

Exemptions 0 0 -1 -2 -4 -2 -5 -10 -3 -2 -29 

Chargeable Dwellings 0 0 1 10 41 56 138 707 289 195 1,437

Disabled totals 0 0 0 0 0 0 3 10 5 1 19

Adjusted Total 0 0 1 10 41 59 145 702 285 194 1,437

Dwellings with two discounts 0 0 0 1 0 2 3 7 0 2 15

Dwellings with one discount 0 0 0 9 32 25 39 140 48 23 316

Dwellings with no discount 0 0 1 0 9 32 103 555 237 169 1,106

Total number of discounts 0 0 0 11 32 29 45 154 48 27

Weighted Total 0.00 0.00 1.00 7.25 33.00 51.75 133.75 663.50 273.00 187.25 1,350.50

Band D Relation 5/9 6/9 7/9 8/9 1 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9 21/9

Band D Equivalent 0.00 0.00 0.78 6.44 33.00 63.25 193.19 1,105.83 546.00 436.92 2,385.41

Estimated Collection Rate 98.5%

Tax Base 2,349.63

P
age 77



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL APPENDIX C

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION NOVEMBER 2016

PENTYRCH

DESCRIPTION

BAND    

A*

BAND   

A

BAND     

B

BAND     

C

BAND      

D

BAND     

E

BAND     

F

BAND     

G

BAND   

H

BAND     

I TOTAL

Dwellings per V.O. listing (+ projections) 0 2 82 243 324 380 833 455 159 90 2,568

Exemptions 0 -1 -5 -5 -6 -2 -10 -5 -1 -1 -36 

Chargeable Dwellings 0 1 77 238 318 378 823 450 158 89 2,532

Disabled 0 0 0 3 7 0 11 3 0 2 26

Adjusted Total 0 1 80 242 311 389 815 447 160 87 2,532

Dwellings with two discounts 0 0 2 0 3 1 1 5 2 1 15

Dwellings with one discount 0 1 50 133 109 103 154 56 20 7 633

Dwellings with no discount 0 0 28 109 199 285 660 386 138 79 1,884

Total number of discounts 0 1 54 133 115 105 156 66 24 9

Weighted Total 0.00 0.75 66.50 208.75 282.25 362.75 776.00 430.50 154.00 84.75 2,366.25

Band D Relation 5/9 6/9 7/9 8/9 1 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9 21/9

Band D Equivalent 0.00 0.50 51.72 185.56 282.25 443.36 1,120.89 717.50 308.00 197.75 3,307.53

Estimated Collection Rate 98.5%

Tax Base 3,257.92

P
age 79



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL APPENDIX D

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION NOVEMBER 2016

RADYR

DESCRIPTION

BAND    

A*

BAND   

A

BAND     

B

BAND     

C

BAND      

D

BAND     

E

BAND     

F

BAND     

G

BAND   

H

BAND     

I TOTAL

Dwellings per V.O. listing (+ projections) 0 0 8 92 336 449 818 749 203 86 2,741

Exemptions 0 0 -1 -2 -19 -13 -12 -6 -1 -1 -55 

Chargeable Dwellings 0 0 7 90 317 436 806 743 202 85 2,686

Disabled 0 0 1 0 0 3 10 12 3 2 31

Adjusted Total 0 1 6 90 320 443 808 734 201 83 2,686

Dwellings with two discounts 0 0 0 1 6 5 3 1 1 1 18

Dwellings with one discount 0 1 3 53 153 158 163 100 20 9 660

Dwellings with no discount 0 0 3 36 161 280 642 633 180 73 2,008

Total number of discounts 0 1 3 55 165 168 169 102 22 11

Weighted Total 0.00 0.75 5.25 76.25 278.75 401.00 765.75 708.50 195.50 80.25 2,512.00

Band D Relation 5/9 6/9 7/9 8/9 1 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9 21/9

Band D Equivalent 0.00 0.50 4.08 67.78 278.75 490.11 1,106.08 1,180.83 391.00 187.25 3,706.38

Estimated Collection Rate 98.5%

Tax Base 3,650.78

P
age 81



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL APPENDIX E

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION NOVEMBER 2016
ST. FAGANS

DESCRIPTION

BAND     

A*

BAND   

A

BAND     

B

BAND     

C

BAND      

D

BAND     

E

BAND     

F

BAND     

G

BAND   

H

BAND     

I TOTAL

Dwellings per V.O. listing (+ projections) 0 1 2 72 148 274 177 194 93 44 1,005

Exemptions 0 0 -1 -2 -1 -6 -4 -3 0 -1 -18 

Chargeable Dwellings 0 1 1 70 147 268 173 191 93 43 987

Disabled 0 0 0 0 3 4 5 3 3 0 18

Adjusted Total 0 1 1 73 148 269 171 191 90 43 987

Dwellings with two discounts 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 3 2 9

Dwellings with one discount 0 0 0 34 40 50 40 24 13 3 204

Dwellings with no discount 0 1 1 39 108 217 131 165 74 38 774

Total number of discounts 0 0 0 34 40 54 40 28 19 7

Weighted Total 0.00 1.00 1.00 64.50 138.00 255.50 161.00 184.00 85.25 41.25 931.50

Band D Relation 5/9 6/9 7/9 8/9 1 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9 21/9

Band D Equivalent 0.00 0.67 0.78 57.33 138.00 312.28 232.56 306.67 170.50 96.25 1,315.04

Estimated Collection Rate 98.5%

Tax Base 1,295.31

P
age 83



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL APPENDIX F

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION NOVEMBER 2016
OLD ST. MELLONS

DESCRIPTION

BAND     

A*

BAND   

A

BAND     

B

BAND     

C

BAND      

D

BAND     

E

BAND     

F

BAND     

G

BAND   

H

BAND     

I TOTAL

Dwellings per V.O. listing (+ projections) 0 71 99 149 251 154 235 136 79 56 1,230

Exemptions 0 0 -5 -3 -4 -1 -4 -3 -2 0 -22 

Chargeable Dwellings 0 71 94 146 247 153 231 133 77 56 1,208

Disabled 0 1 0 1 2 1 4 4 0 0 13

Adjusted Total 1 70 95 147 246 156 231 129 77 56 1,208

Dwellings with two discounts 0 0 0 1 0 2 2 2 3 2 12

Dwellings with one discount 1 53 59 65 60 29 34 21 9 10 341

Dwellings with no discount 0 17 36 81 186 125 195 106 65 44 855

Total number of discounts 1 53 59 67 60 33 38 25 15 14

Weighted Total 0.75 56.75 80.25 130.25 231.00 147.75 221.50 122.75 73.25 52.50 1,116.75

Band D Relation 5/9 6/9 7/9 8/9 1 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9 21/9

Band D Equivalent 0.42 37.83 62.42 115.78 231.00 180.58 319.94 204.58 146.50 122.50 1,421.55

Estimated Collection Rate 98.5%

Tax Base 1,400.23

P
age 85



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL APPENDIX G

COUNCIL TAX BASE CALCULATION NOVEMBER 2016

TONGWYNLAIS

DESCRIPTION

BAND     

A*

BAND   

A

BAND     

B

BAND     

C

BAND      

D

BAND     

E

BAND     

F

BAND     

G

BAND   

H

BAND     

I TOTAL

Dwellings per V.O. listing (+ projections) 0 1 112 165 198 201 94 45 5 9 830

Exemptions 0 0 -4 -1 -2 -2 -1 -1 0 0 -11 

Chargeable Dwellings 0 1 108 164 196 199 93 44 5 9 819

Disabled 0 0 0 2 2 4 0 2 0 1 11

Adjusted Total 0 1 110 164 198 195 95 42 6 8 819

Dwellings with two discounts 0 0 2 1 1 1 3 1 0 0 9

Dwellings with one discount 0 1 68 65 60 46 14 7 0 1 262

Dwellings with no discount 0 0 40 98 137 148 78 34 6 7 548

Total number of discounts 0 1 72 67 62 48 20 9 0 1

Weighted Total 0.00 0.75 92.00 147.25 182.50 183.00 90.00 39.75 6.00 7.75 749.00

Band D Relation 5/9 6/9 7/9 8/9 1 11/9 13/9 15/9 18/9 21/9

Band D Equivalent 0.00 0.50 71.56 130.89 182.50 223.67 130.00 66.25 12.00 18.08 835.45

Estimated Collection Rate 98.5%

Tax Base 822.92

P
age 87



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



Page 1 of 11

CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD
CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL 

CABINET MEETING: 15 DECEMBER 2016

FAMILIES FIRST PROGRAMME: UPDATE AND TRANSITION 
ARRANGEMENTS

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF SOCIAL SERVICES 

AGENDA ITEM:  5 

 
PORTFOLIO:  EARLY YEARS, CHILDREN AND FAMILIES (COUNCILLOR 
SUE LENT)

  
Reason for this Report

1. To inform Cabinet of the current position in relation to Cardiff’s Families 
First Programme, as detailed in the body of the report.

2. Subject to confirmation of funding from Welsh Government, to request 
approval to vary existing contracts by way of extensions as further detailed 
in the body of this report.

3. To seek a delegation of authority to the Director of Social Services in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Early Years, Children and 
Families and the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and Section 151 
and Monitoring Officers for all aspects of commissioning related to any 
short-term provision developed or piloted during the transition period.

Background

4. The Council currently receives a Welsh Government grant of just over £5m 
per annum, for the Families First Programme to provide early intervention 
and prevention services for families. The programme is one of the Welsh 
Government’s key initiatives for tackling poverty. 

5. The City of Cardiff Council manages the grant on behalf of the Public 
Services Board, which is made up of all the main statutory and third sector 
partners working together to deliver Cardiff’s Integrated Strategic Plan, 
What Matters: 2010-2020. 

6. For this reason, the Vulnerable Children and Families Board, which is part 
of the partnership arrangements under the Cardiff Public Services Board, 
has a role in governance of the programme in addition to the Council’s own 
governance processes. This Board is currently chaired by the Director of 
Social Services.

Page 89

Agenda Item 5



Page 2 of 11

7. By way of background, the Welsh Government’s initial Guidance identified 
that the first Families First programme would end in 2017. The Guidance 
also contained a requirement that services should be ‘strategically 
commissioned’. In line with this, services under the Families First 
Programme were commissioned by the Council via two competitive tender 
processes resulting in the award of seven contracts which commenced on 1 
April 2013.  These contracts are due to expire on 31st March 2017, although 
they do contain an option to extend on an annual basis for 12 month 
periods if continued grant funding is made available. 

8. The main specification for the first programme comprised six lots providing 
for themed packages of services. Each of these packages is led by a Lead 
Provider who has entered into sub contracts with a range of other providers. 
In this way, each package provides a number of different projects or 
services. The packages are: 

 Early Years – led by Cardiff and Vale University Health Board
 Child and Youth Engagement – led by City of Cardiff Education 

Services
 Sustainable Employment – led by Sova
 Healthy Lifestyles – led by Cardiff and Vale University Health Board
 Emotional and Mental Health and Wellbeing – led by Barnardo’s
 Disability Focus – led by Action for Children

9. Under the same Programme although commissioned under a separate 
procurement process, there is a further service.  This is the Team Around 
the Family service for which a contract is in place with a single provider, 
namely Tros Gynnal Plant.  

10. A number of smaller Infrastructure projects also support delivery across the 
Programme. These are mainly delivered in-house or secured by way of 
grant, although an additional contract was entered into during the current 
financial year to support the development of Time Credits. This contract is 
managed by the Housing and Communities Directorate through a joint 
funding arrangement.

11. The Families First grant funding for this programme remained at the same 
level between 2012/13 and 2015/16 at £5,743,339 but was reduced to 
£5,072,763 in 2016/17. 

12. In July 2016, the Cabinet Secretary, Carl Sargeant, confirmed that there 
would be another Families First programme. His decision paper is attached 
to this report as Appendix A. The decision paper sets out his intentions for 
the new programme and clarifies the distinctive contribution that Welsh 
Government want the Families First programme to make alongside other 
programmes and initiatives. The paper confirms the elements of provision 
that they want to continue, and identifies some areas of service that they 
will not fund in the new programme and some potential gaps that they want 
to be addressed.

Page 90



Page 3 of 11

13. Funding for the programme post March 2017 has not yet been confirmed. 
However, the Welsh Government’s draft budget proposes that funding for 
2017-18 will be at the same level as for 2016-17. The overall budget is 
scheduled for agreement on 13th December and Welsh Government officers 
have said that they will try to confirm individual funding with local authorities 
as soon as possible after this date. 

14. The final guidance for the new programme is not expected to be available 
before 31st March 2017. However, the decision paper provides the direction 
of travel for the Families First programme and allows for a transition period. 
The decision paper suggests that this will take a minimum of six months 
and further correspondence with officials has indicated that they will allow 
for a longer transition period should this be required.

15. Welsh Government is not in a position to be able to confirm how long the 
next programme will last or to provide indicative budgets at the present 
time. The Cabinet Secretary has confirmed his commitment to continue to 
support the Families First programme and the Directorate is preparing for 
re-commissioning on this basis. Accordingly, this Report sets the interim 
decisions currently before Cabinet in the context of outline longer term 
plans. However, these will be the subject of further reports when the 
Directorate has the final Guidance, and confirmation of funding and length 
of programme. 

16. In the meantime, with the existing contracts due to expire at the end of 
March 2017, the Directorate needs to put in place interim arrangements to 
cover the transition period under the Families First Programme whilst it 
awaits a copy of the final guidance from the Welsh Government and is 
therefore in a position to determine and commission the longer term 
arrangements.  Hence the purpose of this report is to seek authority for the 
interim arrangements.  

Proposed Interim Arrangements 

17. The proposed interim arrangements for the transition period include varying 
some of the existing contracts in order to extend their initial contract term, 
decommissioning some of the services currently provided under the 
Families First Programme and potentially commissioning/ putting in place 
pilot/alternative arrangements during the transitionary period.

Proposed extension of contract term

18. Working with officers from Legal Services and Procurement, the central 
Families First team have put together a proposed outline project plan for the 
re-commissioning process, subject to the confirmation of funding. This 
builds in the timescales needed for stakeholder engagement, decision-
making via Council and Cardiff Partnership governance arrangements, 
compliance with OJEU regulations and a transition period to ensure a 
smooth progression to new arrangements for service users.

Page 91



Page 4 of 11

Governance Arrangements Commencement 
Date

End Date

Cabinet decision to proceed with 
extension of current arrangements 15 Dec 2016 15 Dec 2016

Notify current Provider 
Organisations of the outcome of 

Cabinet decision
Jan 2017 Jan 2017

Stakeholder Engagement 
Regarding Existing Programme July 2016 March 2017

Cabinet Approval for re-
commissioning process June 2017 June 2017

Future Commissioning and 
Procurement Process June 2017 Jan 2018

Award of contract Jan 2018

Transition Period Jan 2018 31 March 2018

New Contract Start Date 1 April 2018
  
19. Based on this project plan, it is proposed that the Directorate seeks 

permission for a 12 month transition. The Cabinet Secretary’s paper 
suggests a transition of at least six months. In subsequent correspondence, 
Welsh Government officials have confirmed that they regard this as the 
minimum needed and are prepared to agree to a longer period of up to 12 
months. 

20. The current contracts provide for extensions on an annual basis of 12 
months provided that the contract does not extend beyond 31 March 2019, 
subject to continued grant funding from the Welsh Government. 
Accordingly, the Directorate is proposing to extend the following contracts 
and service level agreement for a 12-month period commencing on 1 April 
2017:

 Early Years contract with Cardiff and Vale University Health Board and 
dated 28 March 2013 (current value £616,484)

 Healthy Lifestyles in respect of the services currently delivered under 
the contract with Cardiff and Vale University Health Board – dated 28 
March 2013 save for those services/projects identified in paragraph 17 
B) below (current value £445,344)

 Emotional and Mental Health and Wellbeing contract with Barnardo 
Services Ltd and dated 12 March 2013 (current value £1,004,124)

 Disability Focus contract with Action for Children and dated 28 March 
2013 (current value £482,508)

 Team Around the Family service contract with Tros Gynnal Plant and 
dated 6 March 2013 (current value £486,908)

 Child and Youth Engagement service level agreement with the 
Council’s in-house Education department (current value £1,313,849)

Page 92



Page 5 of 11

Decommissioning of some of the services  

21. As part of the Cabinet Secretary’s decision paper located at Appendix A, 
certain elements of the programme will no longer be supported by the 
Families First Grant, namely:

 Debt/benefit advice/income maximisation/financial literacy 
 Worklessness/employability/training
 Some health services, e.g. sexual health, substance misuse.
 Childcare services (except crèche facilities)

22. In line with this indication, the Directorate is proposing to decommission a 
small number of services.  Namely;
  
A. the Sustainable Employment package delivered by Sova (whole 

contract - current value £251,486)

B. the Sex and Relationships Education and ASSIST (smoking 
prevention) projects (current value £40,587) 

23. Equalities Impact Assessments [EIAs] for these projects which it is 
proposed are decommissioned have been carried out and copies of the 
same are attached as Appendices B-D. A further EIA has also been 
completed for the remaining programme, with a copy attached as Appendix 
E.

24. Welsh Government’s decision not to support these services via Families 
First Grant is based on their clarification of the role of Families First 
alongside other initiatives which were not in place when the first programme 
guidance was issued.

25. In relation to worklessness, Welsh Government anticipates that other 
programmes like Communities 4 Work and LIFT will continue to provide 
more specialist support for parents who need this form of support. Their 
evaluation of the first Families First programme concluded that this kind of 
support was not ‘viable’ as part of Families First because the programme 
was working with parents who had more complex needs and needed to deal 
with other things before they were able to progress into employment.

26. Accordingly, the Directorate is not seeking to extend the existing contract 
currently in place with Sova in relation to the Sustainable Employment 
services under the Families First Programme and this contract will, 
therefore, automatically expire on 31 March 2017 in accordance with its 
contract terms.

27. In relation to SRE, there are clear requirements for schools in relation to 
delivery. All maintained secondary schools are required under section 
101(1)(c) of the Education Act 2002 to include sex education for all 
registered pupils, as part of the ‘basic curriculum’ of the school. Primary 
schools are advised to deliver SRE although it is not a legal requirement. 
The current projects supports schools to put effective delivery into place but 

Page 93



Page 6 of 11

given the legal and advisory responsibility of schools, it is proposed that this 
does not fit with the forward direction of Families First. 

28. In relation to ASSIST, which is a smoking prevention programme, Public 
Health Wales now delivers a Smoke Free Schools Programme. While the 
value of this work is not questioned, it would appear to be within Public 
Health Wales’s remit and not appropriate for further Families First funding.

29. However, delivery of both of the health-related services is via schools. 
Therefore, it is recommended that we continue to fund these elements to 
deliver in Quarter 1 of 2017-18 (April – June 2017) so that they can 
complete delivery within the current school year. Further discussions with 
Welsh Government officials have clarified that the transition period will allow 
for the continuance of some projects which will no longer fit with the new 
guidance to allow for appropriate exit arrangements to be put into place. 
Accordingly, the proposal is to vary the Healthy Lifestyle contract in part to 
allow for an extension of 3 months commencing upon 1 April 2017 in 
respect only of the Sex and Relationships Education and ASSIST (smoking 
prevention) projects. The contract value provided in paragraph 23 above 
has been adjusted to take this into account.

30. Welsh Government say that “If local authorities wish to retain any health 
services which are currently being delivered through the programme, they 
will need to be able to demonstrate clear links to parenting, youth support 
and ACE [Adverse Childhood Experiences] prevention”. There are a 
number of other health-related projects which we are proposing should 
continue through the transition, including the Sexual Health Outreach 
Team/C-Card service and health and nutrition projects. The analysis and 
planning that we will do to prepare for the new specifications will explore 
how these services can be embedded to demonstrate the clear links 
required.

31. The decision paper located at Appendix A also identifies childcare as an 
element that they will not fund in the new programme. The Cabinet 
Secretary’s decision is based on the fact that childcare will now be provided 
via the Parents, Childcare and Employment project (PaCE), which provides 
support to economically inactive parents into education, training and 
employment, where childcare is the main barrier. Welsh Government are 
also introducing an enhanced early years childcare offer which is aimed at 
working families and will subsidise the provision of 20 hours of childcare for 
three and four year olds in addition to the 10 hours of early years education 
which is already available under the Foundation Phased for 38 weeks of the 
year. However, it is not proposed that we decommission the early years 
childcare project delivered by Ely and Caerau Children’s Centre at the 
present time. This new childcare offer has not yet been rolled out and so, 
while childcare will not feature in the new programme, this provision will be 
maintained during the transition to allow time for alternative arrangements 
to be put into place.

32. The Directorate is proposing to enter into arrangements to extend 
infrastructure elements as appropriate for the way in which they are 
delivered and/or were commissioned.

Page 94



Page 7 of 11

Alternative/Pilot arrangements during the transition period
  
33. The priority is to manage the transition to the new programme while 

maintaining services and support for families. It is anticipated that 
decommissioning of the identified services will release funding for the 
development of other services which will start to fill gaps and strengthen 
provision for families in line with the new directions. It will also be used to 
improve communication around provision for children, young people and 
their families in response to feedback from stakeholders and inspection 
reports from Young Inspectors during the current programme. 

34. The stakeholder engagement and analysis will identify areas where 
services could be developed or piloted during the transition period. It will 
require flexibility to respond to emerging themes effectively. Therefore, it is 
proposed that decision-making in relation to the short-term commissioning 
of services during this phase is delegated to the Director of Social Services, 
where needed, and to that end it is anticipated that the level of funding will 
be in the region of approximately £300,000 and that the alternative/pilot 
arrangements will not continue beyond 31 March 2018.

Commissioning the next Families First programme

35. Contract monitoring and stakeholder engagement have confirmed that 
Families First has delivered services that have made a real difference to 
families in Cardiff. These services provide a wide range of help, ranging 
from light touch advice and information to more intensive support for longer 
periods of time to around 20,000 individuals each year. However, we also 
know that our systems for identifying when families need help and ensuring 
that they receive the support they need, could be clearer and better 
embedded. The context in which we are working has also changed, with a 
greater emphasis on early intervention and prevention through Cardiff’s 
Early Help Strategy and in the implementation of the Social Services and 
Wellbeing Act and the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act. 
 

36. While it will be a priority to maintain provision during the transition phase, 
the re-commissioning in Phase 2 gives us a chance to learn from our 
experience during the first programme to do some things better. We also 
need to address some of the gaps that have been identified in the Cabinet 
Secretary’s decision paper and locally during stakeholder engagement. This 
is a real opportunity for Social Services to recommission in line with the new 
Welsh Government guidance, to build on areas of success and address 
areas for development.   
 

37. The financial guidance for Families First specifies that the funding must not 
be used to deliver statutory services. However, we have received 
clarification that funding may be used to deliver wider early help services 
which contribute to the provision of Information, Advice and Assistance 
under the Social Services and Wellbeing Act.

Page 95



Page 8 of 11

38. The Directorate has started to prepare for new commissioning during the 
transition period, including consulting with all relevance stakeholders. Once 
the Directorate is in a position to propose a model for the longer term 
arrangements and having taken into account the final Welsh Government 
(WG) guidance (when this has been received) a further report will be 
submitted to Cabinet for approval.  

Equality Impact Assessment

39. Equality Impact Assessments have been carried out on the changes above 
and these can be found at Appendices B, C, D and E.  Findings from the 
assessments have informed the proposals for the interim arrangements.  
Further EIAs will be completed and will inform changes to the programme 
recommended as part of the recommissioning process during the transition 
period.

Consultation

40. Lead Providers for the packages directly affected by the decommissioning 
proposals for Phase 1 have been notified and asked to provide an exit 
strategy but also information about the impact on their service users that 
they wished to be taken into consideration in the Equalities Impact 
Assessments.

41. The draft Cabinet report was considered by the Children & Young People 
Scrutiny Committee on 6 December 2016.  The Committee welcomed the 
report, which they considered addressed all the issues that they had 
previously raised in relation to the transition period, and agreed to 
commend it to Cabinet.  A copy of the letter received from the Chair of the 
Committee is attached at Appendix F.

42. Workshops have been held with current and potential providers of services. 
While they have not been asked to comment on the specific proposals 
contained here, their general observations have informed this Report and 
will continue to inform planning and development of specifications for Phase 
2.

43. Officers will continue to work closely with providers, third sector partners 
and other stakeholders to learn lessons from recent and current 
commissioning arrangements Every effort will be made to involve 
stakeholders and in particular Service Users in the specification of services 
and in the evaluation process.

44. This report does not relate to a local issue as the Families First Programme 
is delivered city-wide.

Reason for Recommendations

45. To note the approach to the recommissioning of the Families First 
programme and agree the arrangements for management of the transition 
period.

Page 96



Page 9 of 11

Financial Implications

46. The report seeks approval for the extension, for 12 months, of a number of 
contractual arrangements currently in place and funded from the Families 
First grant. The extension reflects the need for a transition process prior to 
the development of a new Families First programme. It is also proposed 
that some existing schemes are de-commissioned and some new schemes 
potentially piloted during the transitional period. The Families First grant 
amounts to £5,072,763 in 2016/17. At this stage, the level of funding for 
2017/18 has not been confirmed. The report therefore indicates that 
approval for the proposed contract extensions should be subject to funding 
confirmation being received. It is noted that initial budget indications from 
WG suggest that overall Families First funding will be maintained at 
2016/17 levels. The final allocations to individual authorities will not 
however be evident until final settlement figures are received. Subject to the 
current grant funding level being maintained, the proposed extensions to 
the specified existing contracts can be met within existing resources. Any 
new piloted schemes would also need to be contained within the overall 
grant funding level. It is understood that the proposals in the report will be 
reviewed when final grant funding for 2017/18 is confirmed. It is also 
understood that the schemes to which the contract extensions relate will be 
in line with WG proposals for the new Families First programme and hence 
eligible for funding under the grant.

Legal Implications

47. The proposed recommendation relates to a number of contractual 
arrangements currently in place and, put simply, seeks to vary the same by 
way of extending the contract terms, subject to receiving a formal offer of 
grant funding from the Welsh Government.

48. The contracts contain provisions to extend the same for twelve months 
subject to continuation of Welsh Government grant funding.  In addition 
Legal Services are instructed that the appointed contractors are in 
agreement with the proposed extensions and hence the proposals should 
not present any issues in terms of contract law.

49. With regard to procurement law, it is noted that when the contracts were 
initially procured, the tender documentation was clear that the contracts 
could be further extended (provided that the same do not extend beyond 31 
March 2019).  Accordingly the proposal to extend the contracts is within 
scope of the original procurement.   

50. In relation to the proposed recommendations and TUPE, please refer to the 
employment implications set out in the HR Implications of this report.  

Equality duty

51. In considering this matter the decision maker must have regard to the 
Council’s duties under the Equality Act 2010. Pursuant to these legal duties 
Councils must, in making decisions, have due regard to the need to (1) 
eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) advance equality of opportunity and 

Page 97



Page 10 of 11

(3) foster good relations on the basis of protected characteristics.   
Protected characteristics are: (a). Age, ( b ) Gender reassignment( c ) Sex 
(d) Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality, (e) 
Disability, (f) Pregnancy and maternity, (g) Marriage and civil partnership, 
(h) Sexual orientation (i) Religion or belief – including lack of belief.

52. The report identifies that Equality Impact Assessments have been carried 
out and are appended at Appendices B, C, D and E. The purpose of the 
Equality Impact Assessment is to ensure that the Council has understood 
the potential impacts of the proposal in terms of equality so that it can 
ensure that it is making proportionate and rational decisions having due 
regard to its public sector equality duty.  The decision maker must have due 
regard to the Equality Impact Assessments in making its decision.

HR Implications

53. The central Families First team is currently located within the central 
business section of Social Services. Members of staff are employed on 
temporary contracts until 31st March 2017. These employment contracts will 
also need to be extended, or arrangements made to put new roles into 
place to manage the central functions through Phases 1 and 2. 

54. Families First currently funds the following posts in the central team:

 58% Project Manager Post 
 100% Commissioning Officer 
 100% Outcome Delivery Officer 
 50% Commissioning Support Officer 
 100% Admin Post 

55. Families First funding also contributes to two other posts in other service 
areas: 

 60% Finance Officer in Finance
 20% Analyst in Cardiff Research Unit

56. It is unlikely that there will be TUPE implications during Phase 1. However, 
the recommissioning of services in Phase 2 may or may not have 
implications under the Transfer of undertakings (Protection of employment) 
regulations 2006 (TUPE) for the incoming and outgoing providers.  An 
assessment will be made by the Council and referred to in any tender 
documentation.  At this point, it will be recommended that any contractors 
take their own legal advice on whether TUPE applies or not as they will be 
the ones with the legal responsibility.  

RECOMMENDATIONS

Cabinet is recommended (subject the Council securing written confirmation of 
grant funding from the Welsh Government at a level which is sufficient to cover 
the cost of the proposed variations and pilot arrangements) to; 

Page 98



Page 11 of 11

1. approve the proposed variation to the existing contracts referred to under 
paragraph 20 of this report (with the exception of the Healthy Lifestyles 
contract referred to recommendation 1b) by way of an extension of 12 
months commencing on 1 April 2017;

2. approve the proposed variation to the existing Families First Healthy 
Lifestyles contract with the Cardiff and Vale University Health Board:-

i. by way of an extension for a period of 3 months commencing upon 1 
April 2017 in respect of those elements of the services referred to as 
1) the Sex and Relationship Education project and 2) the ASSIST 
(smoking prevention) project;

ii. by way of an extension for a period of 12 months commencing upon 1 
April 2017 in respect of the remaining elements of the services within 
the said contract.

3. Delegate authority to the Director of Social Services in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Early Years Children and Families and the 
Cabinet Member for Corporate Services and Performance, and Section 
151 and Monitoring Officer for all aspects of commissioning the proposed 
short term pilot arrangements which may be put in place during the 
transition period as further detailed in paragraph 34 of the report.

4. Agree that further a report will be submitted to Cabinet to seek approval to 
the proposed model for the longer term arrangements for the Families 
First Programme once the final Welsh Government Guidance and financial 
information in relation to the new programme has been received.

TONY YOUNG
Director 
9 December 2016

The following appendices are attached: 

Appendix A – Cabinet Secretary Decision Paper from Welsh Government
Appendix B – Equality Impact Assessment (Sex and Relationships Education)
Appendix C – Equality Impact Assessment (ASSIST) 
Appendix D – Equality Impact Assessment (Sustainable Employment package) 
Appendix E – Equality Impact Assessment (remaining programme) 
Appendix F– Letter from Chair of Children’s and Young People Scrutiny 

Committee.

Page 99



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 5

APPENDIX A

Future development of the Families First programme

Cabinet Secretary’s decision

The Cabinet Secretary has considered advice on the future of the Families First 
programme and has come to the following decision:

 The key elements of the JAF, TAFF and disability focus will remain unchanged, with 
£3 million per year ring-fenced funding for disability-related services being retained.

 The focus of the strategic projects commissioned through the programme will be 
narrowed to concentrate on the delivery of parenting support and support for young 
people.

 There will be a transitionary period of at least six months from 1 April 2017 before 
these new arrangements are rolled out nationally.

Why has this decision been made?

The Cabinet Secretary has made this decision to ensure the Families First programme is 
able to develop services which address identified gaps in service provision for parents 
and young people and link the work of the programme clearly with the prevention of 
Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs). 

What does this mean?

Parenting support

Parenting plays a central role in relation to outcomes for children.  Good quality 
parenting can help promote resilience, positive self-esteem and have a positive impact 
on a child’s learning and outcomes and school.  Children who grow up in a nurturing 
environment where parenting is fair, consistent and structured are also less likely to be 
exposed to adverse childhood experiences which may detrimentally affect their physical 
and mental health over the longer term.  These children are also less likely to bring up 
their own children in households where ACEs are commonplace.

A recent mapping exercise has identified gaps in existing provision and all local 
authorities will need to consider these when designing and commissioning services.  
Current identified gaps in service provision include:

 Universally available parenting groups 
 Support for couple relationships 
 Support for parents with a learning disability 
 Support for adoptive/foster parents/kinship carers 
 Support for families affected by a parent in prison
 Support for families following family breakdown 

Each local authority will be expected to offer services under the following age related 
themes:

Page 101



Page 2 of 5

 Perinatal and support in the early years to age 7
 Support for parents of children in middle childhood aged 7-12
 Support for parents of teenagers

Each of these age-related themes will then need to be underpinned by the following 
cross-cutting themes:

 Relationship support
 Early intervention support vulnerable families
 Positive parenting
 Evidence based theories of child development

It may be necessary for local authorities to undertake further assessments to identify the 
extent to which these gaps need to be filled in their local area to ensure services can be 
commissioned accordingly. The needs of local populations will vary, and there is no “one 
size fits all” approach which should be taken so local authorities will still have a certain 
degree of flexibility in how they design and commission services, as is the case currently.  
However, it will be important for local authorities to ensure, and be able to 
demonstrate, they are providing services which fill these identified gaps.

There are some clear benefits to widening the provision of parenting support, these 
have been summarised below:

 Families First will be able to enhance existing parenting support to fill the identified 
gaps in provision and provide services ranging from universal support to 
targeted/specialist interventions.

 The programme will have a sharper focus on ensuring families are confident, 
nurturing, resilient and safe.  Evaluation evidence tells us that families’ presenting 
needs most often fall into these categories and recent feedback indicates this 
remains a clear need amongst local populations.

 The broad range of parenting support which can be delivered will also be able to 
address a variety of other issues, such as:

o low level mental health and emotional health and well-being
o domestic violence support
o support for young carers
o family engagement support

Support for young people

Providing support for young people directly complements the support which will be 
provided for parenting and is entirely in keeping with Families First’s whole family 
approach to service provision.

Services should be focussed to concentrate on ensuring young people are resilient and 
confident and equipped with skills which will help them make a meaningful contribution 
to society.  This could mean services are developed which will complement those which 
are proposed for parents, and include interventions for a range of age groups which 
promote resilience and positive self-esteem to encourage long term positive outcomes 
for all children and young people.

Page 102



Page 3 of 5

Families First and the prevention of ACEs

Whilst our parenting proposals have clear links with ACE prevention, continuation of 
youth provision will provide valuable services which could help to mitigate the effects of 
exposure to ACEs for those children and young people who are living in difficult 
circumstances.   Enhancement of existing services, such as youth clubs, advocacy, 
counselling and mentoring services, as well as those which provide access to work 
placements and education may help to reduce the acute and long-term impacts of ACEs 
on the health and behaviour of young people.

Where local authorities are not currently providing youth services, these services should 
be developed alongside new parenting support to ensure young people in the local area 
are receiving appropriate support along with their parents.

Services which will no longer be funded through Families First

A simple mapping exercise has been carried out using information contained in the 
Families First Delivery Plans 2016-17 and we have identified the following main services 
which will be affected as a result of the Cabinet Secretary’s decision:

 Debt/benefit advice/income maximisation/financial literacy
 Worklessness/employability/training
 Some health services, e.g. sexual health, substance misuse.
 Childcare services (except crèche facilities)

Debt/benefit advice/income maximisation/financial literacy

Many families who enter the programme require some kind of financial advice however 
services are available outside of the programme to which families could be signposted.  
Organisations such as the Citizen’s Advice Bureau and the Money Advice Service provide 
free information and support to families and, whilst it is important that families know 
where they can get help, it is not essential for these services to be provided through 
Families First.

Worklessness/employability/training

The Families First evaluation reports have made it clear that the programme does not 
perform well in terms of helping people seek or gain employment.  Families’ presenting 
needs most often fall into the categories of wellbeing, confidence, resilience and safety 
and it is essential for families to address these issues before they can move on to 
addressing other challenges such as gaining  employment. 
We do not, therefore, consider it viable for the programme to continue funding services 
such as these.

Some health services, e.g. sexual health, substance misuse

Some health services, for example, those which promote healthy living or substance 
misuse support, could be refined to ensure stronger links with parenting, in the context 
of providing a healthy environment for children to thrive.  If local authorities wish to 
retain any health services which are currently being delivered through the programme, 

Page 103



Page 4 of 5

they will need to be able to demonstrate clear links to parenting, youth support and ACE 
prevention.

Childcare (except crèche facilities)

Services currently funded by the programme include:
 Assisted childcare places
 Contributions towards the cost of childcare
 Provision of affordable day care
 Crèche facilities

We know that crèche facilities are particularly useful in helping parents who have no 
childcare support access services, such as parenting programmes. We are, therefore, 
recommending that the provision of crèche facilities be retained where it will encourage 
parents to engage with services.
   
With regard to other childcare services, these were developed prior to other Welsh 
Government initiatives which are now available or in development.  These include:

 Parents, Childcare and Employment project (PaCE) which provides support to 
economically inactive parents into education, training and employment, where 
childcare is the main barrier. 

 The enhanced early years childcare offer which is aimed at working families and 
will subsidise the provision of 20 hours of childcare for three and four year olds in 
addition to the 10 hours of early years education which is already available under 
the Foundation Phased for 38 weeks of the year. 

As these new initiatives are implemented, we would expect to see a reduction in need 
for services to be delivered through Families First and so do not consider it appropriate 
for childcare services to continue to be funded through the programme.

Transition

We understand that it will take time to move from the current arrangements to another, 
and we are proposing a transitionary period of at least six months from 1 April 2017, 
which will mean the new arrangements will be operating nationally from 1 October 2017 
at the earliest.   This should allow local authorities sufficient time to undertake relevant 
needs assessments and consider how services should be delivered in each local authority 
and develop appropriate commissioning arrangements.

Local authorities will be able to decide how they wish to proceed during this 
transitionary period.  We do, however, recommend they explore whether existing 
contracts can be extended during this period which would mean the programme 
continuing to operate in its current form for six additional months to allow for a more 
effective exit period for families currently receiving support through the programme.

Next steps

We will welcome your input in a number of key areas as we move towards these new 
arrangements and we will be seeking your support over the coming months to consider 
the following: 

Page 104



Page 5 of 5

 The development of new guidance
 Suitable data monitoring and performance management arrangements. 

Further details on the new arrangements will be available in due course, including 
funding arrangements.  The Cabinet Secretary is expected to make a formal 
announcement on the future of the programme in the autumn.

If you have any immediate queries at this stage, please contact Hannah Williams, Senior 
Family Support Policy Manager at hannah.williams@wales.gsi.gov.uk or 029 2082 5677.

The Families First Team

Page 105

mailto:hannah.williams@wales.gsi.gov.uk


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix B
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 1 of 8

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title: Sex and Relationships 
Education
New/Existing/Updating/Amending: New

Who is responsible for developing and implementing the 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function?
Name: Angela Bourge Job Title: Operational Manager – Strategy, 

Performance & Resources 
Service Team: Families First Service Area: Social Services
Assessment Date: 10/11/16

1. What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/ 
             Service/Function?            

Families First is a Welsh Government-funded initiative which aims to support families, 
particularly those living in poverty. 

The Sex and Relationships education service within Families First works in schools 
across Cardiff offering support to staff and pupils in delivery of high quality sex and 
relationship advice. This assessment considers the impact of ceasing funding to the SRE 
service in March 2017 in line with the direction of travel outlined by Welsh 
Government. 

The early indications outlined within the Cabinet Secretary’s decision paper highlights 
that certain elements of the programme will no longer be supported by the Families 
First Grant, namely;

 Debt/benefit advice/income maximisation/financial literacy
 Worklessness/employability/training
 Some health services, e.g. sexual health, substance misuse.
 Childcare services (except crèche facilities)

Due to this indication regarding the future of the programme, the proposal is to cease 
funding for those projects and/or programmes that fall under the categories that 
Welsh Government have indicated will no longer be supported in the future. Welsh 
Government have highlighted that health related projects must have a clear link to 
parenting or the prevention of Adverse Childhood Experiences if they are to remain 
within the Families First portfolio. 

Page 107



Appendix B
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 2 of 8

2. Please provide background information on the           
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done 
[e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done 
etc.]

The Healthy Lifestyles package currently offers a project entitled Sex and Relationships 
Education which supports the delivery of sex and relationships education in primary 
and secondary schools, colleges and training providers. 

During 2015/16, 13 schools, colleges and training providers in Cardiff received training, 
with 1404 children and young people attending lessons. Of these 1191 individuals felt 
their knowledge had increased in relation to Sex and Relationship Education, and 1187 
felt more confident in accessing sexual health provision.

Whilst SRE is seen as a key priority for young people it is not felt that the remit of the 
programme fits with Families First grant funding. The Education Act 2002 requires 
secondary school to provide sex education as part of the ‘basic curriculum’. Whilst the 
programme has delivered successes, it is not seen as appropriate that such 
programmes should rely on grant funding rather than be built into school processes. 
Although this project has provided added value, Families First funding should not be 
used for anything which is a statutory requirement. 

Public Health Wales Healthy Schools programme contains 7 key topics, one of which is 
relationships. This service offers schools a Toolkit and lesson plans to purchase or loan. 
The role of the SRE service has been to provide mentoring and support for this 
programme. 

Cardiff Council’s Healthy Schools coordinator has highlighted that between April 2015 – 
March 2016:

 18 Schools borrowed Healthy Schools SRE resources:
 11 schools borrowed the toolkit
 7 Schools purchased the toolkit

 
The SRE service has provided additional information or support to supplement this, 
should schools need it. The schools wishing to have this additional support will no 
longer receive it via this route and as such it will need to be picked up in other ways. 
For instance, some schools already purchase external support for SRE from other 
providers.

It is proposed that the Sexual Health Outreach Team (Shot) and C-Card scheme will 
continue to operate from within Families First, embedded within the provision of Youth 
Support. If approved, these schemes will continue to be available for young people 
who need additional support or advice in relation to sex and relationships. 

Page 108



Appendix B
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 3 of 8

3 Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics

3.1 Age
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older people? 

                                                                                                       Yes No N/A
Up to 18 years Negative
18 - 65 years Negative
Over 65 years X

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The loss of SRE education within the current settings would impact on those currently 
receiving the service, young people under the age of 25 in education and training 
settings. 

Healthy Schools feel that the loss of this service would have a negative impact in terms 
of the quality and consistency of what is delivered by schools in relation to this subject 
area leading to lack of confidence in teachers as well as a lower standard of delivery to 
young people in schools. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Meetings and engagement have been held with both Public Health Wales and Healthy 
Schools coordinators. Whilst the service is currently delivered through Families First 
Funding this is not the case across the city or across Wales. As such, the central team 
will work with existing providers to identify how to ensure that those schools that had 
previously used this service will be able to access ongoing support. 

Much of this work would be picked up as part of Healthy Schools and the general 
duties relating to SRE/PSE education within schools: ensuring quality delivery of SRE is 
the responsibility of schools and inspected by Estyn.  Schools and training providers will 
also be able to refer into the SHOT/C-Card scheme where necessary. 

3.2 Disability
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on disabled people? 

Yes No N/A
Hearing Impairment X
Physical Impairment X
Visual Impairment X
Learning Disability X
Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition X
Mental Health X

Page 109



Appendix B
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 4 of 8

Substance Misuse X
Other X
 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
There is not expected to be a differential impact relating to these characteristics. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.3 Gender Reassignment
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on transgender people? 

Yes No N/A
Transgender People
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have 
undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex 
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex)

x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
There is not expected to be a differential impact on transgender people. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.4. Marriage and Civil Partnership
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil partnership?

Yes No N/A
Marriage x
Civil Partnership x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
There is not expected to be a differential impact on marriage and civil partnership

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

Page 110



Appendix B
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 5 of 8

3.5 Pregnancy and Maternity
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and maternity? 

Yes No N/A
Pregnancy x
Maternity x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
There is not expected to be a differential impact on pregnancy and maternity

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.6 Race
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups? 

Yes No N/A
White x
Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups x
Asian / Asian British x
Black / African / Caribbean / Black British x
Other Ethnic Groups x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
There is not expected to be a differential impact on race

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.7 Religion, Belief or Non-Belief 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs? 

Yes No N/A
Buddhist x
Christian x
Hindu x
Humanist x
Jewish x
Muslim x

Page 111



Appendix B
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 6 of 8

Sikh x
Other x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
There is not expected to be a differential impact on religion

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.8 Sex
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on men and/or women? 

Yes No N/A
Men x
Women x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
There is not expected to be a differential impact on sex

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.9 Sexual Orientation
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups? 

Yes No N/A
Bisexual x
Gay Men x
Gay Women/Lesbians x
Heterosexual/Straight x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
There is not expected to be a differential impact on sexual orientation. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

Page 112



Appendix B
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 7 of 8

3.10  Welsh Language
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on Welsh Language? 

Yes No N/A
Welsh Language x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
There is not expected to be a differential impact on Welsh Language

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

4. Consultation and Engagement
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities 
Groups?

Consultation has been held with the Lead Provider for the Healthy Lifestyles package 
who has shared this information with key partners in Health. The proposal has been 
shared with the Steering Group for Early Years and Healthy Lifestyles for comment. 

Partners in Education have been made aware of the consideration to remove this 
funding and have been given an opportunity to comment.

Stakeholder Engagement sessions have been held advising of the change in focus for 
the Families First programme, away from Health focussed projects. 

5. Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above]

Groups Actions
Age Much of this work would be picked up as part of Healthy 

Schools and general SRE/PSE education, with the ability for 
providers to refer into the SHOT/C-Card scheme where 
necessary.

Disability
Gender Reassignment
Marriage & Civil 
Partnership
Pregnancy & Maternity
Race
Religion/Belief
Sex
Sexual Orientation

Page 113



Appendix B
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 8 of 8

Welsh Language
Generic Over-Arching 
[applicable to all the 
above groups]

The 2002 Education Act highlights that high quality Sex and 
Relationship Education should be delivered as part of a 
standard curriculum within schools. The responsibility for 
delivery in this area is a priority for Education and Public 
Health. 

Much of the work that would be included within the SRE 
package will be expected to be picked up via Healthy 
Schools and general SRE/PSE education. The continuation of 
the Sexual Health Outreach Team (SHOT) and C-Card also 
ensures provision is available for those most at risk. 

6. Further Action
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality 
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your 
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis. 

7.       Authorisation
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each 
Service Area.

Completed By : Dr Ceri George Date: 10-11-16
Designation: Improvement Project Manager – Prevention and 
Partnerships
Approved By: Angela Bourge
Designation: Operational Manager – Strategy, Performance & 
Resources
Service Area: Social Services

7.1 On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the Form is posted on 
your Directorate’s Page on CIS - Council Wide/Management Systems/Equality 
Impact Assessments - so that there is a record of all assessments undertaken 
in the Council.  

For further information or assistance, please contact the Citizen Focus Team on 029 
2087 3059 or email citizenfocus@cardiff.gov.uk

                        

Page 114

mailto:citizenfocus@cardiff.gov.uk


Appendix C
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 1 of 8

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title: ASSIST
New/Existing/Updating/Amending: New

Who is responsible for developing and implementing the 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function?
Name: Angela Bourge Job Title: Operational Manager – Strategy, 

Performance & Resources 
Service Team: Families First Service Area: Social Services
Assessment Date: 8/11/16

1. What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/ 
             Service/Function?            

Families First is a Welsh Government Funded initiative which aims to support families, 
particularly those living in poverty. 

With the current Families First programme due to finish in March 2017, this proposal 
relates to how the programme will move forward into 2017/18. Initial statements 
released by Welsh Government highlight a number of areas will not be funded through 
the Families First grant in the future.  

The Healthy Lifestyles package of care currently includes the ASSIST/JustB programme, 
a smoking prevention service which is being considered as an area that should no 
longer funded through the Families First Grant given the new focus of the programme. 
Welsh Government have highlighted that health related projects must have a clear link 
to parenting or the prevention of Adverse Childhood Experiences if they are to remain 
within the Families First portfolio. In relation to smoking prevention there is not a 
robust argument to sustain this funding in the future. 

2. Please provide background information on the           
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done 
[e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done 
etc.]

The Healthy Lifestyles package currently offers a project entitled ASSIST/JustB which 
aims to reduce and prevent smoking in young people through a school based 
programme that trains young people to work as ‘peer supporters’. During 2015/16 9 
schools took part in the scheme with 318 pupils being trained as peer supporters. All 
participating schools stated that the project had a positive impact on behaviour and 
293 pupils trained felt their knowledge and understanding had increased.

Page 115



Appendix C
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 2 of 8

Whilst smoking prevention and cessation is vital in ensuring the health of young people 
it is not felt that such programmes should fall within the Families First programme 
given guidance received from Welsh Government. Smoking cessation and prevention is 
generally delivered as a Public Health concern.  

It is recommended that young people involved in the programme as peer supporters 
be referred into similar initiatives within Public Health Wales to deliver ongoing 
support such as the Smoke Free Schools programme and other peer mentoring 
schemes led by Public Health Wales. SmokeFree Schools aims to take a whole school 
approach to tobacco control as well as supporting a peer influence model as used in 
the ASSIST/JustB programme to date. SmokeBugs is also delivered by the Healthy 
Schools programme, offering kits to be loaned out and with additional support for 
teachers. 

3 Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics

3.1 Age
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older people? 

                                                                                                       Yes No N/A
Up to 18 years Negative
18 - 65 years X
Over 65 years X

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The loss of ASSIST/JustB within the current settings would result in the 9 participating 
schools without the service. The participating group would fall mainly into the 0-18 
category who would suffer a loss of service

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

Referral of those needing sustained service involvement into other programmes.  
Other forms of preventative work such as Healthy Schools and National Campaigns 
could pick up the majority of this work. 

Project will be asked to provide an exit strategy.

Page 116



Appendix C
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 3 of 8

3.2 Disability
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on disabled people? 

Yes No N/A
Hearing Impairment X
Physical Impairment X
Visual Impairment X
Learning Disability X
Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition X
Mental Health X
Substance Misuse X
Other X

 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
It is not expected that this proposal will have a differential impact on any members of 
this group as aimed primarily at secondary schools as a preventative measure. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.3 Gender Reassignment
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on transgender people? 

Yes No N/A
Transgender People
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have 
undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex 
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex)

x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
It is not expected that this proposal will have a differential impact on any members of 
this group. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

Page 117



Appendix C
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 4 of 8

3.4. Marriage and Civil Partnership
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil partnership?

Yes No N/A
Marriage x
Civil Partnership x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
It is not expected that this proposal will have a differential impact on any members of 
this group. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.5 Pregnancy and Maternity
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and maternity? 

Yes No N/A
Pregnancy x
Maternity x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
It is not expected that this proposal will have a differential impact on any members of 
this group. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.6 Race
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups? 

Yes No N/A
White x
Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups x
Asian / Asian British x
Black / African / Caribbean / Black British x

Page 118



Appendix C
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 5 of 8

Other Ethnic Groups x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
It is not expected that this proposal will have a differential impact on any members of 
this group. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.7 Religion, Belief or Non-Belief 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs? 

Yes No N/A
Buddhist x
Christian x
Hindu x
Humanist x
Jewish x
Muslim x
Sikh x
Other x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
It is not expected that this proposal will have a differential impact on any members of 
this group. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.8 Sex
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on men and/or women? 

Yes No N/A
Men x
Women x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
It is not expected that this proposal will have a differential impact on any members of 

Page 119



Appendix C
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 6 of 8

this group. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.9 Sexual Orientation
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups? 

Yes No N/A
Bisexual x
Gay Men x
Gay Women/Lesbians x
Heterosexual/Straight x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
It is not expected that this proposal will have a differential impact on any members of 
this group. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.10  Welsh Language
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on Welsh Language? 

Yes No N/A
Welsh Language x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
It is not expected that this proposal will have a differential impact in relation to Welsh 
Language. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

Page 120



Appendix C
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 7 of 8

4. Consultation and Engagement
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities 
Groups?

Consultation has been held with the Lead Provider for the Healthy Lifestyles package 
who has shared this information with key partners in Health. The proposal has been 
shared with the Steering Group for Early Years and Healthy Lifestyles for comment.
Partners in Education have been made aware of the consideration to remove this 
funding and have been given an opportunity to respond.

Stakeholder Engagement sessions have been held advising of the change in focus for 
the Families First programme, away from Health focussed projects. 

5. Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above]

Groups Actions
Age Preventative work such as Healthy Schools, PSE and 

National Campaign work will be required to pick up service 
lost in this area. 

Disability
Gender Reassignment
Marriage & Civil 
Partnership
Pregnancy & Maternity
Race
Religion/Belief
Sex
Sexual Orientation
Welsh Language
Generic Over-Arching 
[applicable to all the 
above groups]

Schools will already be involved in the Healthy Schools 
scheme which will pick up much of this work. The Smoke 
Free Schools programme and other peer mentoring 
schemes should be used to divert those currently using the 
service. 

Page 121



Appendix C
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 8 of 8

6. Further Action
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality 
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your 
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis. 

7.       Authorisation
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each 
Service Area.

Completed By : Dr Ceri George Date: 10-11-16
Designation: Improvement Project Manager – Prevention and 
Partnerships
Approved By: Angela Bourge
Designation: Operational Manager – Strategy, Performance & 
Resources
Service Area: Social Services

7.1 On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the Form is posted on 
your Directorate’s Page on CIS - Council Wide/Management Systems/Equality 
Impact Assessments - so that there is a record of all assessments undertaken 
in the Council.  

For further information or assistance, please contact the Citizen Focus Team on 029 
2087 3059 or email citizenfocus@cardiff.gov.uk

                        

Page 122

mailto:citizenfocus@cardiff.gov.uk


Appendix D
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 1 of 11

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title: Families First: Sustainable 
Employment
New/Existing/Updating/Amending: New

Who is responsible for developing and implementing the 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function?
Name: Angela Bourge Job Title: Operational Manager – Strategy, 

Performance & Resources 
Service Team: Families First Service Area: Social Services
Assessment Date: 07/11/2016

1. What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/ 
             Service/Function?            

Families First is a Welsh Government Funded initiative which aims to support families, 
particularly those living in poverty. 

With the current programme due to finish in March 2017, this proposal relates to how 
the programme will move forward into 2017/18 in light of early indications from Welsh 
Government on how the future programme will look. 

The early indications outlined within the Cabinet Secretary’s decision paper highlights 
that certain elements of the programme will no longer be supported by the Families 
First Grant, namely;

 Debt/benefit advice/income maximisation/financial literacy
 Worklessness/employability/training
 Some health services, e.g. sexual health, substance misuse.
 Childcare services (except crèche facilities)

The Sustainable Employment package currently delivered under Families First provides 
employment and training support to parents across the Cardiff area. With Welsh 
Government advising this type of programme will not be supported in the future, the 
proposal is to cease funding for Sustainable Employment at the end of the 2016/17 
financial year. 

2. Please provide background information on the           
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done 
[e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done 
etc.]

Page 123



Appendix D
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 2 of 11

The Sustainable Employment Service provides intensive mentoring for unemployed 
adults in families within the Tackling Poverty agenda. They assess individuals to identify 
needs and barriers to employment, offering 1-1 support to address these and build 
resilience. The service operates across Cardiff and is funded 100% through the Families 
First grant. 

In 2015/16 Sustainable Employment supported 292 individuals with 117 of these 
securing employment. Sova successfully provided 33% employment outcomes in 
2015/16 and are on target to achieve the same in 2016/17 with an average participants 
journey being 4.6 months. 

Whilst the service has successfully met its targets it no longer fits with the direction of 
travel outlined by Welsh Government. The National Evaluation of Families First 
highlighted that workstreams aimed at worklessness/employability and training did not 
perform well with families presenting needs that were more around confidence, 
resilience and safety prior to considering employment. The new directions for Families 
First also emphasise the particular contribution that Families First should make. Welsh 
Government will continue to support other, specialised initiatives in relation to 
worklessness and employment and concludes that delivery within the context of 
Families First is no longer viable.

Sustainable Employment is available to those across Cardiff, and is not bound by 
geographical limitations within the city. Service users accessing or wishing to access 
support will be signposted to similar programmes within other Welsh Government 
work programmes such as LIFT and Communities 4 Work as well as other projects 
within Families First aimed at building confidence.
 
An exit strategy is being considered by the existing providers to ensure service users to 
not experience a sudden loss of service. 

3 Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics

3.1 Age
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older people? 

                                                                                                       Yes No N/A
Up to 18 years x
18 - 65 years x
Over 65 years x

Page 124



Appendix D
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 3 of 11

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The vast majority of service participants fall into the 18 – 65 year bracket (i.e. working 
age) and although there are other employability services available to them they have 
chosen to engage with Sova. 

The graph below, taken from the analysis of Anonymised data produced by Cardiff 
Council for the financial year 2015/16, highlights that the majority of service users 
accessing the project fall within the 18-65 years age bracket. 

The decommissioning of this service would result in these service users not receiving a 
service. 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
As the project will be ceasing in March 2017 Sova will be ceasing to take new referrals 
from January 2017 and will be focussing their resources in 2 ways. 

Participants who are furthest away from the employment market and unlikely to 
achieve outcomes before the closure of the project will be identified and referred to 
other services, ensuring there is a full handover of the support they have received and 
their goals and aspirations to the receiving project. 

Participants who are closer to achieving outcomes will receive increased support as the 
caseload diminishes in an endeavour to achieve employment goals. During March 2017 
those that have not will receive the support to transition to alternative support. 

Page 125



Appendix D
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 4 of 11

3.2 Disability
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on disabled people? 

Yes No N/A
Hearing Impairment x
Physical Impairment x
Visual Impairment x
Learning Disability x
Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition x
Mental Health x
Substance Misuse x
Other x
 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.

No significant differential impact, using information gathered from the anonymised 
data report the service has worked primarily with those who do not class themselves 
as disabled and as such is not expected to have a differential impact on disability.

Response Number %
Disabled Child 17 5.7
Disabled Adult 15 5
Not Disabled 267 89.3
Total Service users 299

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.3 Gender Reassignment
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on transgender people? 

Yes No N/A
Transgender People
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have 
undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex 
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex)

x

Page 126



Appendix D
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 5 of 11

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
The proposal is not expected to have a differential impact on gender reassignment. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.4. Marriage and Civil Partnership
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil partnership?

Yes No N/A
Marriage x
Civil Partnership x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
The proposal is not expected to have a differential impact on marriage and civil 
partnership as it is open to all parents across the Cardiff area. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.5 Pregnancy and Maternity
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and maternity? 

Yes No N/A
Pregnancy x
Maternity x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
The proposal is not expected to have a differential impact on pregnancy or maternity. 
However, due to the nature of the service Sova have engaged a high percentage of 
parents (female participants) who have been seeking to return to work after a 
significant period of unemployment due to having children and therefore they may be 

Page 127



Appendix D
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 6 of 11

disproportionately impacted by the closure of this project. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Sova have agreed to identify appropriate referral routes dependent on the needs of all 
participants. 

3.6 Race
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups? 

Yes No N/A
White x
Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups x
Asian / Asian British x
Black / African / Caribbean / Black British x
Other Ethnic Groups x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
Although not specifically targeting BAME communities Sova have a disproportionate 
number of participants from a variety of different cultural backgrounds. 

This may be due to the manner in which the Sova service is delivered or that there are 
no specifically targeted projects for this client group. This could potentially lead to 
disengagement and further social exclusion. 
 
The table below outlines the breakdown of service users by ethnicity who used the 
service in 2015/16. 

Ethnicity Total Ethnicity Total
White British/Northern Irish1 167 Asian British Indian 5
Black British African 33 Asian British Pakistani 4
Asian British Other 10 Mixed Other 3
Other White 10 Black British Caribbean 2
Mixed  White and Black Caribbean 8 Black British Other 2
Other 6 Mixed White and Black 

African
1

Asian British Bangladeshi 5 Total 257

1 Note that this sub-category includes White British, White Welsh, White Scottish, White English, and 
White Northern Irish.

Page 128



Appendix D
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 7 of 11

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Sova are due to receive business plan approval from WEFO to access ESF funds and 
launch a project specifically for BAME and migrant individuals in the area.

Sova have already commenced this activity in the 17 local authorities that make up the 
West Wales & Valleys region and hope to be commencing the East Wales aspect of the 
project in early 2017. 

Sova will be procuring subcontractors to provide activities in Cardiff (The Vale, 
Newport & Monmouthshire) and will be in a position to publicise this new service to 
BAME & migrant participants before the end of the CFF activity even if a direct referral 
route cannot be opened at the time. We will also (in agreement with participants) pass 
contact details onto the subcontractor for them to offer support directly. 

3.7 Religion, Belief or Non-Belief 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs? 

Yes No N/A
Buddhist x
Christian x
Hindu x
Humanist x
Jewish x
Muslim x
Sikh x
Other x
x
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
The proposal is not expected to have a differential impact on religion, belief or non-
belief.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.8 Sex
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on men and/or women? 

Yes No N/A
Men x
Women x

Page 129



Appendix D
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 8 of 11

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
It is possible that the proposal will have some differential impact on gender. Although 
the service is available to males and females, female referrals (234) significantly 
outnumbered male referrals (53) during the last year. As noted above, the project has 
provided support for women wanting to return to work after having a family. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?
Sova will identify appropriate referral routes dependent on the needs of all 
participants. 

3.9 Sexual Orientation
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups? 

Yes No N/A
Bisexual x
Gay Men x
Gay Women/Lesbians x
Heterosexual/Straight x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
The proposal is not expected to have a differential impact on sexual orientation

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.10  Welsh Language
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on Welsh Language? 

Yes No N/A
Welsh Language x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
The proposal is not expected to have a differential impact on Welsh Language. 

Page 130



Appendix D
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 9 of 11

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

4. Consultation and Engagement
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities 
Groups?

Initial consultation has been undertaken with the provider, SOVA. 

Stakeholder Engagement has been carried out across Cardiff highlighting the changes 
outlined in the initial indications from Welsh Government inclusive of the reduction of 
funding for Employment based packages. 

This information has been shared with Families First Providers, Communities First 
areas, members of the C3SC network and Elected Members. 

5. Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above]

Groups Actions
Age As the project will be ceasing in March 2017 Sova will be 

ceasing to take new referrals from January 2017 and will be 
focussing their resources in 2 ways. 

Participants who are furthest away from the employment 
market and unlikely to achieve outcomes before the closure 
of the project will be identified and referred to other 
services, ensuring there is a full handover of the support 
they have received and their goals and aspirations to the 
receiving project. 

Participants who are closer to achieving outcomes will 
receive increased support as the caseload diminishes in an 
endeavour to achieve employment goals. During March 
2017 those that have not will receive the support to 
transition to alternative support

Disability
Gender Reassignment
Marriage & Civil 
Partnership
Pregnancy & Maternity Sova will identify appropriate referral routes dependent on 

the needs of all participants. 

Page 131



Appendix D
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 10 of 11

Race Sova are due to receive business plan approval from WEFO 
to access ESF funds and launch a project specifically for 
BAME and migrant individuals in the area.
Sova have already commences this activity in the 17 local 
authorities that make up the West Wales & Valleys region 
and hope to be commencing the East Wales aspect of the 
project in early 2017. 

Sova will be procuring subcontractors to provide activities in 
Cardiff (The Vale, Newport & Monmouthshire) and will be in 
a position to publicise this new service to BAME & migrant 
participants before the end of the CFF activity even if a 
direct referral route cannot be opened at the time. We will 
also (in agreement with participants) pass contact details 
onto the subcontractor for them to offer support directly. 

Religion/Belief
Sex Sova will identify appropriate referral routes dependent on 

the needs of all participants. 
Sexual Orientation
Welsh Language
Generic Over-Arching 
[applicable to all the 
above groups]

Sova have agreed to identify appropriate referral routes 
dependent on the needs of all participants

6. Further Action
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality 
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your 
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis. 

7.       Authorisation
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each 
Service Area.

Completed By : Dr Ceri George Date:10-11-16
Designation: Improvement Project Manager – Prevention and Partnerships
Approved By: Angela Bourge
Designation: Operational Manager – Strategy, Performance & Resources
Service Area: Social Services

7.1 On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the Form is posted on 
your Directorate’s Page on CIS - Council Wide/Management Systems/Equality 

Page 132



Appendix D
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 11 of 11

Impact Assessments - so that there is a record of all assessments undertaken 
in the Council.  

For further information or assistance, please contact the Citizen Focus Team on 029 
2087 3059 or email citizenfocus@cardiff.gov.uk                        

Page 133

mailto:citizenfocus@cardiff.gov.uk


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix E
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 1 of 11

Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function Title: Families First
New/Existing/Updating/Amending:

Who is responsible for developing and implementing the 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function?
Name: Angela Bourge Job Title: Operational Manager – Strategy, 

Performance & Resources
Service Team: Families First Service Area: Social Services
Assessment Date: 15/11/16

1. What are the objectives of the Policy/Strategy/Project/ Procedure/ 
             Service/Function?            

The current Families First programme is due to finish in March 2017. This EIA relates to how 
Cardiff will respond to a proposed new programme into 2017/18 in light of early indications 
from Welsh Government on how the future programme will be shaped. 

Welsh Government have highlighted a transitionary period is likely until at least October whilst 
local authorities prepare for commissioning in line with the new guidance. 

Whilst the decision paper released by Welsh Government in August 2016 advises that there 
will be a future Families First programme, the early indications outlined within the Cabinet 
Secretary’s decision paper highlights that certain elements of the programme will no longer be 
supported  with funding by the Families First Grant, namely:

 Debt/benefit advice/income maximisation/financial literacy
 Worklessness/employability/training
 Some health services, e.g. sexual health, substance misuse.
 Childcare services (except crèche facilities)

Due to this, the proposal is to cease funding for those projects and/or programmes that fall 
under the categories that Welsh Government have indicated will not be supported in the 
future when current contracts come to an end in March 2017. 

The projects and/or programmes that are intended not to continue funding beyond March 
2017 are:

 the Sex and Relationships Education Service and Assist which fall under Healthy 
Lifestyles, and 

 the Sustainable Employment package, 

We anticipate that the removal of funding for these packages has the potential to result in 
negative impact for some protected characteristic groups and as a result, separate Equalities 
Impact Assessments have been completed in relation to these individual services. 

This Assessment relates to the future proposed remaining Families First programme. 

Page 135



Appendix E
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 2 of 11

2. Please provide background information on the           
Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function and any research done 
[e.g. service users data against demographic statistics, similar EIAs done 
etc.]

Families First is a Welsh Government funded programme, which aims to provide more effective early 
intervention support for families as part of the Anti-Poverty Agenda. The programme commenced in 2012. 

In Cardiff there are 6 commissioned packages of services, namely;
 Early Years – led by Cardiff and Vale University Health Board
 Child and Youth Engagement – led by City of Cardiff Education Services
 Sustainable Employment – led by Sova
 Healthy Lifestyles – led by Cardiff and Vale University Health Board
 Emotional and Mental Health and Wellbeing – led by Barnardo’s
 Disability Focus – led by Action for Children

These services are underpinned by another service, the Team Around the Family, which is delivered by Tros 
Gynnal Plant.

The below table is taken from the Anonymised Data report for 2015/16. The anonymised data report contains 
data on fewer service users than the entirety of those worked with across Families First due to data quality and 
collection. Whilst it does not relate to all service users it highlights the split of service users across each of the 
themed service packages.

Name of Package No. of service 
user records

% of service 
user records

% of programme's 
service funding 

allocated to 
package 

1. Child & Youth Engagement 4,480 44.0 28.8
2. Early Years 1,631 16.0 15.4
3. Team around the Family 1,505 14.8 9.4
3. Emotional Health and Wellbeing 1,315 12.9 22.2
4. Disability Focus 780 7.7 7.7
6. Sustainable Employment 303 3.9 5.7
7. Healthy Lifestyles 170 1.7 10.8
Total 10,184

The proposal is to sustain the remainder of the programme for an interim 12 months whilst new commissioning 
arrangements are put in place. This will serve the purpose of providing continuity of service for families during 
this transitionary period, with minimum disruption on families and interdependent services such as Education 
and Social Services, amongst others. 

Referrers into the Families First programme are outlined below. Sustaining the programme in its current format 
for an additional 12 months will ensure continuity of service for these referrers. 

Page 136



Appendix E
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 3 of 11

Source of referral Total Source of referral Total Source of referral Tot
al

Schools and other 
education services 3744

Other primary care 
services 158 Job Centre Plus 35

Self-referral 2883 Housing services 89 STAR Communities First 23

Third Sector 875 GPs 88
TAF (Team Around the 
Family) 18

Health visitors 734
Child and adolescent 
mental health services 85 Communities 4 Work 12

Children’s social services 628 JCP Alexandra House 66 Gingerbread 11
other 293 Police 63 ACE Communities First 10
Other employment 
support services 183 JCP Charles Street 57 Total

100
55

During 2015/16 the Families First programme provided services to 22,681 individuals, with 97% of participants 
reporting that they were satisfied with their service and 87.6% completing the intervention for which they were 
referred. 

Unlike other Welsh Government funded programmes, Families First covers the whole of Cardiff, the below table 
highlights where participants come from, illustrating that the programme provides benefits across the city. 

Neighbourhood 
Partnership Area

2014-15
(Base = 9,585)

2015-16
(Base = 9,834)

PP Difference
Base Diff = 249

City and Cardiff South 12.9% 12.6% -0.3
Cardiff South West 28.6% 25.9% -2.7
Cardiff West 12.5% 10.8% 1.7
Cardiff North 12.5% 14.4% 1.9
Cardiff East 17.8% 18.8% 1.0
Cardiff South East 15.7% 17.5% 1.8

3 Assess Impact on the Protected Characteristics

3.1 Age
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative/] on younger/older people? 

                                                                                                       Yes No N/A
Up to 18 years Positive
18 - 65 years Positive
Over 65 years 

Page 137



Appendix E
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 4 of 11

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any. 
The extension of the current project, with those exceptions outlined in other Equality 
Impact Assessments, will have a positive impact on those that have used the programme, 
ensuring continuity of service whilst new arrangements are put into place. 

The below table highlights the main age ranges covered by the Families First programme.

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.2 Disability
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on disabled people? 

Yes No N/A
Hearing Impairment Positive
Physical Impairment Positive
Visual Impairment Positive
Learning Disability Positive
Long-Standing Illness or Health Condition Positive
Mental Health Positive
Substance Misuse n/a

Page 138



Appendix E
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 5 of 11

Other 
 
Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
Welsh Government have committed to continuation of the ring-fenced funding for 
services and support for families with a disabled child. As such the proposal to sustain 
funding for an additional 12 months will result in those families and individuals 
receiving support, sustaining this at the same level. 

Whilst data is not held on individual disabilities, the table below, which is taken from 
the Anonymised data report, highlights the numbers of those affected by a disability 
who have accessed Families First services. This may not include all service user 
numbers, for example those who only contact looking for advice. 

Response Number %
Disabled Child 929 9.6
Disabled Adult 293 3.0
Not Disabled 8,539 87.8
Total Service users 9,729

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.3 Gender Reassignment
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on transgender people? 

Yes No N/A
Transgender People
(People who are proposing to undergo, are undergoing, or have 
undergone a process [or part of a process] to reassign their sex 
by changing physiological or other attributes of sex)

x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.

There is not an expected differential impact on transgender people. 

Page 139



Appendix E
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 6 of 11

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.4. Marriage and Civil Partnership
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on marriage and civil partnership?

Yes No N/A
Marriage x
Civil Partnership x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.

There is not seen to be a differential impact in relation to marriage and civil 
partnership as services across the programme are open to both married people and 
those in civil partnerships, or single people. 

Sustaining the current programme will ensure continuity for those that do access the 
programme. Whilst there is no evidence collated via anonymised data, many of the 
services on offer would be additional support for parents, whether they are single, 
living together, married or in civil partnerships. As such, sustaining service provision 
will ensure support is continued. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.5 Pregnancy and Maternity
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on pregnancy and maternity? 

Yes No N/A
Pregnancy Positive
Maternity Positive

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
The programme contains services providing targeted support for pregnant women and 
women who have just given birth. Sustaining service will have a positive impact on 

Page 140



Appendix E
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 7 of 11

those who may suffer a loss in service if funding was lost. 
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.6 Race
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project//Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups? 

Yes No N/A
White X
Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Groups Positive
Asian / Asian British Positive
Black / African / Caribbean / Black British Positive
Other Ethnic Groups Positive

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.

The majority of services within the Families First programme are available to all 
residents of Cardiff. The table below highlights the take up of service broken down by 
ethnicity. 

Ethnicity Total Ethnicity Total
White British1 6,639 Arab 140
White Other 440 Black British Other 101
Other2 372 Mixed White and Black African 90
Asian British Other 284 Asian British Bangladeshi 83
Black British African 270 Black British Caribbean 74
Mixed Other 265 Asian British Chinese 65
Asian British Indian 158 Mixed Multiple ethnic Groups 24
Asian British Pakistani 152 Gypsy/Romany/Traveller 19
Mixed White and Black 
Caribbean

144 Total 9,320

However, there are also a small number of projects that provide additional targeted 
support for families from other ethnic groups, including:

 Educational Support for EU Roma pupils 

1 Note that this sub-category includes White British, White Welsh, White Scottish, White English, and 
White Northern Irish.
2 Note that the ‘Other’ sub-category comprising all ethnic groups classed as other and 14 ethnicities 
that reported 10 or fewer service users (below 0.1%)

Page 141



Appendix E
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 8 of 11

 Learning Together project, which works with parents who speak other home 
languages to support their children in school

 An asylum seeker and refugee project

The continuation of these services will have a positive differential impact on the 
families concerned.
What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.7 Religion, Belief or Non-Belief 
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on people with different religions, beliefs or non-beliefs? 

Yes No N/A
Buddhist X
Christian X
Hindu X
Humanist X
Jewish X
Muslim X
Sikh X
Other X

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.

There is not expected to be a differential impact in the basis of religion, belief or non-
belief. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.8 Sex
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on men and/or women? 

Yes No N/A
Men x
Women positive

Page 142



Appendix E
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 9 of 11

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.

Whilst the programme is open to males and females, the anonymised data provides 
evidence that more females than males access services across the whole programme 
and significantly outnumber males in the 25+ age group: females in this age group 
make up 16.3% of total service users while males make up only 4.6% (see graph 
provided in 3.1 above). A small number of services within Families First are primarily 
targeted at females, where this is linked to pregnancy and maternity. For this reason, 
sustaining provision will have a positive differential impact in ensuring continuity of 
service provision. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.9 Sexual Orientation
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on the following groups? 

Yes No N/A
Bisexual x
Gay Men x
Gay Women/Lesbians x
Heterosexual/Straight x

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
There is not expected to be a differential impact in relation to sexual orientation. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

3.10  Welsh Language
Will this Policy/Strategy/Project/Procedure/Service/Function have a differential 
impact [positive/negative] on Welsh Language? 

Yes No N/A
Welsh Language Positive 

Page 143



Appendix E
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 10 of 11

Please give details/consequences of the differential impact, and provide supporting 
evidence, if any.
Two projects within Families First are delivered through the medium of Welsh, and are 
specifically designed to promote use of Welsh language in families. For this reason, 
maintaining the services is likely to have a positive differential impact.

In relation to the wider programme, in 2015/16 only 2% of participants requested 
services to be delivered in Welsh. However, providers are required to ensure that they 
ask families what language they wish to receive the service in and to respond to their 
language needs. 

What action(s) can you take to address the differential impact?

4. Consultation and Engagement
What arrangements have been made to consult/engage with the various Equalities 
Groups?

Consultation has been held with the Lead Providers via initial stakeholder engagement 
sessions and dialogue regarding the future directions of Families First. They have been 
informed about plans for extending contracts for the majority of services. They have 
also been offered the opportunity to provide information about potential impact on 
service users of the plans.

Wider Stakeholder Engagement sessions have also been held advising of the change in 
focus for the Families First programme. These have explored what has worked and 
what has not worked so well with the aim of informing the next round of 
commissioning.

Plans will be developed for the next round of commissioning during the transition year. 
The proposals for changes made in services for the next programme will be the subject 
of further stakeholder engagement and further EIAs.

5. Summary of Actions [Listed in the Sections above]

Groups Actions
Age
Disability

Page 144



Appendix E
CARDIFF COUNCIL

Equality Impact Assessment 
Corporate Assessment Template

Page 11 of 11

Gender Reassignment
Marriage & Civil 
Partnership
Pregnancy & Maternity
Race
Religion/Belief
Sex
Sexual Orientation
Welsh Language
Generic Over-Arching 
[applicable to all the 
above groups]

Whilst this Equalities Impact Assessment relates to the 
whole programme, there are elements which have been 
recommended not to continue beyond March 2017. For 
these elements separate EIAs have been completed and 
mitigating actions have been identified. 

6. Further Action
Any recommendations for action that you plan to take as a result of this Equality 
Impact Assessment (listed in Summary of Actions) should be included as part of your 
Service Area’s Business Plan to be monitored on a regular basis. 

7.       Authorisation
The Template should be completed by the Lead Officer of the identified 
Policy/Strategy/Project/Function and approved by the appropriate Manager in each 
Service Area.

Completed By : Dr Ceri George Date: 15-11-16
Designation: Improvement Project Manager – Prevention and 
Partnerships
Approved By: Angela Bourge
Designation: Operational Manager – Strategy, Performance & 
Resources
Service Area: Social Services

7.1 On completion of this Assessment, please ensure that the Form is posted on 
your Directorate’s Page on CIS - Council Wide/Management Systems/Equality 
Impact Assessments - so that there is a record of all assessments undertaken 
in the Council.  

For further information or assistance, please contact the Citizen Focus Team on 029 
2087 3059 or email citizenfocus@cardiff.gov.uk

                        

Page 145

mailto:citizenfocus@cardiff.gov.uk


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Date 8 December 2016 

My Ref SS/CYP/MJH 
Your Ref: 

Councillor Sue Lent 
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Families, Children and Early Years 
County Hall 
Atlantic Wharf 
CARDIFF 
CF10 4UW 

Dear Sue 

On behalf of the Committee, I would like to thank you, Tony Young, Director of Social 

Services, Angela Bourge, Operation Manager Resources and Ceri George, Improvement 

Project Manager for attending the Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee on 6 

December to present the Draft Cabinet Report on Families First During the way forward 

section of the meeting the Members considered the information in the report, together with 

answers to their questions and agreed to provide you with the following comments and 

concerns. 

The Committee was pleased with the draft Cabinet report and considered it to be a 

positive response to the concerns raised around the transitions arrangements by 

Committee in October. The Members reviewed the plans for the interim arrangements for 

the extension of some contract terms, de-commissioning of some of the services, the 

alternative / pilot arrangements during the transition period and the commissioning the 

next families first programme. 

The Committee noted that the Directorate has started to prepare for new commissioning 

during the transition period, including consulting with all relevant stakeholders. Once the 

Directorate is in a position to propose a model for the longer term arrangements and 

having taken into account the final WG guidance a further report will be submitted to 

Cabinet for approval. The Committee recommends that all appropriate providers must be 

considered as part of the tendering process i.e.: both large and small organisations, and 

that the draft Cabinet report should be brought back to this Committee prior to its 

consideration by Cabinet. The Committee also noted the contents of the letter sent by 

Sova Wales, which was circulated at the start of the item. 

Finally, the Committee wished to thank the Officers for their work in developing and 

drafting the report, and subsequently commended the draft report to Cabinet. 

Appendix F

Page 147



Yours sincerely 

COUNTY COUNCILLOR RICHARD COOK 
Chairperson – Children and Young People Scrutiny Committee 

CC: Tony Young, Director of Children’s Services 
Melanie Jackson - Personal Assistant to Deputy Leader 
Angela Bourge, Operational Manager Resources 
Ceri George, Improvement Project Manager 

Page 148



Page 1 of 6

CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD
CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL 

CABINET MEETING: 15 DECEMBER 2016

ACCOMMODATION REQUIREMENTS AT CANTONIAN HIGH 
SCHOOL

REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF EDUCATION AND LIFELONG 
LEARNING

AGENDA ITEM: 6  

 
PORTFOLIO: EDUCATION (COUNCILLOR SARAH MERRY)

Appendix A to this report is exempt from publication as it contains 
information of the kind described in paragraph 16 of parts 4 of Schedule 

12A to the Local Government Act 1972

Reason for this Report

1. To seek Cabinet approval for funding to address the medium term 
accommodation requirements at the Cantonian High school site. 

Background

2. In the cabinet report titled Realignment of the 21st Century Schools 
Programme, of the 19Th March 2015, it was noted that “a significant 
number of educational properties, including both primary and secondary 
schools were in a poor state of repair”. Whilst improvements have been 
delivered through the implementation of the 21st Century School Capital 
programme, the Education estate still has some significant condition, 
suitability and maintenance issues to resolve.  

3. Recent works at Cantonian High School led to the discovery that Block A 
of the school contained non-compliant electrical wiring. The immediate 
and rapid response to assure safety was to close the whole block, whilst 
a options appraisal was undertaken. This block contained over 32 
classrooms and included a significant number of specialist spaces 
including IT, Textiles, Food Technology, 5 Science Laboratories, the 
school canteen and dining facilities and the main gymnasium.

4. Pupils have been subsequently accommodated in emergency 
accommodation until a medium term solution is identified. This temporary 
accommodation of 23 “Titan” demountable units, have allowed the school 
to function short term but are not a suitable medium term solution. The 
above units were hired directly on an interim basis only. However, 

Page 149

Agenda Item 6



Page 2 of 6

because of their size and shape they are not suitable classrooms and 
cannot meet the requirements of the curriculum on an ongoing basis.

 
5. A number of options have been considered with regard to providing a 

medium term accommodation solution for Cantonian High, these are as 
follows:-

 OPTION 1 - Do Nothing – Not an option as the current temporary 
accommodation is undersized and does not fulfil the full curriculum 
needs of the school.

 OPTION 2 - Refurbish Block A – Not considered a viable option 
as to bring the non-compliant Block A back into use would cost in 
excess of £5 million and would require temporary accommodation 
for up to 18 months whilst this was being undertaken. This work 
would include removal of all asbestos, installation of new ceilings, 
electrical re-wiring, windows and a complete refurbishment of the 
block. This work would be extensive and need comprehensive 
design, then procurement, and would require the temporary 
solution to remain in place whilst this process was undertaken, in 
the knowledge that this temporary accommodation does not meet 
the full curriculum needs.

 OPTION 3 - FastTrack a new school building - Not considered a 
viable option currently as there is no definitive timescale for the 
approval of the Welsh Government Band B 21st Century School 
Programme Funding, with the earliest potential approval being the 
autumn of 2017 and monies not being available until April 2019.  If 
prioritised, a new school building would not be in place until Sept 
2021 and a medium term solution will be required in the interim 
period. 

 OPTION 4 – Purchase a Modular Accommodation Block – Not 
considered a viable option as a 30 classroom block, with specialist 
curriculum provision, would require significant capital investment 
and cost in excess of £10 million to procure.  In addition, the 
design, procurement and installation could take up to 18 months to 
achieve. The school would need to remain in their existing 
emergency accommodation until such time as the new 
accommodation was ready.  

 OPTION 5 - Lease a Modular Accommodation Block – 
Considered as the most viable and cost effective option to deliver 
a curriculum-compliant accommodation solution for the medium 
term.  This could be delivered and installed within 16 weeks of a 
decision date. The capital and revenue costs associated with this 
proposal are outlined in paragraphs 10 to 12 below.

6. On the basis of the options appraisal outlined above it is considered that 
Option 5, leasing a modular accommodation block, would be the most 
cost effective solution in the medium term.

Page 150



Page 3 of 6

7. In addition, the emerging situation at Cantonian High has highlighted the 
need for enhanced rigour between the Local Authority and Schools and 
clarity around the delegated responsibility between Governing Bodies 
and the Local Authority as the maintaining authority.

Issues – Lease of a Modular Accommodation Block

8. There is currently no collaborative framework available for temporary 
accommodation hire.  However, from discussions with market providers, 
confirmation has been received of the availability of a 30 block classroom 
provision of demountables, known as a “Superblock”. This has a number 
of ancillary offices and breakout spaces that are of the required size and 
has large scale classrooms able to accommodate specialist provision, 
science, textiles and food technology. The “Superblock” units are 
available now and they could be installation at the beginning of January 
2017. This would not however provide a school kitchen or dining facilities 
and would need to be procured via the framework specialist school 
catering provider.

9. There are only a small number of providers of demountable 
accommodation in the UK and it is unlikely that any other provider would 
have the bespoke unit that meets the size and space requirements of 
Cantonian High School in the short term. To run a tender exercise for this 
next step would also mean that units would not be able to be installed for 
some time. This would lead to the Authority incurring additional costs 
through hire of existing temporary units, as well as prolonging the use of 
accommodation that does not fulfil educational or curriculum needs and 
that could compromise the wellbeing of staff and pupils at the school.  It 
is proposed, therefore, that a direct award of works contract be provided 
to the market provider, Portakabin, for the installation and supply of the 
“Superblock” for a period of three years.  The approval of such contracts 
would be dealt with in a separate report using Director’s delegated 
powers.

10. The capital costs associated with the scheme are estimated to be £1 
million and would be incurred during the 2016/17 financial year. This 
would be for the installation of the “Superblock” including groundworks, 
ICT and connecting the required utilities.  In addition, there are 
refurbishment works being undertaken to bring the gymnasium back into 
use and to reconfigure the existing Block B of the school to 
accommodate the school’s ICT suite. These are currently both situated in 
the closed Block A. 

11. There is currently no allocation within the Council’s agreed capital 
programme for this scheme. However, due to the urgent nature of the 
situation, a business case is being submitted to Welsh Government to 
utilise an identified £1m underspend within the Band A 21st Century 
School Programme to fund the capital requirements of the modular 
accommodation installation at Cantonian High. There would be no 
detriment  to the overall delivery of the approved Band A school priorities, 

Page 151



Page 4 of 6

however it is reliant on agreement from both a Welsh Government 
Capital Panel and the Minister before the reallocation of monies could 
take place.  Should this business case not be approved by Welsh 
Government then a further report which outlines alternative methods of 
funding the capital installation will be brought forward in the New Year. 

12. In light of the urgency of the situation, it is proposed that the installation 
of the preferred solution would take effect from 1st January 2017. The 
block would be complete for occupation by the end of March 2017, 
thereby the agreement would commence on 1st April 2017. The total 
revenue costs per year for the hire of the modular accommodation are 
anticipated to be £623,333 per year, £481,000 of which relates to the 
modular “Superblock” of classrooms and £142,333 to the catering unit, 
which contains a kitchen and dining facility. The total revenue cost of the 
preferred solution is, therefore, £1.870 million over three financial years, 
with the intention being to either fund the total cost of the catering unit 
from the Catering Reserve or to refurbishing the existing building to 
provide a catering unit. This is currently being considered and will be 
confirmed in the separate report mentioned in paragraph 8.

13. In addition to the costs of the modular block and catering unit, costs are 
currently being incurred in relation to the interim solution that is currently 
in place on the school site. From the date of installation of these 
temporary units to the end of March 2017, it is anticipated that the cost 
will be in the region of £150,000. 

14. To summarise, given that this school is in poor condition overall, the 
temporary accommodation is only viable in the short term, it is prudent to 
put in place a compliant and more affordable option now. The provision 
of a “Superblock” of modular accommodation, demountable canteen and 
dining facility, in addition to the consequential improvements to the 
existing block B, would provide the most appropriate way to resolve the 
medium term accommodation issues at Cantonian High.  

Local Member consultation
   
15. Local Members were notified of the proposals on 13 December 2016 

prior to publication of the report. 

Reason for Recommendations

16. To resolve the temporary accommodation situation at Cantonian High 
School for the medium term. 

Financial Implications

17. This report seeks approval to procure and install a three-year temporary 
accommodation solution at Cantonian High School, ensuring that the 
school can continue to operate following the permanent closure of one of 
the main teaching blocks. This solution represents a significant financial 
investment, both in terms of initial capital costs and ongoing revenue 

Page 152



Page 5 of 6

costs. The urgent nature of the situation and the lack of availability of 
suitable solutions within the market, identified within the report, is a 
significant factor. As a result, procurement advice has been to undertake 
direct award of contracts, ensuring the implementation of the solution is 
not delayed.

18. The capital costs associated with both elements of this scheme are 
estimated to be £1 million and would be incurred during the 2016/17 
financial year. There is currently no allocation within the Council’s 
approved capital programme for this scheme. However, an underspend 
of £1 million has emerged within the overall envelope for the Council’s 
21st Century Schools Band A Programme. On this basis, a business case 
has been submitted to Welsh Government requesting a reallocation of 
funds from existing schemes to a new scheme for Cantonian High 
School. This funding, which would be on a 50%/50% basis, would be 
contained within the overall financial envelope for Band A and, therefore, 
would not result in the need for the Council to identify additional capital 
funding. Should the bid not be successful, alternative funding options will 
need to be considered and a new recommendation brought to Cabinet for 
future consideration.

19. This report assumes installation of the preferred solution will have been 
completed as at 31st March 2017. As such, the three-year revenue costs 
will be incurred until 31st March 2020 and cover three financial years. 
Total revenue costs are anticipated to be a maximum of £623,333 per 
year, of which £481,000 relates to the modular block of classrooms and 
£142,333 to the catering unit. The total revenue cost of the preferred 
solution is, therefore, £1.870 million. 

20. Of the £1.870 million identified in the preceding paragraph, £427,000 
relates to the catering unit. Due to the connection with the Catering 
Service, this cost will be funded from the Catering Reserve, which, 
subject to the reprioritisation of planned resource utilisation, has a 
sufficient balance to fund the entire cost. 

21. The residual revenue cost, relating to the modular “Superblock” of 
classrooms therefore totals £1.443 million. In line with the budget 
framework set out as part of the approved 2016/17 Budget Report, 
Cabinet, subject to the Section 151 Officer raising no objection, have 
authority to commit expenditure and use of reserves in future years up to 
a total of £1.5 million. This report, therefore, requests Cabinet approval to 
commit £1.443 million in future revenue costs. A financial pressure bid 
will be made, as part of the Council’s 2017/18 budget process, to provide 
for the annual base funding required to meet the cost of the preferred 
solution. Should this not be approved, alternative means of funding will 
need to be identified and considered as part of the 2017/18 budget 
process. 

Page 153



Page 6 of 6

22. In addition, revenue costs are currently being incurred in 2016/17, in 
relation to the interim solution that will be in place until the preferred 
solution is implemented. The revenue costs in 2016/17 are anticipated to 
total approximately £150,000. The intention is for this cost to be 
absorbed within the in-year budget monitoring position for the Education 
directorate. This cost will be met through managed underspends and, 
where required or appropriate, supplemented by the use of earmarked 
reserves. 

Legal Implications 

21. Please see exempt appendix A.

HR Implications

22. There are no direct HR implications arising from this recommendations 
contained in this report.  However, it is important that trade unions and 
staff at the school are kept in informed of the proposed accommodation 
improvements.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Cabinet is recommended to:

1. Note that that an application for the £1 million capital funding, from within 
the current 21st Century School Programme, has been submitted and is 
subject to Welsh Government approval.

2. Agree to commit expenditure of £1.443 million over the next three years 
for the supply of modular accommodation at Cantonian High School, 
subject to confirmation of the approval of capital funding by Welsh 
Government and the Section 151 Officer raising no objection, 

3. Agree that, should the application not be approved by Welsh 
Government, a report outlining an alternative source of capital funding for 
the Cantonian High School scheme will need to be considered by 
Cabinet in the New Year.

NICK BATCHELAR
Director 
13 December 2016

The following appendix is attached: 

 Appendix A – exempt legal implications

The following background papers have been taken into account

 Realignment of the 21st Century Schools Programme, Cabinet Report of 
the Director of Education & Lifelong Learning, 19Th March 2015.

Page 154



Document is Restricted

Page 155

Yn rhinwedd paragraff (au) 16 Rhan (nau) 4 a 5 o Atodlen 12A
 o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972.



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 6

CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD
CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL 

CABINET MEETING: 15 DECEMBER 2016

TITLE EASTERN BAY LINK

REPORT OF DIRECTOR CITY OPERATIONS
AGENDA ITEM: 7   

 
PORTFOLIO: TRANSPORT, PLANNING AND SUSTAINABILITY 
(COUNCILLOR RAMESH PATEL)

Reason for this Report

1. To seek authority to engage with the Welsh Government to progress a 
joint study of options for the next phases of the Eastern Bay Link Road 
between the Butetown Tunnels and A48 Eastern Avenue funded by the 
Welsh Government.

Background

2. South Glamorgan County Council identified a need for the Peripheral 
Distributor Road (PDR) in 1974.  The PDR has subsequently been built in 
stages and the latest sections that were completed include the Pentwyn 
Link which, with the new motorway interchange, was opened in June 
1994, and the Butetown Link Viaduct and Tunnels, which were opened in 
March 1995.  The EBL has been included in the adopted Local Plan 
(January 1996), adopted Structure Plan (April 1997), Local Transport Plan 
(August 2000) and deposit Unitary Development Plan (October 2003).

3. South Glamorgan County Council granted planning permission for the 
Eastern Bay Link in 1994 (28 July 1994).  The scheme was described as a 
dual 7.3m carriageway with a minimum design speed of 70kph between 
the end of the Butetown Link and the nose of the southern slip roads of the 
Lamby Way/Rover Way junction and 60kph from this point to Southern 
Way to match the alignment of the existing East Moors viaduct.  

4. The County Council granted planning permission for the revision of the 
1994 planning consent in 1997 (6 August 1997).  The development was 
permitted on condition that it was begun before the expiration of five years 
from the date of planning permission.  Application to renew the consent 
was submitted in 2002 (15 July 2002) and was subsequently withdrawn (4 
November 2003) because an appropriate environmental assessment had 
not been prepared due to insufficient funds available from the WG to 
provide the supporting information.  The planning consent has now lapsed.

Page 157

Agenda Item 7



Page 2 of 6

5. Cardiff County Council prepared a report, “Eastern Bay Link – Scheme 
Re-appraisal” dated 1 December 1998, and submitted it to the former 
Welsh Office for consideration in 1999.  The aim of the study was to re-
examine the scheme to determine whether savings in cost could be 
achieved to ease funding difficulties without compromising the objectives 
of the Eastern Bay Link.

6. Options were investigated in 2000 for scaling down the section of EBL 
from Butetown Link to Ocean Way Interchange at the request of the Welsh 
Government.  The results were published in the report, “Feasibility Report 
for Scaled Down Options Butetown Link to Ocean Way Interchange”, 
Volumes 1 to 3, Project No 147, Rev 1.4, October 2000 including a NATA 
Assessment (Volume 3) prepared by Babtie Group.  Various work on the 
scaled-down options continued in 2001 before the Welsh Government 
withdrew Transport Grant funding in 2002.

7. Options were also investigated in 2008 and 2009 as part of the Cardiff 
Transportation Partnership.

8. On 10th July 2013, the written Statement by the Minister for Business, 
Enterprise and Technology stated that the Eastern Bay Link is an 
important element in improving access to the Central Cardiff Enterprise 
Zone and enhancing connectivity within the city region.

The Current Scheme

9. Phase 1 of the Eastern Bay Link is being constructed between Butetown 
Tunnels and Ocean Way Roundabout at a cost of £57m.  It will be 1km in 
length.  The construction started in 2016 and will be completed in 2017.

10. The scheme will reduce the need for traffic to use Central Link, Adam 
Street and Windsor Road as they will have a direct link between Rover 
Way and Cardiff Bay.

11. The road being constructed by the Welsh Ministers is not a trunk road.  
There is no cost to Cardiff Council.  There is a legal agreement with Cardiff 
Council being the owner of the infrastructure once it is completed.  The 
s38/s278 Agreement is intended to cover all associated costs to the 
Council.

12. The Eastern Bay Link potentially offers the opportunity to provide 
complementary strategic highway capacity which may assist with 
enhancing any benefits of reallocating adopted highway space to Metro 
related and Active Travel improvements in the local network.

Key Issues

13. There are a number of important issues that remain to be considered in 
terms of the EBL project.

Page 158



Page 3 of 6

i.  LDP Support:

14. The Local Transport Plan (LTP) includes the Eastern Bay Link as a 
scheme to be funded by the Welsh Government (and potentially with 
developer contributions) between 2020 and 2030. The LDP does identify it 
as a project that the Council will strongly support.  Paragraph 5.239 of the 
Adopted Local Development Plan states:

“The Eastern Bay Link Road is a longstanding aspiration of the 
Council and is featured in the South East Wales Transport 
Alliance (Sewta) Regional Transport Plan (RTP). The road would 
complete a peripheral distributor road running between M4 
Junction 33 in North West Cardiff and Llanedeyrn Interchange in 
the East of the city. It would provide additional capacity for road-
based access to the Cardiff Central Enterprise Zone from the 
East and supporting development in that area.”

15. The scheme provides the opportunity to improve network resilience for the 
strategic highway network whilst facilitating local measures to improve the 
attractiveness of walking, cycling and travelling by public transport 
particularly in the City Centre and Cardiff Bay and surrounding corridors.

16. In addition, there exists significant potential linkage between the transport 
impacts that would result for this project and the larger regional projects of 
the City Region Metro and the M4 Relief road.

ii. Project Completion: 

17. Currently (see plan) the EBL remains uncompleted. Following the current 
phase of development a further 5km of development will be required to 
ensure connection to the eastern linkage to the A48.

18. A number of route alignment options will need to be evaluated including:

 Grade separated options that would provide a continuous route 
(uninterrupted by junctions);

 At-grade options that would minimise the structures required including 
junctions to provide local access; and finally

 Inland and foreshore alignment options.

19. These options will need to consider alternative alignments, costs, benefits, 
impact of the highway capacity improvements on sustainable modes, 
environment, economic and social impacts.  It is estimated that Phase 2 of 
the Eastern Bay Link would take approximately 3-5 years from funding 
becoming available to completion of construction. 

20. In addition, a range of other factors will need to be considered including:

 Flood risk;
 Development Opportunities;
 Opportunities for leisure and tourism; and 
 M4 Relief Road.

Page 159



Page 4 of 6

iii:       Flood Risk

21. The study of options for the Eastern Bay Link will need to consider the 
issues and options of the flood and coastal defence appraisal work 
associated with the Coastal Risk Management Programme to ensure there 
is a collective understanding and appropriate solutions are developed to 
achieve best value.  The City of Cardiff Council (CCC) has successfully 
submitted a flood and coastal defence project proposal for inclusion in the 
Welsh Government’s (WG) Coastal Risk Management Programme 
(CRMP). Grant approval for a Project Appraisal Report (PAR) has now 
been secured and JBA consultancy have been appointed to undertake the 
appraisal including an assessment of the existing defences, recession 
rates and potential inundation extents to identify the most appropriate 
management option.  The PAR will identify a preferred option, or series of 
options, across the coastal area at Rover Way, for the management of 
coastal erosion and coastal flooding. The full scope of the PAR includes 
the entire flood cell of the Rhymney estuary; stretching from the Dwr 
Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW) treatment works in the west to the extent of 
Lamby Way Tip in the east, including the area of extent of tidal influence 
up the estuary of the River Rhymney.

22. The appraisal is required to be completed by March 2017 and the WG 
programme indicates construction of the successful projects between 2018 
and 2021; however, given the risk associated with the potential failure of 
the defences in the area of Rover Way, it is likely that any WG approved 
project would take place early in the WG construction programme (2018). 
The private Dwr Cymru Welsh Water defences are currently the subject of 
a separate assessment commissioned by DCWW; however, the CCC PAR 
is looking to identify the potential for partnership working in the hope to 
align the two projects and realise multiple benefits.

v:       Development Opportunities

23. The scheme provides opportunity to help facilitate development and job 
growth in South-East Cardiff through improved access to land in Splott 
north and south of Rover Way and in Rumney and Trowbridge north and 
south of Lamby Way.

vi:       Opportunities for Leisure and Tourism

24. The Eastern Bay Link has the potential to enhance the city’s tourism and 
leisure offer providing improved access to new regeneration opportunities 
and improvements in accessibility to wetlands and the coast.

 vii:       M4 Relief Road

25. The Welsh Government is progressing proposals for a new section of the 
M4 motorway between Magor and Castleton. Preparations are being made 
for consideration of the proposals at a Public Inquiry to be held in 2017. 
This project will have clear strategic opportunities in terms of economic 
benefits for the national, regional and local economy. The letter from the 
Welsh Government dated 4th November 2016 makes the following 
statements:

Page 160



Page 5 of 6

“The M4 Project is considered to be a vital part of our vision to 
create a united, connected and sustainable integrated transport 
system for Wales, linking with measures to improve transport 
links, of all modes within Cardiff.  Design of the project is of 
course taking into account Metro proposals for the city region, as 
well as the expectation for Severn crossing tolls to reduce and 
ultimately be removed.”

“Enhancement of the capacity of the M4 east of Cardiff will of 
course complement the previously widened M4 north of Cardiff 
between J29 and 32, the current work to the Eastern Bay Link 
and any further development of that route.  The reclassification of 
the existing M4 around Newport and A48 (M) will improve 
connectivity between Cardiff and Newport for classes of vehicle 
not permitted on the motorway.”

26. However, the impacts of the proposed M4 on the highway network in 
Cardiff are yet to be fully understood. Nonetheless, the delivery of the EBL 
final phase will be essential to ensure that the impacts of the M4 project 
are effectively mitigated. Welsh Government has invited Council Officers 
to meet with the M4 Project Team to discuss the scope and potential 
impacts of the M4 project. This will also provide an opportunity to identify 
and agree the further technical work required to identify options for 
progressing the completion of the Eastern Bay Link and the funding that 
would be required from Welsh Government for this work.

27. In view of all these factors further work will need to take place, as well as 
engagement with Welsh Government to ensure that any proposals that 
come forward meet the wide range of requirements and maximise 
opportunities for Cardiff.

Local Member consultation 

28. Consultation would proceed as the study progresses.

Reason for Recommendation

29. To enable the Council to engage with the Welsh Government to progress 
a study of options for the next phases of the Eastern Bay Link Road 
between the Butetown Tunnels and A48 Eastern Avenue funded by the 
Welsh Government.

Financial Implications

30. As the Eastern Bay Link (EBL) feasibility study will be funded by the Welsh 
Government there will not be any direct financial implications for the 
Council. No Council funding, either Capital or Revenue, has been 
identified to undertake this study with any additional external professional 
advice required being funded by the Welsh Government. Input from 
Council Officer’s into the study will be funded from existing resources with 
any additional staffing requirements being funded by the Welsh 
Government.

Page 161



Page 6 of 6

31. This report focuses solely on the engagement with the Welsh Government 
to undertake the feasibility study. Any consideration of the options that 
arise from the EBL feasibility study will need to be the subject of a 
separate report which will fully consider the implications for the Council 
arising at that time.

Legal Implications 

32. The Welsh Ministers have powers to construct new highways pursuant to 
section 24 of the Highways Act 1980, which contains requirements for 
notice to be given to the local highway authority and for its representations 
to be considered. Section 4 of the Act provides for an agreement to be 
made between the Welsh Ministers and the local highway authority where 
the Ministers intend to carry out the Council’s functions in regard to 
constructing a highway which crosses or enters the route of a trunk road, 
with the Ministers contributing to consequent additional liabilities for the 
local highway authority.

HR Implications

33. None.  HR implications associated with the Eastern Bay Link will be 
investigated in the study.

RECOMMENDATIONS

Cabinet is recommended to delegate authority to the Director of City Operations 
to engage with the Welsh Government to progress a joint study of options for the 
next phases of the Eastern Bay Link Road between the Butetown Tunnels and 
A48 Eastern Avenue funded by the Welsh Government.

ANDREW GREGORY
Director
9 December 2016

The following appendix is attached: 

Appendix A:  Location Plan of the Eastern Bay Link

The following background papers have been taken into account:

1.  “Background Technical Paper No.6, Infrastructure Plan”, updated 
November 2014 (Local Development Plan Examination Document Library 
Reference ED009.11).

2. “Cardiff Infrastructure Plan”, September 2016 (Community Infrastructure 
Levy supporting documents, Reference CIL009).

Page 162



Appendix A:  Location Plan of the Eastern Bay Link

Page 163



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 6

CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD
CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL 

CABINET MEETING: 15 DECEMBER 2016

INTEGRATED NETWORK MAP

REPORT OF DIRECTOR CITY OPERATIONS
AGENDA ITEM: 8   

 
PORTFOLIO: TRANSPORT, PLANNING AND SUSTAINABILITY 
(COUNCILLOR RAMESH PATEL)

Reason for this Report

1. This report is to enable Cabinet Members to consider the draft Integrated 
Network Map (INM) and seek Cabinet approval to publish the draft INM 
and undertake a 12 week public consultation.

2. This report sets out the methodology used in developing the draft INM 
and the proposals for undertaking public consultation. 

3. The draft Integrated Network Map for Walking is provided at Appendix 1 
and the draft Integrated Network Map for Cycling is provided at Appendix 
2. 

Background

4. The Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013 places a requirement on local 
authorities in Wales to plan for provision for active travel routes and 
demonstrate continuous improvement in delivery for active travel. The 
mechanism through which local authorities are required to plan their 
active travel routes is the Existing Route Map (ERM) and Integrated 
Network Map (INM).

5. The Statutory Guidance for the Delivery of the Active Travel (Wales) Act 
2013 defines “active travel” as “walking and cycling as an alternative 
means to motorised transport for the purpose of making everyday 
journeys”. The definition of “walking” includes people who use 
wheelchairs and other mobility aids.
 

6. The Existing Route Map (ERM) sets out existing active travel routes 
which have been audited using the Audit Tool in the Welsh Government 
Active Travel Design Guide and have achieved an audit score of 70% or 
above. This use of the Audit Tool is a requirement of Welsh Government. 
The ERM for Cardiff was submitted to Welsh Government and approved 
in April 2016 following stakeholder engagement and a 12 week period of 
public consultation (Appendix 3).

Page 165

Agenda Item 8



Page 2 of 6

7. The INM sets out the plans of the local authority to develop or improve 
active travel routes over the next 15 years. It will include short to medium 
term schemes (within the next 5 years) which are clearly defined and 
have a clear intention for delivery subject to funding, and longer term 
schemes which are more aspirational and speculative and as such are 
less clearly defined. Following submission of the first INM to Welsh 
Government in 2017, the ERM and INM must be reviewed and 
resubmitted every 3 years.
 

8. Although the transport and health benefits of walking and cycling are 
similar, pedestrians and cyclists have different needs and different levels 
of existing provision within Cardiff. Therefore the approach taken to 
developing the ERM and the INM in Cardiff has been to develop two 
separate sets of maps for each user group with a different methodology 
to route identification, following the Welsh Government Guidance.

Integrated Network Map for Walking

9. Routes have been audited using the Welsh Government walking Audit 
Tool to assess whether they provide the required level of service in 
accordance with the Active Travel Act which enables them to be included 
on the Existing Routes Map.

10. In order to identify routes to be improved through the INM, networks of 
local routes to key local destinations were identified covering areas 
where there are known pedestrian safety issues which have already 
been investigated by the Council through the rolling programme of Area 
Studies investigations and appear as prioritised schemes on the 
Transport Projects Future Programme (Appendix 4).

11. Although, some Priority Local Walking Route Networks have been initially 
identified, these will be further reviewed as a part of the consultation 
process.  These are draft proposals and priorities may be subject to 
change as a result of feedback received through the planned public 
consultation. New proposals may also be identified to ensure that all key 
routes across the city are identify and in a phased programme improved.

12. The draft networks incorporate schemes prioritised within the Transport 
Projects Future Programme for delivery within the next five years and 
were audited using the Welsh Government Audit Tool to ensure that 
proposed improvements meet the minimum standards set out in the 
Welsh Government Active Travel Design Guide and to identify additional 
improvements that may be required to improve the attractiveness, 
comfort, directness, safety and coherence of the routes.

13. A schedule of schemes has been developed for the Priority Walking 
Route Networks, taking into account:

 Pedestrian safety improvement schemes within the Transport 
Projects Future Programme

 School Safety Improvement schemes

Page 166



Page 3 of 6

 Improvements identified through the Route Audit Tool
 Improvements scheduled to be delivered through other Council 

programmes and identified through internal consultation with 
Council Officers.

14. Future work will take place to identify and improve strategically important 
new and existing walking routes. 

Integrated Network Map for Cycling

15. In contrast to the network of existing walking routes, existing provision for 
cycling in Cardiff is fragmented and incomplete. The majority of cycle 
routes audited as part of the work to produce the ERM did not meet the 
minimum standards required by the Welsh Government Audit Tool.

16. Cycling routes which were audited as part of the ERM development work 
were identified from the following sources:

 Existing off road routes (e.g. Taff Trail)
 Existing signed on road routes (e.g. route from Sophia Gardens to 

Victoria Park)
 Routes which have been developed through the Council’s Enfys 

programme to deliver routes set out in the Strategic Cycle Network 
Plan, which connect communities with the highest propensity to 
cycle to key destinations 

 Routes identified by cycling stakeholders as existing routes 

17. All routes which were considered for the ERM have been included in the 
scope for the INM. In order to create a comprehensive aspirational future 
network of routes which will connect communities to destinations across 
the city, further routes were identified for inclusion in the INM from the 
following sources:

 Routes identified in the Strategic Cycle Network Plan which have 
yet to be developed

 Schemes set out in the Cardiff Local Transport Plan.
 Routes which have been identified through the investigation of 

cycling issues raised by members of the public on an ongoing 
basis

 Routes identified through a spatial gap analysis to complete 
missing links, including access to strategic development sites and 
cross city routes.

18. A schedule of schemes has been developed to improve the routes shown 
on the Integrated Network Map, taking into account:

 Improvements set out in the Local Transport Plan which meet 
Welsh Government Active Travel Design Guide minimum 
standards

 Improvements identified through the route audit process to 
improve the cohesion, directness, safety, comfort and 

Page 167



Page 4 of 6

attractiveness of the routes and ensure that the minimum 
standards set out in the Audit Tool would be met

 Improvements within the programme of minor network 
improvements, identified following investigation of cycling issues 
raised by members of the public on an ongoing basis

 Improvements scheduled to be delivered through other Council 
programmes and identified through internal consultation with 
Council Officers.

19. Two primary route corridors have been identified as part of the Integrated 
Network Map which connect strategic development sites and existing 
communities to major destinations including the City Centre and the Bay. 
The schedule of schemes proposed for the primary route corridors is 
intended to deliver a step change in provision for cycling by providing 
facilities for all ages and abilities cycling in line with the aspirations of the 
emerging Cardiff Cycling Strategy.

20. The cycle routes and schedule of schemes within the draft Integrated 
Network Map have not been prioritised. It is proposed to undertake a 
prioritisation exercise following public consultation on the draft Integrated 
Network Map and Cycling Strategy. The Integrated Network Map sets out 
an aspirational network of routes and does not imply any funding 
commitment to complete the routes or the phasing of the programme.

Public consultation

21. The Integrated Network Map Engagement Plan at Appendix 5 sets out 
the activities planned to engage stakeholders and the public throughout 
the 12 week public consultation period, including online engagement, 
stakeholder group meetings, consultation events and direct engagement 
with schools.

Local Member consultation

22. Local Member consultation was undertaken in November 2016 where 
briefing notes were circulated to Ward Members highlighting proposed 
active travel schemes within their own wards. The responses received 
from Members so far have been considered in detail.

Reason for Recommendations

23. Cabinet approval is required to publish the draft Integrated Network Map 
for public consultation. The 12 week consultation period is required by 
Welsh Government as set out in the Statutory Guidance for the Delivery 
of the Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013.

Financial Implications

24. As this report is recommending the launch of a consultation period there 
are no direct financial implications arising from this report. Any detailed 
proposals to improve the Walking and Cycling Network could have 
financial implications for the Council and at the appropriate time when 

Page 168



Page 5 of 6

decisions to proceed with specific proposals are being considered these 
will need to be supported by robust financial analysis, including funding 
arrangements.

Legal Implications

25.  The report seeks approval of the proposed engagement and 
consultation plan for the Integrated Network Map.  Paragraph 4 of the 
body of the report sets out the requirement for The City of Cardiff Council 
to consider active travel routes and demonstrate continuous 
improvement.  The City of Cardiff Council outline proposals for 
encouraging active travel and long term improvement are contained 
within the body of the report.  The Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013 places 
a duty on the City of Cardiff Council to engage and consult on outline 
plans. Welsh Government have produced detailed guidance on the 
delivery of Active travel plans and Legal Services are instructed that the 
requirements as set out in the legislation and accompanying guidance 
have been considered in proposing this consultation and engagement 
plan.

26. In general consultation and engagement must (a) be carried out when 
the proposal is at a formative stage (b) consultees must be given 
sufficient information to understand the project and to respond (c) 
consultees must be given sufficient time to respond and (d) responses 
must be conscientiously taken into account when finalising the relevant 
decision.  There is a requirement that the consultation should last for a 
minimum of 12 weeks as recommended by Welsh Government guidance 
and it is understood the proposal accords with this time frame.  It should 
be noted this minimum timeframe, however the City of Cardiff Council 
should have due regard to any complexities of the proposal, such that a 
longer time should be given due consideration.  The guidance also 
makes reference to the Equality Act 2010 and the principles of the UN 
Convention on the Rights of the Child.  

27. In considering this matter Cabinet must have regard to the City of Cardiff 
Council’s duties under the Equality Act 2010. Pursuant to these legal 
duties The City of Cardiff Council must, in making decisions, have due 
regard to the need to (1) eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) advance 
equality of opportunity and (3) foster good relations on the basis of 
protected characteristics. Protected characteristics are: (a). Age, ( b ) 
Gender reassignment( c ) Sex (d) Race – including ethnic or national 
origin, colour or nationality, (e) Disability, (f) Pregnancy and maternity, (g) 
Marriage and civil partnership, (h) Sexual orientation (i) Religion or belief 
– including lack of belief. Due consideration must be given as to whether 
an Equality Impact Assessment should be carried out so that the City of 
Cardiff Council may understand any potential impacts of the proposal in 
terms of equality so as to ensure that it is making proportionate and 
rational decisions having due regard to its public sector equality duty.  In 
addition due regard must be had for principles of the UN Convention on 
the Rights of the Child and the method by which Local authorities should 
use the Children and Young People’s National Participation Standards 

Page 169



Page 6 of 6

for Wales to plan and deliver effective engagement with children and 
young people.

28. The proposal must be subject to any relevant health and safety 
assessment, and Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 also 
imposes a general duty on the City of Cardiff Council, when exercising its 
functions, to take account of community safety dimension, with a view to 
reduce local crime and disorder in its area. 

RECOMMENDATION

Cabinet is recommended to approve the proposed engagement and 
consultation plan for the Integrated Network Map as set out in this report and 
attached appendices.

ANDREW GREGORY
Director
9 December 2016

The following appendices are attached: 

Appendix 1: Cardiff Integrated Network Map for Walking
Appendix 2: Cardiff Integrated Network Map for Cycling
Appendix 3: Cardiff Existing Route Map
Appendix 4: Transport Projects Future Programme
Appendix 5: INM Public Consultation Plan

The following background papers have been taken into account
 
1. Cardiff Integrated Network Map for Cycling (Arup)
2. Cardiff Strategic Cycle Network Plan 2011
3. Cardiff Local Transport Plan 2015-2020

Page 170



KEY

  PRIORITY WALKING NETWORKS

   FUTURE PROGRAMME OF 
   PEDESTRIAN SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS
   17/18 - 21/22

   FUTURE PROGRAMME OF 
   PEDESTRIAN SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS
   22/23 - 32/33

   SCHOOL SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS 
   REQUIRED

EXISTING ROUTES MAP (PEDESTRIAN
   IMPROVEMENTS UNDERTAKEN WITHIN
   LAST 5 YEARS)

CITY CENTRE MOVEMENT STRATEGY
(MULTI MODAL IMPROVEMENTS TO BE

   IDENTIFIED)

   BAY TRAIL (PEDESTRIAN 
   IMPROVEMENTS TO BE IDENTIFIED)

   PEDESTRIAN SCHEMES DELIVERY
   IN PROGRESS

INTEGRATED NETWORK MAP: PRIORITY WALKING NETWORKS

WHITCHURCH

RADYR

WATERLOO GARDENS
& NEWPORT ROADROATH

ROATH PARK

PONTCANNA

LLANEDEYRN

FAIRWATER

Appendix 1

P
age 171



AMBERLEY CL

CLO S CWM DU

GELLI FRON G OCH

CL
O

S 
NANT Y CWM

HEO
L 

PONTPRENNAU

CLOS N
ANT M

W
LAN

AM
BE

RG
AT

E 
D

R

TARRAGON W
AY

TY CERRIG

LLWYN CASTAN

HY
SSO P C

L

BO
RA

G E CL

GLYN R H O
SY

N

G
LY

N
 RH

O
SYN

PEPPERMINT DR

BR
YN

 H
EU

LO
G

G
LYN

 EID
D

EW

BRYNCYN

C
O

ED
EN

 D
A

L

W
A

U
N

 FACH

BRYN PINWYDDEN

PENTWYN RD

DARTINGTON DR

FELBRIGG
 CRES

PE
N

TW
YN

 D
R

F ORSYTHIA D R

FO
RSYTH

IA
 D

R

MAGNOLIA CL

A
ZA

LEA CL

G
LYN

 C
O

ED
 RD

G
LY

N
 C

O
ED

 R
D

W

OO
D

VA
LE

 A
VE

CELY N G
R

ALD
ER

BROOK

LLYSW
EN RD

BRYN
-G

W
YN

 RD

LLANGORSE RD

W
ES

TM
IN

ST
ER

 C
RE

S

SHERBORNE AVE

DERWEN RD

BETTWS-Y-C
OED RDRHYD-Y-P

ENAU RD

CLA
V

ERTO

N  WAY

CLOS NANT GLASW
G

BUTTERFIE

LD D
R

GW
ERN-RHUDDI RD

BRYN
-AW

ELO
N

 RD

TY-DRAW RD

PO
N

TFA
EN

CRANBOURNE W
AY

BA
LM

O
RA

L C
L

THE FAIRWAY

HA C KERFORD RD

HAMPTON CRES W

HURFORD PL

 
BL

AC
K 

O
AK 

RD

LO
N

G
LE

AT

 CL

CWRT CEFN

MILLGATE

M
IL

L 
RD W

O
O

D
SID

E CT

CHARTWELL DR

E RISE

N
 RI SE

S 
RI

SE

PENTWYN RD

MILL C
L

OLD M
ILL  R

D

FID
LA

S AVE
ELA

N
 RD

TO
W

 R
D

EWENNY RD

W
 R

IS
E

TH
E RISE

SO
LVA

 AVE

USK RD

LISVANE RD

OA K LEAFE
 D

R

CYNCOED RD

CY5 a.  Resurface footways. 
 b.  Replace radius kerbs at    
  driveways with modern    
  dropped kerb arrangement. 

Cyncoed Road

CY6 a.  Resurface footways. 

Gwern-Rhuddi Road

CY2 a.  Resurface footways.

Hurford Place CY3 a.  Resurface footways.    
 b.  Replace radius kerbs at    
  driveways with modern    
  dropped kerb arrangement. 

Hampton Crescent West

CY4 a.  Resurface and widen footways.

Westminster Drive

CY6 c.  Provide dropped kerbs and   
  tactile paving at zebra    
  crossing outside school.

CY6 b.  Provide pedestrian crossing   
  facilities in conjunction with 
  new development

CY1 b.  Provide dropped kerb and   
  tactile paving at the junction  
  of Black Oak and Hurford   
  Place.

CY5 c.  Provide pedestrian crossing   
  facilities at Cyncoed Rd/Rhyd  
  y Pennau Rd junction.

CYNCOED NORTH KEY

        IMPROVEMENTS

        FOOTPATH 

P
age 172



HEOL FAIR

CA
TH

ED
RA

L CL

M
A

Y
N

A

R D CT

LLA
N

D
A

FF  CHASE

M
IT

RE
 P

L

BRIDGE ST

FORDWELL

LANSDOWNE AVE W

AU
BREY AVE

SU
RR

EY
 S

T

N
ES

TA
 R

D

TU
RN

ER
 R

D

ETHEL ST

FORREST RD

DAISY ST

KI
N

G
SL

A
N

D
 R

D

W
ES

SE
X

 S
T

T
H

E 
CR

ES
CENT

OVINGTON TERR

WESTBURY TERR

V
IC

TO
RI

A
 P

A
RK

 R
D

 E

HALSBU
RY

 R
D

VICTORIA AVE

IV
Y 

ST
CO

N
YB

EA
RE

 R
D

CHAPEL ST

PALACE RD

PA
LA

C
E AVE

HENDRE C
L

ELY RD

C
A

EW
A

L R
D

R O WAN CT

H
EN

D
RE G

D
N

S

HOW
EL

LS
 C

RE
S

ST MICHAELS RD

C
H

A
RG

O
T RD

PEN
C

ISELY RISE

PENCISELY AVE

G
REEN

W
IC

H
 RD

P
EN

CISELY C R ESW
IN

D
W

AY RD

C
A

EW
A

L RD

TH
E  GRA

N
G

E

VAUGHAN AVE

INSOLE G
D

N
S

HIG
H S

T

H
A

R
D

W
ICKE CT

BISH
O

PS W
A

LK

IN
SO

LE G
RO

VE W
PRO

S PEC
T D

R

BISHOPS PL
KEN

ILW
O

RTH
 C

T

PWLLMELIN LN

RO
O

KW
O

O
D

 AVE

FA
IRW

ATER G
RO

VE E

ROOKWOOD CL

N
O

RBU
RY RD

M
ARIO

NVILLE G
D

N

S

BISHOPS AVE

VIC
TO

RIA
 PA

RK RD
 W

WINDWAY AVE

THOMPSON AVE

BERNARD AVE

KEN
SIN

G
TO

N
 AVE

GRAN
VILLE AVE

M
AYFIELD

 AVE

FA
IRFIELD

 AVE

REDCLIFFE AVE

PAPER MILL RD

SANATORIUM RD

W

 O
RCH

A
RD

 C
RE

S

BU
TL

EI
G

H
 A

V
E

ELY RD

ELY
 R

D

ELY
 R

D

ALD
SW

O
RTH

 RD

FAIRFIELD CL

BIRCH
FIELD

 CRES

D
AVIES PL

SHEARS RD

FA
IRW

ATER G
RO

VE W

A48   WESTERN AVE

ST FA
G

A
N

S RD

BRO
O

K RD

ST
AT

IO
N

 T
ER

R

ARLES W
AY

BARNARD AVE

ROBERT ST

AIN
T

R
EE  DR

LITTLECROFT AVE

CHIC
HESTER W

AY

LLANGYNIDR RD

LLA
N

G
ATTO

CK RD
BAILEY CL

MILTON PL

DYFRIG RD

COLIN W
AY

PENGWERN RD

PENYGARN R
D

PENDIN
E RD

PEN
CAD

ER RD

RO
NALD PL

M
IL

L P
L

C
H

A
RTEERIS  RD

EVERSWELL AVE

THE CRESCEN
T

FERN PL PERROTS CL

O
XW

IC
H C

L

ELY RD

LIM ES L ADE CL

TH
E C

H
A

N
TRY

W
H

ITLAND
 CL

ELFED GRN

FAIRWATER RD

TH
E D

R

BIRCH RD

HEOL GWILYM

WRO
UGHTON PL

CLARKE ST

PALMERS DR

VINCENT RD

M
ORRIS FINER C L

H
EO

L-Y-FELIN

CH
ER

RY
D A L

E
 R

D

LLANBEDR RD

HEOL DENNANT

DOYLE AVE

LLA
N

D
ETTY RD

CYMRIC CL

AD
D

IC

OTT C
L

RED
 H

O
U

SE CL

CHO RLEY CL

SPINNEY CL

EFFORD RD

STANWAY PL

H
O

W
ELL RD

HILES RD

ABERTHAW
 RD

TRESEDER W
AY

FONMON CRES

HIGHMEAD RD

COWBRIDGE RD W

HIRST CRES

G
O

U
G

H
 RD

RED H
OUSE CRES

ST FA
G

A
N

S RISE

CA
RTW

RIG
H

T LN

EVERSW
ELL RD

FAIRW
AYS CRES

W
ELLRIG

H
T RD

HOLLY RD

FERRIER AVE

HONEYSUCKLE CL

LA
VE

NDER GR

SH
A

M
RO

CK
 R

D

BEE
CH R

D

BR
IA

R 
C

L

WILLOWDALE RD

ROCH
E 

CR
ES

VACHELL RD

HAZEL
 P

L

YEWTREE CL

FREWER AVE

POPLAR RD

PLAS-M
AW

R RD

HEOL-Y-PAVIN

FAIRWATER RD

PWLLMELIN RD

PWLLMELIN RD

M
O

O
RE RD

TY CO
C

H
 RD

ARCHER RD

MOORE C
L

ELDERBERRY RD

MAPLE RD

LIM
E G

R

FI
RS

 A
VE

G
LAN

 ELY CL

TATEM DR

CLOS T Y B
R

O
NN

A

ORANGE GR

GRAND AVE

HEOL MUSTON

PET
H

YB
RI

D
GE R

D

FRANK RD

C
H

A
RT

ER
IS

 C

RES

A
RC

H
ER

 C
RE

S

MILL RD

PLYMOUTH WOOD RD

GORSE PL

OAKWAY

NORBURY RD

FINCHLEY RD
BWLCH RD

RED
 H

O
U

SE RD

PLYMOUTH WOOD CRES

ARCHER RD

LLEW
ELLYN AVE

ROSED
ALE CL

HILL VIEW

COWBRID
GE RD W

EST

BEECHLEY DR

PENTREBANE RD

STANWAY RD

PL YMOUTHW O
O

D
 C

L

WAUNGRON RD

ST FAGANS RD

ROMILLY RD W

COWBRIDGE RD EAST

LANSDOWNE RD

CH
ATSW

O
RTH

 CL

ST
 D

AV
ID

S 
C

R
ES

FW1 a.  Resurface footways. 

Wroughton Place

FW7 a.  Resurface footways. 

Finchley Road

FW10 a.  Resurface footways. 

Plasmawr  Road

FW11 a.  Widen and resurface  
  footways. 

Fairwater Road

FW12 a.  Resurface footways.      
   b.  Provide dropped kerbs and tactile  
  paving at St Fagans Rd, Brook Rd   
  and Norbury Rd
    c.  Tra�c calming

Fairwater Road

FW9 a.  Resurface footways. 

St Fagans Road

FW15  a.  Tra�c calming and  
  formal crossings

Cantonian High

FW9 b.  Provide dropped kerb and  
  tactile paving at Norbury  
  Rd and Shears Rd.

FW3 a.  Resurface footways. 

Cowbridge Road West

FW6 a.  Resurface footways. 

St Fagans Road

FW5 a.  Resurface footways 
 b.  Provide dropped kerb and   
  tactile paving at Ely    
  Rd/Western Ave

Ely Road

FW8 a.  Resurface footways. 

Ely Road

FW16 a.  Tra�c calming

Bwlch Road

FW13  a.  Tra�c calming and formal   
  crossing near Ysgol Gyfun   
  Gymraeg Plasmawr FW14  a.  Formal crossing

FW8 b.  Provide dropped kerb and   
  tactile paving at Llangattock  
  St and Doyle Ave

FW4 a.  Resurface footways. 
 b.  Provide pedestrian crossing   
  facilities

Western Avenue

FW6 b.  Provide dropped kerb and tactile   
  paving at St Fagans Rise, Wellright  
  Rd, Everswell Rd and The Drive

FW6 b.  Provide dropped kerb and tactile   
  paving at St Fagans Rise, Wellright  
  Rd, Everswell Rd and The Drive

FW6 c.  Formal crossing facility

FW17  a.  Replace radius kerbs at    
  driveways with modern    
  dropped kerb arrangement

Mass action

FAIRWATER

KEY

        IMPROVEMENTS

        FOOTPATH 

        MASS ACTION

P
age 173



C OTSWOLD A
VE

PLAS Y DELYN

LARCH GROVE

MILL PL

M
ILL RD

HEOL
ST

 D
EN

YS

MILLBROOK PARK

TH
E 

PA
DD

O
C

K

HOLLY GROVE

CH
ERRY ORC H ARD RD

ROWAN WAY

CARDINAL DR

RI
D

GE

WAY

RIDGEWAY

IVYDALE

BL
OSSOM D

R

H
EO

L CEFN O
NN

ROUNDEL CLAM
BERHEART DR

CHERRY ORCHARD RD

HEOL LL INOS

HEOL-Y-DE LYN

CL
O

S 
LL

YSF
A

EN

CHERITO
N

 D
R

ALW
EN DR

PIN

ECREST DR

RA
G

N
A

L L
 C

L
HEOL Y BARCUD

BRIARM

EAD
O

W

 DR

M
ILLRA

C
E C

L

M
IL

LW
O

O
D

W
O

O
DL AWN WAY

H
EO

L H
IR

B
R

O
O

KVALE DR

H
E

OL-Y-CARW

MAYFAIR DR

H

EO L-Y-CADNO

ORCHARD CASTLE

LOWFIELD DR

H
AVEN

W
O

O
D DR

EXCALIBUR D
R

M4

LI1 a.  Resurface and widen existing  
 footways.
b. Provide additional footway

where space allows.
c. Tra�c calming

Cherry Orchard Road

LI2 a.  Resurface footways. 
 b. Provide pedestrian crossing

facilities at desire lines.

Cherry Orchard Road

LI3 a.  Formal crossing footway  
improvements in vicinity of  
school

Llys Faen Primary

LI1 c.  Install dropped kerbs/tactile  
paving near Heol Cefn Onn 

LISVANE & THORNHILL RAIL STATION KEY

IMPROVEMENTS

   FOOTPATH 

P
age 174



LLWYN CASTAN

BR
YN

 H
EU

LO
G

BRYN HAI D D

W
A

U
N

 FACH

P E N NSYLVANIA

WERN GOCH W

BRYN CELYN RD

PE
N

TW
YN

 D
R

THE HAW THORNS

THE H
A

W
TH

O
RN

S

LI
N

N
ET

 C
L

H
O

LLY
BUSH HGHTS

F ORSYTHIA D R

FO
RSYTH

IA
 D

R

H A W FIN
CH C

L

MAGNOLIA CL

A
ZA

LEA CL

CO
ED-Y-G

ORES

BR
YN

-Y
-N

A
N

T

COED-Y-G
ORES

AEL-Y-BRYN

PIN
EW

OOD C
RES

KING W
O

O
D

 CL

LLANEDEYRN RD

QUEENWOO D

ROUNDWOOD

LL
AN

ED
EY

RN
 D

R

LLA
N

ED
EYRN

 D
R

MAELFA

W
ELLW

O
O

D

LOTHIAN CRES

HOLLYBUSH RD

COED-Y-G
ORES

BR
YN

FEDW

G
LY

N
 C

O
ED

G
LYN

 CO
ED

 RD

CHAPEL WOOD

BRYNFEDW

PENNSYLVANIA

TY
-G

W
YN

 R
D

OAK WOOD AVE

LONSDALE RD

O
RM

O
ND

E CL

W
ELL W

O
OD CL

LLANEDEYRN RD

GRAFTON CL

LLANEDEYRN RD

CARISBROOKE W
AY

TY-GWYN CRES

TY-GWYN AVE

SP
RI

N
GW

OOD

HILLRISE

CLEAR WATER WAY

SPRINGWOOD

H
ILLRISE

CEFN-CO E D G
D

N
S

FF
O

RD
D

 C
W

EL
LY

N

FFORD D  B
O

D
LY

N

PENNAN
T C

RES

WERNGOCH RD

RANNOCH D R

LO
M

ON
D CRES

A
RN

SI
D

E 
RD

H
U

RO
N

 C
RE

S

EVERARD WAY

W

OOLASTON AVE

HUNTERS RDG

FARM DR

ES
KD

A
LE

 C
L

EGREMONT RD

CYNCOED AVE

GLENW
OOD

C
YN

CO
ED

 RISE

C
YN

C
O

ED
 A

V
E

ST EDEYRNS RD

HOLLYBUSH RD

HOLLYBUSH RD

CYNCOED C

RES

GOLDCREST DR
WOODVALE AVE

CELY N G
R

LLYSWEN RD

BRYN
-G

W
YN

 RD

ALLTMAW
R RD

LLANGORSE RD

D
U

FFRYN
 RD

WESTMIN
STER C

RE
S

SHERBORNE AVE

DAN-Y-COED RD

CYNCOED PL

WINNIP

EG
 D

R

ONTARIO W
AY

C
EF

N
 C

O
ED

 A
V

E

HENLLYS RD

BETTWS-Y-C
OED RD

LEVEN CL

CLAERWEN DR

CARNEGIE DR

PA
D

A
RN

 C
L

OGWEN DR

D
U

FF
RY

N
 A

V
E

LLYN CL

G
W

YN
ANT CRES

DAN-Y-COED RD

NANT-FAWR CRES

N
A

N
T-

FA
W

R 
RD

LLANDENNIS AVE

CELYN AVE

CELYN AVE

RHYD-Y-P
ENAU RD

BIRCHW
OOD RD

BR
AN

D
RE

TH
 R

D

CORSHAM RD

TO
RR

EN
S 

D
R

BIRCHWOOD LN

MARYPORT RD

CEFN-COED RD

LA
KE

SI
D

E 
D

R

LAKESIDE DR

CI
RC

LE
 W

AY
 E

CIRCLE WAY E

C
IR

C
LE

 W
AY

 W

CIRCLE WAY W

CYNCOED RD

C
YN

C
O

ED
 RD

C
YN

C
O

ED
 RD

CYN
CO

ED
 RD

CYNCOED RD

L1 a.  Provide footways. 
 b.  Widen existing footway. 
 c.  Provide additional street   
  lighting. 
 d.  Remove overhanging    
  vegetation.
 f.  Provide tactile paving

Llanedeyrn Drive
Chapelwood to Roundwood

L6 a.  Improvements to footways   
  across whole area, including   
  resurfacing, widening and   
  removal of steps

Llanedeyrn estate
Mass action

L3 a.  Resurface footways.
 c.  Clear signage needed. 

Circle Way West/Glyn Coed

L2 a.  Provide footways on both   
  sides of road. 
 b.  Resurface and widen existing  
  footways. 

Llanedeyrn Drive

L4 a.  Resurface footways. 
 e.  Provide clear signage

Path connecting Llanedeyrn Drive 
to Circle Way West

L1 e.  Replace subway with at grade  
  crossing.

L5 a.  Provide footway

L2 d.  Redesign subway to remove   
  steps or replace with at grade  
  crossing.

L3 b.  Improve pedestrian facilities   
  at Pentwyn Drive

L4 b.  Redesign subway to remove   
  steps or replace with at grade  
  crossing

L4 c.  Improve crossing access to   
  school.
 d.  Dropped kerbs and tactile   
  paving at school car park   
  entrance.

L3 d.  Redesign subway to remove   
  steps or replace with at grade  
  crossing.

L2 c.  Tactile paving at Llanedeyrn   
  Drive/Circle Way East

LLANEDEYRN

KEY

        IMPROVEMENTS

        FOOTPATH 

        MASS ACTION Page 175



LLANTRISANT ST

CARD
IFF RD

CARDIFF RD

LLA
N

D
A

FF RD

LLANDAFF RD

TINTERN ST

EG
ERTO

N
 ST

PARRY ST

LLAN DAFF PL

WESTMORELAND ST

CUMBERLAND ST

HANOVER ST

N
O

RT
H

U
M

BE
RL

A
N

D
 S

T

TH
EO

BA
LD

 S
T

BRECO
N

 ST PEN
-Y-PEEL RD

RA
D

N
O

R 
RD

CARDIGAN ST

PEMBROKE RD

SYR DAVID’S AVE

DULWICH GDNS

EG
H

A
M

 S
T

PE

NHIL L 
C

L

LANSDOWNE AVE E

LANSDOWNE AVE W

LAWRENNY AVE

YO
RK

 S
T

W
EM

BL
EY

 R
D

BROADHAVEN

BROADSTAIRS RD

BE
D

A
 R

D

N
O

RF
O

LK
 S

T

LI
N

C
O

LN
 S

T

LI
O

N
EL

 R
D

SU
RR

EY
 S

T

N
ES

TA
 R

D

TU
RN

ER
 R

D

BRUNSWICK ST

N
O

TT
IN

G
H

A
M

 S
T

FE
RN

 S
T

FLINDO CRES

VERALLO
 D

R

HEOL TERRELL

ETHEL ST

FORREST RD

DAISY ST

KI
N

G
SL

A
N

D
 R

D

W
ES

SE
X

 S
T

T
H

E 
CR

ES
CENT

BURLINGTON TERR

M
IL

L 
LN

VISHWELL RD

OVINGTON TERR

WESTBURY TERR

V
IC

TO
RI

A
 P

A
RK

 R
D

 E

HALSBU
RY

 R
D

VICTORIA AVE

G
RO

SV
EN

O
R 

ST

C
LIV

E RD

IV
Y 

ST
C

O
N

YB
EA

RE
 R

D

CHAPEL ST

PALACE RD

PA
LA

C
E AVE

HENDRE C
L

ELY RD

C
A

EW
A

L R
D

R O WAN CT

HOW
EL

LS
 C

RE
S

ST MICHAELS RD

C
H

A
RG

O
T RD

PEN
C

ISELY RISE

PENCISELY AVE

G
REEN

W
IC

H
 RD

P
EN

CISELY C R ES

C
A

EW
A

L RD

HIG
H S

T

VIC
TO

RIA
 PA

RK RD
 W

THOMPSON AVE

BERNARD AVE

KEN
SIN

G
TO

N
 AVE

GRAN
VILLE AVE

REDCLIFFE AVE

PAPER MILL RD

SANATORIUM RD

ELY
 R

D

A48   WESTERN AVE

ROLLS ST

LITTLETO
N

 ST

CHANCERY LN REN
N

IE ST

TE
LF

O
RD

 S
T

WELLS ST LN

LECKWITH AVE

LECKWITH PL

R
AILW

AY TERR

D
EN

TO
N

 R
D

SUDCROFT ST

BR
O

AD
H

AV
EN

KING EDW
ARD VII AVE

COLLEGE RD

QUEEN ANNE SQ

CITY HALL RD

TUDOR LN

WEDMORE RD

PARK LNPLA
N

TA
G

EN
ET ST

BEA
U

C
H

A
M

P ST

MARK ST

CLARE PL
DESPENSER PL

GRE
EN

 S
T

RAWDEN MEWS

FITZH
AM

O
N

 EM
BAN

KM
EN

T

DESPENSER ST

NEVILLE P
L

G
LO

U
CESTER ST

BROOK ST

CRADDOCK ST

ST
EP

H
EN

SO
N

 S
T

MACHEN PL

H
EA

TH
 P

L

RA
W

D
EN

 P
L

DE BURGH ST

NEVILLE ST

MA NDEVIL
LE S

T

TREHERBERT ST

D
A

RRA
N

 ST

FLORA ST
HIRWAIN ST

CORBETT RD

COLUM RD

COLU
M

 D
R

MAINDY RD

TREORKY ST

MINISTER ST

M
ERTHYR ST

CASTLE ST

N
O

RTH
 RD

HAMILTON ST

CRADDOCK ST

TREVETHIC
K ST

SOPHIA
 C

L

TALBOT ST

PLASTURTON P
L

KYVEILOG ST

BERTHW
IN

 STDOGO S
T

G
IL

ES
TO

N
 R

D

W
ELLS ST

LYNDHURST ST

A
LBERT ST

ORCHARD PL

KINGS RD

SNEYD ST

IE
ST

YN ST

SPRINGFIELD PL

GLYNNE ST

W
YNDHAM

 RD

SEVERN
 RD

G
RAY LN

DYFRIG
 S

T

GREENFIELD AV E

SEVERN
 G

RO
VE

RYDER ST

PLASTURTON AVE

PITM
AN ST

MALDWYN ST

CO
N

W
AY RD

MORTIMER RD

LO
W

ER
 C

AT
H

ED
RA

L 
RD

CATHEDRAL RD

CATHEDRAL RD

PENHILL RD
PENCISELY RD

PE
N

LL
YN

 R
D

C
H

U
RC

H
 R

D

LLANFAIR RD

W
YNDHAM

 CRES

ROMILLY CRES

ROMILLY RD

ROMILLY RD W

CARMARTHEN ST

G
LA

M
O

RG
A

N
 ST

MARKET  PL

FAIRLEIGH RD

S 
M

O
RG

AN
 PL LEW

IS ST

TEIL
O S

T

PO
N

TC
A

N
N

A
 ST

SOPHIA
 W

K

SM
EA

TO
N

 S
T

TUDOR ST

NINIAN PARK RD

MAJOR RD
WYNDHAM PL

WYNDHAM
 PL

A
LBER T  ST

PICTON PL

BROAD ST

E ARLE PL

LEC
KW

ITH
 RD

RE
C

TO
RY

 R
D

M
A

RKET RD

A
LE

X
A

N
D

RA
 R

D

COWBRIDGE RD EAST

COWBRIDGE RD EAST

COWBRIDGE RD EAST

WELLINGTON ST

ATLAS R D

LANSDOWNE RD

C
LA

RE ST

FI
EL

D
S 

PA
RK

 R
D PO8 a.  Resurface footways.  

 b.  Relocate crossing   
  points to suit desire  
  lines.

Severn Grove

PO6 a.   Resurface footway

Pontcanna Street/Kings Road

PO3 a.   Resurface footway
 b. Provide dropped    
  kerbs and tactile paving.
 c. Tra�c calming

Conway Road

PO7 c.   Resurface footway

Romilly Cres. / Wyndham Cres.

PO9 a.  Improvement to   
  crossing facilities at  
  Cowbridge Road E   
  junction.

Severn Road

PO1 a.   Resurface footway

PO6 b.  Pedestrian crossing improvements at   
  Sneyd Street junction and Plasturton   
  Avenue junction, including provision   
  of dropped kerbs, tactile paving and   
  improved layout along desire lines.

Fields Park Road

PO1 b.  Provide dropped kerbs and   
  tactile paving at desire line at  
  Fairleigh Rd/Fields Park Rd   
  junction.

PO4 b.  Provide dropped kerbs and   
  tactile paving at Conway   
  Road junction.

PO8 a.  Provide raised zebra outside   
  school and school safety zone  
  with tra�c calming

PO8 b.  Improve junction layout to provide   
  improved pedestrian crossing facilities at  
  Romilly/Wyndham Crescent/Severn   
  Grove/Severn Road junction.

PONTCANNA KEY

        IMPROVEMENTS

        FOOTPATH 

P
age 176



H
EO

L
BA

KEM
O

RE

HEOL BOOKER

SPRINGHU
RST CL

HEOL PANTYCELY
N

LON-Y-CELYN

ARDW

YN

DAN Y GRAIG

CLOS COED HIR

H
A

R
FORD

 C
L

VELINDRE RD

PANTMAW
R RD

CORYTON RISE

G
REEN

 M
EAD

O
W

 RD

CORYTON CRES

PENDWYALLT RD

W
H

ITW

O R TH SQ

P
ENYDARREN

 D
R

FFO
R D

D
 M

ORG

A NWG

SAM
U

EL
S 

C
RE

S

FOREST FARM RD

CA
E 

LE
WIS

LLWY N MA LLT

GREENM
EADO

W
 DR

PANTGWYNLAIS

JU
N

C
TI

O
N

 T
ER

R

CA
STELL

CO
CH

VIEW

IRON BRID
GE RD

GRAIG LW
YD

M
IL

L RD

LONGWOOD DR

QUEEN ST

A4054    MERTHYR RD

CHAPEL RD

FFORDD TREFORGAN

M
EADOW

FIE
LD W

AY

PEN
RHOS

BL
A

EN
-Y

-C
O

ED

MAES Y C
RO

FF
T

M
EL

IN
GR

IFFITH DR

T
Y-M

A
W

R
RD

HEOL PENLAN

FISH
ER H

ILL W
AY

DE CLARE D
R

TY M
YN

YD
D

 C
L

MIN-Y-CO
ED

PARK RD

KINGS RD

PENTWYN

D
A

N
-Y-BRYN

 AVE

FFORDD LAS

H
EO

L
IS

A
F

H
EO

L ISA
F

G
ELYN

IS TERR N
TY-NANT RD

STATION RD

W
IN

D
SO

R RD

WINDSO
R AVE

CEFN COCH

BRYN DERWEN

BRYN
 D

ERW
EN

DRYSGOL RD

CAE’R GRAIG

HAZEL TREE CL

G
O

ETR
E

FAWR

IR
O

N
 B

RI
D

G
E 

RD

A470

M4 JUNCTION 32

CWM GWYNLAIS

R1 a.  Dropped kerbs and tacile  
paving at Heol Isaf junction. 

b. Provide signage to Radyr
station.

Station Road

R9 a.  Tra�c calming and school  
safety zone outside Radyr  
High School 

b. Bollards to prevent footway
parking

R3 a.  Resurface footway. 
b. Provide dropped kerbs and

tactile paving.
c. Create school safety zone

outside Radyr Primary School
with tra�c calming

Park  Road

R4 a.  Resurface footway. 
b. Replace radius kerbs at

driveways with modern
dropped kerb arrangement.

c. Improve crossing facilities

Heol Isaf

R8 a.  School safety zone with  
tra�c calming at Bryn Deri  
Primary School

R6 a.  Widen and resurface  
footways. 

b. Introduce dropped kerbs and
tactile paving at crossings.

Min-y-Coed

R6 a.  Widen and resurface  
footways. 

b. Introduce dropped kerbs and
tactile paving at crossings.

Min-y-Coed

R7 a.  Widen and resurface  
footways. 

b. Introduce dropped kerbs and
tactile paving at crossings.

Ty Mynydd

R5 a.  Widen footways. 
b. Introduce dropped kerbs and

tactile pavings at crossings.

R5 c.  Improve pedestrian crossing  
facilities at Heol Isaf junction.

Maes Yr Awel

R6 c.  Create formal crossing facility  
at Min-Y-Coed Junction

R2 a.  Resurface footway. 
b. Provide dropped kerbs and

tactile paving.
c. Provide additional crossing

facilities

Heol Isaf

RADYR KEY

IMPROVEMENTS

FOOTPATH 

P
age 177



LLWYN CASTAN

BRYNCYN

W
A

U
N

 FACH

BRYN PINWYDDEN

P E N NSYLVANIA

WERN GOCH W

BRYN CELYN RD

THE HAW THORNS

THE H
A

W
TH

O
RN

S

LI
N

N
ET

 C
L

H
O

LLY
BUSH HGHTS

F ORSYTHIA D R

FO
RSYTH

IA
 D

R
H A W FIN

CH C
L

MAGNOLIA CL

A
ZA

LEA CL

CO
ED-Y-G

ORES

COED-Y-G
ORES

AEL-Y-BRYN

PIN
EW

OOD C
RES

KING W
O

O
D

 CL

LLANEDEYRN RD

QUEENWOO D

ROUNDWOOD

LL
AN

ED
EY

RN
 D

R

LLA
N

ED
EYRN

 D
R

MAELFA

W
ELLW

O
O

D

LOTHIAN CRES

LLW
YN

-Y-G
RAN

T TERR

BA
RO

N
S C

T RD

HOLLYBUSH RD

COED-Y-G
ORES

BR
YN

FEDW

G
LY

N
 C

O
ED

G
LYN

 CO
ED

 RD

G
LY

N
CO

ED
RD

CHAPEL WOOD

BRYNFEDW

PENNSYLVANIA

IP
SW

IC
H

RD

SO
U

TH
CO

U
RT

RD

WINCHESTER AVE

EA
RLS

C
T

RD

TY
-G

W
YN

 R
D

DORCHESTER AVE

HAMMOND WAY

OAK WOOD AVE

LONSDALE RD

O
RM

O
ND

E CL

W
ELL W

O
OD CL

LLANEDEYRN RD

HAMPTON CT RD

LLWYN-Y-GRANT RD

PEN
-Y-LAN

 TERR

GRAFTON CL

LLANEDEYRN RD

CARISBROOKE W
AY

TY-GWYN CRES

TY-GWYN AVE

SP
RI

N
GW

OOD

HILLRISE

CLEAR WATER WAY

SPRINGWOOD

H
ILLRISE

CEFN-CO E D G
D

N
S

FF
O

RD
D

 C
W

EL
LY

N

FFORD D BO
D

LY
N

PENNAN
T C

RES

WERNGOCH RD

RANNOCH D R

LO
M

ON
D CRES

A
RN

SI
D

E 
RD

H
U

RO
N

 C
RE

S

EVERARD WAY

W

OOLASTON AVE

HUNTERS RDG

FARM DR

ES
KD

A
LE

 C
L

EGREMONT RD

CYNCOED AVE

GLENW
OOD

C
YN

CO
ED

RISE

C
YN

C
O

ED
 A

V
E

ST EDEYRNS RD

HOLLYBUSH RD

HOLLYBUSH RD

CYNCOED CRES

GOLDCREST DR
WOODVALE AVE

CELY N

G
R

LLYSWEN RD

BRYN
-G

W
YN

 RD

ALLTMAW
R RD

LLANGORSE RD

D
U

FFRYN
 RD

WESTMIN
STER C

RE
S

SHERBORNE AVE

DAN-Y-COED RD

CYNCOED PL

WINNIP

EG
 D

R

ONTARIO W
AY

C
EF

N
 C

O
ED

 A
V

E

HENLLYS RD

DERWEN RD

BETTWS-Y-C
OED RD

LEVEN CL

CLAERWEN DR

CARNEGIE DR

PA
D

A
RN

 C
L

OGWEN DR

D
U

FF
RY

N
 A

V
E

LLYN CL

G
W

YN
ANT CRES

DAN-Y-COED RD

NANT-FAWR CRES

N
A

N
T-

FA
W

R 
RD

LLANDENNIS AVE

CELYN AVE

CELYN AVE

H
EATH

BRO
O

K

TH
RE

E 
A

RC
H

ES
 A

V
E

ST DOGMAELS AVE

C

RUNDALE CRES

ST
 M

ARTINS CRES

KIM
BERLEY

TERR

KEYES AVE

RHYD-Y-P
ENAU RD

TYRWHITT CRES

JELLICOE GDNS WILD GARDENS RD

H
EATH

 H
A

LT RD

C
RYSTA

L AVE

HEATHM EAD

NANT Y WEDAL 

WINGATE D
R

GIBSON CL

TRENCHARD DR

PORTFIE L D C RE
S

FISHGUARD
 C

L

W
AVELL C

L

LAKE RD N

H
EA

TH
 H

A
LT

 R
D

KING GEORGE V DR N

ST
D

EN
IS

RD

CEFN CARNAU RD

CRYSTAL W
OOD RD

ETON CT

ST
GILD

AS
RD

ST ISAN RD

M
O

U
N

TBATTEN
 C

L

KIN
G

 G
EO

RG
E V

 D
R E

BEATTY AVE

ED
IN

G
TO

N
 A

V
E

CRYSTA
L G

LEN

ST INA RD

BR
O

N
 W

YD
D

 A
VE

BIRCHW
OOD RD

BR
AN

D
RE

TH
 R

D

BRANDRETH RD

ALD
ER

RD

LI
N

D
EN

AV
E

CORSHAM RD

TO
RR

EN
S 

D
R

BIRCHWOOD LN

CLOS DERWEN

PANT YR WYN

TYDFIL
PL

M
ORLA

IS
ST

MARYPORT RD

TY-DRAW RD

ENNERDALE C L

LA
D

Y 
M

A
RY

 R
D

CEFN-COED RD

LA
KE

SI
D

E 
D

R

LAKESIDE DR

SH
IRLEY RD

LA
KE RO

A
D

 E

WEDAL RD

HEATHWOOD GR

HIGHFIELD RD

LA
KE

 R
D

 W

W
IN

D
ER

M
ER

E 
A

V
E

C
LU

N
 TERR

M
ALE

FA
NT

ST

TE
W

KES
BURY

ST

INGLEFIELD AVE

HEATH PARK WAY
HEATH PARK

W
AY

C
EN

TR
A

L 
W

AY

LLANISHEN ST

SU
M

M
ER

FI
EL

D
 A

V
E

CLODIEN AVE

ALLENSBANK CRES

CROWN WAY

MANOR ST

HEATH PARK AVE

A
LL

EN
SB

A
N

K 
RD

A
LL

EN
SB

A
N

K 
RD

TALYGARN ST

HEATHWOOD RD

BRYN
-AW

ELO
N

RD

FID
LA

S AVE
ELA

N
 RD

TO
W

 R
D

EWENNY RD

FISH
G

U
A

RD
 RD

FISH
G

U
A

RD
 RD

SO
LVA

AVE

FID
LA

S RD

HEOL M
ERLIN

USK RD

MAES-Y-COED RD

TY GLAS AVE

LLANDE
N

N
IS

RD CIRCLE WAY E

C
IR

C
LE

 W
AY

 W

CIRCLE WAY W

A48 EASTERN AVE

A48 EASTERN AVE

W
ATERLO

O
RD

NINIAN RD

PE
N-Y

-L
AN

RD

CYNCOED RD

C
YN

C
O

ED
 RD

C
YN

C
O

ED
 RD

CYN
CO

ED
 RD

CYNCOED RD

A469
WHITCHURCH

RD

FA
IR

OAK
RD

R1 a.  Resurface footways. 
b. Provide crossing facilities at

Lake Road E/W.

Lake Road North/East/West 

R2 a.  Resurface footways. 
b. Provide dropped kerbs and

tactile pavings at junctions.

Celyn Avenue

R2 c. Provide tactile paving at  
Celyn Ave/Cyncoed junction

Celyn Avenue

R2 d. Rectify uneven surface at  
junction of Padarn/Celyn Ave

Celyn Avenue

R4 a. Resurface footways

Claerwen/Ogwen/Rannoch

R3 a. Replace radius kerbs at  
driveways with modern   
dropped kerb arrangement

Claerwen Drive

R3 a. Resurface footways 
b. Replace radius kerbs at

driveways with modern
dropped kerb arrangement

Cyncoed Road

R5 c. Dropped kerbs and tactile  
paving at junction of   
Cyncoed Rd/Rannoch Dr

R3 c. Provide formal pedestrian
crossings on Cyncoed Road

R1 d. Formal pedestrian crossing

R1 c.  Dropped Kerbs and tactile  
paving at all junctions with  
Lake Road E.

ROATH PARK KEY

IMPROVEMENTS

FOOTPATH 

Page 178



DOE CL

DERI R
D

AMESBURY RD

ILTON RD

ALM
A R

D

BALA
CLA

VA
 R

D

CRESSY R
D

M
AFEK

IN
G

 R
D

HARRIS
M

IT
H R

D

WESTVILLE RD

A
N

G
U

S ST

PEN
-Y-LAN

 RD

LO
CHABER S

T

DALCROSS ST

SPENCER ST

GO
W

ER
 S

T

DANIEL ST

LU
CAS 

ST

D
AVIO

T ST

FLORENTIA ST

FA
NNY S

T

ROBERT ST

KIMBERLEY RD

MAY ST

TE
W

KES
BURY S

T

LLANTRISANT ST

BRITHDIR ST

CWMDARE ST

PENTYRCH S
T

SOUTHMINSTER RD

AXM
INSTER RD

FORT  ST
TYLER ST

FOX ST

STURM
INSTER RD

LA
D

YS
M

IT
H

 R
D

M
IN

ST
ER

 R
D

PRIEST RD

BRA
D

LEY ST

H
A

RO
LD

 ST
TH

EO
D

O
RA

 ST

H
ELEN

 ST

BURNABY ST

EYRE ST

COMET ST

SYSTEM
ST

HOW
ARD

GDNS

NEWPORT RD LN

EAST G
RO

VE

THE WALK

CH URCH TERR

W
ATERLO

O
 RD

TIMBERS SQ

STALLCOURT AVE

PEA
RL 

ST

D
IA

M
O

ND
 ST

AGATE ST

N
O

RA
 ST

IRON ST

DIAMOND ST

H
ELEN

 PL

CECIL ST

RIC
HARDS T

ERR

WATERLOO GDN S

ST
ACE

Y 
RD

BERTRA
M

 ST

EMERALD ST

SILVER ST

ORBIT ST

LONGCROSS ST

TOPAZ ST

LEAD ST

SUN ST

GOLD ST

SAPPHIRE ST

RUBY ST

COPPER ST

STAR ST

PLANET ST

M
ETAL ST

CA
STLE LN

W
O

RDSW
O

RTH AVE

GORSEDD GDNS RD

WYEVERNE RD

LETTY ST

KING EDW
ARD VII AVE

COLLEGE RD

RO
AT

H
 C

O
U

RT
 P

L

SANDRINGHAM RD

G
RE

N
VI

LL
E 

RD

AGIN
CO

URT 
RD

UPPER KINCRAIG ST

LILY ST

ROSE ST

CLIFTO
N

 ST

ELM ST

Q
U

A
IL

 C
T

MARLBOROUGH RD

CLAUDE PL

BLENHEIM
 RD

RO
ATH

 CO
U

RT RD

ARRAN PL

CLIVE PL

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 RD

W
EL

LF
IE

LD
 S

T

PE
N-Y

-L
AN R

D

BANGO
R S

T

A
RA

BELLA
 ST

D
O

N
A

LD
 ST

D
IA

N
A

 ST

TY’N-Y-COED PL

A
LFRED

 ST

KEPPOCH ST

GLENROY ST

STRATHNAIRN ST

C
RO

FT
S 

ST

OXFORD LN

PR
IN

CE
S 

ST

SN
IP

E 
ST

OAKFIELD ST

WILLOW CT

ELM ST LN

PARTRIDGE LN

TE
A

L 
ST PARTRIDGE RD

CO
N

N
AU

G
H

T RD

CLAU
D

E RD

SOUTHEY ST

O
XFO

RD
 ST

VERE ST

ST PETERS ST

M
ILTON ST

DYLAN PL

CYFARTHFA ST

RUSSELL ST
TALW

ORTH ST

BYRON ST

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 RD

TREHARRIS ST

ARRAN ST

M
A

C
KIN

TO
SH

 PL

CITY RD

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 PL

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 SQ

BED

FO
RD

ST
BEDFORD ST

C
RA

N
BRO

O
K ST

W
IN

D
SO

R PL

THE PARADE

NORTHCOTE LN

KIN
CRA

IG ST

N ORTHCOTE LN

RIC
H

M
O

ND CRES

G
O

RD
O

N
 RD

LLANTW
IT ST

ST ANDREWS PL
SA

LISBU
RY RDGLY

NRHONDDA ST

PA
RK G

RO
VE

MUSEUM PL

PA
RK LN

RHYMNEY TERR

CITY RD

CO
BU

RN
 ST

BASIL PL

RIC
HARDS 

ST

HARRIE
T S

T
FI

TZ
ROY ST

RUTHIN
 G

DNS

WYEVERNE RD

MUNDY PL

CATHERINE ST

FA
NNY S

T

BROADWAY

NEWPORT RD

D
U

M
FRIES PL

STUTTGARTER STRASSE

BOULEVARD DE NANTES

CITY HALL RD

M
USEUM

 AVE

LOWTHER RD

MISKIN ST

TIN ST

PEARL ST

GLOSSOP RD

ALBANY RDALBANY RD

RICHM
OND RD

ALEXANDER ST

SENGHENYDD RD

W
O

O
DVIL

LE
 R

D

TH
ESIG

ER ST

BRYDGES PL

IN
VERN

ESS PL

MOY RD

BRAEVAL ST

GLA
DYS 

STMINNY ST

M
O

NTH
ER

M
ER

 R
D

DALT
O

N S
T

TREHERBERT ST

D
A

RRA
N

 ST

FLORA ST
HIRWAIN ST

C
ATH

AYS T ERR

CORBETT RD

PARK PL

MAINDY RD

TREORKY ST

MINISTER ST

M
ERTHYR ST

NO
RTH RD C6 a.  Repair and re-surface footways

Lowther Road to Northcote Road

C2 a.  Repair and re-surface footways, where  
required. 

b. Widen footways.
c. Identify locations for new formal

crossings of City Road
d. Renew dropped kerbs and tactile

paving.

City Road

C3 a. Redesign/remove drainage channels. 
b. Repair and re-surface footways.
c. Replace road narrowings with crossing

tables.

Keppoch Road

C8 a. Provide pedestrian crossing at desire  
lines

b. Provide tra�c calming

Mackintosh Place

C7 a. Widen footway (Plasnewydd Road)
b. Provide formal crossing point

(Strathnairn St)

Albany Road Primary School
Safety Improvements

C4 a. Redesign/remove drainage channels. 
b. Repair and re-surface footways.
c. Replace road narrowings with crossing

tables.

Kincraig Road

C1 b.  Review pedestrian crossing stages at  
junction of Mackintosh Place, Albany  
Road, Richmond Road, City Road,   
Crwys Road.

C3 d.  Install dropped kerbs near the  
Gate/Plasnewydd Road.

C4 d.  Install/replace dropped kerbs at City  
Road end of Kincraig Street. 

C6 b.  Provide Formal Crossing on  
Lowther Road

C6 c.  Review pedestrian crossing stages at  
Richmond Road crossing.

C5 a. Redesign/remove drainage channels. 
b. Repair and re-surface footways.
c. Replace road narrowings at either end

of route with crossing tables.

Arran Street

ROATH KEY

IMPROVEMENTS

FOOTPATH 

P
age 179



PAGE D
R

DOE CL

BA
RO

N
S

C
T RD

DERI R
D

IPSW

ICH RD

IP
SW

IC
H

 R
D

SIN C L AIR D
R

SO
U

TH
CO

U
RT RD

WINCHESTER AVE

EA
RLS C

T RD

MELROSE AVE

DORCHESTER AVE

HAMMOND WAY

HAMPTON CT RD

FO
S

TER

D R

AMESBURY RD

ILTON RD

PEN-Y
-L

AN P
L

ALM
A R

D

BALA
CLA

VA
 R

D

CRESSY R
D

M
AFEK

IN
G

 R
D

HARRIS
M

IT
H R

D

WESTVILLE RD

A
N

G
U

S ST

PEN
-Y-LAN

 RD

TY-
DRAW

 P
L

LO
CHABER S

T

W
ERFA

 S
T

LI
N

D
EN

 A
VE

BOLEYN WALK

KIMBERLEY RD

TY-DRAW RD

COLCHESTER AVE

H
A

RT
 PL

KENYON RD

STORRAR PL

C
A

IRM
U

IR RD

FFORDD PENGAMWHITAKER RD

TAYMUIR RD

GLANM
UIR RD

PA
LL

O
T 

W
AY

GLAN RHYMNI

NEWPORT RD

SPRIN
G G

ARDENS TERR

SPRING GARDENS PL

BERESFORD RD LN

WILSON ST

FLORENCE ST

ARTHUR ST

SOUTHMINSTER RD

AXM
INSTER RD

FORT  ST
TYLER ST

FOX ST

STURM
INSTER RD

LA
D

YS
M

IT
H

 R
D

M
IN

ST
ER

 R
D

PRIEST RD

ROVER WAY

BRA
D

LEY ST

BLAN
CHE ST

SKELM
U

IR RD

DEEMUIR RD

PENGAM RD

STO
RRA

R RD

TW
EEDSMUIR RD

D
A

LM
U

IR RD

C
RA

IG
M

U
IR RD

D
ESSM

U
IR RD

SKATHMUIR RD

KENMUIR RD

W
H

IT
M

U
IR

 R
D

C
LY

D
ES

M
U

IR
 R

D

H
A

RO
LD

 ST
TH

EO
D

O
RA

 ST

H
O

R
W

O
O

D CL

BERESFO
RD

 RD

M
O

O
RLA

N
D

 RD

H
ELEN

 ST

CH URCH TERR

W
ATERLO

O
 RD

W
ATERLO

O
 RD

TIMBERS SQ

STALLCOURT AVE

FF
O

R
DD

 N
O

W
EL

L

PEARL S
T

N
O

RA
ST

H
ELEN

 PL

CECIL ST

RIC
HARDS T

ERR

WATERLOO GDN S

ST
ACE

Y 
RD

BERTRA
M

 ST

SAPPHIRE STCA
STLE

LN

W
O

RDSW
O

RTH AVE

RO
AT

H
 C

O
U

RT
 P

L

SANDRINGHAM RD

G
RE

N
VI

LL
E 

RD

AGIN
CO

URT 
RD

UPPER KINCRAIG ST

LILY ST

ROSE ST

ELM ST

Q
U

A
IL

 C
T

NINIAN RD

MARLBOROUGH RD

CLAUDE PL

BLENHEIM
 RD

RO
ATH

 CO
U

RT RD

ARRAN PL

CLIVE PL

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 RD

W
EL

LF
IE

LD
 S

T

PE
N-Y

-L
AN R

D

BANGO
R S

T

D
IA

N
A

 ST

A
LFRED

 ST

KEPPOCH ST

GLENROY ST

C
RO

FT
S 

ST

PR
IN

CE
S 

ST

SN
IP

E 
ST

OAKFIELD ST

WILLOW CT

ELM ST LN

PARTRIDGE LN

TE
A

L 
ST PARTRIDGE RD

CO
N

N
AU

G
H

T RD

CLAU
D

E RD

SOUTHEY ST

O
XFO

RD
 ST

VERE ST

ST PETERS ST

M
ILTON ST

DYLAN PL

CYFARTHFA ST

TALW
ORTH ST

BYRON ST

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 RD

TREHARRIS ST

ARRAN ST

CITY RD

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 PL

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 SQ

BED

FO
RD

ST

KIN
CRA

IG ST

BROADWAY

ALBANY RD
ALBANY RD

P1 a.  Resurface footway
c. Additional crossing points at

Waterloo Road.

Waterloo Road

P6 a.  Resurface and widen existing  
footway. 

b. Provide additional footway
where needed.

c. Address footway parking.
d. Provide dropped kerbs and

tactile paving.

Dominion Way

P5 a.  Resurface footways
b. Address footway parking

Newport Road

P2 a.  Resurface footways

Albany Road

P4 a.  Resurface footways

Stacey Road

P1 b.  Dropped kerbs at Westville  
Road and Waterloo Road

P5 c.  Provide tactile paving at  
Dominion Way crossing

P1 d.  Widen footway near St  
Margarets Church

P7 a.  Junction improvements  
and tra�c calming

P3 b.  Resurface footways at  
entrance to Stacey Road

P3 a.  Dropped kerbs at St  
Margarets Crescent

P2 b.  Improve crossing facilities at  
Marlborough Rd/Waterloo Rd  
roundabout.

P8 a.  Tra�c calming
b. Pedestrian crossings
c. Address footway parking

Howardian Primary School Safety 
ImprovementsWATERLOO GARDENS & NEWPORT ROAD

KEY

IMPROVEMENTS

FOOTPATH 

P
age 180



PLAS-Y-LLAN

FORELAND RD
ST M

ARGARETS RD

ST M
ARYS RD

CAM
BOURNE A

VE

KELSTON PL

WEST RD

HAWTHORN RD W

ALFREDA RD

TH
E AVEN

U
E

ATHELSTAN RD

H
EO

L BA
KEM

O
RE

HEOL BOOKER

H
EO

L CH
A

PPELL

H
EO

L 
D

O
N

V
ELIN

D
RE PL

WESTBOURNE RD

TY’N-Y-PWLL RD

CAEDELYN RD

ST FRANCIS RD

C
U

RL
EW

 C
L

ST
 JO

HNS CRES
PARK LN

HEOL PANT Y RHYN

LON-Y-CELYN

CLOS COED HIR

PARK AVE
PARK CRES

VELINDRE RD

PENDWYALLT RD

BLANDON WAY

LIT
TLE MILL

CO
LW

IN
STO

NE C
L

BISHO
PS CL

BISHOPS PL

CALDY RD

EVANSFIELD RD

WINGFIELD RD

THE PARADE

COLWINSTONE STHAWTHORN RD E

BELLE VU
E CRES

RADYR RD

HAZELHURST RD

ST
AT

IO
N

 R
D

H
EO

L D
O

N

KELSTON RD

TY-MAWR RD

HEOL PENLAN

H
EO

L G
W

YN
ED

D

S T  A
ID

A
N

 C
RE

S

PEDAIR ERW RD

HEOL POWIS

HEOL DYFED

ST AGATHA RD

ST
 A

LB
A

N
 A

V
E

ST
 H

EL
EN

S 
RD

JU
BILEE GDN

S

A
RM

O
U

RY D
R

MILESTONE CL

WAUN-FAWR RD

PHILIP CL
FA

IRFA
X

 RD

TY-W
ERN

 AVE

PORTHAMAL RD

TAIR ERW RD

LLW
YN

FED
W

 G
D

N
S

ST GEORGES RD

RHYDHELIG AVE

N
O

RTO
N

 A
V

E

VIO
LET PL

C
A

ERPH
ILLY RD

C
A

ER
PH

IL
LY

 R
D

LO
N-Y-GROES

PUM ERW RD

DRYBURGH AVE

THREIPLAN D D
R

SUMMERFIELD PL

MURRAYFIELD RD

DALE AVE

GROVE  P
L

PANTBACH AVE

CORONATION RD

CROMWELL RD

WELWYN RD

H
O

M
ELA

N
D

S RD

PHOENIX WAY

M
A

V
IS G

R

TH
O

RN
BU

RY CL

GREENFIELD RD

KE
YN

SH
AM

 R
D

PANTBACH PL

HEOL WERNLAS

WESTFIELD RD

HEOL DOLWEN

H
EA

T
H  PARK LN

ST
 A

G
N

ES
 R

D

RO
SEM

O
U

N
T PL

RIC
H

S RD

LLWYNDERW
 RD

SUNNYBA N K CL

CELTIC RD

H
EO

L M
A

D
O

C

M
A

ELO
G

 RD

PEN
 Y FA

I

BI
RCHWOO

D
 G

DNS

C
RA

D
O

C
 RD

HEOL CARNE

LON MADOC

FR
A

N
KL

EN
 R

D

KYLE AVE

LO
N

-Y-PA
RC

HEOL IFOR

HEOL NEST

KEN
FIG RD

TWYN-Y-FEDWEN

HEOL Y GORS

PLAS TREODA

CAE GWYN RD

CA
E 

G
W

YN
 R

D

M
A

N
O

R 
RI

SE

KY
LE

 C
RE

S

CAE YORATH YO
RATH

 RD

HEOL IESTYN

H
EO

L CO
ED

 CAE

CO
U

RT RD

HEOL GABRIEL

W
A

U
N

TREO
D

A
 RD

TY’N-Y-CAE GR

LEAMINGTON RD

LON PENLLYN

NORTHERN AVE

CO
LLEG

E C
L

H
EO

L STRA
D

LIN
G

M
ERVYN

 RD

COTTRELL RD

HEOL-Y-W
AUN

L IMEBOURNE CT

FELIN
 FACH

CLAS TEILO

HEO
L CATTW

G

C
O

ED ARIAN

H
EO

L W
AU

N
 Y N

AN
T

HEO
L TY’N

-Y-CAE

H
EO

L-
Y-

N
AN

T

ST DAVIDS RD

TYNANT

BEATRICE RD

BIRCHGROVE RD

THE PHILOG

MERTHYR RD

PENLLINE RD

GLANDWR PL

HEOL GWRGAN

BISHOPS RD

NORTHERN AVE

A470

HEO
L-Y-FO

RLAN

TYN
EW

YD
D

ERW LAS

MAES GLAS

GLAN-Y-NANT TERR

G
LA

N
-Y-N

A
N

T RD

VICTORIA RD

MAES-Y-COED RD

TY-WERN RD

TY’N-Y-PARC RD

O
LD

 C
H

U
RC

H
 R

D

CHURCH RD

H
EO

L W
EN

HEOL-Y-DERI

PEN-Y-DRE

TYNEWYDD

CO
LL

EG
E 

RD

GROVELAND RD

W1 a.  Resurface footways
 b.  Radius kerbs to be   
  removed

Bishops Road

W2 d.  Improve pedestrian crossing  
  facilities at Mervyn Street

W6 a.  Upgrade existing crossing
  to include pedestrian facility

W4 d.  Improve pedestrian crossing  
  facilities at Northern Avenue.

W3 a.  Resurface footways

Penlline Road

W2 b.  Resurface footways. 

Merthyr Road

W5 a.  Resurface footways. 

Glan-y-Nant Terr./Glan-y-Nant Rd

W4 a.  Resurface and widen footways   
  where possible.    
 b.  Provide dropped kerbs and    
  tactile paving. 
 c.  Relocate bus stops to improve   
  pavement widths

Old Church Road

WHITCHURCH KEY

        IMPROVEMENTS

        FOOTPATH 

P
age 181



M
ae'r dudalen hon yn w

ag yn fw
riadol



KEY

CYCLE NETWORK ROUTES

PRIMARY ROUTES

PRIMARY ROUTES: ALTERNATIVE ALIGNMENT

STRATEGIC SITES TO INCORPORATE EXTENSIVE
INTERNAL NETWORK OF ROUTES

INTEGRATED NETWORK MAP: CYCLE ROUTES

Appendix2

P
age 183



CARDIFF RD

LLA
N

D
A

FF RD

LLANDAFF RD

TINTERN ST

EG
ERTO

N
 ST

PARRY ST

LLAN DAFF PL

WESTMORELAND ST

CUMBERLAND ST

HANOVER ST

N
O

RT
H

U
M

BE
RL

A
N

D
 S

T

TH
EO

BA
LD

 S
T

BRECO
N

 ST PEN
-Y-PEEL RD

RA
D

N
O

R 
RD

CARDIGAN ST

HAD
F

IE LD CL

PEMBROKE RD

SYR DAVID’S AVE

DULWICH GDNS

EG
H

A
M

 S
T

PE

NHIL L 
C

L

LANSDOWNE AVE E

LANSDOWNE AVE W

LAWRENNY AVE
YO

RK
 S

T

W
EM

BL
EY

 R
D

BROADHAVEN

BROADSTAIRS RD

BE
D

A
 R

D

AU
BREY AVE

N
O

RF
O

LK
 S

T

LI
N

C
O

LN
 S

T

LI
O

N
EL

 R
D

SU
RR

EY
 S

T

N
ES

TA
 R

D

TU
RN

ER
 R

D

BRUNSWICK ST

N
O

TT
IN

G
H

A
M

 S
T

FE
RN

 S
T

FLINDO CRES

VERALLO
 D

R

HEOL TERRELL

ETHEL ST

FORREST RD

DAISY ST

KI
N

G
SL

A
N

D
 R

D

W
ES

SE
X

 S
T

BURLINGTON TERR

VISHWELL RD

OVINGTON TERR

WESTBURY TERR

V
IC

TO
RI

A
 P

A
RK

 R
D

 E

HALSBU
RY

 R
D

VICTORIA AVE

G
RO

SV
EN

O
R 

ST

C
LIV

E RD

IV
Y 

ST
C

O
N

YB
EA

RE
 R

D

PALACE RD

C
A

EW
A

L R
D

R O WAN CT

H
EN

D
RE G

D
N

S

HOW
EL

LS
 C

RE
S

ST MICHAELS RD

C
H

A
RG

O
T RD

PEN
C

ISELY RISE

PENCISELY AVE

G
REEN

W
IC

H
 RD

P
EN

CISELY C R ESW
IN

D
W

AY RD

C
A

EW
A

L RD

VAUGHAN AVE

BISH
O

PS W
A

LK

IN
SO

LE G
RO

VE W
PRO

S PEC
T D

R

KEN
ILW

O
RTH

 C
T

FA
IRW

ATER G
RO

VE E

N
O

RBU
RY RD

EM
BLEM

 CL

VIC
TO

RIA
 PA

RK RD
 W

WINDWAY AVE

THOMPSON AVE

BERNARD AVE

KEN
SIN

G
TO

N
 AVE

GRAN
VILLE AVE

M
AYFIELD

 AVE

FA
IRFIELD

 AVE

REDCLIFFE AVE

PAPER MILL RD

SANATORIUM RD

W

 O
RCH

A
RD

 C
RE

S

BU
TL

EI
G

H
 A

V
E

ELY RD

ELY
 R

D

ELY
 R

D

ALD
SW

O
RTH

 RD

FAIRFIELD CL

BIRCH
FIELD

 CRES

D
AVIES PL

SHEARS RD

FA
IRW

ATER G
RO

VE W

A48   WESTERN AVE

ST FA
G

A
N

S RD

BRO
O

K RD

ST
AT

IO
N

 T
ER

R

ARLES W
AY

BARNARD AVE

ROBERT ST

AIN
T

R
EE  DR

LITTLECROFT AVE

CHIC
HESTER W

AY

DYFRIG RD

COLIN W
AY

DEW CRES

PE
N-Y

-T
URN

PI
KE 

RD

PEN-Y-TURN
PIKE RD

LE
C

K
W

IT
H

 R
D

LECKW
ITH

 RD

O
XW

IC
H C

L

ELY RD

LIM ES L ADE CLWRO
UGHTON PL

CLARKE ST

VINCENT RD

M
ORRIS FINER C L

ST MICHAELS CL

NORBURY RD

FINCHLEY RD

PEN
ALLY RD

KENYON RD

STORRAR PL

HA N DLEY RD
C

A
IRM

U
IR RD

FFORDD PENGAMWHITAKER RD

TAYMUIR RD

GLANM
UIR RD

NEWPORT RD

CAMERON ST

SPRIN
G G

ARDENS TERR

SPRING GARDENS PL

BERESFORD RD LN

WILSON ST

FLORENCE ST

ARTHUR ST

SOUTHMINSTER RD

FORT  ST
TYLER ST

FOX ST

M
IN

ST
ER

 R
D

PRIEST RD

ROVER W
AY

TI
D

E 
FI

EL
D

S 
RD

SEAWALL RD

M
ERED

EITH
 RD

M
ERC

IA
 RD

M
O

NA PL

DUNSMUIR RD

BRA
D

LEY ST

BLAN
CHE ST

SKELM
U

IR RD

DEEMUIR RD

STO
RRA

R RD

TW
EEDSMUIR RD

D
A

LM
U

IR RD

C
RA

IG
M

U
IR RD

D
ESSM

U
IR RD

SKATHMUIR RD

KENMUIR RD

W
H

IT
M

U
IR

 R
D

C
LY

D
ES

M
U

IR
 R

D

PO
RTM

A
N

M
O

O
R RD

SWINTON ST

H
A

RO
LD

 ST
TH

EO
D

O
RA

 ST

DARBY RD

M
AR

TI
N

 R
D

VIKING PL

RO
V

ER
 W

AY

FORESHORE RD

GLASS AVE

FRESHMOOR RD

TIDAL SIDINGS

PACIFIC RD

ROVER W
AY

OLD CLIPPER RD

LO
NGSHIP

S R
D

FARMVILLE RD

RUNWAY RD

ME IR
IO

N P

L

H
O

R
W

O
O

D CL

BERESFO
RD

 RD

M
O

O
RLA

N
D

 RD

M
O

O
RLA

N
D

 RD

WILLOWS AVE

MERVYN RD

M
A

D
O

C RD

PO
RTM

AN
M

O
O

R RD

H
ELEN

 ST

TITAN RD

KEEN
 RD

BURNABY ST

EYRE ST

COVENY ST

SEYMOUR ST

M
OIR

A ST ECLIPSE ST

COMET ST SPLOTT RD

M
U

IRTO
N

 RD

ORDELL ST

HABE
RS

HO
N S

T

WALKER RD

CO
URTE

NAY
 R

D

ABERYSTWYTH ST

HINTON ST

VANGUARD WAY

JANET ST

MARION ST

SINGLETON RD

ADELINE ST

RAIL
W

AY S
T

HOWARD ST

BAYSID
E RD

CU
M

RA
E ST

CARL
IS

LE
 S

T

SANQUHAR ST

CUMNOCK PL

CLYDE ST

KERRYCRO
Y ST

A
SG

O
G

 ST

KILCATTA
N

 ST

LADY MARGARET TERR

ROATH DOCK RD

CLIPPER RD

CO
LD

 S
TO

RE
S 

RD

QUEENS R
D S

 
CARGO R

D

COMPASS RD

PIE
RHEAD ST TYN

ESID
E RD

NETTLEFORD RD

E M
O

O
RS RD

SPRUCE C
L

OCEAN WAY

LEW
IS RD

EAST TYNDALL ST

A

PPL EW OOD CL

E M
O

O
RS RD

SYSTEM
 ST

PRINCE LEOPOLD ST

KAM
ES PL

GALSTON ST

ADAMSDOWN LN

ADA

MSDOWN S Q

A DAM
S

C ROFT PL

EAST TYNDALL ST

CEN
TRA

L LIN
K

M

ORGAN ST

ATLANTIC WHARF

HOW
ARD GDNS

NEWPORT RD LN

EAST G
RO

VE

THE WALK

PE
N

A
RT

H
 P

O
RT

W
AY

JOHN BATCHELOR WAY

EMPIRE WAY

C
H

A
N

DL

ERS WAY

HEMINGWAY RD

W
 B

U
TE

 S
TM

O
UN

T STUART SQ

HEOL GLANRHEIDOL

RERESBY  CT

OVERS TON
E CT

YS
TR

A
D

 S
T

ABER
CYNO

N S
T

KESTELL D
R

CO
RVETTE CT

LLANSANNOR DR

S LOUDOUN PL

HANNAH ST

A
LICE ST

WEST CL

LETTON RD

LO
U

D
O

U
N

 SQ

MARIA ST

W
ESLEY LN

LO

UISA PL

A
D

ELA
ID

E ST

H
A

R
RO

W
BY

 S
T

ELEANOR PL

C
H

A
N

D
LERY W

AY

H
A

RR
O

W
BY

 L
N

CLARENCE PL

WINDSOR ESPLANADE

AVONDAL E GDNS

TA
FF

 T
ER

R

POMEROY ST

HUNTER STCLARENCE EMBANKMENT

CA
M

BR
ID

G
E 

ST

AVOND AL E  G
DNS

JI
M

 D
RI

SC
O

LL
 W

AY

FERRY RD

MOORDALE RD

NEWPORT ST

COSSLETT PL

BRADFORD ST

C

O RY P L

H
A

RRISO
N

 W
A Y

INTERNATIONAL DR

O
LYM

PIA
N

 D
R

CAMPBELL DR

FERRY RD
BARGOED S

TCLY
DACH S

T

CYM
M

ER S
T

LLANBRADACH S
T

G
RA

N
G

E G
D

N
S

BESSBOROUGH D R

AM
YAS CL

ROLLS ST

LITTLETO
N

 ST

CHANCERY LN REN
N

IE ST

TE
LF

O
RD

 S
T

PLAS TALIESIN

LLWYN PASSAT

MARCONI AVE

TERRA NOVA WAY

RIVER VIEW

W
ATKISS WAY

FERRY RD

DUNLEAVY DR

OLD BARRY RD

DUNLEAVY DR

UPLA N D S C
RES

PENARTH RD

DYLAN CL

PA
N

T YCELYN RD

A4232   GRANGETOWN LINK

A4232 GRANGETOW
N LIN

K

DOCHDWY RD

LLANDOUGH HILL

CH
URC H VIEW

 C L

TUSCA
N

 CL
LEWIS RD

GREENWAY CL

LANGH
A

M

 W AY

FONTHIL L PL

WELLS ST LN

LECKWITH AVE

LECKWITH PL

R
AILW

AY TERR

FABER W
AY
W

ATERH O

U
SE

 D
R

NEWTON RD

ST D
O

N
ATS RD

DUNRA
VE

N RD

P
O

W
D

ERH
AM

 DR

D
EN

TO
N

 R
D

WHITTLE RD

BE
SS

EM
ER

 R
D

HOLDEN RD

BESSEMER CL

SUDCROFT ST

BR
O

AD
H

AV
EN

TIMBERS SQ

PEA
RL 

ST

D
IA

M
O

ND
 ST

AGATE ST

N
O

RA
 ST

IRON ST

DIAMOND ST

AN

DERSON PL

ZINC ST

H
ELEN

 PL

CECIL ST

RIC
HARDS T

ERR

ST
ACE

Y 
RD

BERTRA
M

 ST

EMERALD ST

SILVER ST

ORBIT ST

LONGCROSS ST

TOPAZ ST

LEAD ST

SUN ST

GOLD ST

SAPPHIRE ST

RUBY ST

COPPER ST

STAR ST

PLANET ST

M
OIR

A TERR

M
ETAL ST

CA
STLE LN

W
O

RDSW
O

RTH AVE

GORSEDD GDNS RD

WYEVERNE RD

KING EDW
ARD VII AVE

COLLEGE RD

QUEEN ANNE SQ

UPPER KINCRAIG ST

LILY ST

ROSE ST

CLIFTO
N

 ST

ELM ST

Q
U

A
IL

 C
T

RO
ATH

 CO
U

RT RD

CLIVE PL

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 RD

KEPPOCH ST

GLENROY ST

C
RO

FT
S 

ST

OXFORD LN

PR
IN

CE
S 

ST

SN
IP

E 
ST

OAKFIELD ST

WILLOW CT

ELM ST LN

PARTRIDGE LN

TE
A

L 
ST PARTRIDGE RD

CO
N

N
AU

G
H

T RD

CLAU
D

E RD

SOUTHEY ST

O
XFO

RD
 ST

VERE ST

ST PETERS ST

M
ILTON ST

DYLAN PL

THARSIS CL

DAVIS ST

CYFARTHFA ST

RUSSELL ST

TALW
ORTH ST

BYRON ST

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 RD

TREHARRIS ST

ARRAN ST

CITY RD

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 PL

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 SQ

BED

FO
RD ST

BEDFORD ST

C
RA

N
BRO

O
K ST

W
IN

D
SO

R PL

THE PARADE

KNOX RD

NORTHCOTE LN

KIN
CRA

IG ST

N ORTHCOTE LN

RIC
H

M
O

ND CRES

G
O

RD
O

N
 RD

LLANTW
IT ST

ST ANDREWS PL

SA
LISBU

RY RDGLY
NRHONDDA ST

PA
RK G

RO
VE

MUSEUM PL

PA
RK LN

RHYMNEY TERR

CO
BU

RN
 ST

RIC
HARDS 

ST

HARRIE
T S

T
FI

TZ
ROY ST

RUTHIN
 G

DNS

WYEVERNE RD

MUNDY PL

CATHERINE ST

BROADWAY

NEWPORT RD

D
U

M
FRIES PL

STUTTGARTER STRASSE

BOULEVARD DE NANTES

CRO

C KHERBTOWN LN

CITY HALL RD

M
USEUM

 AVE

LOWTHER RD

MISKIN ST

FITZALAN RD MOIRA PL

CONSTELLATIO
N ST

TIN ST

PEARL ST

AUGUSTA ST

WINDSOR PL

M
ETEO

R ST

GLOSSOP RD

HEN
KE C

T

N
 L

U
TO

N
 P

L
S 

LU
TO

N P
L

CELERITY DR

RO
SE

M

ARY ST

ELLEN
 ST

SC
HO

O
N

ER
 W

AY

SILU
RIA

N
 PL

SILU
RIAN

 PL

BRIG

A N TINE PL

PELLETT ST

SANDON ST

A
N

G
ELIN

A ST

W CAN AL W

HARF

CRA
IG

LEE D
R

N EDWARD STQUEEN ST

BRIDGE ST

STATIO
N

 TERR

CHURC

H
 P

L

CH
ARLES ST

DA

VID
 S

T

CAROLIN
E ST

CALLAGHAN SQ

LLO
YD

 G
EO

RG
E AVE

TYNDALL ST

HERBERT ST

C ALLAGHA N SQ

JOHN ST

CHURCHILL W
AY

RICHM
OND RD

FITZA
LA

N
 PL

ADAM ST

BUTE TERR

CUS TOM HOUSE ST

THE HAYES

WORKING ST

ST M
ARYS ST

H
IG

H
 ST

SAU NDERS RD

GREAT W
ESTERN

 LN

SENGHENYDD RD

W
O

O
DVIL

LE
 R

D

TH
ESIG

ER ST

BRYDGES PL

CANAL PARADE

TRA DE 
ST

 L
N

TRA
D

E ST

D
U

M
BA

LLS RD

D
U

M
BALLS RD

BURT 
ST

ABE
R 

ST

C
U

RRA
N

 EM
BA

N
K

M
EN

T

C
U

RRA
N

 RD

BROMFIELD ST
AVONDALE C R ES

GRANGE PL

CORPORATION RD

TAFF EM
BANKM

ENT

FERNDALE ST

H
A

FO
D

 ST

PENTRE G
DNS

COEDCAE S
T

TA
FF EM

BA
N

KM
EN

T

TA
FFS M

EA
D

 EM
BA

N
KM

EN
T

TUDOR LN

UNIVERSAL ST

D
IN

A
S ST

MERCHES GDNS

M
A

RD
Y ST

M
A

RD
Y ST

ALLERTON ST

W
A

RW
IC

K 
PL

CHESTER ST

JU BILEE ST

SUSSEX ST

COMPTON STSOMERSET ST

STAFFORD RD

WEDMORE RD

W
ED

M
O

RE RD

TYN
AN

T ST

CORNW
ALL ST

VIRGIL ST

VIRG
IL CT

WARW
ICK ST

D
EVO

N
 ST

PARK LN

CHURCH ST
WESTGATE ST

PLA
N

TA
G

EN
ET ST

BEA
U

C
H

A
M

P ST

MARK ST

CLARE PL
DESPENSER PL

GRE
EN

 S
T

RAWDEN MEWS

FITZH
AM

O
N

 EM
BAN

KM
EN

T

DESPENSER ST

NEVILLE P
L

G
LO

U
CESTER ST

BROOK ST

CRADDOCK ST

ST
EP

H
EN

SO
N

 S
T

MACHEN PL

H
EA

TH
 P

L

RA
W

D
EN

 P
L

DE BURGH ST

NEVILLE ST

MA NDEVIL
LE S

T

RUTLAND ST

PENDYRIS ST

COURT R
D

DORSET ST

C
ATH

AYS T ERR

CORBETT RD

GREYFRIARS RD

PARK PL

COLUM RD

COLU
M

 D
R

MAINDY RD

CASTLE ST
DUKE  S

T

N
O

RTH
 RD

HAMILTON ST

CRADDOCK ST

TREVETHIC
K ST

SOPHIA
 C

L

TALBOT ST

PLASTURTON P
L

KYVEILOG STBERTHW
IN

 ST

DOGO S
T

G
IL

ES
TO

N
 R

D

W
ELLS ST

LYNDHURST ST

A
LBERT ST

ORCHARD PL

KINGS RD

SNEYD ST

IE
ST

YN ST

SPRINGFIELD PL

GLYNNE ST

W
YNDHAM

 RD

SEVERN
 RD

G
RAY LN

DYFRIG
 S

T

GREENFIELD AV E

SEVERN
 G

RO
VE

RYDER ST

PLASTURTON AVE

PITM
AN ST

MALDWYN ST

CO
N

W
AY RD

MORTIMER RD

LO
W

ER
 C

AT
H

ED
RA

L 
RD

CATHEDRAL RD

CATHEDRAL RD

PENHILL RD
PENCISELY RD

WAUNGRON RD

PE
N

LL
YN

 R
D

C
H

U
RC

H
 R

D

LLANFAIR RD

W
YNDHAM

 CRES

ROMILLY CRES

ROMILLY RD

ROMILLY RD W

CARMARTHEN ST

G
LA

M
O

RG
A

N
 ST

MARKET  PL

FAIRLEIGH RD

S 
M

O
RG

AN
 PL LEW

IS ST

TEIL
O S

T

PO
N

TC
A

N
N

A
 ST

SOPHIA
 W

K

SM
EA

TO
N

 S
T

WOOD ST

TUDOR ST

NINIAN PARK RD

MAJOR RD
WYNDHAM PL

WYNDHAM
 PL

A
LBER T  ST

PICTON PL

BROAD ST

E ARLE PL

LEC
KW

ITH
 RD

LECKW
IT

H R
D

RE
C

TO
RY

 R
D

M
A

RKET RD

A
LE

X
A

N
D

RA
 R

D

COWBRIDGE RD EAST

COWBRIDGE RD EAST

COWBRIDGE RD EAST

WELLINGTON ST

ATLAS R D

LANSDOWNE RD

LUDLOW ST

AMHERST STEARL L N

SEAGER DR

CH
A

N
N

EL VIEW
 RD

KENT ST

SEVEN
O

A
KS ST

O
A

KLEY PL

FERRY RD

H
O

LM
ES

D
AL

E 
ST

EARL ST

BROMSGROVE ST

W
O

RCESTER ST

PENHEVAD ST

LLANMAES ST

ST FAGANS CT

PA
G

ET ST

C
LA

RE ST

C
LA

RE ST

AVONDALE RD

REDLAVER ST

STOCKLAND ST

S C
LIVE ST

PENTREBANE ST

C
LIVE LN

C
LIVE ST

N
 C

LIVE ST

DURHAM ST

HAVELOCK PL

COLERIDGE RD

HADFIELD RD

FLEET WAY

G
LY

N
ST

EL
L 

CL

BR
IN

D
LE

Y 
RD

PE
N

AR
TH

 R
D

LYON CL

PENARTH
 R

D

PENARTH RD

PE
N

AR
TH

 R
D

COGAN PILL RD

COGAN PILL RD

SPENC E R DR

ANDREW RD

CORBETT RD

A4055

BARRY RD

PEN
LLA

N
 RD

LECKWITH RD

FI
EL

D
S 

PA
RK

 R
D

SLO
PER RD

BU
TE ST

HAVANNAH ST

BUTE PL

JAMES ST

CLARENCE RD

WHARTON ST

TREDEGAR ST

M
IL

L 
LN

HILLS ST

18 a  Widen sections of o� road route

      b  Southern end of Hamadryad Road: 
  Change access barrier 
  

a

b

21 a  Penarth Road: Provision of light segregation

      b  Penarth Rd/Tresillian Way junction: Improvements 
  to allow southbound cyclists to access southwest 
  bound cycle lanes on Penarth Road  

      c  North section of route: On road cycle lanes

b

c

a

30 Ta� Embankment: Tra�c calming, 
 resurfacing and side road entry treatments

ROUTE 8: UPGRADE

25 a  Llanda� Rd Jct: Early start for cyclists provided 
  through signal timing changes at signal junction

      b  Lansdowne Road jct: Early start for cyclists provided 
  through signal timing changes at signal junction

      c  Llanda� Rd to Victoria Park: 20mph limit

a

c

b

ROUTE 6: UPGRADE

f

29 a  James St between Bute St and Bute Pl junction: Widen footway and convert to shared use 
  and reduce tra�c lanes and widen cycle lane 
 
      b  James St/Mermaid Quay: Upgrade pedestrian crossing to Toucan and remove guard rail 

      c  Mermaid Quay: Designate as shared use area

      d  Harrowby Street junction: Continue cycle lane through junction 

      e  Clarence Bridge: Remove substandard cycle lanes, improve surface and install cycle symbols

      f   James St/Bute St junction: Early start for cyclists

b

c

d

e a

ROUTE 8: UPGRADE

90 a  Windway Avenue:  Tra�c calming and 
  extension of 20mph limit

      b  Thompson Ave/Romilly Rd jct:  Refresh 
  road markings

      c  Windway Ave/Thompson Ave jct: Raised 
  table

c b

a

93 a  Romilly Crescent to Romilly Road W: 
  Introduce 20mph limit, tra�c calming, 
  centre line removal, surface improvements
  and treatment of side roads

      b  Romilly Cr/Llanda� Rd jct: Provide 
  Advance Stop Lines

a
b

118   City Centre Hub Tyndall Street between Central Link and 
  Bute Street: Widen northern footway and convert to shared 
  use cycle track

119  Length of section alongside dock: Surface improvements

120  Hemingway Road: Provision of 
  o� road cycle facilities 

138 a   Tyndall St/Schooner Way junction: Provision of 
  Toucan crossings on all arms of junction 

         b   Schooner Way: Provision of tra�c calming 

a

b

22 a  Existing footway along Ta� Embankment: 
  Widen and convert to shared use 
  
      b  Near Blaenclydach Street: Install tra�c 
  island 

      c  Corporation Rd/Redlaver St junction: 
  Improve link to zebra crossing 
 
     d  Clive Street/Penarth Rd junction: Upgrade 
  to Toucan crossing

a

b

c

d

ROUTE 5: UPGRADE

57 Route to be re-assessed following 
 completion of The Mill development

KEY

        CYCLE NETWORK ROUTES

        PROPOSED EXTENSIONS TO CYCLE NETWORK

        STRATEGIC SITES TO INCORPORATE EXTENSIVE
        INTERNAL NETWORK OF ROUTES
     

CANTON, GRANGETOWN AND BUTETOWN

P
age 184



CORNELLY
 S

T

PLAS-Y-LLAN

FORELAND RD
ST M

ARGARETS RD

ST M
ARYS RD

CAM
BOURNE A

VE

KELSTON PL

WEST RD

HAWTHORN RD W

ALFREDA RD

KIN
G

SLA
N

D
 RD

TH
E AVEN

U
E

ATHELSTAN RD

H
EO

L BA
KEM

O
RE

HEOL BOOKER

H
EO

L CH
A

PPELL

H
EO

L 
D

O
N

V
ELIN

D
RE PL

WOODLAND RD
WESTBOURNE RD

TY’N-Y-PWLL RD

ST FRANCIS RD

ST
 JO

HNS CRES
PARK LN

H
A

R
FORD

 C
L

VELINDRE RD

PENDWYALLT RD

P
ENYDARREN

 D
R

FFO
R D

D
 M

ORG

A NWG

SAM
U

EL
S 

C
RE

S

FOREST FARM RD

JU
N

C
TI

O
N

 T
ER

R

BLANDON WAY

LIT
TLE MILL

CO
LW

IN
STO

NE C
LC

O
R

W
EN CRES

WHITEFIELD RD

FESTINIOG RD

CO
LL

EG
E 

RD

BLOSS E RD

GABALFA AVE

WATSON RD

COPLESTON RD

BA
LA

 R
D

M
A

N
O

D
 R

D

BISHO
PS CL

BISHOPS PL

CORNELLY
 C

L

CALDY RD

EVANSFIELD RD

WINGFIELD RD

THE PARADE

W
ESTBOURN

E CRES

CLARBESTON RD

ANDREWS RD

MARY ST

COLWINSTONE STHAWTHORN RD E

HILTON PL

RIVERSDALE

BELLE VU
E CRES

RADYR RD

HAZELHURST RD

CHAM
BERLAIN RD

ST
AT

IO
N

 R
D

H
EO

L D
O

N

KELSTON RD

RADYR CT CL

RA
D

YR CT RD

GERDD
I TA

F

TR
ISC

OM BE D
R

HIGHFIELDS

WHITEHALL RD

CLOS TY C LYD

M
EL

IN
GR

IFFITH DR

TY-MAWR RD

T
Y-M

A
W

R RD

HEOL PENLAN

H
O

RNCHURCH CL

FA
IR

W
O

O
D

 RD

FISH
ER H

ILL W
AY

DE CLARE D
R

VISTA RISE

B
R ACKEN PL

ED
W

A
RD

 C
LA

RKE CL

GREE
NW

OO
D R

D

RADYR CT RD

DOUGLAS CL

RA
C

H
EL CL

ALLAN D
U

RST CL

PI
PE

R C
L

HEO
L URBAN

BEALE 
C

L

C
A

D
O

C
 PL

NICHOLSON WEB B CL

ASHD ENE CL

TANGMERE DR

JEVAN  CL

HERBERT MARCH CL

A4119

DANESCOURT W
AY

D
AN

ESCO
U

RT W
AY

HEOL A
RA

DUR

EPSTEIN
 C

L

HEOL SEDD ON

PACE CL

RADYR CT RD

COSHESTON RD

DE BRAOSE CL

BU
C

K
LEY C

L

BL E T HIN CL

TIM
O

THY REES CL

PECKH AM CL

PLAS-Y-MYNACH

WOODFIELD AVE

CLOS PARC RADYR

PARK RD

DRO V E RS W

AY

KINGS RD

D
A

N
-Y-BRYN

 AVE

FFORDD LAS

H
EO

L 
IS

A
F

H
EO

L ISA
F

STATION RD

W
IN

D
SO

R RD

WINDSO
R AVE

CEDAR GR

BRYN
 D

ERW
EN

DRYSGOL RD

LL
EW

EL
LY

N G
O

C
H

RH
YDLAFA R D

R

O
LD

 M
ILL D

R

WINDSOR CLIVE DR

PRINCE  OF WALES DR

LLANTRISANT RD

LLANTRISANT RD

G
O

ETR
E  FAWR

ABERDULAIS RD

DOLWEN RD

GABALFA AVE

BO
N

CA
TH

 R
D

ABERPORTH RD

L IMEBOURNE CT

FELIN
 FACH

ST DAVIDS RD

BEATRICE RD

M
ERTHYR RD

BISHOPS RD

NORTHERN AVE

HEO
L-Y-FO

RLAN

TYN
EW

YD
D

ERW LAS

MAES GLAS

VICTORIA RD

O
LD

 C
H

U
RC

H
 R

D

CHURCH RD

HEOL FAIR

M
A

Y
N

A

R D CT

LLA
N

D
A

FF  CHASE

TYNEWYDD

COLLEGE R
D

M
IT

RE
 P

L

BRIDGE ST

FORDWELL

LLANTRISANT RD

CARD
IFF RD

CO
LW

IL
L 

RD

RIVER VIEW

G
ABALFA RD

BR
ID

G
E 

RD

BRIDGE RD

AU
BREY AVE

CHAPEL ST

HENDRE C
L

ELY RD

C
A

EW
A

L R
D

R O WAN CT

H
EN

D
RE G

D
N

S

ST MICHAELS RD

PEN
C

ISELY RISE

PENCISELY AVE

P
EN

CISELY C R ESW
IN

D
W

AY RD

C
A

EW
A

L RD

TH
E  GRA

N
G

E

VAUGHAN AVE

INSOLE G
D

N
S

HIG
H S

T

H
A

R
D

W
ICKE CT

BISH
O

PS W
A

LK

IN
SO

LE G
RO

VE W
PRO

S PEC
T D

R

BISHOPS PL

KEN
ILW

O
RTH

 C
T

PWLLMELIN LN

RO
O

KW
O

O
D

 AVE

FA
IRW

ATER G
RO

VE E

ROOKWOOD CL

N
O

RBU
RY RD

M
ARIO

NVILLE G
D

N

S

BISHOPS AVE

ARGYLE WAY

OLD SC
HOOL RD

EM
BLEM

 CL

EBWY CT

VIC
TO

RIA
 PA

RK RD
 W

WINDWAY AVE

THOMPSON AVE

BERNARD AVE

KEN
SIN

G
TO

N
 AVE

GRAN
VILLE AVE

M
AYFIELD

 AVE

FA
IRFIELD

 AVE

REDCLIFFE AVE

PAPER MILL RD

SANATORIUM RD

W

 O
RCH

A
RD

 C
RE

S

BU
TL

EI
G

H
 A

V
E

ELY RD

ELY
 R

D

ELY
 R

D

ALD
SW

O
RTH

 RD

FAIRFIELD CL

BIRCH
FIELD

 CRES

D
AVIES PL

SHEARS RD

FA
IRW

ATER G
RO

VE W

A48   WESTERN AVE

ST FA
G

A
N

S RD

BRO
O

K RD

ST
AT

IO
N

 T
ER

R

ARLES W
AY

BARNARD AVE

ROBERT ST

AIN
T

R
EE  DR

LITTLECROFT AVE

CHIC
HESTER W

AY

LLANGYNIDR RD

LLA
N

G
ATTO

CK RD

BAILEY CL

MILTON PL

DYFRIG RD

COLIN W
AY

PENGWERN RD

PENYGARN R
D

PENDIN
E RD

BROMLEY D
R

DEW CRES

PEN
CAD

ER RD

RO
NALD PL

M
IL

L P
L

C
H

A
RTEERIS  RD

EVERSWELL AVE

THE CRESCEN
T

FERN PL PERROTS CL

O
XW

IC
H C

L

ELY RD

LIM ES L ADE CL

TH
E C

H
A

N
TRY

FAIRW
O

O
D

 RD

KIRTON CL

W
H

ITLAND
 CL

KEYSTON RD

W
H

ITLA
N

D
 CR ES

ELFED GRN

FAIRWATER RD

TH
E D

R

CARTER PL

BIRCH RD

HEOL GWILYM

WRO
UGHTON PL

CLARKE ST

PALMERS DR

VINCENT RD

M
ORRIS FINER C L

H
EO

L-Y-FELIN

CH
ER

RY
D A L

E
 R

D

LLANBEDR RD

AMETHYST RD

HEOL DENNANT

DOYLE AVE

LLA
N

D
ETTY RD

CYMRIC CL

AD
D

IC

OTT C
L

OGMORE RD

NEYLAND PL

BROMLEY DR

LLANDOW RD

CAMROSE RD

PEN
D

EG
RA

ST PL

RED
 H

O
U

SE CL

CHO RLEY CL

SPINNEY CL

EFFORD RD

STANWAY PL

H
O

W
ELL RD

HILES RD

ILLTYD RD

HEOL EGLWYS

C
A

LD
IC

O
TT

 R
D

HAVERFORD WAY

CHURCH RD

HEOL DEVA

HEOL CARNAU

CH
URCH RD

HILLFORT CL

CW
RT-YR-ALA RD

C
A

N
A

STO
N

 PL

H
EO

L EBW
Y

H
EO

L SO
LVA

H
EO

L PEN
M

A
R

HEOL EBWY

BISHOPSTON RD

HEOL PANTYDERI

N
EW

G
ATE PL

BISHOPSTON RD

TIDENHAM RD

HEOL-Y-GAER

DEERE PL

HEOL TRELAI

NOTTAGE RD

ABERTHAW
 RD

AM
RO

TH
 RD

TRESEDER W
AY

FONMON CRES

HIGHMEAD RD

COWBRIDGE RD W

HIRST CRES

G
O

U
G

H
 RD

NARBERTH RD

RED H
OUSE CRES

ST FA
G

A
N

S RISE

CA
RTW

RIG
H

T LN

EVERSW
ELL RD

FAIRW
AYS CRES

W
ELLRIG

H
T RD

HOLLY RD

FERRIER AVE

HONEYSUCKLE CL

LA
VE

NDER GR

SH
A

M
RO

CK
 R

D

BEE
CH R

D

BR
IA

R 
C

L

WILLOWDALE RD

HER
ITAG E  DR

MURREL CL

EM

ERSO

N DR

KNI
GH

TS
W

EL
L C

L

THO
RN

E W
AY

ROCH
E 

CR
ES

LL
ANW

ERN RD

ADDISON CRES

HILLSN
O

O
K R

D

HIGHBURY RD

VACHELL RD

HAZEL
 P

L

YEWTREE CL

FREWER AVE

POPLAR RD

LLANTRISANT RD

W
AT

ER
H

A
LL

 R
D

PLAS-M
AW

R RD

HEOL-Y-PAVIN

FAIRWATER RD

PWLLMELIN RD

PWLLMELIN RD

LAURISTO N PK

HEOL-Y-BERLLAN

CAERAU RD

PYLE RD

CAERA

U CT RD

PORTHCAW
L R

D

CAERAU PARK CRES

CAERAU PARK RD

CLOS CU
LVER

G
W

ENT RD

SW
ELDON CL

HEOL H
O

M
FR

AY

YARRO W CL

CAERWENT RD

HAIG PL

BRUND

ALL C
RES

ST FAG
AN

S CT

CW RT-Y
-C

ADNO

LON-Y-FFIN

LON WERDD

STIRLING RD

M
O

O
RE RD

WHINBERRY WAY

CR
OS

SW
ELL

S
 W

AY

PENMARK GRN

M
ARG

U
ER

IT
ES

 W
AY

TY CO
C

H
 RD

CRO
SSW

AYS RD

CAERAU LN

ARCHER RD

PERSONDY LN

CLOS-Y-CWARRA

MOORE C
L

LL
AN

O
V

ER
 R

D

ELDERBERRY RD

MAPLE RD

LIM
E G

R

BI
SH

O
P 

H
AN

NON DR

VERVAIN CL

FI
RS

 A
VE

G
LAN

 ELY CL

TATEM DR

CLOS T Y B
R

O
NN

A

ORANGE GR

ASHCROFT CRES

MARCROSS RD

MEYRICK RD

GRAND AVE

GRAND AVE

M
A

RLO
ES RD

CAD
VAN

 RD

COURTIS RD

W
ILSON

 RD

W
ILSO

N RD

JACKSON RD

CE
LA

N
D

IN
E 

RD
M

O
ST

YN
 R

D

C
RO

FFT-Y-G
ENAU RD

C
RO

FFT-Y-GENAU RD

ST FAGAN
S D

R

M
E IRWE N  DR

KNIGHTSW
ELL RD

HEOL-Y-CASTELL

CW
RT-YR-ALA RD

C
A

ER
A

U
 L

N

THE SANCTUARY

S
A

N
CTU A RY CT

PATREANE WAY

HEOL MUSTON

PET
H

YB
RI

D
GE R

D

FRANK RD

PETHYBRIDGE RD

C
H

A
RT

ER
IS

 C

RES

A
RC

H
ER

 C
RE

S

MILL RD

PLYMOUTH WOOD RD

GORSE PL

OAKWAY

NORBURY RD

FINCHLEY RD
BWLCH RD

RED
 H

O
U

SE RD

PLYMOUTH WOOD CRES

ARCHER RD

LLEW
ELLYN AVE

LLEWELLYN AVE

G
LYN

D
W

R RD

ROSED
ALE CL

HILL VIEW

HEOL-YR-O
D

YN

LON OWAIN

HEOL POYSTON

PARKER PL
DEERE RD

WHEATLEY RD

SEVENOAKS RD

SEVENOAKS RD

CYNTWELL CRESCAMBRIA
 RD

CWRT-YR-ALA RD

PEN
ALLY RD

HEOL TRELAI

HEOL TRELAI

D
EERE C

L

PA
RKER RD

FARM
H

OUSE WAY

M
IC

H
A

ELSTO
N

 RD

M
IC

H
A

EL
ST

O
N

 R
D

COWBRIDGE RD W
EST

COWBRIDGE RD W

COWBRID
GE RD W

EST

PE
N

M
AR

K 
RDM

A
N

SE
LL

 AVE

COED
RIGLAN

 D
R

ROYDE CL

D
ENISON W

AY

NANT 
Y 

RH
O

S

CO
E

D
 A

R H YD

G
RE

EN
W

O
O

D
 L

N

ST FAGANS DR

ST BRIDES RD
BEECHLEY DR

PENTREBANE RD

GREEN FARM RD

STANWAY RD

SN
O

W
D

EN
 R

D

M
AC

D
O

N
A

LD
 R

D
PL YMOUTHW O

O
D

 C
L

A4232

PENCISELY RD

WAUNGRON RD

ST FAGANS RD

CARDIFF RD

CA
STLE HILL

COWBRIDGE RD EAST

LANSDOWNE RD

PENTREBANE RD

CH
ATSW

O
RTH

 CL

ST
 D

AV
ID

S 
C

R
ES

26 Cowbridge Road West: Provision of o� road 
 cycle facilities or hybrid cycle track

27 Grand Avenue: Cycle Lanes

125  Bwlch Road: Improvements 
  to access barriers 
 

126 Heol Trelai: Provide cycle 
 bypasses through buildouts

127  a   Path between Bromley Drive/Treseder Way: Remove gates

          b  Bishopston Road and Amroth Road: 20mph speed restriction and 
  review of tra�c calming to ensure compliance, surface improvements 

          c   Bromley Drive and Treseder Way: 20mph speed restriction and review 
  of tra�c calming to ensure compliance 

a c

b

131   Fairwater Road from Pwllmelin Rd to Plas-Mawr Rd: 
  Centre line removal and provision of advisory cycle lanes, 
  subject to space

141  Llantrisant Road: Provision of o� road 
  facilities in conjunctionwith new development

CAERAU, ELY, FAIRWATER AND ST FAGANS & CREIGIAU

KEY

        CYCLE NETWORK ROUTES

        PROPOSED EXTENSIONS TO CYCLE NETWORK

        STRATEGIC SITES TO INCORPORATE EXTENSIVE
        INTERNAL NETWORK OF ROUTES
     

P
age 185



CORNELLY
 S

T

PLAS-Y-LLAN

FORELAND RD
ST M

ARGARETS RD

ST M
ARYS RD

CAM
BOURNE A

VE

KELSTON PL

WEST RD

HAWTHORN RD W

ALFREDA RD

KIN
G

SLA
N

D
 RD

TH
E AVEN

U
E

ATHELSTAN RD

H
EO

L BA
KEM

O
RE

HEOL BOOKER

H
EO

L CH
A

PPELL

H
EO

L 
D

O
N

V
ELIN

D
RE PL

WOODLAND RD
WESTBOURNE RD

TY’N-Y-PWLL RD

SPRINGHU
RST CL

LON YSGUBOR

CAEDELYN RD

ST FRANCIS RD

C
U

RL
EW

 C
L

ST
 JO

HNS CRES

HEOL PENTW
YN

PARK LN

HEOL PANT Y RHYN

TYLA TEG

HEOL PANTYCELY
N

LON-Y-CELYN

GLAS-Y-PANT

ARDW

YN

HEOL F
FYN

N
O

N
 W

EN

DAN Y GRAIG

CLOS COED HIR

PARK AVE
PARK CRES

H
A

R
FORD

 C
L

VELINDRE RD

PA
N

TM
AW

R 
RD

PANTMAW
R RD

C
A

ER
 W

EN
A

LL
T

CORYTON RISE

G
REEN

 M
EAD

O
W

 RD

CORYTON CRES

PENDWYALLT RD

W
H

ITW

O R TH SQ

P
ENYDARREN

 D
R

FFO
R D

D
 M

ORG

A NWG
SAM

U
EL

S 
C

RE
S

FOREST FARM RD

CA
E 

LE
WIS

LLWY N MA LLT

GREENM
EADO

W
 DR

PANTGWYNLAIS

JU
N

C
TI

O
N

 T
ER

R

CA
STELL CO

CH
 VIEW

IRON BRID
GE RD

GRAIG LW
YD

CATH
ERIN

E D
R

M
IL

L R
D

C
A

ST

LE RD

HEOL-Y-FFOREST

LONGWOOD DR

QUEEN ST

A4054    MERTHYR RD

CHAPEL RD

FFORDD TREFORGAN

M
EADOW

FIE
LD W

AY

PEN
RHOS

BL
A

EN
-Y

-C
O

ED

MAES Y C
RO

FF
T

BLANDON WAY

LIT
TLE MILL

CO
LW

IN
STO

NE C
LC

O
R

W
EN CRES

WHITEFIELD RD

FESTINIOG RD

CO
LL

EG
E 

RD

BLOSS E RD

GABALFA AVE

WATSON RD

COPLESTON RD

BA
LA

 R
D

M
A

N
O

D
 R

D

BISHO
PS CL

BISHOPS PL

CORNELLY
 C

L

CALDY RD

EVANSFIELD RD

WINGFIELD RD

THE PARADE

W
ESTBOURN

E CRES

CLARBESTON RD

ANDREWS RD

MARY ST

COLWINSTONE STHAWTHORN RD E

HILTON PL

RIVERSDALE

BELLE VU
E CRES

RADYR RD

HAZELHURST RD

CHAM
BERLAIN RD

ST
AT

IO
N

 R
D

H
EO

L D
O

N

KELSTON RD

RADYR CT CL

RA
D

YR CT RD

GERDD
I TA

F

TR
ISC

OM BE D
R

HIGHFIELDS

WHITEHALL RD

CLOS TY C LYD

M
EL

IN
GR

IFFITH DR

TY-MAWR RD

T
Y-M

A
W

R RD

HEOL PENLAN

H
O

RNCHURCH CL

FA
IR

W
O

O
D

 RD

FISH
ER H

ILL W
AY

DE CLARE D
R

VISTA RISE

B
R ACKEN PL

ED
W

A
RD

 C
LA

RKE CL

GREE
NW

OO
D R

D

RADYR CT RD

DOUGLAS CL

RA
C

H
EL CL

ALLAN D
U

RST CL

PI
PE

R C
L

HEO
L URBAN

BEALE 
C

L

C
A

D
O

C
 PL

NICHOLSON WEB B CL

ASHD ENE CL

TANGMERE DR

JEVAN  CL

HERBERT MARCH CL

A4119

DANESCOURT W
AY

D
AN

ESCO
U

RT W
AY

HEOL A
RA

DUR

EPSTEIN
 C

L

HEOL SEDD ON

PACE CL

RADYR CT RD

COSHESTON RD

DE BRAOSE CL

BU
C

K
LEY C

L

BL E T HIN CL

TIM
O

THY REES CL

PECKH AM CL

PLAS-Y-MYNACH

WOODFIELD AVE

TY M
YN

YD
D

 C
L

MIN-Y-CO
ED

CLOS PARC RADYR

PARK RD

DRO V E RS W

AY

KINGS RD

PENTWYN

D
A

N
-Y-BRYN

 AVE

FFORDD LAS

H
EO

L 
IS

A
F

H
EO

L ISA
F

G
ELYN

IS TERR N
TY-NANT RD

STATION RD

W
IN

D
SO

R RD

WINDSO
R AVE

CEDAR GR

CEFN COCH

BRYN DERWEN

BRYN
 D

ERW
EN

DRYSGOL RD

CAE’R GRAIG

HAZEL TREE CL

LL
EW

EL
LY

N G
O

C
H

RH
YDLAFA R D

R

O
LD

 M
ILL D

R

WINDSOR CLIVE DR

PRINCE  OF WALES DR

LLANTRISANT RD

G
O

ETR
E  FAWR

IR
O

N
 B

RI
D

G
E 

RD

H
EO

L G
W

YN
ED

D

S T  A
ID

A
N

 C
RE

S

ST A
U

G
U

STIN
E RD

PEDAIR ERW RD

HEOL POWIS

HEOL DYFED

ST AGATHA RD

TO
N

-Y
R-

Y
W

EN
 A

V
E

ST A
M

BRO
SE RD

ST
 A

LB
A

N
 A

V
E

ST
 H

EL
EN

S 
RD

LO
N

G
SP

EA
RS

 A
VE

ST BRIGID RD

JU
BILEE GDN

S

A
RM

O
U

RY D
R

MILESTONE CL

WAUN-FAWR RD

PHILIP CL

FA
IRFA

X
 RD

TY-W
ERN

 AVE

PORTHAMAL RD

TAIR ERW RD

LLW
YN

FED
W

 G
D

N
S

ST GEORGES RD

RHYDHELIG AVE

N
O

RTO
N

 A
V

E

VIO
LET PL

C
A

ERPH
ILLY RD

C
A

ER
PH

IL
LY

 R
D

LO
N-Y-GROES

PUM ERW RD
ST TANWG RD

DRYBURGH AVE

THREIPLAN D D
R

SUMMERFIELD PL

MURRAYFIELD RD

DALE AVE

GROVE  P
L

PANTBACH AVE

CORONATION RD

CROMWELL RD

WELWYN RD

H
O

M
ELA

N
D

S RD

PHOENIX WAY

M
A

V
IS G

R

TH
O

RN
BU

RY CL

GREENFIELD RD

KE
YN

SH
AM

 R
D

PANTBACH PL

HEOL WERNLAS

WESTFIELD RD

HEOL DOLWEN

W
AT

ER
ST

O
N

 R
D

ABERDULAIS RD

CA
TH

ED
RA

L 
VI

EW

HEOL AMLWCH

DOLWEN RD

AB

ERDULAIS CRES

BA
C

TO
N

 R
D

GABALFA AVE

BO
N

CA
TH

 R
D

ABERPORTH RD

HEO
L 

BR
YN

G
LA

S

H
EA

T
H  PARK LN

ST ANGELA RD

ST
 A

G
N

ES
 R

D

CAERLEON RD

PILTO
N

 PL

MARGAM R D

RO
SEM

O
U

N
T PL

RIC
H

S RD

LLANTARNAM
 RD

LLWYNDERW
 RD

SUNNYBA N K CL

BEVAN PL

PORTHKERRY PL

MYNACHDY RD

RA
DYR PL

GARTH PL

EX
CE

LS
IO

R R

D

CELTIC RD

BATCHELOR RD

CLOS M
ENTER

EXCELSIOR RD

GABALFA AVE

H
EO

L M
A

D
O

C

M
A

ELO
G

 RD

PEN
 Y FA

I

BI
RCHWOO

D
 G

DNS

C
RA

D
O

C
 RD

TROTMAN DICKENSON PL

LLYS TA L- Y-B
ONT R

D

APPLEDORE RD
CEFN RD

MATTH E W SON C
L

ABERBRAN RD

ABERDORE RD

SILVER BIRCH CL

LL
AN

D
IN

AM
 C

RES

LL
AN

M
O

RL
AI

S 
RD

W
ES

TE
RN

 D
R

LYDSTEP CRES

RIVER VIEW

W
ES

TE
RN

 A
VE

 W

ABERTEIFI CRES

MYNACHDY RD

ABERPORTH RD

HEOL CARNE

LON MADOC

FR
A

N
KL

EN
 R

D

KYLE AVE

LO
N

-Y-PA
RC

HEOL IFOR

HEOL NEST

KEN
FIG RD

TWYN-Y-FEDWEN

HEOL Y GORS

PLAS TREODA

CAE GWYN RD

CA
E 

G
W

YN
 R

D

M
A

N
O

R 
RI

SE

KY
LE

 C
RE

S

CAE YORATH YO
RATH

 RD

HEOL IESTYN

H
EO

L CO
ED

 CAE

CO
U

RT RD

HEOL GABRIEL

W
A

U
N

TREO
D

A
 RD

TY’N-Y-CAE GR

LEAMINGTON RD

LON PENLLYN

NORTHERN AVE

CO
LLEG

E C
L

H
EO

L STRA
D

LIN
G

M
ERVYN

 RD

COTTRELL RD

HEOL-Y-W
AUN

L IMEBOURNE CT

FELIN
 FACH

CLAS TEILO

HEO
L CATTW

G

C
O

ED ARIAN

H
EO

L W
AU

N
 Y N

AN
T

HEO
L TY’N

-Y-CAE

H
EO

L-
Y-

N
AN

T

ST DAVIDS RD

TYNANT

BEATRICE RD

HEATHWOOD RD

BIRCHGROVE RD

THE PHILOG

MERTHYR RD

M
ERTHYR RD

GLANDWR PL

HEOL GWRGAN

BISHOPS RD

NORTHERN AVE

A470

HEO
L-Y-FO

RLAN

TYN
EW

YD
D

ERW LAS

MAES GLAS

GLAN-Y-NANT TERR

G
LA

N
-Y-N

A
N

T RD

VICTORIA RD

HEOL LL INOS

MERLIN CL

W
O

O
DL AWN WAY

MAES-Y-COED RD

TY-WERN RD

TY’N-Y-PARC RD

O
LD

 C
H

U
RC

H
 R

D

CHURCH RD

C
H

IL
TE

RN
 C

L

FIELD
 W

AY

MOSTYN SQ

CO ED COCHWYN AVE

TASKER DR

W
ATKIN

S SQ TATHAM RD

MALVERN DR

SMITH RD

A
SH

BO
U

RN
 W

AY

TATHAM RD

CO
ED

 G
LA

S 
RD

CLO
S H

EN
D

RE

CO
ED YR YNN

TEMPLETON AVE

TY GLAS RD

TY GLAS AVE

WAUN-Y-GROES AVE

HEOL CAERHYS

W
H

ITE BA
RN

 RD

CI
LG

ER
A

N
 C

RE
S

LON Y MYNYDD

PEN
 Y G

RO
ES RD

C
A

E M
AW

R RD

CORNFIELD CL

MAYFLOWER AVE

H
EO

L-Y

R-EFAIL

HEOL HENDRE

HEOL AER

CLOS TO
N

 M
A

W
R

H

EO L-Y-CADNO

PE
RC

IV
A

L 
C

L

TANSY CL

W
O O D RUFF W

AY

LO
N

 C
AE

 PORTH

CHARLOTTE SQ

TY
 G

W
YN R

D

HEOL ISCOED

HEOL-Y-BONT

WAUN-Y-GROES RD

H
EO

L Y W
ERN

H
EO

L 
TY

N
-Y

-C
O

ED

CL
O

S 
M

A
BO

N

HEOL MABON

LO
N-Y-DDERW

EN

RHOS LLAN

HEOL Y  FELIN

ERW W
EN

MUR G
WYN

LO
N-Y-DERI

MAES-Y-D
ERI

CEFN
 N

AN
T

GRON FFORDD

LON-Y-RHYD

LO
N

-Y-D
AIL

LON ISA

H
EO

L W
EN

LON UCHA

GRO
ES LO

N

HEOL LLANISHEN FACH

HEO
L DERLW

YN

PE
N

YG
R

A
IG

CEFN GRAIG

HEOL-Y-DERI

RHIW

BINA HILL

HEOL-Y-COED

HEOL-Y
-B

RYN

ORCHARD CASTLE

BARDSEY CRES

GLE
NMOUN T WAY

LOWFIELD  DR

H
AVEN

W
O

O
D DR

HEOL PEREDUR

CAE G ARW

LAUNCELOT CRES

C
A

M
ELO

T  W

AY

AVO NRI

DGE

CH
ARLOCK CL

ANGELICA
 W

AY

LU
C

ER
N

E 
DR

PEN Y CEFN

EXCALIBUR DR

BRYN GLA
S

GAR ETH
 C

L

RH
I W

LA
S

TH
O

RN
H

ILL RD

M

OR RIS  AVE

JOHNSTON RD

LLANGRANOG RD

GUENEVER CL

GA L A HAD C
L

HEOL ERWIN

HEOL ISAF

H
EO

L 
LE

W
IS

CL
O

S 
W

IL
LIA

M

HEOL B
RI

W
NA

NT

H
EO

L 
N

A
N

T 
C

A
ST

A
N

M
4

M4 JUNCTION 32

PEN-Y-DRE

BEULAH RD

BLA
EN

 Y C
O

ED

HEOL UCHAF

BR
YN

TE
G

CLO
S Y BRYN

HEOL FAIR

CA
TH

ED
RA

L CL

M
A

Y
N

A

R D CT

LLA
N

D
A

FF  CHASE

TYNEWYDD

COLLEGE R
D

CO
LL

EG
E 

RD

M
IT

RE
 P

L

BRIDGE ST

FORDWELL

LLANTRISANT RD

CARD
IFF RD

CARDIFF RD

LLA
N

D
A

FF RD

LLANIDLOES RD

CO
LW

IL
L 

RD

RIVER VIEW

G
ABALFA RD

BR
ID

G
E 

RD

BRIDGE RD

COED Y WENALLT

LLAN DAFF PL

SYR DAVID’S AVE

DULWICH GDNS

EG
H

A
M

 S
T

PE

NHIL L 
C

L

AU
BREY AVE

FE
RN

 S
T

T
H

E 
CR

ES
CENT

BURLINGTON TERR

M
IL

L 
LN

VISHWELL RD

OVINGTON TERR

WESTBURY TERR

V
IC

TO
RI

A
 P

A
RK

 R
D

 E

HALSBU
RY

 R
D

C
LIV

E RD

IV
Y 

ST
CO

N
YB

EA
RE

 R
D

CHAPEL ST

PALACE RD

PA
LA

C
E AVE

HENDRE C
L

ELY RD

C
A

EW
A

L R
D

R O WAN CT

H
EN

D
RE G

D
N

S

HOW
EL

LS
 C

RE
S

ST MICHAELS RD

C
H

A
RG

O
T RD

PEN
C

ISELY RISE

PENCISELY AVE

G
REEN

W
IC

H
 RD

P
EN

CISELY C R ESW
IN

D
W

AY RD

C
A

EW
A

L RD

TH
E  GRA

N
G

E

VAUGHAN AVE

INSOLE G
D

N
S

HIG
H S

T

H
A

R
D

W
ICKE CT

BISH
O

PS W
A

LK

IN
SO

LE G
RO

VE W
PRO

S PEC
T D

R

BISHOPS PL

KEN
ILW

O
RTH

 C
T

PWLLMELIN LN

RO
O

KW
O

O
D

 AVE

FA
IRW

ATER G
RO

VE E

ROOKWOOD CL

N
O

RBU
RY RD

M
ARIO

NVILLE G
D

N

S

BISHOPS AVE

VIC
TO

RIA
 PA

RK RD
 W

WINDWAY AVE

THOMPSON AVE

KEN
SIN

G
TO

N
 AVE

GRAN
VILLE AVE

W

 O
RCH

A
RD

 C
RE

S

BU
TL

EI
G

H
 A

V
E

ELY RD

ELY
 R

D

ELY
 R

D

ALD
SW

O
RTH

 RD

FAIRFIELD CL

BIRCH
FIELD

 CRES

D
AVIES PL

SHEARS RD

FA
IRW

ATER G
RO

VE W

A
48

   
 W

ES
TE

ER
N

 A
VE

A48   WESTERN AVE

ST FA
G

A
N

S RD

BRO
O

K RD

LLANGYNIDR RD

LLA
N

G
ATTO

CK RD

BAILEY CL

MILTON PL

EVERSWELL AVE

THE CRESCEN
T

FERN PL PERROTS CL

O
XW

IC
H C

L

ELY RD

LIM ES L ADE CL

TH
E C

H
A

N
TRY

FAIRW
O

O
D

 RD

KIRTON CL

W
H

ITLAND
 CL

KEYSTON RD

W
H

ITLA
N

D
 CR ES

ELFED GRN

FAIRWATER RD

TH
E D

R

CARTER PL

BIRCH RD

HEOL GWILYM

WRO
UGHTON PL

LLANBEDR RD

AMETHYST RD

HEOL DENNANT

DOYLE AVE

LLA
N

D
ETTY RD

CHO RLEY CL

HIRST CRES

ST FA
G

A
N

S RISE

CA
RTW

RIG
H

T LN

EVERSW
ELL RD

FAIRW
AYS CRES

W
ELLRIG

H
T RD

HOLLY RD

FERRIER AVE

HONEYSUCKLE CL

LA
VE

NDER GR

SH
A

M
RO

CK
 R

D

BEE
CH R

D

BR
IA

R 
C

L

WILLOWDALE RD

ROCH
E 

CR
ES

HAZEL
 P

L

YEWTREE CL

FREWER AVE

POPLAR RD

LLANTRISANT RD

W
AT

ER
H

A
LL

 R
D

PLAS-M
AW

R RD

HEOL-Y-PAVIN

FAIRWATER RD

PWLLMELIN RD

PWLLMELIN RD

ELDERBERRY RD

MAPLE RD

LIM
E G

R

BI
SH

O
P 

H
AN

NON DR

FI
RS

 A
VE

G
LAN

 ELY CL

TATEM DR

CLOS T Y B
R

O
NN

A

ORANGE GR

ASHCROFT CRES

C
RO

FFT-Y-G
ENAU RD

C
RO

FFT-Y-GENAU RD

ST FAGAN
S D

R

GORSE PL

OAKWAY

NORBURY RD

FINCHLEY RD
BWLCH RD

ROSED
ALE CL

HILL VIEW

G
RE

EN
W

O
O

D
 L

N

ST FAGANS DR

ST BRIDES RD
BEECHLEY DR

PENTREBANE RD

A469     WHITCHURCH RDN
O

RTH
 RD

KYVEILOG STBERTHW
IN

 ST

DOGO S
T

G
IL

ES
TO

N
 R

D

KINGS RD

SNEYD ST

IE
ST

YN ST

DYFRIG
 S

T

GREENFIELD AV E

SEVERN
 G

RO
VE

PLASTURTON AVE

MALDWYN ST

CO
N

W
AY RD

MORTIMER RD

CATHEDRAL RD

PENHILL RD
PENCISELY RD

WAUNGRON RD

ST FAGANS RD

CARDIFF RD

CA
STLE HILL

LLANFAIR RD

ROMILLY RD W

FAIRLEIGH RD

TEIL
O S

T

PO
N

TC
A

N
N

A
 ST

SOPHIA
 W

K

FI
EL

D
S 

PA
RK

 R
D

CWM GWYNLAIS

PENTREBANE RD

GROVELAND RD

CH
ATSW

O
RTH

 CL

MAINDY RD

128 Llantrisant Road: Provide cycle lanes and reduce 
 build-out widths. Provide o� road cycle track on 
 one side.

129 Bridge Street: Provide signage to 
 warn motorists of the presence of 
 cyclists

131  a    Fairwater Road: Existing o� road facility

          b Heol y Pavin:  Signage improvements

b

a

38 Merthyr Road: Review tra�c calming to ensure compliance with 20mph 
 zone, centre line removal and possible cycle lanes; surface improvements, 
 cycle bypasses at buildouts

72 Merthyr Road: Improvements to tra�c calming 
 and road surface 
 

140 Entrance to Greenmeadow Springs Business Park: 
 Provide cycle link from business park to Merthyr 
 Road to bypass Coryton interchange

142 Clos Parc Radyr: Provision of o� road facilities
 in conjunction with new development

141 Llantrisant Road: Provision of o� road 
 facilities in conjunction with new development

143 Bridge Road: Provision of o� road facilities
 in conjunction with new development

139 A470 slip road: Improve crossing 
 facility at slip road

75 Northern Avenue Railway bridge to Whitchurch 
 High School: Improve signage to clearly mark shared 
 use sections, remove/relocate potential obstacles on 
 shared path

84 Llanda� Cathedral: 
 O� road path to 
 Llanda� Cathedral

96   a Western Ave N/Abertei� Crescent: Junction 
  improvements to make crossing easier for 
  cyclists 

        b Cardi� Met to Gabalfa Interchange: 
  Widen shared use path 

       c  Improve access to Ta� Trail

a

b

c

132 Gabalfa Avenue: Road marking 
 treatments to alert motorists to 
 presence of cyclists at roundabouts

133 a   Between College Road and Merthyr Road at water course: Dropped kerb
 
  b   Merthyr Road in vicinity of Mervyn Road: Widen existing advisory cycle 
  lanes and remove centre line 

          c   College Road: 20mph speed restriction, tra�c calming features, centre line 
  removal and provision of advisory cycle lanes, subject to space

         d  Merthyr Road along length of shopping area: 20mph speed limit and 
  associated tra�c calming, review of parking and waiting restrictions 

d

a
b

c

134  a   College Road: Widen existing 
  cycle bypasses
 
          b   Station Rd/Hawthorn Rd East 
  junction: Install raised table

a
b

146 Manor Way/Pantmawr Road: 
 Provide toucan crossing

LLANDAFF NORTH, LLANDAFF, RADYR, WHITCHURCH

KEY

        CYCLE NETWORK ROUTES

        PROPOSED EXTENSIONS TO CYCLE NETWORK

        STRATEGIC SITES TO INCORPORATE EXTENSIVE
        INTERNAL NETWORK OF ROUTES
     Page 186



CORNELLY
 S

T

PLAS-Y-LLAN

FORELAND RD
ST M

ARGARETS RD

ST M
ARYS RD

CAM
BOURNE A

VE

KELSTON PL

WEST RD

HAWTHORN RD W

ALFREDA RD

KIN
G

SLA
N

D
 RD

TH
E AVEN

U
E

ATHELSTAN RD

H
EO

L BA
KEM

O
RE

HEOL BOOKER

H
EO

L CH
A

PPELL

H
EO

L 
D

O
N

V
ELIN

D
RE PL

WOODLAND RD
WESTBOURNE RD

TY’N-Y-PWLL RD

SPRINGHU
RST CL

LON YSGUBOR

CAEDELYN RD

ST FRANCIS RD

C
U

RL
EW

 C
L

ST
 JO

HNS CRES

HEOL PENTW
YN

PARK LN

HEOL PANT Y RHYN

TYLA TEG

HEOL PANTYCELY
N

LON-Y-CELYN

GLAS-Y-PANT

ARDW

YN

HEOL F
FYN

N
O

N
 W

EN

DAN Y GRAIG

CLOS COED HIR

PARK AVE
PARK CRES

H
A

R
FORD

 C
L

VELINDRE RD

PA
N

TM
AW

R 
RD

PANTMAW
R RD

C
A

ER
 W

EN
A

LL
T

CORYTON RISE

G
REEN

 M
EAD

O
W

 RD

CORYTON CRES

PENDWYALLT RD

W
H

ITW

O R TH SQ

P
ENYDARREN

 D
R

FFO
R D

D
 M

ORG

A NWG

SAM
U

EL
S 

C
RE

S

FOREST FARM RD

HEOL-Y-FFOREST

BLANDON WAY

LIT
TLE MILL

CO
LW

IN
STO

NE C
LC

O
R

W
EN CRES

WHITEFIELD RD

FESTINIOG RD

CO
LL

EG
E 

RD

BLOSS E RD

GABALFA AVE

WATSON RD

COPLESTON RD

BA
LA

 R
D

M
A

N
O

D
 R

D

BISHO
PS CL

BISHOPS PL

CORNELLY
 C

L

CALDY RD

EVANSFIELD RD

WINGFIELD RD

THE PARADE

W
ESTBOURN

E CRES

CLARBESTON RD

ANDREWS RD

MARY ST

COLWINSTONE STHAWTHORN RD E

HILTON PL

RIVERSDALE

BELLE VU
E CRES

RADYR RD

HAZELHURST RD

CHAM
BERLAIN RD

ST
AT

IO
N

 R
D

H
EO

L D
O

N

KELSTON RD

RADYR CT CL

RA
D

YR CT RD

GERDD
I TA

F

HIGHFIELDS

CLOS TY C LYD

M
EL

IN
GR

IFFITH DR

TY-MAWR RD

T
Y-M

A
W

R RD

HEOL PENLAN

ED
W

A
RD

 C
LA

RKE CL

RADYR CT RD

DOUGLAS CL

ALLAN D
U

RST CL

PI
PE

R C
L

HEO
L URBAN

BEALE 
C

L

C
A

D
O

C
 PL

NICHOLSON WEB B CL

TANGMERE DR

A4119

D
AN

ESCO
U

RT W
AY

HEOL SEDD ON

RADYR CT RD

DE BRAOSE CL

BL E T HIN CL

HERITAGE PK

NEWLANDS RD

W
ENTWORTH LN

CLO S -YR-O N NEN

HARRISON
 D

R

W
ALW

YN
 PL

BR
O

ADW
ELL CL

PITME
D

EN
 CL

COLEFORD DR

H
ERITA

G
E  PK

HER I TAG
E 

P
K

WILLOW GR

PWLL Y PLACA

H
EO

L M
AES EIRW

GWILLOWBROOK DR

MACHEN CL

N
EW

EN
T RD

RISCA C
L

CRUMLIN DR

WAKEHURST PLBROCKHAMPTON RD

JAMES CT

OAKM EADO W DR

C
RICKHOWELL RD

GREEN MEADOWS
M

ATTH Y SENS WAY

JE
NKINS W

AY

SOAREL CL

PA
V

ALA
N D

 CL

CRAG

SIDE CL

C
EM

A
ES C

R E S

COLEFORD DR

WESTONBIRT CL

HEOL 
TR

O
ST

RE

ROGERSTONE CL

ST A

RVA
NS CERES

SPENC

ER DAVID WA Y

FFO
RD

D
 D

A
N

IE
L 

LE
W

IS

HARRISON D
R

TRECINON R
D

TREBORTH RD

CRIC
KHOW

ELL
 R

D

BO D N A N T CL

ASPEN C
L

TREBANOG CL

LLA N INA GR

CRICKHOWELL RD

T
REBANOG CRES

W
ILLO

W
BRO

O
K D

R

HAZEL
W

O
O

D
 D

R

PENSARN RD

PORT M
ADOC RD

GLAN
-Y-M

O
R RD

TREFASER CRES

TR
OW

BRID
G

E 
G

R

GWBERT CL

CATH
 C

O
B 

C
L

B
RO

O
KFIELD

 D
R

F ERNTREE 
D

R

TRO
W

BR
ID

G
E 

GR

TRESIGIN RD

GLANDOVEY GR

ABERGELE RD

CAER
NA

RV
O

N
 W

AY

D
O

VE
Y 

CL

H
EN

D
R

E  R
D

HENDRE RD

ORC
HA

RD PK

TARW
IC

K D
R

BETH
A

N
IA

 RO
W

PURCELL R
D

COATES PL

O
LD

 H
IL

L

PRE
ST

AT
YN

 R
D

M
EA

DVALE RD

INSTOW PL

D
U

LV
ER

TO
N

 A
VE

D
U

N
ST

ER
 R

D

PORLOCK RD

BLACKMOOR PL

LI
M

EWOOD C L

MELVILLE AVE

OLD N
EW

PORTR RD

VAENDRE LN

EID
ER  C L

SA
N

D
ER

LI
N

G
 D

R

KINGFIS H ER CL

OLD NEWPORT RD

ALLEN CL

PARKSTONE AVE

G
O

U L D CL

WERN FAWR LN

H
A

STIN
G

S CRES

HASTIN

GS CRES

TY-TO-MAEN CL

FFORD
D

 BRYN
H

Y
FRYD

MILL LN

RUPERA CL

BL
A

CK
BI

RD
S 

WAY

OKEH
AM

PTO
N

 A
VE

BLUEBE
LL

 D
R

MILL LN

BRAYFORD PL

WITHYCOMBE RD

O
THERY PL

ARNOLD AVEBRONTE CRES

BR
ID

G
W

AT
ER

 R
D

LA
N

G
PO

RT
 A

VE

M
O

U
N

T 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

LN

A
XB

RI
D

G
E 

CR
ES

MINEHEAD RD

TY
 W

IN
C

H
 R

D

BEG
A

N
 RD

CHUR C H LN

WILLITON RD

MALMSM
EAD

 R
D

SE
DGEM

OOR R
D

M
IL

VE
RT

O
N

 R
D

TORRIN
GTO

N
 R

D

WASHFORD A
VE

CREDIT
O

N
 R

D

M OUNT PLEASANT AVE

BAMPTON RD

DURLEIGH CL

HONIT
O

N
 R

D

A SH
BU

RT
O

N
 A

VE

CROYDE AVE

ILCHESTER RD

DRYDEN CL

RUSKIN CLKIPLING CL

BROW
NING CL

RHOSSILLY RD

CHESTERTON AVE

THACKERAY C
RES

MACAULAY AVE

LA

SCELLES D

R

HAZLITT CL
BOSWELL CL

HOUSMAN CL

CLOS A
LY

N

C
LO

S  G W Y

CLOS C W
M

 C
R

EU
N

A
N

THEOL PONTPRENNAU

CLOS Y FFYNNON

TH
E 

FARTHI N
G

S

AMBERLEY CL

CLO S CWM DU

GELLI FRON GOCH

CL
O

S 
NANT Y CWM

HEO
L 

PONTPRENNAU H
EO

L GLAN

DULAIS

CLOS N
ANT M

W
LAN

AM
BE

RG
AT

E 
D

R

CLO
S N

AN

T D

D
U

HEOL GLAND
ULAIS

PA
NT 

GLAS

ALMOND DR

W
H

A
RF

ED
A

LE
 R

D

GLYN COLLEN

TH
E M

ALTINGS
TARRAGON W

AY

TY CERRIG

LLWYN CASTAN

HY
SSO P C

L

BO
RA

G E CL

GLYN R H O
SY

N

G
LY

N
 RH

O
SYN

PEPPERMINT DR

NEW
TON RD

M
O

RF
A

 C
RE

S

WENTLOOG AVE

DOLGOCH CL

HEOL NEW
YDD

VALLEY V
IE

W

PARKWAY

HARRIS AVE

LETTERSTON RD

B R Y N BALA W
AY

ABERDARON RD

PARKWAY

TOW
YN RD

MULLIN

S AVE

TROW
BRIDGE RD

CAER CASTELL PL

BRO A
THRO

W
OOLACOMBE AVE

LA
U

G
H

A
RN

E 
RD

HER O N RD

HARRIS
 A

VE

RELF  RD

H
A

RL
EC

H
 R

D

LA
N

G
LA

N
D

 RD

MAXWELL RD

PE
N

RH
O

S 
CR

ES

ILFRACOMBE C
RES

M
ARDY RD

HOLMSVIEW CLLLAN
GW

N P
L

LLANDUDNO R
D

WENTLOOG AVE

MONKSTONE RISE

ARLINGTON CRES

CANNINGTON AVE

LA
M

BY W
AY

RHYL RD

G
RE

EN
W

AY
 R

D

GRE
EN

W
AY

 R
D

GREE
NW

AY R
D

G
RE

EN
W

AY
 R

D

GOODWICK RD

GREENWAY AVE

S VIEW DR

M
A

N
O

RB
IE

R 
CRES

LLANSTEPHAN RD

C
A

EG L AS RD

BE
AU

M
AR

IS
 R

D

FA
RM

LEIG
H

DOWNTON RISE

DO W N TON RISE

CA
EG

LA
S 

RD

BRACHDY LN

WENTLOOG  C
L

BA
RM

OUTH RD

THE GRO
VE

CLAREMONT CRES

W
ENTLOOG RD

NEW RD

LIN D E N GR

N
EV

IN
 C

RE
S

TY-FRY RD

TRELAWNEY AVE

TYR-Y-SARN RD

THE WALK

TYM
AWR CL

W
H

IT
EH

A
LL

 P
A

R
A

D
E

NORTHLANDS

U
PL

A
N

D
S 

RD

CRANLEI GH RISE

NEWPORT RD

LY
N

M
O

U
TH

 C
RE

S

CASTLE R
IS

E

TREDELERCH RD

W
IT

LA
 C

T 
RD

BI
D

EF
O

RD
 R

D

CH
ED

D
AR

 CRES

CLAREMONT AVE

CO
LW

YN
 RD

TY
-F

RY
 G

D
N

S

WATCHET CL

TA
UNTO

N C
RESTA

UNTO
N A

VE

CHARD A
VE

FISHPOND RD

G
LA

ST
O

N
BU

RY
 TERR

CLEVEDON RD

LY
N

TO
N

 C
L

WORLE AVE

W
ES

TO
N

 R
D

W
O

RL
E 

PL

KEWSTOKE AVE

U
PH

IL
L 

RD

LY
N

TO
N

 T
ER

R

HARTLAN
D

 R
D

EX
FO

RD CRES

N
O

RT
H

A
M

 A
V

E

CLO
VELLY CRES

MENDIP RD

TY-MAW
R RD

QUARRY DALE

SW
IF

T C
L

FI
EL

D
IN

G
 C

L

DIC
KENS A

VE

PA
RR

ACOMBE CRES

BRAUNTON AVE

BRAUNTON CRES

BARNSTABLE RD

BA
LL

 R
D

LYNTON PL

CHURCH R
D

TY
-M

AW
R AVE

NEWPORT RD

NEWPORT R
D

NEW
PORT R

D

BR
YN

 H
EU

LO
G

BRYN HAI D D

G
LYN

 EID
D

EW

BRYNCYN

C
O

ED
EN

 D
A

L

W
A

U
N

 FACH

BRYN PINWYDDEN

PENTWYN RD

DARTINGTON DR

FELBRIGG
 CRES

RI
D

G
EW

AY
 R

D

PATC
H

W
AY C

RES

K
EN

NERLEIG
H

 RD

WIDECOMBE DR

TI
VE

RT
O

N
 D

R

H
AT

H
ER

LE
IG

H
 R

D

P E N NSYLVANIA

WERN GOCH W

PENTW
YN R

D

BRYN CELYN RD

PE
N

TW
YN

 D
R

THE HAW THORNS

THE H
A

W
TH

O
RN

S

LI
N

N
ET

 C
L

H
O

LLY
BUSH HGHTS

F ORSYTHIA D R

FO
RSYTH

IA
 D

R

H A W FIN
CH C

L

MAGNOLIA CL

A
ZA

LEA CL

CO
ED-Y-G

ORES

BR
YN

-Y
-N

A
N

T

COED-Y-G
ORES

AEL-Y-BRYN

PIN
EW

OOD C
RES

KING W
O

O
D

 CL

LLANEDEYRN RD

QUEENWOO D

ROUNDWOOD

LL
AN

ED
EY

RN
 D

R

LLA
N

ED
EYRN

 D
R

MAELFA

W
ELLW

O
O

D

LOTHIAN CRES

LLW
YN

-Y-G
RAN

T TERR

BA
RO

N
S C

T RD

HOLLYBUSH RD

COED-Y-G
ORES

BR
YN

FEDW

G
LY

N
 C

O
ED

G
LYN

 CO
ED

 RD

G
LY

N
 C

O
ED

 R
D

CHAPEL WOOD

BRYNFEDW

PENNSYLVANIA

A4232

SO
U

TH
CO

U
RT RD

EA
RLS C

T RD

TY
-G

W
YN

 R
D

DORCHESTER AVE

OAK WOOD AVE

LONSDALE RD

O
RM

O
ND

E CL

W
ELL W

O
OD CL

LLANEDEYRN RD

HAMPTON CT RD

LLWYN-Y-GRANT RD

PEN
-Y-LAN

 TERR

GRAFTON CL

LLANEDEYRN RD

CARISBROOKE W
AY

TY-GWYN CRES

TY-GWYN AVE

SP
RI

N
GW

OOD

HILLRISE

CLEAR WATER WAY

SPRINGWOOD

H
ILLRISE

CEFN-CO E D G
D

N
S

FF
O

RD
D

 C
W

EL
LY

N

FFORD D  B
O

D
LY

N

PENNAN
T C

RES

WERNGOCH RD

RANNOCH D R

LO
M

ON
D CRES

A
RN

SI
D

E 
RD

H
U

RO
N

 C
RE

S

EVERARD WAY

W

OOLASTON AVE

HUNTERS RDG

FARM DR

ES
KD

A
LE

 C
L

EGREMONT RD

CYNCOED AVE

GLENW
OOD

C
YN

CO
ED

 RISE

C
YN

C
O

ED
 A

V
E

ST EDEYRNS RD

HOLLYBUSH RD

HOLLYBUSH RD

CYNCOED C

RES

GOLDCREST DR
WOODVALE AVE

CELY N G
R

ALD
ER

BROOK

LLYSWEN RD

BRYN
-G

W
YN

 RD

ALLTMAW
R RD

LLANGORSE RD

D
U

FFRYN
 RD

WESTMIN
STER C

RE
S

SHERBORNE AVE

DAN-Y-COED RD

CYNCOED PL

WINNIP

EG
 D

R

ONTARIO W
AY

C
EF

N
 C

O
ED

 A
V

E

HENLLYS RD

DERWEN RD

BETTWS-Y-C
OED RD

LEVEN CL

CLAERWEN DR

CARNEGIE DR

PA
D

A
RN

 C
L

OGWEN DR

D
U

FF
RY

N
 A

V
E

LLYN CL

G
W

YN
ANT CRES

DAN-Y-COED RD

NANT-FAWR CRES

N
A

N
T-

FA
W

R 
RD

LLANDENNIS AVE

CELYN AVE

CELYN AVE

H
EATH

BRO
O

K

TH
RE

E 
A

RC
H

ES
 A

V
E

ST DOGMAELS AVE

C

RUNDALE CRES

ST
 M

ARTINS CRES

KIM
BERLEY TERR

LU
N

D
Y CL

W
ATTO

N
 C

L

ILEX C
L

KEYES AVE

RHYD-Y-P
ENAU RD

TYRWHITT CRES

JELLICOE GDNS WILD GARDENS RD

H
EATH

 H
A

LT RD

C
RYSTA

L AVE

HEATHM EAD

NANT Y WEDAL 

WINGATE D
R

GIBSON CL

TRENCHARD DR

PORTFIE L D  C

RE
S

FISHGUARD
 C

L

W
AVELL C

L

LAKE RD N

H
EA

TH
 H

A
LT

 R
D

KING GEORGE V DR N

ST D
EN

IS RD

CEFN CARNAU RD

CRYSTAL W
OOD RD

ETON CT

ST
 B

RI
O

C
 R

D

ST GILD
AS RD

ST ISAN RD

H
EO

L G
W

YN
ED

D

ST MALO RD

ST ED
W

EN
 G

D
N

S

H
EATH

W
AY

S T  A
ID

A
N

 C
RE

S

ST A
U

G
U

STIN
E RD

ST
 A

N
TH

O
N

Y 
RD

PEDAIR ERW RD

HEOL POWIS

HEOL DYFED

M
O

U
N

TBATTEN
 C

L

KIN
G

 G
EO

RG
E V

 D
R E

BEATTY AVE

ED
IN

G
TO

N
 A

V
E

CRYSTA
L G

LEN

ST IN
A RD

HEATHFIELD PL

M
A

IT
LA

N
D

 S
T

FL
A

X
LA

N
D

 A
VE

ST AGATHA RD

TO
N

-Y
R-

Y
W

EN
 A

V
E

ST A
M

BRO
SE RD

ST
 A

LB
A

N
 A

V
E

ST
 H

EL
EN

S 
RD

ST A
N

TH
O

N
Y RD

KI
N

G
 G

EO
RG

E 
V

 D
R 

W

ST BEN
ED

IC
T C

RES

HEATHFIELD RD

LO
N

G
SP

EA
RS

 A
VE

ST BRIGID RD

JU
BILEE GDN

S

PA
RC

 T
Y 

G
LA

S

PA
RC

 T
Y 

G
LA

S

A
RM

O
U

RY D
R

MILESTONE CL

WAUN-FAWR RD

PHILIP CL

FA
IRFA

X
 RD

TY-W
ERN

 AVE

PORTHAMAL RD

TAIR ERW RD

LLW
YN

FED
W

 G
D

N
S

ST GEORGES RD

RHYDHELIG AVE

N
O

RTO
N

 A
V

E

VIO
LET PL

C
A

ERPH
ILLY RD

C
A

ER
PH

IL
LY

 R
D

LO
N-Y-GROES

PUM ERW RD
ST TANWG RD ST CADOC RDDRYBURGH AVE

THREIPLAN D D
R

SUMMERFIELD PL

MURRAYFIELD RD

DALE AVE

GROVE  P
L

PANTBACH AVE

CORONATION RD

CROMWELL RD

WELWYN RD

H
O

M
ELA

N
D

S RD

PHOENIX WAY

M
A

V
IS G

R

TH
O

RN
BU

RY CL

GREENFIELD RD

KE
YN

SH
AM

 R
D

PANTBACH PL

HEOL WERNLAS

WESTFIELD RD

HEOL DOLWEN

W
AT

ER
ST

O
N

 R
D

ABERDULAIS RD

CA
TH

ED
RA

L 
VI

EW

HEOL AMLWCH

DOLWEN RD

AB

ERDULAIS CRES

BA
C

TO
N

 R
D

GABALFA AVE

BO
N

CA
TH

 R
D

ABERPORTH RD

HEO
L 

BR
YN

G
LA

S

BR
O

N
 W

YD
D

 A
VE

BIRCHW
OOD RD

BR
AN

D
RE

TH
 R

D

BRANDRETH RD

ALD
ER

 R
D

CORSHAM RD

TO
RR

EN
S 

D
R

BIRCHWOOD LN

CLOS DERWEN

PANT YR WYN

TYDFIL
 P

L

MARYPORT RD

TY-DRAW RD

ENNERDALE C L

LA
D

Y 
M

A
RY

 R
D

CEFN-COED RD

LA
KE

SI
D

E 
D

R

LAKESIDE DR

SH
IRLEY RD

LA
KE RO

A
D

 E

WEDAL RD

HEATHWOOD GR

HIGHFIELD RD

LA
KE

 R
D

 W

W
IN

D
ER

M
ER

E 
A

V
E

M
ALE

FA
NT 

ST

INGLEFIELD AVE

HEATH PARK WAY
HEATH PARK W

AY

C
EN

TR
A

L 
W

AY

CANADA RD

THE GATEWAY

LLANISHEN ST

SOBERT O
N

 A
V

E

SU
M

M
ER

FI
EL

D
 A

V
E

SA
C

H
V

IL
LE

 A
V

E

CLODIEN AVE

AFRICA GDNS

NEW
 Z

EALAND RD

A
C

A
D

EM
IC

 A
VE

MANOR ST

HEATH PARK AVE

A
LL

EN
SB

A
N

K 
RD

A
LL

EN
SB

A
N

K 
RD

TALYGARN ST

PEN-Y-B
RYN RD

PEN-Y-BRYN PL

NEW
FOUNDLAND RD

AUSTRALIA
 RD

H
EA

T
H  PARK LN

ST ANGELA RD

ST
 A

G
N

ES
 R

D

CAERLEON RD

PILTO
N

 PL

MARGAM R D

RO
SEM

O
U

N
T PL

RIC
H

S RD

LLANTARNAM
 RD

LLWYNDERW
 RD

SUNNYBA N K CL

PORTHKERRY PL

MYNACHDY RD

RA
DYR PL

GARTH PL

EX
CE

LS
IO

R R

D

CELTIC RD

BATCHELOR RD

CLOS M
ENTERGABALFA AVE

H
EO

L M
A

D
O

C

M
A

ELO
G

 RD

PEN
 Y FA

I

BI
RCHWOO

D
 G

DNS

C
RA

D
O

C
 RD

APPLEDORE RD
CEFN RD

MATTH E W SON C
L

ABERBRAN RD

ABERDORE RD

SILVER BIRCH CL

W
ES

TE
RN

 D
R

W
ES

TE
RN

 A
VE

 W

ABERTEIFI CRES

MYNACHDY RD

ABERPORTH RD

HEOL CARNE

LON MADOC

FR
A

N
KL

EN
 R

D

KYLE AVE

LO
N

-Y-PA
RC

HEOL IFOR

HEOL NEST

KEN
FIG RD

TWYN-Y-FEDWEN

HEOL Y GORS

PLAS TREODA

CAE GWYN RD

CA
E 

G
W

YN
 R

D

M
A

N
O

R 
RI

SE

KY
LE

 C
RE

S

CAE YORATH YO
RATH

 RD

HEOL IESTYN

H
EO

L CO
ED

 CAE

CO
U

RT RD

HEOL GABRIEL

W
A

U
N

TREO
D

A
 RD

TY’N-Y-CAE GR

LEAMINGTON RD

LON PENLLYN

NORTHERN AVE

CO
LLEG

E C
L

H
EO

L STRA
D

LIN
G

M
ERVYN

 RD

COTTRELL RD

HEOL-Y-W
AUN

L IMEBOURNE CT

FELIN
 FACH

CLAS TEILO

HEO
L CATTW

G

C
O

ED ARIAN

H
EO

L W
AU

N
 Y N

AN
T

HEO
L TY’N

-Y-CAE

H
EO

L-
Y-

N
AN

T

ST DAVIDS RD

TYNANT

BEATRICE RD

HEATHWOOD RD

BIRCHGROVE RD

THE PHILOG

MERTHYR RD

M
ERTHYR RD

GLANDWR PL

HEOL GWRGAN

BISHOPS RD

NORTHERN AVE

A470

HEO
L-Y-FO

RLAN

TYN
EW

YD
D

ERW LAS

MAES GLAS

GLAN-Y-NANT TERR

G
LA

N
-Y-N

A
N

T RD

VICTORIA RD

CLA
V

ERTO

N  WAY

CLOS NANT GLASW
G

CEFN M
ABLY

 R
D

BUTTERFIE

LD D
R

GW
ERN-RHUDDI RD

BRYN
-AW

ELO
N

 RD

TY-DRAW RD

PO
N

TFA
EN

CRANBOURNE W
AY

C OTSWOLD A
VE

BA
LM

O
RA

L C
L

THE FAIRWAY

HA C KERFORD RD

HAMPTON CRES W

HURFORD PL

 
BL

AC
K 

O
AK 

RD

PLAS Y DELYN

LARCH GROVE

MILL PL

LO
N

G
LE

AT

 CL

M
ILL RD

CWRT CEFN

MILLGATE

M
IL

L 
RD W

O
O

D
SID

E CT

CHARTWELL DR

HEOL S
T 

D
EN

YS

MILLBROOK PARK

TH
E 

PA
DD

O
C

K

HOLLY GROVE

E RISE

N
 RI SE

S 
RI

SE

COURT FIELD L
N

CH
ERRY ORC H ARD RD

ROWAN WAY

PENTWYN RD

RUDRY R
D

CHURCH
 RD

MAERDY LN

CARDINAL DR

RI
D

GE

WAY

RIDGEWAY

IVYDALE

BL
OSSOM D

R

H
EO

L CEFN O
NN

ROUNDEL CLAM
BERHEART DR

CHERRY ORCHARD RD

HEOL LL INOS

MILL C
L

OLD M
ILL  R

D

HEOL-Y-DE LYN

CL
O

S 
LL

YSF
A

EN

TENSI
N

G
 C

L

SPRIN
G

 G
R

O
VE

CHERITO
N

 D
R

ALW
EN DR

PIN

ECREST DR

RA
G

N
A

L L
 C

L

PIC
K

W
IC

K CL

HEOL Y BARCUD

BRIARM

EAD
O

W

 DR

FID
LA

S AVE
ELA

N
 RD

TO
W

 R
D

EWENNY RD

M
ILLRA

C
E CL

M
IL

LW
O

O
D

W
 R

IS
E

TH
E RISE

FISH
G

U
A

RD
 RD

FISH
G

U
A

RD
 RD

SO
LVA

 AVE

FID
LA

S RD

HEOL M
ERLIN

MELBOURNE RD

USK RD

FIDLAS RD

R E DWOOD CT

EVEREST W
AL K

COPPERFIELD
 D

R

EVEREST AVE

BRIDGE RD
ST MELLONS RD

ST MELLONS RD

LISVANE RD

GARRICK DR

H
EO

L H
IR

NORW
O

O D

LYRIC WAY

G
LEN

D
A

LE AVE
TRECA

STLE A
V

E

WOLFS CASTLE AVE

GILWERN CRES

MERLIN CL

W
O

O
DL AWN WAY

LLANON RD

NE W
BO

R
O

U
G

H
 A

VE

MAES-Y-COED RD

MAES-Y-COED RD

TY-WERN RD

TY’N-Y-PARC RD

O
LD

 C
H

U
RC

H
 R

D

CHURCH RD

C
H

IL
TE

RN
 C

L

FIELD
 W

AY

MOSTYN SQ

CO ED COCHWYN AVE BLU
E H

O
U

SE RD

TASKER DR

W
ATKIN

S SQ TATHAM RD

MALVERN DR

SMITH RD

A
SH

BO
U

RN
 W

AY

TATHAM RD

CO
ED

 G
LA

S 
RD

CLO
S H

EN
D

RE

CO
ED YR YNN

TEMPLETON AVE

TY GLAS RD

TY GLAS AVE

WAUN-Y-GROES AVE

HEOL CAERHYS

W
H

ITE BA
RN

 RD

CI
LG

ER
A

N
 C

RE
S

LON Y MYNYDD

PEN
 Y G

RO
ES RD

C
A

E M
AW

R RD

CORNFIELD CL

MAYFLOWER AVE

H
EO

L-Y

R-EFAIL

HEOL HENDRE

HEOL AER

CLOS TO
N

 M
A

W
R

H
EO

L H
IR

B
R

O
O

KVALE DR

H
E

OL-Y-CARW

MAYFAIR DR

H

EO L-Y-CADNO

PE
RC

IV
A

L 
C

L

TANSY CL

W
O O D RUFF W

AY

LO
N

 C
AE

 PORTH

CHARLOTTE SQ

TY
 G

W
YN R

D

HEOL ISCOED

HEOL-Y-BONT

WAUN-Y-GROES RD

H
EO

L Y W
ERN

H
EO

L 
TY

N
-Y

-C
O

ED

CL
O

S 
M

A
BO

N

HEOL MABON

LO
N-Y-DDERW

EN

RHOS LLAN

HEOL Y  FELIN

ERW W
EN

MUR G
WYN

LO
N-Y-DERI

MAES-Y-D
ERI

CEFN
 N

AN
T

GRON FFORDD

LON-Y-RHYD

LO
N

-Y-D
AIL

LON ISA

H
EO

L W
EN

LON UCHA

GRO
ES LO

N

HEOL LLANISHEN FACH

HEO
L DERLW

YN

PE
N

YG
R

A
IG

CEFN GRAIG

HEOL-Y-DERI

RHIW

BINA HILL

HEOL-Y-COED

HEOL-Y
-B

RYN

ORCHARD CASTLE

BARDSEY CRES

GLE
NMOUN T WAY

LOWFIELD  DR

H
AVEN

W
O

O
D DR

HEOL PEREDUR

CAE G ARW

LAUNCELOT CRES

C
A

M
ELO

T  W

AY

AVO NRI

DGE

CH
ARLOCK CL

ANGELICA
 W

AY

LU
C

ER
N

E 
DR

PEN Y CEFN

EXCALIBUR DR

BRYN GLA
S

GAR ETH
 C

L

RH
I W

LA
S

TH
O

RN
H

ILL RD

M

OR RIS  AVE

JOHNSTON RD

LLANGRANOG RD

GUENEVER CL

GA L A HAD C
L

HEOL ERWIN

HEOL ISAF

H
EO

L 
LE

W
IS

CL
O

S 
W

IL
LIA

M

HEOL B
RI

W
NA

NT

H
EO

L 
N

A
N

T 
C

A
ST

A
N

M4

M
4

M4 JUNCTION 32

PEN-Y-DRE

BEULAH RD

BLA
EN

 Y C
O

ED

HEOL UCHAF

BR
YN

TE
G

CLO
S Y BRYN

TYNEWYDD

COLLEGE R
D

CO
LL

EG
E 

RD

LLANIDLOES RD

CO
LW

IL
L 

RD

G
ABALFA RD

BR
ID

G
E 

RD

COED Y WENALLT

OA K LEAFE
 D

R

LLANDE
N

N
IS

 RD

CI
RC

LE
 W

AY
 E

CIRCLE WAY E

C
IR

C
LE

 W
AY

 W

CIRCLE WAY W

LLA
N

EIRW
G

 W
AY

M
EN

A
I W

AY

LL
ANRUM

NEY A
VE

LL
A

N
RU

M
N

EY
 A

VE

BU
RN

H
A

M
 AVE

BURNHAM AVE

CO
U

N
TI

SB
U

RY
 A

VE

ELGAR CRES

A48 EASTERN AVE

A48 EASTERN AVE

A
48

   
 W

ES
TE

ER
N

 A
VE

W
ATERLO

O
 RD

NINIAN RD

PE
N-Y

-L
AN R

D

CYNCOED RD

C
YN

C
O

ED
 RD

C
YN

C
O

ED
 RD

CYN
CO

ED
 RD

CYNCOED RD

A469     WHITCHURCH RD

FA
IR

OAK RD

N
O

RTH
 RD

GROVELAND RD

PEPYS C
L

LLANISHEN, LISVANE, CYNCOED, HEATH AND RHIWBINA

KEY

        CYCLE NETWORK ROUTES

        PROPOSED EXTENSIONS TO CYCLE NETWORK

        STRATEGIC SITES TO INCORPORATE EXTENSIVE
        INTERNAL NETWORK OF ROUTES
     

1   a   Allensbank Road between Wedal Rd and King George V Drive: 
  Review waiting restrictions and provide tra�c calming and 
  Advance Stop Lines at signal controlled junctions 
  

a

2  a  Junction of King George V Drive and King George V Drive East:  
  Provide cycle exemption to road closure 
     
    b       Allensbank Road and Heath Park Avenue: Provide tra�c calming

a

b

47 a  Lake Rd East and West: Introduce 
  one way system, 20mph restrictions

a

83 Rhydhelig Avenue: Removal of centre line 
 and installation of advisory cycle lanes, 
 subject to space 

85  a Nant Fawr Woods path: Widen to provide shared use path 
  with appropriate lighting 
 
       b Lake Road North: Tra�c calming, centre line removal and 
  advisory cycle lanes, subject to space

a

b

105  a   Ty Glas Ave: Widen advisory cycle lanes and bypasses through tra�c calming, removal of centre line, 
  prevent parking in cycle lanes at school start/�nish times

          b   Fidlas Road: Provide tra�c calming and removal of centre lines, review waiting restrictions and provide 
  advisory cycle lanes, subject to space 

          c   Station Road: Extend tra�c calming, remove centre lines, review waiting restrictions and provide 
  advisory cycle lanes, subject to space

a

b

c

106 •   Heol Hir: Centre line removal and provision of advisory 
  cycle lanes, subject to space

 •   Heol Hir priority working: Southbound cycle  bypass

107  Cyncoed Road: Tra�c calming, centre line removal 
  and advisory cycle lanes, subject to space

135 Pantbach Road: Provide cycle lanes with no 
 centre line including advanced stop lines

146 Manor Way/Pantmawr Road: 
 Provide toucan crossing

136 Caerphilly Rd/Summer�eld Place jct: 
 Tabled junction and provision of right turn 
 pocket for cyclists turning into Pedair Erw 
 Road and Summer�eld Place 
 

75 Northern Avenue Railway bridge to Whitchurch
 High School: Improve signage to clearly mark shared
 use sections, remove/relocate potential obstacles on
 shared path

144 Heathwood Ave/Ton-yr-Ywen Ave: 
 Improved crossing facilities

145 Maes Y Coed Road: 
 Light segregation

P
age 187



H
EO

L LAS

M
AES-Y-C

R
O

C
H

AN

MINSMERE 
C

L

HERITAGE PK

WATER AVENS CL

C
YPRESS D

RWILLO W HERB CL

COBOL RD

SAFFRON DR

VAENDRE CL

FORTRAN RD

NEWLANDS RD

WILLIA M
 B

ELCHER DR

TEALHAM
 D

R

A
BE

RN
AT

H
Y 

CL

M
EADOW SWEET D

R

ORCHID CL

SANDBROOK RD

B
U

L R U SH CL

GLEN
RI

SE
 C

L

BR
YN

M

AWR CL
SWAN A GE C

L

WICK E N
 C

L

CYPRESS DR

CLOS TYLA BACH

LOCKE G
R

LODW
ICK RS

KE
M

BE
R 

CL

W

ILLOW
BRO

O
K 

D
R

FIELDFAR E D
R

JO
N

QUIL C
L

JASM INE  DR

PENN
YRO

YA

L  CL

W
ENTWORTH LN

CLO S -YR-O N NEN

MITCHELL CL

AS TON PL

HARRIS
ON D

R

HARRISON
 D

R

W
ALW

YN
 PL

BR
O

ADW
ELL CL

PITME
D

EN
 CL

COLEFORD DR

H
ERITA

G
E  PK

HER I TAG
E 

P
K

WILLOW GR

FA
IR

H
A

V
E

N
 C

L

VERBENA CL

W
ILLO

W
D

EN
E W

AY

HE OL 
M

AES 
EI

RW
G

PWLL Y PLACA
H

EO
L M

AES EIRW
GWILLOWBROOK DR

MACHEN CL

CAERL EO
N

 C
L

RAGLAN CL

N
EW

EN
T RD

RISCA C
L

CRUMLIN DR

WAKEHURST PLBROCKHAMPTON RD

JAMES CT

OAKM EADO W DR

C
RICKHOWELL RD

GREEN MEADOWS
M

ATTH Y SENS WAY

JE
NKINS W

AY

SOAREL CL

PA
V

ALA
N D

 CL

CRAG

SIDE CL

C
EM

A
ES C

R E S

COLEFORD DR

WESTONBIRT CL

HEOL 
TR

O
ST

RE

ROGERSTONE CL

ST A

RVA
NS CERES

SPENC

ER DAVID WA Y

FFO
RD

D
 D

A
N

IE
L 

LE
W

IS

HARRISON D
R

TRECINON R
D

TREBORTH RD

CRIC
KHOW

ELL
 R

D

BO D N A N T CL

ASPEN C
L

TREBANOG CL

LLA N INA GR

CRICKHOWELL RD

T
REBANOG CRES

W
ILLO

W
BRO

O
K D

R

HAZEL
W

O
O

D
 D

R

PENSARN RD

PORT M
ADOC RD

GLAN
-Y-M

O
R RD

TREFASER CRES

TR
OW

BRID
G

E 
G

R

GWBERT CL

CATH
 C

O
B 

C
L

B
RO

O
KFIELD

 D
R

F ERNTREE 
D

R

TRO
W

BR
ID

G
E 

GR

TRESIGIN RD

GLANDOVEY GR

ABERGELE RD

CAER
NA

RV
O

N
 W

AY

D
O

VE
Y 

CL

H
EN

D
R

E  R
D

HENDRE RD

ORC
HA

RD PK

TARW
IC

K D
R

BETH
A

N
IA

 RO
W

PURCELL R
D

COATES PL

O
LD

 H
IL

L

PRE
ST

AT
YN

 R
D

M
EA

DVALE RD

INSTOW PL

D
U

LV
ER

TO
N

 A
VE

D
U

N
ST

ER
 R

D

PORLOCK RD

BLACKMOOR PL

LI
M

EWOOD C L

MELVILLE AVE

OLD N
EW

PORTR RD

VAENDRE LN

EID
ER  C L

SA
N

D
ER

LI
N

G
 D

R

KINGFIS H ER CL

OLD NEWPORT RD

ALLEN CL

PARKSTONE AVE

G
O

U L D CL

WERN FAWR LN

H
A

STIN
G

S CRES

HASTIN

GS CRES

TY-TO-MAEN CL

FFORD
D

 BRYN
H

Y
FRYD

MILL LN

RUPERA CL

BL
A

CK
BI

RD
S 

WAY

OKEH
AM

PTO
N

 A
VE

BLUEBE
LL

 D
R

MILL LN

BRAYFORD PL

WITHYCOMBE RD

O
THERY PL

ARNOLD AVEBRONTE CRES

BR
ID

G
W

AT
ER

 R
D

LA
N

G
PO

RT
 A

VE

M
O

U
N

T 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

LN

A
XB

RI
D

G
E 

CR
ES

MINEHEAD RD

TY
 W

IN
C

H
 R

D

BEG
A

N
 RD

CHUR C H LN

WILLITON RD

MALMSM
EAD

 R
D

SE
DGEM

OOR R
D

M
IL

VE
RT

O
N

 R
D

TORRIN
GTO

N
 R

D

WASHFORD A
VE

CREDIT
O

N
 R

D

M OUNT PLEASANT AVE

BAMPTON RD

DURLEIGH CL

HONIT
O

N
 R

D

A SH
BU

RT
O

N
 A

VE

CROYDE AVE

ILCHESTER RD

DRYDEN CL

RUSKIN CLKIPLING CL

BROW
NING CL

RHOSSILLY RD

CHESTERTON AVE

THACKERAY C
RES

MACAULAY AVE

LA

SCELLES D

R

HAZLITT CL
BOSWELL CL

HOUSMAN CL

CLOS A
LY

N

C
LO

S  G W Y

CLOS C W
M

 C
R

EU
N

A
N

THEOL PONTPRENNAU

CLOS Y FFYNNON

TH
E 

FARTHI N
G

S

AMBERLEY CL

CLO S CWM DU

GELLI FRON GOCH

CL
O

S 
NANT Y CWM

HEO
L 

PONTPRENNAU H
EO

L GLAN

DULAIS

CLOS N
ANT M

W
LAN

AM
BE

RG
AT

E 
D

R

CLO
S N

AN

T D

D
U

HEOL GLAND
ULAIS

PA
NT 

GLAS

ALMOND DR

W
H

A
RF

ED
A

LE
 R

D

GLYN COLLEN

TH
E M

ALTINGS
TARRAGON W

AY

TY CERRIG

LLWYN CASTAN

HY
SSO P C

L

BO
RA

G E CL

GLYN R H O
SY

N

G
LY

N
 RH

O
SYN

PEPPERMINT DR

NEW
TON RD

M
O

RF
A

 C
RE

S
WENTLOOG AVE

DOLGOCH CL

HEOL NEW
YDD

VALLEY V
IE

W

PARKWAY

HARRIS AVE

LETTERSTON RD

B R Y N BALA W
AY

ABERDARON RD

HE
OL Y RHOS OG

PARKWAY

TOW
YN RD

MULLIN

S AVE

TROW
BRIDGE RD

CAER CASTELL PL

BRO A
THRO

MARDY RD

W
OOLACOMBE AVE

LA
U

G
H

A
RN

E 
RD

HER O N RD

HARRIS
 A

VE

RELF  RD

H
A

RL
EC

H
 R

D

LA
N

G
LA

N
D

 RD

MAXWELL RD

PE
N

RH
O

S 
CR

ES

ILFRACOMBE C
RES

M
ARDY RD

HOLMSVIEW CLLLAN
GW

N P
L

LLANDUDNO R
D

WENTLOOG AVE

MONKSTONE RISE

ARLINGTON CRES

CANNINGTON AVE

LA
M

BY W
AY

RHYL RD

G
RE

EN
W

AY
 R

D

GRE
EN

W
AY

 R
D

GREE
NW

AY R
D

G
RE

EN
W

AY
 R

D

GOODWICK RD

GREENWAY AVE

S VIEW DR

M
A

N
O

RB
IE

R 
CRES

LLANSTEPHAN RD

C
A

EG L AS RD

BE
AU

M
AR

IS
 R

D

FA
RM

LEIG
H

DOWNTON RISE

DO W N TON RISE

CA
EG

LA
S 

RD

BRACHDY LN

WENTLOOG  C
L

BA
RM

OUTH RD

THE GRO
VE

CLAREMONT CRES

W
ENTLOOG RD

NEW RD

LIN D E N GR

N
EV

IN
 C

RE
S

TY-FRY RD

TRELAWNEY AVE

TYR-Y-SARN RD

THE WALK

TYM
AWR CL

W
H

IT
EH

A
LL

 P
A

R
A

D
E

NORTHLANDS

U
PL

A
N

D
S 

RD

CRANLEI GH RISE

NEWPORT RD

LY
N

M
O

U
TH

 C
RE

S

CASTLE R
IS

E

TREDELERCH RD

W
IT

LA
 C

T 
RD

BI
D

EF
O

RD
 R

D

CH
ED

D
AR

 CRES

CLAREMONT AVE

CO
LW

YN
 RD

TY
-F

RY
 G

D
N

S

WATCHET CL

TA
UNTO

N C
RESTA

UNTO
N A

VE

CHARD A
VE

FISHPOND RD

G
LA

ST
O

N
BU

RY
 TERR

CLEVEDON RD

LY
N

TO
N

 C
L

WORLE AVE
W

ES
TO

N
 R

D

W
O

RL
E 

PL
KEWSTOKE AVE

U
PH

IL
L 

RD

LY
N

TO
N

 T
ER

R

HARTLAN
D

 R
D

EX
FO

RD CRES

N
O

RT
H

A
M

 A
V

E

CLO
VELLY CRES

MENDIP RD

TY-MAW
R RD

QUARRY DALE

PAGE D
R

SW
IF

T C
L

FI
EL

D
IN

G
 C

L

DIC
KENS A

VE

PA
RR

ACOMBE CRES

BRAUNTON AVE

BRAUNTON CRES

BARNSTABLE RD

BA
LL

 R
D

LYNTON PL

CHURCH R
D

TY
-M

AW
R AVE

NEWPORT RD

NEWPORT R
D

NEW
PORT R

D

BR
YN

 H
EU

LO
G

BRYN HAI D D

G
LYN

 EID
D

EW

BRYNCYN

C
O

ED
EN

 D
A

L

W
A

U
N

 FACH

BRYN PINWYDDEN

PENTWYN RD

DARTINGTON DR

FELBRIGG
 CRES

RI
D

G
EW

AY
 R

D

PATC
H

W
AY C

RES

K
EN

NERLEIG
H

 RD

WIDECOMBE DR

TI
VE

RT
O

N
 D

R

H
AT

H
ER

LE
IG

H
 R

D

P E N NSYLVANIA

WERN GOCH W

PENTW
YN R

D

BRYN CELYN RD

PE
N

TW
YN

 D
R

THE HAW THORNS

THE H
A

W
TH

O
RN

S

LI
N

N
ET

 C
L

H
O

LLY
BUSH HGHTS

F ORSYTHIA D R

FO
RSYTH

IA
 D

R

H A W FIN
CH C

L

MAGNOLIA CL

A
ZA

LEA CL

CO
ED-Y-G

ORES

BR
YN

-Y
-N

A
N

T

COED-Y-G
ORES

AEL-Y-BRYN

PIN
EW

OOD C
RES

KING W
O

O
D

 CL

LLANEDEYRN RD

QUEENWOO D

ROUNDWOOD

LL
AN

ED
EY

RN
 D

R

LLA
N

ED
EYRN

 D
R

MAELFA

W
ELLW

O
O

D

LOTHIAN CRES

LLW
YN

-Y-G
RAN

T TERR

DOE CL

BA
RO

N
S C

T RD

DERI R
D

HOLLYBUSH RD

COED-Y-G
ORES

BR
YN

FEDW

G
LY

N
 C

O
ED

G
LYN

 CO
ED

 RD

G
LY

N
 C

O
ED

 R
D

CHAPEL WOOD

BRYNFEDW

PENNSYLVANIA

IPSW

ICH RD

IP
SW

IC
H

 R
D

A4232

SIN C L AIR D
R

SO
U

TH
CO

U
RT RD

WINCHESTER AVE

EA
RLS C

T RD

TY
-G

W
YN

 R
D

MELROSE AVE

DORCHESTER AVE

HAMMOND WAY

OAK WOOD AVE

LONSDALE RD

O
RM

O
ND

E CL

W
ELL W

O
OD CL

LLANEDEYRN RD

HAMPTON CT RD

FO
S

TER  D R

LLWYN-Y-GRANT RD

PEN
-Y-LAN

 TERR

GRAFTON CL

AMESBURY RD

ILTON RD

PEN-Y
-L

AN P
L

ALM
A R

D

BALA
CLA

VA
 R

D

CRESSY R
D

M
AFEK

IN
G

 R
D

HARRIS
M

IT
H R

D

LLANEDEYRN RD

CARISBROOKE W
AY

TY-GWYN CRES

TY-GWYN AVE

SP
RI

N
GW

OOD

HILLRISE

SPRINGWOOD

H
ILLRISE

FFORD D  B
O

D
LY

N

PENNAN
T C

RES

WERNGOCH RD

RANNOCH D R

LO
M

ON
D CRES

A
RN

SI
D

E 
RD

W

OOLASTON AVE

HUNTERS RDG

FARM DR

EGREMONT RD

CYNCOED AVE

GLENW
OOD

C
YN

CO
ED

 RISE

C
YN

C
O

ED
 A

V
E

ST EDEYRNS RD

HOLLYBUSH RD

HOLLYBUSH RD

CYNCOED C

RES

GOLDCREST DR
WOODVALE AVE

CELY N G
R

ALD
ER

BROOK

LLYSWEN RD

BRYN
-G

W
YN

 RD

ALLTMAW
R RD

LLANGORSE RD

D
U

FFRYN
 RD

WESTMIN
STER C

RE
S

SHERBORNE AVE

DAN-Y-COED RD

CYNCOED PL

WINNIP

EG
 D

R

ONTARIO W
AY

C
EF

N
 C

O
ED

 A
V

E

HENLLYS RD

DERWEN RD

BETTWS-Y-C
OED RD

CLAERWEN DR

OGWEN DR

G
W

YN
ANT CRES

LLANDENNIS AVE

CELYN AVE

RHYD-Y-P
ENAU RD

WESTVILLE RD

A
N

G
U

S ST

PEN
-Y-LAN

 RD

BR
O

N
 W

YD
D

 A
VE

BIRCHW
OOD RD

BRANDRETH RD

TY-
DRAW

 P
L

LO
CHABER S

T

DALCROSS ST

LI
N

D
EN

 A
VE

CORSHAM RD

BIRCHWOOD LN

BOLEYN WALK

CLOS DERWEN

KIMBERLEY RD

TY-DRAW RD

CEFN-COED RD

CLA
V

ERTO

N  WAY

CLOS NANT GLASW
G

BUTTERFIE

LD D
R

GW
ERN-RHUDDI RD

BRYN
-AW

ELO
N

 RD

TY-DRAW RD

PO
N

TFA
EN

CRANBOURNE W
AY

THE FAIRWAY

HA C KERFORD RD

HAMPTON CRES W

HURFORD PL

 
BL

AC
K 

O
AK 

RD

PENTWYN RD

MAERDY LN

BRIDGE RD

ST MELLONS RD

ST MELLONS RD

LISVANE RD

BRYTHON DR

COLCHESTER AVE

OA K LEAFE
 D

R

CI
RC

LE
 W

AY
 E

CIRCLE WAY E

C
IR

C
LE

 W
AY

 W

CIRCLE WAY W

LLA
N

EIRW
G

 W
AY

WILLOWBROOK D
R

M
EN

A
I W

AY

LL
ANRUM

NEY A
VE

LL
A

N
RU

M
N

EY
 A

VE

BU
RN

H
A

M
 AVE

BURNHAM AVE

CO
U

N
TI

SB
U

RY
 A

VE

ELGAR CRES

A48 EASTERN AVE

H
A

RT
 PL

LAMBY W
AY

HIND C L

CLOS AVRO

SEAWALL RD

KENYON RD

STORRAR PL

HA N DLEY RD

FFO
RD

D
 PEN

G
A

M

C
A

IRM
U

IR RD

DE H
AVIL

LA
ND RD

FFORDD PENGAMWHITAKER RD

TAYMUIR RD

GLANM
UIR RD

PA
LL

O
T 

W
AY

GLAN RHYMNI

NEWPORT RD

CAMERON ST

SPRIN
G G

ARDENS TERR

SPRING GARDENS PL

BERESFORD RD LN

WILSON ST

FLORENCE ST

ARTHUR ST

SOUTHMINSTER RD

AXM
INSTER RD

FORT  ST
TYLER ST

FOX ST

STURM
INSTER RD

LA
D

YS
M

IT
H

 R
D

M
IN

ST
ER

 R
D

PRIEST RD

ROVER W
AY

SEAWALL RD

ROVER WAY

M
ERED

EITH
 RD

M
ERC

IA
 RD

M
O

NA PL

DUNSMUIR RD

BRA
D

LEY ST

BLAN
CHE ST

SKELM
U

IR RD

DEEMUIR RD

PENGAM RD

STO
RRA

R RD

TW
EEDSMUIR RD

D
A

LM
U

IR RD

C
RA

IG
M

U
IR RD

D
ESSM

U
IR RD

SKATHMUIR RD

KENMUIR RD

W
H

IT
M

U
IR

 R
D

C
LY

D
ES

M
U

IR
 R

D

SWINTON ST

H
A

RO
LD

 ST
TH

EO
D

O
RA

 ST

RUNWAY RD

ME IR
IO

N P

L

H
O

R
W

O
O

D CL

BERESFO
RD

 RD

M
O

O
RLA

N
D

 RD

M
O

O
RLA

N
D

 RD

MERVYN RD

M
A

D
O

C RD

H
ELEN

 ST

BURNABY ST

EYRE ST

COVENY ST

SEYMOUR ST

ECLIPSE ST

COMET ST SPLOTT RD

M
U

IRTO
N

 RD

HABE
RS

HO
N S

T

CO
URTE

NAY
 R

D

MARION ST

ADELINE ST

RAIL
W

AY S
T

CARL
IS

LE
 S

TSYSTEM
 ST

HOW
ARD GDNS

NEWPORT RD LN

EAST G
RO

VE

CH URCH TERR

W
ATERLO

O
 RD

W
ATERLO

O
 RD

TIMBERS SQ

STALLCOURT AVE

FF
O

R
DD

 N
O

W
EL

L

PEA
RL 

ST

D
IA

M
O

ND
 ST

AGATE ST

N
O

RA
 ST

IRON ST

DIAMOND ST

AN

DERSON PL

ZINC ST

H
ELEN

 PL

CECIL ST

RIC
HARDS T

ERR

WATERLOO GDN S

ST
ACE

Y 
RD

BERTRA
M

 ST

EMERALD ST

SILVER ST

ORBIT ST

LONGCROSS ST

TOPAZ ST

LEAD ST

SUN ST

GOLD ST

SAPPHIRE ST

RUBY ST

COPPER ST

STAR ST

PLANET ST

M
OIR

A TERR

M
ETAL ST

CA
STLE LN

W
O

RDSW
O

RTH AVE

RO
AT

H
 C

O
U

RT
 P

L

SANDRINGHAM RD

G
RE

N
VI

LL
E 

RD

AGIN
CO

URT 
RD

UPPER KINCRAIG ST

LILY ST

ROSE ST

CLIFTO
N

 ST

ELM ST

Q
U

A
IL

 C
T

NINIAN RD

MARLBOROUGH RD

CLAUDE PL

BLENHEIM
 RD

RO
ATH

 CO
U

RT RD

ARRAN PL

CLIVE PL

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 RD

W
EL

LF
IE

LD
 S

T

PE
N-Y

-L
AN R

D

CYNCOED RD

C
YN

C
O

ED
 RD

C
YN

C
O

ED
 RD

CYN
CO

ED
 RD

CYNCOED RD

BANGO
R S

T

D
IA

N
A

 ST

A
LFRED

 ST

KEPPOCH ST

GLENROY ST

STRATHNAIRN ST

C
RO

FT
S 

ST

OXFORD LN

PR
IN

CE
S 

ST

SN
IP

E 
ST

OAKFIELD ST

WILLOW CT

ELM ST LN

PARTRIDGE LN

TE
A

L 
ST PARTRIDGE RD

CO
N

N
AU

G
H

T RD

CLAU
D

E RD

SOUTHEY ST

O
XFO

RD
 ST

VERE ST

ST PETERS ST

M
ILTON ST

DYLAN PL

CYFARTHFA ST

TALW
ORTH ST

BYRON ST

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 RD

TREHARRIS ST

ARRAN ST

CITY RD

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 PL

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 SQ

BED

FO
RD ST

THE PARADE

KNOX RD

KIN
CRA

IG ST

BROADWAY

NEWPORT RD

CONSTELLATIO
N ST

TIN ST

PEARL ST

AUGUSTA ST

M
ETEO

R ST

GLOSSOP RD

ALBANY RDALBANY RD

FITZA
LA

N
 PL

MOY RD

PEPYS C
L

52 Rumney Trail: Provide lighting

53a  Ball Lane: Amend access barrier

      b  O� road link from Pentwyn Drive 
  to Rumney Trail: Provide lighting

a
b

110  Greenway Road: Alterations to tra�c calming and
  provision of cycle bypasses at buildouts, surface 
  improvements, tightening kerb radii at side roads

112  a  •    Newport Road from Southern Way to New Road: Widen existing shared 
   use cycle/footway and extend to junction with New Road 
       
    •  New Road/Newport Road junction: Provide link from New Road to o� road 
   facility

         b     New Road: 20mph speed restriction, amendments to existing tra�c calming, 
   provide cycle bypasses at priority workings

b
a

115  Trowbridge Road: Improvements 
  to existing cycle lanes
 

116  a   Brachdy Road/Quarry Dale junction: Provide cycle bypass through 
  road closure

          b   Brachdy Rd and Llanstephan Rd: Surface improvements

a

b

b

117  a   Ty Mawr Road: Provide on road cycle lanes

          b   Rumney Hill Gardens: Widen woodland path to provide 
  shared use cycle/footway with appropriate lighting

           c    Newport Road: Improve signage of existing shared use 
  path 

a

c

b

PENTWYN, LLANRUMNEY, RUMNEY, TROWBRIDGE & ST MELLONS

KEY

        CYCLE NETWORK ROUTES

        PROPOSED EXTENSIONS TO CYCLE NETWORK

        STRATEGIC SITES TO INCORPORATE EXTENSIVE
        INTERNAL NETWORK OF ROUTES
     

P
age 188



RHOSSILLY RD

PARKWAY

HARRIS AVE

LETTERSTON RD

HE
OL Y RHOS OG

TOW
YN RD

MULLIN

S AVE

TROW
BRIDGE RD

CAER CASTELL PL

MARDY RD

LA
U

G
H

A
RN

E 
RD

HER O N RD

HARRIS
 A

VE

RELF  RD

H
A

RL
EC

H
 R

D

LA
N

G
LA

N
D

 RD

MAXWELL RD

PE
N

RH
O

S 
CR

ES

M
ARDY RD

HOLMSVIEW CLLLAN
GW

N P
L

LLANDUDNO R
D

WENTLOOG AVE

MONKSTONE RISE

LA
M

BY W
AY

RHYL RD GREE
NW

AY R
D

G
RE

EN
W

AY
 R

D

GOODWICK RD

GREENWAY AVE

S VIEW DR

M
A

N
O

RB
IE

R 
CRES

LLANSTEPHAN RD

C
A

EG L AS RD

BE
AU

M
AR

IS
 R

D

FA
RM

LEIG
H

DOWNTON RISE

DO W N TON RISE

CA
EG

LA
S 

RD

BRACHDY LN

WENTLOOG  C
L

BA
RM

OUTH RD

THE GRO
VE

CLAREMONT CRES

W
ENTLOOG RD

NEW RD

LIN D E N GR

N
EV

IN
 C

RE
S

TY-FRY RD

TRELAWNEY AVE

TYR-Y-SARN RD

THE WALK

TYM
AWR CL

W
H

IT
EH

A
LL

 P
A

R
A

D
E

NORTHLANDS

U
PL

A
N

D
S 

RD

CRANLEI GH RISE

NEWPORT RD

LY
N

M
O

U
TH

 C
RE

S

CASTLE R
IS

E

TREDELERCH RD

W
IT

LA
 C

T 
RD

CH
ED

D
AR

 CRES

CLAREMONT AVE

CO
LW

YN
 RD

TY
-F

RY
 G

D
N

S

WATCHET CL

TA
UNTO

N C
RESTA

UNTO
N A

VE

LY
N

TO
N

 C
L

WORLE AVE

W
ES

TO
N

 R
D

W
O

RL
E 

PL

KEWSTOKE AVE

U
PH

IL
L 

RD

LY
N

TO
N

 T
ER

R

HARTLAN
D

 R
D

TY-MAW
R RD

QUARRY DALE

PAGE D
R

LYNTON PL

CHURCH R
D

TY
-M

AW
R AVE

NEWPORT R
D

NEW
PORT R

D

RI
D

G
EW

AY
 R

D

PATC
H

W
AY C

RES

K
EN

NERLEIG
H

 RD

WIDECOMBE DR

TI
VE

RT
O

N
 D

R

H
AT

H
ER

LE
IG

H
 R

D

P E N NSYLVANIA

BR
YN

-Y
-N

A
N

T

AEL-Y-BRYN

PIN
EW

OOD C
RES

KING W
O

O
D

 CL

LLANEDEYRN RD

QUEENWOO D

ROUNDWOOD

LL
AN

ED
EY

RN
 D

R

LLA
N

ED
EYRN

 D
R

MAELFA

W
ELLW

O
O

D

LOTHIAN CRES

LLW
YN

-Y-G
RAN

T TERR

DOE CL

BA
RO

N
S C

T RD

DERI R
D

CHAPEL WOOD

PENNSYLVANIA

IPSW

ICH RD

IP
SW

IC
H

 R
D

A4232

SIN C L AIR D
R

SO
U

TH
CO

U
RT RD

WINCHESTER AVE

EA
RLS C

T RD

TY
-G

W
YN

 R
D

MELROSE AVE

DORCHESTER AVE

HAMMOND WAY

OAK WOOD AVE

LONSDALE RD

O
RM

O
ND

E CL

W
ELL W

O
OD CL

LLANEDEYRN RD

HAMPTON CT RD

FO
S

TER  D R

LLWYN-Y-GRANT RD

PEN
-Y-LAN

 TERR

GRAFTON CL

AMESBURY RD

ILTON RD

PEN-Y
-L

AN P
L

ALM
A R

D

BALA
CLA

VA
 R

D

CRESSY R
D

M
AFEK

IN
G

 R
D

HARRIS
M

IT
H R

D

LLANEDEYRN RD

CARISBROOKE W
AY

TY-GWYN CRES

TY-GWYN AVE

SP
RI

N
GW

OOD

CLEAR WATER WAY

SPRINGWOOD

CEFN-CO E D G
D

N
S

FF
O

RD
D

 C
W

EL
LY

N

FFORD D  B
O

D
LY

N

LO
M

ON
D CRES

A
RN

SI
D

E 
RD

H
U

RO
N

 C
RE

S

EVERARD WAY

W

OOLASTON AVE

HUNTERS RDG

FARM DR

ES
KD

A
LE

 C
L

EGREMONT RD

WINNIP

EG
 D

R

ONTARIO W
AY

C
EF

N
 C

O
ED

 A
V

E

CARNEGIE DR CELYN AVEKEYES AVE

JELLICOE GDNS WILD GARDENS RD

HEATHM EAD

NANT Y WEDAL 

H
EA

TH
 H

A
LT

 R
D

KING GEORGE V DR N

M
O

U
N

TBATTEN
 C

L

KIN
G

 G
EO

RG
E V

 D
R E

BEATTY AVE

WESTVILLE RD

A
N

G
U

S ST

PEN
-Y-LAN

 RD

BR
O

N
 W

YD
D

 A
VE

BIRCHW
OOD RD

BR
AN

D
RE

TH
 R

D

BRANDRETH RD

TY-
DRAW

 P
L

LO
CHABER S

T

ALD
ER

 R
D

HEN
DY S

T

W
ERFA

 S
T

DALCROSS ST

TY’N-Y-COED LN

SPENCER ST

GO
W

ER
 S

T

DANIEL ST

LU
CAS 

ST

D
AVIO

T STFLORENTIA ST

FA
NNY S

T

GWEN
N

Y
TH

 ST

BRUCE ST

ROBERT ST

HAZELDENE AVE LI
N

D
EN

 A
VE

CORSHAM RD

TO
RR

EN
S 

D
R

BIRCHWOOD LN

BOLEYN WALK

CLOS DERWEN

PANT YR WYN

BO
VER

TO
N S

T

TYDFIL
 P

L

M
ORLA

IS
 S

T

MARYPORT RD

KIMBERLEY RD

TY-DRAW RD

ENNERDALE C L

LA
D

Y 
M

A
RY

 R
D

CEFN-COED RD

LA
KE

SI
D

E 
D

R

LAKESIDE DR

PEN-Y-WAIN RD

SH
IRLEY RD

LA
KE RO

A
D

 E

WEDAL RD

HEATHWOOD GR

HIGHFIELD RD

LA
KE

 R
D

 W

W
IN

D
ER

M
ER

E 
A

V
E

C
LU

N
 TERR

M
ALE

FA
NT 

ST
DO

GFI
EL

D S
T

MAY ST

TE
W

KES
BURY S

T

INGLEFIELD AVE

HEATH PARK W
AY

LLANISHEN ST

MAINDY RD

CLODIEN AVE

LLANTRISANT ST

GELLIG
AER ST

ALLENSBANK CRES

MANOR ST

COSMESTON ST

BRITHDIR ST

CWMDARE ST

HEATH PARK AVE

A
LL

EN
SB

A
N

K 
RD

A
LL

EN
SB

A
N

K 
RD

PENTYRCH S
T

RHYGOES S
T

RHIG
OS G

DNS

TALYGARN ST

COLCHESTER AVE

CI
RC

LE
 W

AY
 E

C
IR

C
LE

 W
AY

 W

CIRCLE WAY W

LL
ANRUM

NEY A
VE

LL
A

N
RU

M
N

EY
 A

VE

A48 EASTERN AVE

A48 EASTERN AVE

H
A

RT
 PL

LAMBY W
AY

HIND C L

CLOS AVRO

SEAWALL RD

KENYON RD

STORRAR PL

HA N DLEY RD

FFO
RD

D
 PEN

G
A

M

C
A

IRM
U

IR RD

DE H
AVIL

LA
ND RD

FFORDD PENGAMWHITAKER RD

TAYMUIR RD

GLANM
UIR RD

PA
LL

O
T 

W
AY

GLAN RHYMNI

NEWPORT RD

CAMERON ST

SPRIN
G G

ARDENS TERR

SPRING GARDENS PL

BERESFORD RD LN

WILSON ST

FLORENCE ST

ARTHUR ST

SOUTHMINSTER RD

AXM
INSTER RD

FORT  ST
TYLER ST

FOX ST

STURM
INSTER RD

LA
D

YS
M

IT
H

 R
D

M
IN

ST
ER

 R
D

PRIEST RD

ROVER W
AY

TI
D

E 
FI

EL
D

S 
RD

SEAWALL RD

ROVER WAY

M
ERED

EITH
 RD

M
ERC

IA
 RD

M
O

NA PL

DUNSMUIR RD

BRA
D

LEY ST

BLAN
CHE ST

SKELM
U

IR RD

DEEMUIR RD

PENGAM RD

STO
RRA

R RD

TW
EEDSMUIR RD

D
A

LM
U

IR RD

C
RA

IG
M

U
IR RD

D
ESSM

U
IR RD

SKATHMUIR RD

KENMUIR RD

W
H

IT
M

U
IR

 R
D

C
LY

D
ES

M
U

IR
 R

D

PO
RTM

A
N

M
O

O
R RD

SWINTON ST

H
A

RO
LD

 ST
TH

EO
D

O
RA

 ST

DARBY RD

M
AR

TI
N

 R
D

VIKING PL

RO
V

ER
 W

AY

FORESHORE RD

GLASS AVE

FRESHMOOR RD

TIDAL SIDINGS

PACIFIC RD

ROVER W
AY

OLD CLIPPER RD

LO
NGSHIP

S R
D

FARMVILLE RD

RUNWAY RD

ME IR
IO

N P

L

H
O

R
W

O
O

D CL

BERESFO
RD

 RD

M
O

O
RLA

N
D

 RD

M
O

O
RLA

N
D

 RD

WILLOWS AVE

MERVYN RD

M
A

D
O

C RD

PO
RTM

AN
M

O
O

R RD

H
ELEN

 ST

TITAN RD

KEEN
 RD

BURNABY ST

EYRE ST

COVENY ST

SEYMOUR ST

M
OIR

A ST ECLIPSE ST

COMET ST SPLOTT RD

M
U

IRTO
N

 RD

ORDELL ST

HABE
RS

HO
N S

T

WALKER RD

CO
URTE

NAY
 R

D

ABERYSTWYTH ST

HINTON ST

VANGUARD WAY

JANET ST

MARION ST

SINGLETON RD

ADELINE ST

RAIL
W

AY S
T

HOWARD ST

BAYSID
E RD

CU
M

RA
E ST

CARL
IS

LE
 S

T

SANQUHAR ST

CUMNOCK PL

CLYDE ST

KERRYCRO
Y ST

A
SG

O
G

 ST

KILCATTA
N

 ST

LADY MARGARET TERR

ROATH DOCK RD

CLIPPER RD

COMPASS RD

PIE
RHEAD ST TYN

ESID
E RD

NETTLEFORD RD

E M
O

O
RS RD

SPRUCE C
L

OCEAN WAY

LEW
IS RD

EAST TYNDALL ST

A

PPL EW OOD CL

E M
O

O
RS RD

SYSTEM
 ST

PRINCE LEOPOLD ST

KAM
ES PL

GALSTON ST

ADAMSDOWN LN

ADA

MSDOWN S Q

A DAM
S

C ROFT PL

EAST TYNDALL ST

CEN
TRA

L LIN
K

M

ORGAN ST

ATLANTIC WHARF

HOW
ARD GDNS

NEWPORT RD LN

EAST G
RO

VE

THE WALK

HEMINGWAY RD

W
 B

U
TE

 S
TM

O
UN

T STUART SQ

HEOL GLANRHEIDOL

RERESBY  CT

OVERS TON
E CT

YS
TR

A
D

 S
T

ABER
CYNO

N S
T

CO
RVETTE CT

LLANSANNOR DR

S LOUDOUN PL

HANNAH ST

A
LICE ST

WEST CL

LETTON RD

LO
U

D
O

U
N

 SQ

MARIA ST

W
ESLEY LN

LO

UISA PL

A
D

ELA
ID

E ST

H
A

R
RO

W
BY

 S
T

C
H

A
N

D
LERY W

AY

H
A

RR
O

W
BY

 L
NAVONDAL E GDNS

TA
FF

 T
ER

R

POMEROY ST

CLARENCE EMBANKMENT

CA
M

BR
ID

G
E 

ST

AVOND AL E  G
DNS

MOORDALE RD

NEWPORT ST

COSSLETT PL

BRADFORD ST

BARGOED S
TCLY

DACH S
T

CYM
M

ER S
T

LLANBRADACH S
T

G
RA

N
G

E G
D

N
S

CH URCH TERR

W
ATERLO

O
 RD

W
ATERLO

O
 RD

TIMBERS SQ

STALLCOURT AVE

FF
O

R
DD

 N
O

W
EL

L

PEA
RL 

ST

D
IA

M
O

ND
 ST

AGATE ST

N
O

RA
 ST

IRON ST

DIAMOND ST

AN

DERSON PL

ZINC ST

H
ELEN

 PL

CECIL ST

RIC
HARDS T

ERR
WATERLOO GDN S

ST
ACE

Y 
RD

BERTRA
M

 ST

EMERALD ST

SILVER ST

ORBIT ST

LONGCROSS ST

TOPAZ ST

LEAD ST

SUN ST

GOLD ST

SAPPHIRE ST

RUBY ST

COPPER ST

STAR ST

PLANET ST

M
OIR

A TERR

M
ETAL ST

CA
STLE LN

W
O

RDSW
O

RTH AVE

GORSEDD GDNS RD

WYEVERNE RD

LETTY ST

KING EDW
ARD VII AVE

COLLEGE RD

QUEEN ANNE SQ

RO
AT

H
 C

O
U

RT
 P

L

SANDRINGHAM RD

G
RE

N
VI

LL
E 

RD

AGIN
CO

URT 
RD

UPPER KINCRAIG ST

LILY ST

ROSE ST

CLIFTO
N

 ST

ELM ST

Q
U

A
IL

 C
T

NINIAN RD

MARLBOROUGH RD

CLAUDE PL

BLENHEIM
 RD

RO
ATH

 CO
U

RT RD

ARRAN PL

CLIVE PL

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 RD

W
EL

LF
IE

LD
 S

T

PE
N-Y

-L
AN R

D

CYNCOED RD

C
YN

C
O

ED
 RD

C
YN

C
O

ED
 RD

BANGO
R S

T

A
RA

BELLA
 ST

KE
LV

IN
 R

D

D
O

N
A

LD
 ST

D
IA

N
A

 ST

TY’N-Y-COED PL

A
LFRED

 ST

KEPPOCH ST

GLENROY ST

STRATHNAIRN ST

C
RO

FT
S 

ST

OXFORD LN

PR
IN

CE
S 

ST

SN
IP

E 
ST

OAKFIELD ST

WILLOW CT

ELM ST LN

PARTRIDGE LN

TE
A

L 
ST PARTRIDGE RD

CO
N

N
AU

G
H

T RD

CLAU
D

E RD

SOUTHEY ST

O
XFO

RD
 ST

VERE ST

ST PETERS ST

M
ILTON ST

DYLAN PL

THARSIS CL

DAVIS ST

CYFARTHFA ST

RUSSELL ST

TALW
ORTH ST

BYRON ST

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 RD

TREHARRIS ST

ARRAN ST

M
A

C
KIN

TO
SH

 PL

CITY RD

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 PL

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 SQ

BED

FO
RD ST

BEDFORD ST

C
RA

N
BRO

O
K ST

W
IN

D
SO

R PL

THE PARADE

KNOX RD

NORTHCOTE LN

KIN
CRA

IG ST

N ORTHCOTE LN

RIC
H

M
O

ND CRES

G
O

RD
O

N
 RD

LLANTW
IT ST

ST ANDREWS PL

SA
LISBU

RY RDGLY
NRHONDDA ST

PA
RK G

RO
VE

MUSEUM PL

PA
RK LN

RHYMNEY TERR

CITY RD

A469     WHITCHURCH RD

CO
BU

RN
 ST

BASIL PL

RIC
HARDS 

ST

HARRIE
T S

T
FI

TZ
ROY ST

RUTHIN
 G

DNS

WYEVERNE RD

MUNDY PL

CATHERINE ST

FA
NNY S

T

BROADWAY

NEWPORT RD

D
U

M
FRIES PL

STUTTGARTER STRASSE

BOULEVARD DE NANTES

CRO

C KHERBTOWN LN

CITY HALL RD

M
USEUM

 AVE

LOWTHER RD

MISKIN ST

FITZALAN RD MOIRA PL

CONSTELLATIO
N ST

TIN ST

PEARL ST

AUGUSTA ST

WINDSOR PL

M
ETEO

R ST

GLOSSOP RD

HEN
KE C

T

N
 L

U
TO

N
 P

L
S 

LU
TO

N P
L

CELERITY DR

RO
SE

M

ARY ST

ELLEN
 ST

SC
HO

O
N

ER
 W

AY

SILU
RIA

N
 PL

SILU
RIAN

 PL

BRIG

A N TINE PL

PELLETT ST

SANDON ST

A
N

G
ELIN

A ST

W CAN AL W

HARF

CRA
IG

LEE D
R

N EDWARD STQUEEN ST

BRIDGE ST

STATIO
N

 TERR

CHURC

H
 P

L

CH
ARLES ST

DA

VID
 S

T

CAROLIN
E ST

CALLAGHAN SQ

LLO
YD

 G
EO

RG
E AVE

TYNDALL ST

HERBERT ST

C ALLAGHA N SQ

JOHN ST

CHURCHILL W
AY

ALBANY RDALBANY RD

RICHM
OND RD

FITZA
LA

N
 PL

ADAM ST

BUTE TERR

CUS TOM HOUSE ST

THE HAYES

WORKING ST

ST M
ARYS ST

H
IG

H
 ST

SAU NDERS RD

GREAT W
ESTERN

 LN

ALEXANDER ST

SENGHENYDD RD

W
O

O
DVIL

LE
 R

D

TH
ESIG

ER ST

BRYDGES PL

IN
VERN

ESS PL

MOY RD

BRAEVAL ST

CANAL PARADE

TRA DE 
ST

 L
N

TRA
D

E ST

D
U

M
BA

LLS RD

D
U

M
BALLS RD

BURT 
ST

ABE
R 

ST

C
U

RRA
N

 EM
BA

N
K

M
EN

T

C
U

RRA
N

 RD

BROMFIELD ST
AVONDALE C R ES

GRANGE PL

CORPORATION RD

TAFF EM
BANKM

ENT

FERNDALE ST
H

A
FO

D
 ST

PENTRE G
DNS

COEDCAE S
T

TA
FF EM

BA
N

KM
EN

T

TA
FFS M

EA
D

 EM
BA

N
KM

EN
T

TUDOR LN

UNIVERSAL ST

D
IN

A
S ST

MERCHES GDNS

M
A

RD
Y ST

GLA
DYS 

STMINNY ST

M
O

NTH
ER

M
ER

 R
D

DALT
O

N S
T

PARK LN

CHURCH ST
WESTGATE ST

PLA
N

TA
G

EN
ET ST

DESPENSER PL

FITZH
AM

O
N

 EM
BAN

KM
EN

T

DESPENSER ST

BROOK ST

PENDYRIS ST

TREHERBERT ST

LISVANE ST

D
A

RRA
N

 ST

FLORA ST
HIRWAIN ST

FA
IR

OAK RD

C
ATH

AYS T ERR

CORBETT RD

GREYFRIARS RD

PARK PL

COLUM RD

COLU
M

 D
R

MAINDY RD

TREORKY ST

MINISTER ST

M
ERTHYR ST

CASTLE ST
DUKE  S

T

N
O

RTH
 RD

WOOD ST

TUDOR ST

LUDLOW ST

KENT ST

SEVEN
O

A
KS ST

O
A

KLEY PL

H
O

LM
ES

D
AL

E 
ST

BROMSGROVE ST

PENHEVAD ST

LLANMAES ST

ST FAGANS CT

PA
G

ET ST

AVONDALE RD

STOCKLAND ST

PENTREBANE ST

PENARTH
 R

D

PENARTH RD

BU
TE ST

BUTE PL

JAMES ST

CLARENCE RD

WHARTON ST

TREDEGAR ST

M
IL

L 
LN

HILLS ST

6a Lowther Road from Salisbury Road to 
 Richmond Road: Improve road surface and 
 refresh markings  
   
  b  Lowther Road under railway bridge: Priority 
 working with cycle bypasses 

ab

7 Richmond Road between Northcote Street and 
 Lowther Road: Revise road markings to provide clear 
 route for cyclists

10a   Newport Road from Southern Way to Queen Street: Review of 
  existing route to improve on-carriageway cycle facilities. 

     b  Newport Road outside Carpet Right: Relocate street furniture 
  associated with bus stop.

     c  East of Rover Way: Widen existing shared use cycle track and improve 
  levels / gradients 

     d  South western approach to junction of Newport Road and Rover 
  Way: Widen existing cycle track at expense of advanced stop line and 
  provide  toucan crossings; also improve visibility for pedestrians and 
  cyclists crossing Rover Way.

     e  Newport Road: Relocate street furniture associated with bus stop 
  outside No 302.

a

b

c

d

e

49  Llanedeyrn Road:  Option 1:  Provision of o� road facilities
     Option 2:  Centre line removal and provision 
        of advisory cycle lanes, improvements
        to existing tra�c calming and provision
        of additional tra�c calming

55 Junction of Central Link and Adam Street:   
 Provide toucan crossing and associated 
 cycle track links 
 

56 a  Pearl Street: Improve road surface and provide dropped kerb at 
  road end

      b Beresford Road: Remove centre line, widen ghost island for 
  cyclists

a

b

108   Ty Gwyn Road: 20mph speed restriction, 
  review tra�c calming, surface improvements 

111 Newport Rd to Four Elms Rd: Shared use cycle/
 footway or hybrid cycle track 

113 Broadway: Relocation of route to Broadway. 20mph 
 speed restriction, tra�c calming, centre line removal, 
 entry treatments at side roads

118a   Sanquahar Street/ Windsor Road junction: Crossing 
  and link

121  Carlisle Street: Surfacing and road marking
  improvements at junctions

122 •    Adam Street between Central Link and Morgan Street: 
  Creation of two way o� road cycle track on eastern side of 
  road 
      
 •   Between Central Link and Morgan Street: Provision of 
  signalled cycle crossing facility 

 •   Central Link junction: Conversion of existing pedestrian 
  crossing to provide cycle crossing to Davis Street and eastern 
  side of Adam Street with as few stages as possible

a

148 Waterloo Road: Provision of o�-road facilities

147 Richmond Road: Provision of advisory cycle lanes
 and centre line removal, subject to space 

PENYLAN, PLASNEWYDD, SPLOTT AND ADAMSDOWN

47a   Lake Rd East and West: Introduce 
  one way system, 20mph restrictions

     b  Fairoak Roundabout: Remove cycle lane 
  leading to Wedal Road

      c  Lake Road East/Fairoak Road junction: 
  Install hatching around central island of 
  roundabout 

b
c

KEY

        CYCLE NETWORK ROUTES

        PROPOSED EXTENSIONS TO CYCLE NETWORK
Page 189



CORNELLY
 S

T

LIT
TLE MILL

CO
LW

IN
STO

NE C
LC

O
R

W
EN CRES

WHITEFIELD RD

FESTINIOG RD

CO
LL

EG
E 

RD

GABALFA AVE

WATSON RD

COPLESTON RD

BA
LA

 R
D

M
A

N
O

D
 R

D

CORNELLY
 C

L

CALDY RD

COLWINSTONE ST

LOTHIAN CRES

LLW
YN

-Y-G
RAN

T TERR

BA
RO

N
S C

T RD

DERI R
D

SO
U

TH
CO

U
RT RD

WINCHESTER AVE

EA
RLS C

T RD

TY
-G

W
YN

 R
D

MELROSE AVE

DORCHESTER AVE

LLWYN-Y-GRANT RD

PEN
-Y-LAN

 TERR

GRAFTON CL

AMESBURY RD

ILTON RD

PEN-Y
-L

AN P
L

ALM
A R

D

BALA
CLA

VA
 R

D

CRESSY R
D

M
AFEK

IN
G

 R
D

HARRIS
M

IT
H R

D

LLANEDEYRN RD

CARISBROOKE W
AY

TY-GWYN CRES

TY-GWYN AVE

CEFN-CO E D G
D

N
S

FF
O

RD
D

 C
W

EL
LY

N

FFORD D  B
O

D
LY

N

A
RN

SI
D

E 
RD

FARM DR

ES
KD

A
LE

 C
L

EGREMONT RD

HEATHM EAD

NANT Y WEDAL 

ST
 A

N
TH

O
N

Y 
RD

ED
IN

G
TO

N
 A

V
E

HEATHFIELD PL

M
A

IT
LA

N
D

 S
T

FL
A

X
LA

N
D

 A
VE

ST AGATHA RD

ST
 H

EL
EN

S 
RD

HEATHFIELD RD

LO
N

G
SP

EA
RS

 A
VE

ST GEORGES RD

RHYDHELIG AVE

N
O

RTO
N

 A
V

E

VIO
LET PL

LO
N-Y-GROES

W
AT

ER
ST

O
N

 R
D

ABERDULAIS RD

CA
TH

ED
RA

L 
VI

EW

HEOL AMLWCH

DOLWEN RD

AB

ERDULAIS CRES

BA
C

TO
N

 R
D

GABALFA AVE

BO
N

CA
TH

 R
D

ABERPORTH RD

WESTVILLE RD

A
N

G
U

S ST

PEN
-Y-LAN

 RD

BR
O

N
 W

YD
D

 A
VE

BIRCHW
OOD RD

BR
AN

D
RE

TH
 R

D

BRANDRETH RD

TY-
DRAW

 P
L

LO
CHABER S

T

ALD
ER

 R
D

HEN
DY S

T

W
ERFA

 S
T

DALCROSS ST

TY’N-Y-COED LN

SPENCER ST

GO
W

ER
 S

T

DANIEL ST

LU
CAS 

ST

D
AVIO

T STFLORENTIA ST

FA
NNY S

T

GWEN
N

Y
TH

 ST

BRUCE ST

ROBERT ST

HAZELDENE AVE LI
N

D
EN

 A
VE

CORSHAM RD

BIRCHWOOD LN

BOLEYN WALK

CLOS DERWEN

PANT YR WYN

BO
VER

TO
N S

T

TYDFIL
 P

L

M
ORLA

IS
 S

T

MARYPORT RD

KIMBERLEY RD

TY-DRAW RD

ENNERDALE C L

LA
D

Y 
M

A
RY

 R
D

CEFN-COED RD

PEN-Y-WAIN RD

SH
IRLEY RD

WEDAL RD

HEATHWOOD GR

W
IN

D
ER

M
ER

E 
A

V
E

C
LU

N
 TERR

M
ALE

FA
NT 

ST
DO

GFI
EL

D S
T

MAY ST

TE
W

KES
BURY S

T

INGLEFIELD AVE

HEATH PARK WAY
HEATH PARK W

AY

C
EN

TR
A

L 
W

AY

CANADA RD

THE GATEWAY

LLANISHEN ST

SOBERT O
N

 A
V

E

SU
M

M
ER

FI
EL

D
 A

V
E

MAINDY RD

SA
C

H
V

IL
LE

 A
V

E

CLODIEN AVE

AFRICA GDNS

NEW
 Z

EALAND RD

A
C

A
D

EM
IC

 A
VE

LLANTRISANT ST

GELLIG
AER ST

ALLENSBANK CRES

CROWN WAY

MANOR ST

COSMESTON ST

BRITHDIR ST

CWMDARE ST

A
LL

EN
SB

A
N

K 
RD

A
LL

EN
SB

A
N

K 
RD

PENTYRCH S
T

RHYGOES S
T

RHIG
OS G

DNS

TALYGARN ST

PEN-Y-B
RYN RD

PEN-Y-BRYN PL

NEW
FOUNDLAND RD

AUSTRALIA
 RD

H
EA

T
H  PARK LN

ST ANGELA RD

ST
 A

G
N

ES
 R

D

CAERLEON RD

PILTO
N

 PL

MARGAM R D

RO
SEM

O
U

N
T PL

RIC
H

S RD

LLANTARNAM
 RD

LLWYNDERW
 RD

SUNNYBA N K CL

BEVAN PL

PORTHKERRY PL

MYNACHDY RD

RA
DYR PL

GARTH PL

EX
CE

LS
IO

R R

D

CELTIC RD

BATCHELOR RD

CLOS M
ENTER

EXCELSIOR RD

GABALFA AVE

H
EO

L M
A

D
O

C

M
A

ELO
G

 RD

BI
RCHWOO

D
 G

DNS

C
RA

D
O

C
 RD

TROTMAN DICKENSON PL

LLYS TA L- Y-B
ONT R

D

APPLEDORE RD
CEFN RD

MATTH E W SON C
L

ABERBRAN RD

ABERDORE RD

SILVER BIRCH CL

LL
AN

D
IN

AM
 C

RES

LL
AN

M
O

RL
AI

S 
RD

W
ES

TE
RN

 D
R

LYDSTEP CRES

RIVER VIEW

W
ES

TE
RN

 A
VE

 W

ABERTEIFI CRES

MYNACHDY RD

ABERPORTH RD

HEOL CARNE

LON MADOC

FR
A

N
KL

EN
 R

D

KEN
FIG RD

TWYN-Y-FEDWEN

HEOL Y GORS

H
EO

L CO
ED

 CAE

CO
U

RT RD

HEOL GABRIEL

W
A

U
N

TREO
D

A
 RD

CO
LLEG

E C
L

HEOL-Y-W
AUN

L IMEBOURNE CT

FELIN
 FACH

CLAS TEILO

HEO
L CATTW

G

C
O

ED ARIAN

H
EO

L W
AU

N
 Y N

AN
T

TYNANT

THE PHILOG

MERTHYR RD

ERW LAS

MAES GLAS

HEOL FAIR

CA
TH

ED
RA

L CL

M
A

Y
N

A

R D CT

TYNEWYDD

COLLEGE R
D

CO
LL

EG
E 

RD

M
IT

RE
 P

L

BRIDGE ST

FORDWELL

CARD
IFF RD

CARDIFF RD

LLA
N

D
A

FF RD

LLANDAFF RD

LLANIDLOES RD

CO
LW

IL
L 

RD

RIVER VIEW

CIRCLE WAY W

TINTERN ST

EG
ERTO

N
 ST

PARRY ST

LLAN DAFF PL

WESTMORELAND ST

CUMBERLAND ST

HANOVER ST

N
O

RT
H

U
M

BE
RL

A
N

D
 S

T

TH
EO

BA
LD

 S
T

BRECO
N

 ST PEN
-Y-PEEL RD

RA
D

N
O

R 
RD

CARDIGAN ST

PEMBROKE RD

SYR DAVID’S AVE

DULWICH GDNS

EG
H

A
M

 S
T

PE

NHIL L 
C

L

LANSDOWNE AVE E

LANSDOWNE AVE W

LAWRENNY AVE

YO
RK

 S
T

W
EM

BL
EY

 R
D

BROADHAVEN

BROADSTAIRS RD

BE
D

A
 R

D

N
O

RF
O

LK
 S

T

LI
N

C
O

LN
 S

T

LI
O

N
EL

 R
D

SU
RR

EY
 S

T

N
ES

TA
 R

D

TU
RN

ER
 R

D

BRUNSWICK ST

N
O

TT
IN

G
H

A
M

 S
T

FE
RN

 S
T

FLINDO CRES

VERALLO
 D

R

HEOL TERRELL

ETHEL ST

FORREST RD

DAISY ST

KI
N

G
SL

A
N

D
 R

D

W
ES

SE
X

 S
T

T
H

E 
CR

ES
CENT

BURLINGTON TERR

M
IL

L 
LN

VISHWELL RD

OVINGTON TERR

WESTBURY TERR

V
IC

TO
RI

A
 P

A
RK

 R
D

 E

HALSBU
RY

 R
D

VICTORIA AVE

G
RO

SV
EN

O
R 

ST

C
LIV

E RD

IV
Y 

ST
CO

N
YB

EA
RE

 R
D

CHAPEL ST

PALACE RD

PA
LA

C
E AVE

HENDRE C
L

ELY RD

C
A

EW
A

L R
D

R O WAN CT

HOW
EL

LS
 C

RE
S

ST MICHAELS RD

C
H

A
RG

O
T RD

PEN
C

ISELY RISE

PENCISELY AVE

G
REEN

W
IC

H
 RD

P
EN

CISELY C R ES

C
A

EW
A

L RD

HIG
H S

T

VIC
TO

RIA
 PA

RK RD
 W

WINDWAY AVE

THOMPSON AVE

BERNARD AVE

KEN
SIN

G
TO

N
 AVE

GRAN
VILLE AVE

REDCLIFFE AVE

PAPER MILL RD

SANATORIUM RD

ELY
 R

D

A48 EASTERN AVE

A48 EASTERN AVE

A
48

   
 W

ES
TE

ER
N

 A
VE

A48   WESTERN AVE

HEOL-Y-PAVIN

FAIRWATER RD

LA
D

YS
M

IT
H

 R
D

PRIEST RD

H
ELEN

 ST

TITAN RD

KEEN
 RD

M
OIR

A ST ECLIPSE ST

COMET ST

ORDELL ST

VANGUARD WAY

JANET ST

ADELINE ST

RAIL
W

AY S
T

HOWARD ST

BAYSID
E RD

CU
M

RA
E ST

SANQUHAR ST

CUMNOCK PL

CLYDE ST

KERRYCRO
Y ST

A
SG

O
G

 ST

KILCATTA
N

 ST

LADY MARGARET TERR

NETTLEFORD RD

E M
O

O
RS RD

SPRUCE C
L

OCEAN WAY

EAST TYNDALL ST

A

PPL EW OOD CL

E M
O

O
RS RD

SYSTEM
 ST

PRINCE LEOPOLD ST

KAM
ES PL

GALSTON ST

ADAMSDOWN LN

ADA

MSDOWN S Q

A DAM
S

C ROFT PL

EAST TYNDALL ST

CEN
TRA

L LIN
K

M

ORGAN ST

ATLANTIC WHARF

HOW
ARD GDNS

NEWPORT RD LN

EAST G
RO

VE

THE WALK

CO
RVETTE CT

LLANSANNOR DR

LETTON RDMARIA ST

W
ESLEY LN

BESSBOROUGH D R

AM
YAS CL

ROLLS ST

LITTLETO
N

 ST

CHANCERY LN REN
N

IE ST

TE
LF

O
RD

 S
T

WELLS ST LN

LECKWITH AVE

LECKWITH PL

R
AILW

AY TERR

NEWTON RD

ST D
O

N
ATS RD

DUNRA
VE

N RD

P
O

W
D

ERH
AM

 DR

D
EN

TO
N

 R
D

SUDCROFT ST

BR
O

AD
H

AV
EN

W
ATERLO

O
 RD

W
ATERLO

O
 RD

TIMBERS SQ

STALLCOURT AVE

D
IA

M
O

ND
 ST

AGATE ST

N
O

RA
 ST

IRON ST

DIAMOND ST

AN

DERSON PL

ZINC ST

H
ELEN

 PL

RIC
HARDS T

ERR

WATERLOO GDN S

ST
ACE

Y 
RD

EMERALD ST

SILVER ST

ORBIT ST

LONGCROSS ST

TOPAZ ST

LEAD ST

SUN ST

GOLD ST

SAPPHIRE ST

RUBY ST

COPPER ST

STAR ST

PLANET ST

M
OIR

A TERR

M
ETAL ST

CA
STLE LN

W
O

RDSW
O

RTH AVE

GORSEDD GDNS RD

WYEVERNE RD

LETTY ST

KING EDW
ARD VII AVE

COLLEGE RD

QUEEN ANNE SQ

RO
AT

H
 C

O
U

RT
 P

L

SANDRINGHAM RD

G
RE

N
VI

LL
E 

RD

AGIN
CO

URT 
RD

UPPER KINCRAIG ST

LILY ST

ROSE ST

CLIFTO
N

 ST

ELM ST

Q
U

A
IL

 C
T

NINIAN RD

MARLBOROUGH RD

CLAUDE PL

BLENHEIM
 RD

RO
ATH

 CO
U

RT RD

ARRAN PL

CLIVE PL

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 RD

W
EL

LF
IE

LD
 S

T

PE
N-Y

-L
AN R

D

CYNCOED RD

BANGO
R S

T

A
RA

BELLA
 ST

KE
LV

IN
 R

D

D
O

N
A

LD
 ST

D
IA

N
A

 ST

TY’N-Y-COED PL

A
LFRED

 ST

KEPPOCH ST

GLENROY ST

STRATHNAIRN ST

C
RO

FT
S 

ST

OXFORD LN

PR
IN

CE
S 

ST

SN
IP

E 
ST

OAKFIELD ST

WILLOW CT

ELM ST LN

PARTRIDGE LN

TE
A

L 
ST PARTRIDGE RD

CO
N

N
AU

G
H

T RD

CLAU
D

E RD

SOUTHEY ST

O
XFO

RD
 ST

VERE ST

ST PETERS ST

M
ILTON ST

DYLAN PL

THARSIS CL

DAVIS ST

CYFARTHFA ST

RUSSELL ST

TALW
ORTH ST

BYRON ST

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 RD

TREHARRIS ST

ARRAN ST

M
A

C
KIN

TO
SH

 PL

CITY RD

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 PL

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 SQ

BED

FO
RD ST

BEDFORD ST

C
RA

N
BRO

O
K ST

W
IN

D
SO

R PL

THE PARADE

KNOX RD

NORTHCOTE LN

KIN
CRA

IG ST

N ORTHCOTE LN

RIC
H

M
O

ND CRES

G
O

RD
O

N
 RD

LLANTW
IT ST

ST ANDREWS PL

SA
LISBU

RY RDGLY
NRHONDDA ST

PA
RK G

RO
VE

MUSEUM PL

PA
RK LN

RHYMNEY TERR

CITY RD

A469     WHITCHURCH RD

CO
BU

RN
 ST

BASIL PL

RIC
HARDS 

ST

HARRIE
T S

T
FI

TZ
ROY ST

RUTHIN
 G

DNS

WYEVERNE RD

MUNDY PL

CATHERINE ST

FA
NNY S

T

BROADWAY

NEWPORT RD

D
U

M
FRIES PL

STUTTGARTER STRASSE

BOULEVARD DE NANTES

CRO

C KHERBTOWN LN

CITY HALL RD

M
USEUM

 AVE

LOWTHER RD

MISKIN ST

FITZALAN RD MOIRA PL

CONSTELLATIO
N ST

TIN ST

PEARL ST

AUGUSTA ST

WINDSOR PL

M
ETEO

R ST

GLOSSOP RD

HEN
KE C

T

N
 L

U
TO

N
 P

L
S 

LU
TO

N P
L

CELERITY DR

RO
SE

M

ARY ST

ELLEN
 ST

SILU
RIAN

 PL

BRIG

A N TINE PL

PELLETT ST

SANDON ST

A
N

G
ELIN

A ST

W CAN AL W

HARF

CRA
IG

LEE D
R

N EDWARD STQUEEN ST

BRIDGE ST

STATIO
N

 TERR

CHURC

H
 P

L

CH
ARLES ST

DA

VID
 S

T

CAROLIN
E ST

CALLAGHAN SQ

TYNDALL ST

HERBERT ST

C ALLAGHA N SQ

JOHN ST

CHURCHILL W
AY

ALBANY RDALBANY RD

RICHM
OND RD

FITZA
LA

N
 PL

ADAM ST

BUTE TERR

CUS TOM HOUSE ST

THE HAYES

WORKING ST

ST M
ARYS ST

H
IG

H
 ST

SAU NDERS RD

GREAT W
ESTERN

 LN

ALEXANDER ST

SENGHENYDD RD

W
O

O
DVIL

LE
 R

D

TH
ESIG

ER ST

BRYDGES PL

IN
VERN

ESS PL

MOY RD

BRAEVAL ST

CANAL PARADE

TRA DE 
ST

 L
N

TRA
D

E ST

D
U

M
BA

LLS RD

C
U

RRA
N

 EM
BA

N
K

M
EN

T

C
U

RRA
N

 RD

H
A

FO
D

 ST

PENTRE G
DNS

TA
FF EM

BA
N

KM
EN

T

TA
FFS M

EA
D

 EM
BA

N
KM

EN
T

TUDOR LN

UNIVERSAL ST

D
IN

A
S ST

MERCHES GDNS

M
A

RD
Y ST

M
A

RD
Y ST

ALLERTON ST

W
A

RW
IC

K 
PL

CHESTER ST

JU BILEE ST

SUSSEX ST

COMPTON STSOMERSET ST

STAFFORD RD

WEDMORE RD

W
ED

M
O

RE RD

TYN
AN

T ST

CORNW
ALL ST

VIRGIL ST

WARW
ICK ST

D
EVO

N
 ST

GLA
DYS 

STMINNY ST

M
O

NTH
ER

M
ER

 R
D

DALT
O

N S
T

PARK LN

CHURCH ST
WESTGATE ST

PLA
N

TA
G

EN
ET ST

BEA
U

C
H

A
M

P ST

MARK ST

CLARE PL
DESPENSER PL

GRE
EN

 S
T

RAWDEN MEWS

FITZH
AM

O
N

 EM
BAN

KM
EN

T

DESPENSER ST

NEVILLE P
L

G
LO

U
CESTER ST

BROOK ST

CRADDOCK ST

ST
EP

H
EN

SO
N

 S
T

MACHEN PL

H
EA

TH
 P

L

RA
W

D
EN

 P
L

DE BURGH ST

NEVILLE ST

MA NDEVIL
LE S

T

RUTLAND ST

PENDYRIS ST

COURT R
D

DORSET ST

TREHERBERT ST

LISVANE ST

D
A

RRA
N

 ST

FLORA ST
HIRWAIN ST

FA
IR

OAK RD

C
ATH

AYS T ERR

CORBETT RD

GREYFRIARS RD

PARK PL

COLUM RD

COLU
M

 D
R

MAINDY RD

TREORKY ST

MINISTER ST

M
ERTHYR ST

CASTLE ST
DUKE  S

T

N
O

RTH
 RD

N
O

RTH
 RD

HAMILTON ST

CRADDOCK ST

TREVETHIC
K ST

SOPHIA
 C

L

TALBOT ST

PLASTURTON P
L

KYVEILOG STBERTHW
IN

 ST

DOGO S
T

G
IL

ES
TO

N
 R

D

W
ELLS ST

LYNDHURST ST

A
LBERT ST

ORCHARD PL

KINGS RD

SNEYD ST

IE
ST

YN ST

SPRINGFIELD PL

GLYNNE ST

W
YNDHAM

 RD

SEVERN
 RD

G
RAY LN

DYFRIG
 S

T

GREENFIELD AV E

SEVERN
 G

RO
VE

RYDER ST

PLASTURTON AVE

PITM
AN ST

MALDWYN ST

CO
N

W
AY RD

MORTIMER RD

LO
W

ER
 C

AT
H

ED
RA

L 
RD

CATHEDRAL RD

CATHEDRAL RD

PENHILL RD
PENCISELY RD

PE
N

LL
YN

 R
D

C
H

U
RC

H
 R

D

LLANFAIR RD

W
YNDHAM

 CRES

ROMILLY CRES

ROMILLY RD

ROMILLY RD W

CARMARTHEN ST

G
LA

M
O

RG
A

N
 ST

MARKET  PL

FAIRLEIGH RD

S 
M

O
RG

AN
 PL LEW

IS ST

TEIL
O S

T

PO
N

TC
A

N
N

A
 ST

SOPHIA
 W

K

SM
EA

TO
N

 S
T

WOOD ST

TUDOR ST

NINIAN PARK RD

MAJOR RD
WYNDHAM PL

WYNDHAM
 PL

A
LBER T  ST

PICTON PL

BROAD ST

E ARLE PL

LEC
KW

ITH
 RD

LECKW
IT

H R
D

RE
C

TO
RY

 R
D

M
A

RKET RD

A
LE

X
A

N
D

RA
 R

D

COWBRIDGE RD EAST

COWBRIDGE RD EAST

COWBRIDGE RD EAST

WELLINGTON ST

ATLAS R D

LANSDOWNE RD

C
LA

RE ST

C
LA

RE ST

N
 C

LIVE ST

PENARTH
 R

D

PENARTH RD

FI
EL

D
S 

PA
RK

 R
D

WHARTON ST

TREDEGAR ST

M
IL

L 
LN

HILLS ST

1 a  Allensbank Rd south of Wedal Rd: Review waiting restrictions 
 and provide tra�c calming 
 

a

3 a Cathays terrace/Crwys Road junction: Early start for cyclists, right turn for cyclists only onto Crwys 
 Road, feeder lane for westbound cyclists  
 
   b Woodville Pub: Introduce cycle access through road end and convert pedestrian crossing to Toucan 
 crossing 
 
   c  Cathays Terrace: Reduce central motor tra�c lane and widen cycle lanes, remove existing tra�c islands
 and introduce zebra crossings
 
   d Cathays Terrace/Catherine Street junction: Cycle bypass 
 
   e Bridge linking to Corbett Road: Improve surface quality, reduce southbound lanes to one
 

a

c

d

b

e

ROUTE 1: UPGRADE

6 a  Salisbury Road to Richmond Road: Improve 
 road surface and refresh markings
   
   b Lowther Road under railway bridge: Priority 
 working with cycle bypasses 
   

ab

40 a Colum Road: Introduce 20mph limit and widen 
 cycle lanes by reducing running lane

      b Colum Road/North Road junction: Convert to 
 single stage crossing
 

b

a

ROUTE 9: UPGRADE

41 a Boulevard de Nantes/Park Place junction: 
 Toucan crossing and associated cycle track links 

      b  Between City Hall Road and park: Dropped 
 kerb and direct cycle connection 

b
a

45 a Footbridge over Western Avenue within Gabalfa 
 Interchange: Remove cyclists dismount signs. Potentially 
 provide higher parapets. 

a

87 Access from Llanda� Fields 
 to Fields Park Road:  Relocation
 of bollard, surface improvements

91 Cathedral Road / Talbot Street junction: 
 Early start for cyclists and surface 
 improvements 

92 a Ryder Street to Romilly Crescent: Improvements to surface 
 and road markings  

      b Ryder Street/Plasturton Place, Plasturton Avenue/Sneyd 
 Street, Kings Road/Severn Grove: Treatment of side roads

b

b

b

a

99 North Road alongside road from Newport Road to 
 Castle Street: Provide continuous segregated o� 
 road cycle route 
 

100 a   Reduce delay for cyclists at signal junctions

         b   Bute Terrace from Customhouse St to Adam St: 
  Provide continuous segregated o� road cycle route 
 

a

a
a

b

101  Queen Street: 
 Permit cycling
 

102   a   Reduce delay for cyclists at signal junctions

 b   Station Terrace from Bute Terrace to Newport Road: 
  Provision of on road cycle lanes

a

a

a

a

a

b

104 Cathays Cemetery: Permit cycling 

123 a   Wood Street/Clare Street junction: Provision of a 
  signalised bus gate & Advanced Stop Line on Tudor 
  Street 
    
         b   Wood Street junction: Advanced Stop Lines with 
     access to railway station.

        c   Wood Street: Widen and convert southern footway to 
  shared use between station access and bridge over 
  River Ta�

a

b

c

137 Option 1 -  Cardi� Bridge to High Street: 
 Extension of existing hybrid cycle tracks 

 Option 2 - Castle Street: Eastbound tra�c lane 
 to be converted to bus lane shared with cycles 
 or dedicated cycle track with bypass at bus stops

24  a  Cardi� Bridge to Cathedral Road: Reduce tra�c lane widths and 
  widen cycle lanes 

       b  Cathedral Road/Cowbridge Road junction: Early start for 
  cyclists 

       c  Cathedral Road to Neville Street: Reduce tra�c lanes to one in 
  each direction and widen cycle lanes 

       d  Neville Street junction: Early start for cyclists

d c
b

a

ROUTE 6: UPGRADE

98 a  Pedestrian link between Mill Lane and Tredegar Street: Permit cycling. 

      b   St Mary Street: Provide contra�ow or exemption to one-way street and 
  utilise wide raised signal controlled crossing.

a

b

103 •  St Mary St/Wood St jct: Early start for cyclists
  • On road section of St Mary St: Provision of advisory cycle lanes 

25     Delta Street junction: 
 Cycle bypass at signals

ROUTE 6: UPGRADE

96   a Western Ave N/Abertei� Crescent: Junction 
  improvements to make crossing easier for 
  cyclists 

        b Cardi� Met to Gabalfa Interchange: 
  Widen shared use path 

       c  Improve access to Ta� Trail

a

b

c

93 a  Romilly Crescent to Romilly Road W: 
  Introduce 20mph limit, tra�c calming, 
  centre line removal, surface improvements
  and treatment of side roads

      b  Romilly Cr/Llanda� Rd jct: Provide 
  Advance Stop Lines

a
b

RIVERSIDE, CATHAYS AND GABALFA

KEY

        CYCLE NETWORK ROUTES

        PROPOSED EXTENSIONS TO CYCLE NETWORK

        STRATEGIC SITES TO INCORPORATE EXTENSIVE
        INTERNAL NETWORK OF ROUTES
     

P
age 190



CATHAYS

CYNCOED

PENTWYN

PLASNEWYDD

SPLOTT

PENYLAN

LLANRUMNEY

RUMNEY

TROWBRIDGE
& ST MELLONS

M
AES-Y-C

R
O

C
H

AN

MINSMERE 
C

L

HERITAGE PK

WATER AVENS CL

C
YPRESS D

RWILLO W HERB CL

COBOL RD

SAFFRON DR

VAENDRE CL

FORTRAN RD

NEWLANDS RD

WILLIA M
 B

ELCHER DR
TEALHAM

 D
R

A
BE

RN
AT

H
Y 

CL

M
EADOW SWEET D

R

ORCHID CL

SANDBROOK RD

B
U

L R U SH CL

GLEN
RI

SE
 C

L

BR
YN

M

AWR CL
SWAN A GE C

L

WICK E N
 C

L

CYPRESS DR

CLOS TYLA BACH

LOCKE G
R

LODW
ICK RS

KE
M

BE
R 

CL

W

ILLOW
BRO

O
K 

D
R

FIELDFAR E D
R

JO
N

QUIL C
L

JASM INE  DR

PENN
YRO

YA

L  CL

W
ENTWORTH LN

CLO S -YR-O N NEN

MITCHELL CL

AS TON PL

HARRIS
ON D

R

HARRISON
 D

R

W
ALW

YN
 PL

BR
O

ADW
ELL CL

PITME
D

EN
 CL

COLEFORD DR

H
ERITA

G
E  PK

HER I TAG
E 

P
K

WILLOW GR

FA
IR

H
A

V
E

N
 C

L

VERBENA CL

W
ILLO

W
D

EN
E W

AY

HE OL 
M

AES 
EI

RW
G

PWLL Y PLACA

H
EO

L M
AES EIRW

GWILLOWBROOK DR

MACHEN CL

CAERL EO
N

 C
L

RAGLAN CL

N
EW

EN
T RD

RISCA C
L

CRUMLIN DR

WAKEHURST PLBROCKHAMPTON RD

JAMES CT

OAKM EADO W DR

C
RICKHOWELL RD

GREEN MEADOWS
M

ATTH Y SENS WAY

JE
NKINS W

AY

SOAREL CL

PA
V

ALA
N D

 CL

CRAG

SIDE CL

C
EM

A
ES C

R E S

COLEFORD DR

WESTONBIRT CL

HEOL 
TR

O
ST

RE

ROGERSTONE CL

ST A

RVA
NS CERES

SPENC

ER DAVID WA Y

FFO
RD

D
 D

A
N

IE
L 

LE
W

IS

HARRISON D
R

TRECINON R
D

TREBORTH RD

CRIC
KHOW

ELL
 R

D

BO D N A N T CL

ASPEN C
L

TREBANOG CL

LLA N INA GR

CRICKHOWELL RD

T
REBANOG CRES

W
ILLO

W
BRO

O
K D

R

HAZEL
W

O
O

D
 D

R

PENSARN RD

PORT M
ADOC RD

GLAN
-Y-M

O
R RD

TREFASER CRES

TR
OW

BRID
G

E 
G

R

GWBERT CL

CATH
 C

O
B 

C
L

B
RO

O
KFIELD

 D
R

F ERNTREE 
D

R

TRO
W

BR
ID

G
E 

GR

TRESIGIN RD

GLANDOVEY GR

ABERGELE RD

CAER
NA

RV
O

N
 W

AY

D
O

VE
Y 

CL
H

EN
D

R
E  R

D

HENDRE RD

ORC
HA

RD PK

TARW
IC

K D
R

BETH
A

N
IA

 RO
W

PURCELL R
D

COATES PL

O
LD

 H
IL

L

PRE
ST

AT
YN

 R
D

M
EA

DVALE RD

INSTOW PL

D
U

LV
ER

TO
N

 A
VE

D
U

N
ST

ER
 R

D

PORLOCK RD

BLACKMOOR PL

LI
M

EWOOD C L

MELVILLE AVE

OLD N
EW

PORTR RD

VAENDRE LN

EID
ER  C L

SA
N

D
ER

LI
N

G
 D

R

KINGFIS H ER CL

OLD NEWPORT RD

ALLEN CL

PARKSTONE AVE

G
O

U L D CL

WERN FAWR LN

H
A

STIN
G

S CRES

HASTIN

GS CRES

TY-TO-MAEN CL

FFORD
D

 BRYN
H

Y
FRYD

MILL LN

RUPERA CL

BL
A

CK
BI

RD
S 

WAY

OKEH
AM

PTO
N

 A
VE

BLUEBE
LL

 D
R

MILL LN

BRAYFORD PL

WITHYCOMBE RD

O
THERY PL

ARNOLD AVEBRONTE CRES

BR
ID

G
W

AT
ER

 R
D

LA
N

G
PO

RT
 A

VE

M
O

U
N

T 
PL

EA
SA

N
T 

LN

A
XB

RI
D

G
E 

CR
ES

MINEHEAD RD

TY
 W

IN
C

H
 R

D

CHUR C H LN

WILLITON RD

MALMSM
EAD

 R
D

SE
DGEM

OOR R
D

M
IL

VE
RT

O
N

 R
D

TORRIN
GTO

N
 R

D

WASHFORD A
VE

CREDIT
O

N
 R

D

M OUNT PLEASANT AVE

BAMPTON RD

DURLEIGH CL

HONIT
O

N
 R

D

A SH
BU

RT
O

N
 A

VE

CROYDE AVE

ILCHESTER RD

DRYDEN CL

RUSKIN CLKIPLING CL

BROW
NING CL

RHOSSILLY RD

CHESTERTON AVE

THACKERAY C
RES

MACAULAY AVE

LA

SCELLES D

R

HAZLITT CL
BOSWELL CL

HOUSMAN CL

TH
E 

FARTHI N
G

S

AMBERLEY CL

AM
BE

RG
AT

E 
D

R

PA
NT 

GLAS

ALMOND DR

W
H

A
RF

ED
A

LE
 R

D

GLYN COLLEN

TH
E M

ALTINGS
TARRAGON W

AY

TY CERRIG

LLWYN CASTAN

HY
SSO P C

L

BO
RA

G E CL

GLYN R H O
SY

N

G
LY

N
 RH

O
SYN

PEPPERMINT DR

NEW
TON RD

M
O

RF
A

 C
RE

S

WENTLOOG AVE

DOLGOCH CL

HEOL NEW
YDD

VALLEY V
IE

W

PARKWAY

HARRIS AVE

LETTERSTON RD

B R Y N BALA W
AY

ABERDARON RD

HE
OL Y RHOS OG

PARKWAY

TOW
YN RD

MULLIN

S AVE

TROW
BRIDGE RD

CAER CASTELL PL

BRO A
THRO

MARDY RD

W
OOLACOMBE AVE

LA
U

G
H

A
RN

E 
RD

HER O N RD

HARRIS
 A

VE

RELF  RD

H
A

RL
EC

H
 R

D

LA
N

G
LA

N
D

 RD

MAXWELL RD

PE
N

RH
O

S 
CR

ES

ILFRACOMBE C
RES

M
ARDY RD

HOLMSVIEW CLLLAN
GW

N P
L

LLANDUDNO R
D

WENTLOOG AVE

MONKSTONE RISE

ARLINGTON CRES

CANNINGTON AVE

LA
M

BY W
AY

RHYL RD

G
RE

EN
W

AY
 R

D

GRE
EN

W
AY

 R
D

GREE
NW

AY R
D

G
RE

EN
W

AY
 R

D

GOODWICK RD

GREENWAY AVE

S VIEW DR

M
A

N
O

RB
IE

R 
CRES

LLANSTEPHAN RD

C
A

EG L AS RD

BE
AU

M
AR

IS
 R

D

FA
RM

LEIG
H

DOWNTON RISE

DO W N TON RISE

CA
EG

LA
S 

RD

BRACHDY LN

WENTLOOG  C
L

BA
RM

OUTH RD

THE GRO
VE

CLAREMONT CRES

W
ENTLOOG RD

NEW RD

LIN D E N GR

N
EV

IN
 C

RE
S

TY-FRY RD

TRELAWNEY AVE

TYR-Y-SARN RD

THE WALK

TYM
AWR CL

W
H

IT
EH

A
LL

 P
A

R
A

D
E

NORTHLANDS

U
PL

A
N

D
S 

RD

CRANLEI GH RISE

NEWPORT RD

LY
N

M
O

U
TH

 C
RE

S

CASTLE R
IS

E

TREDELERCH RD

W
IT

LA
 C

T 
RD

BI
D

EF
O

RD
 R

D

CH
ED

D
AR

 CRES

CLAREMONT AVE

CO
LW

YN
 RD

TY
-F

RY
 G

D
N

S

WATCHET CL

TA
UNTO

N C
RESTA

UNTO
N A

VE

CHARD A
VE

FISHPOND RD

G
LA

ST
O

N
BU

RY
 TERR

CLEVEDON RD

LY
N

TO
N

 C
L

WORLE AVE

W
ES

TO
N

 R
D

W
O

RL
E 

PL

KEWSTOKE AVE

U
PH

IL
L 

RD

LY
N

TO
N

 T
ER

R

HARTLAN
D

 R
D

EX
FO

RD CRES

N
O

RT
H

A
M

 A
V

E

CLO
VELLY CRES

MENDIP RD

TY-MAW
R RD

QUARRY DALE

PAGE D
R

SW
IF

T C
L

FI
EL

D
IN

G
 C

L

DIC
KENS A

VE

PA
RR

ACOMBE CRES

BRAUNTON AVE

BRAUNTON CRES

BARNSTABLE RD

BA
LL

 R
D

LYNTON PL

CHURCH R
D

TY
-M

AW
R AVE

NEWPORT RD

NEWPORT R
D

NEW
PORT R

D

BR
YN

 H
EU

LO
G

BRYN HAI D D

G
LYN

 EID
D

EW

BRYNCYN

C
O

ED
EN

 D
A

L

W
A

U
N

 FACH

BRYN PINWYDDEN

PENTWYN RD

DARTINGTON DR

FELBRIGG
 CRES

RI
D

G
EW

AY
 R

D

PATC
H

W
AY C

RES

K
EN

NERLEIG
H

 RD

WIDECOMBE DR

TI
VE

RT
O

N
 D

R

H
AT

H
ER

LE
IG

H
 R

D

P E N NSYLVANIA

WERN GOCH W

PENTW
YN R

D

BRYN CELYN RD

PE
N

TW
YN

 D
R

THE HAW THORNS

THE H
A

W
TH

O
RN

S

LI
N

N
ET

 C
L

H
O

LLY
BUSH HGHTS

F ORSYTHIA D R

FO
RSYTH

IA
 D

R

H A W FIN
CH C

L

MAGNOLIA CL

A
ZA

LEA CL

CO
ED-Y-G

ORES

BR
YN

-Y
-N

A
N

T

COED-Y-G
ORES

AEL-Y-BRYN

PIN
EW

OOD C
RES

KING W
O

O
D

 CL

LLANEDEYRN RD

QUEENWOO D

ROUNDWOOD

LL
AN

ED
EY

RN
 D

R

LLA
N

ED
EYRN

 D
R

MAELFA

W
ELLW

O
O

D

LOTHIAN CRES

LLW
YN

-Y-G
RAN

T TERR

DOE CL

BA
RO

N
S C

T RD

DERI R
D

HOLLYBUSH RD

COED-Y-G
ORES

BR
YN

FEDW

G
LY

N
 C

O
ED

G
LYN

 CO
ED

 RD

G
LY

N
 C

O
ED

 R
D

CHAPEL WOOD

BRYNFEDW

PENNSYLVANIA

IPSW

ICH RD

IP
SW

IC
H

 R
D

A4232
SIN C L AIR D

R

SO
U

TH
CO

U
RT RD

WINCHESTER AVE

EA
RLS C

T RD

TY
-G

W
YN

 R
D

MELROSE AVE

DORCHESTER AVE

HAMMOND WAY

OAK WOOD AVE

LONSDALE RD

O
RM

O
ND

E CL

W
ELL W

O
OD CL

LLANEDEYRN RD

HAMPTON CT RD

FO
S

TER  D R

LLWYN-Y-GRANT RD

PEN
-Y-LAN

 TERR

GRAFTON CL

AMESBURY RD

ILTON RD

PEN-Y
-L

AN P
L

ALM
A R

D

BALA
CLA

VA
 R

D

CRESSY R
D

M
AFEK

IN
G

 R
D

HARRIS
M

IT
H R

D

LLANEDEYRN RD

CARISBROOKE W
AY

TY-GWYN CRES

TY-GWYN AVE

SP
RI

N
GW

OOD

HILLRISE

CLEAR WATER WAY

SPRINGWOOD

H
ILLRISE

CEFN-CO E D G
D

N
S

FF
O

RD
D

 C
W

EL
LY

N

FFORD D  B
O

D
LY

N

PENNAN
T C

RES

WERNGOCH RD

RANNOCH D R

LO
M

ON
D CRES

A
RN

SI
D

E 
RD

H
U

RO
N

 C
RE

S

EVERARD WAY

W

OOLASTON AVE

HUNTERS RDG

FARM DR

ES
KD

A
LE

 C
L

EGREMONT RD

CYNCOED AVE

GLENW
OOD

C
YN

CO
ED

 RISE

C
YN

C
O

ED
 A

V
E

ST EDEYRNS RD

HOLLYBUSH RD

HOLLYBUSH RD

CYNCOED C
RES

GOLDCREST DR
WOODVALE AVE

CELY N G
R

ALD
ER

BROOK

LLYSWEN RD

BRYN
-G

W
YN

 RD

ALLTMAW
R RD

LLANGORSE RD

D
U

FFRYN
 RD

WESTMIN
STER C

RE
S

SHERBORNE AVE

DAN-Y-COED RD

CYNCOED PL

WINNIP

EG
 D

R

ONTARIO W
AY

C
EF

N
 C

O
ED

 A
V

E

HENLLYS RD

DERWEN RD

BETTWS-Y-C
OED RD

LEVEN CL

CLAERWEN DR

CARNEGIE DR

PA
D

A
RN

 C
L

OGWEN DR

D
U

FF
RY

N
 A

V
E

LLYN CL

G
W

YN
ANT CRES

DAN-Y-COED RD

NANT-FAWR CRES

N
A

N
T-

FA
W

R 
RD

LLANDENNIS AVE

CELYN AVE

CELYN AVE

TH
RE

E 
A

RC
H

ES
 A

V
E

KEYES AVE

RHYD-Y-P
ENAU RD

TYRWHITT CRES

JELLICOE GDNS WILD GARDENS RD

H
EATH

 H
A

LT RD

C
RYSTA

L AVE

HEATHM EAD

NANT Y WEDAL 

LAKE RD N

H
EA

TH
 H

A
LT

 R
D

M
O

U
N

TBATTEN
 C

L

BEATTY AVE

WESTVILLE RD

A
N

G
U

S ST

PEN
-Y-LAN

 RD

BR
O

N
 W

YD
D

 A
VE

BIRCHW
OOD RD

BR
AN

D
RE

TH
 R

D

BRANDRETH RD

TY-
DRAW

 P
L

LO
CHABER S

T

ALD
ER

 R
D

HEN
DY S

T

W
ERFA

 S
T

DALCROSS ST

TY’N-Y-COED LN

SPENCER ST

GO
W

ER
 S

T

DANIEL ST

LU
CAS 

ST

D
AVIO

T STFLORENTIA ST

FA
NNY S

T

GWEN
N

Y
TH

 ST

BRUCE ST

ROBERT ST

HAZELDENE AVE LI
N

D
EN

 A
VE

CORSHAM RD

TO
RR

EN
S 

D
R

BIRCHWOOD LN

BOLEYN WALK

CLOS DERWEN

PANT YR WYN

BO
VER

TO
N S

T

TYDFIL
 P

L

M
ORLA

IS
 S

T

MARYPORT RD

KIMBERLEY RD

TY-DRAW RD

ENNERDALE C L

LA
D

Y 
M

A
RY

 R
D

CEFN-COED RD

LA
KE

SI
D

E 
D

R

LAKESIDE DR

PEN-Y-WAIN RD

SH
IRLEY RD

LA
KE RO

A
D

 E

WEDAL RD

HEATHWOOD GR

HIGHFIELD RD

LA
KE

 R
D

 W

W
IN

D
ER

M
ER

E 
A

V
E

C
LU

N
 TERR

M
ALE

FA
NT 

ST
DO

GFI
EL

D S
T

MAY ST

TE
W

KES
BURY S

T

GW
ERN-RHUDDI RD

BRYN
-AW

ELO
N

 RD

PO
N

TFA
EN

CRANBOURNE W
AY

THE FAIRWAY

HA C KERFORD RD

HAMPTON CRES W

HURFORD PL

 
BL

AC
K 

O
AK 

RD

E RISE

N
 RI SE

S 
RI

SE

COURT FIELD L
N

PENTWYN RD

FID
LA

S AVE
ELA

N
 RD

TO
W

 R
D

EWENNY RD

W
 R

IS
E

TH
E RISE

SO
LVA

 AVE

FID
LA

S RD

USK RD

BRYTHON DR

COLCHESTER AVE

OA K LEAFE
 D

R

LLANDE
N

N
IS

 RD

CI
RC

LE
 W

AY
 E

CIRCLE WAY E

C
IR

C
LE

 W
AY

 W

CIRCLE WAY W

LLA
N

EIRW
G

 W
AY

WILLOWBROOK D
R

M
EN

A
I W

AY

LL
ANRUM

NEY A
VE

LL
A

N
RU

M
N

EY
 A

VE

BU
RN

H
A

M
 AVE

BURNHAM AVE

CO
U

N
TI

SB
U

RY
 A

VE

ELGAR CRES

A48 EASTERN AVE

H
A

RT
 PL

LAMBY W
AY

HIND C L

CLOS AVRO

SEAWALL RD

KENYON RD

STORRAR PL

HA N DLEY RD

FFO
RD

D
 PEN

G
A

M

C
A

IRM
U

IR RD

DE H
AVIL

LA
ND RD

FFORDD PENGAMWHITAKER RD

TAYMUIR RD

GLANM
UIR RD

PA
LL

O
T 

W
AY

GLAN RHYMNI

NEWPORT RD

CAMERON ST

SPRIN
G G

ARDENS TERR

SPRING GARDENS PL

BERESFORD RD LN

WILSON ST

FLORENCE ST

ARTHUR ST

SOUTHMINSTER RD

AXM
INSTER RD

FORT  ST
TYLER ST

FOX ST

STURM
INSTER RD

LA
D

YS
M

IT
H

 R
D

M
IN

ST
ER

 R
D

PRIEST RD

SEAWALL RD

ROVER WAY

M
ERED

EITH
 RD

M
ERC

IA
 RD

M
O

NA PL

DUNSMUIR RD

BRA
D

LEY ST

BLAN
CHE ST

SKELM
U

IR RD
DEEMUIR RD

PENGAM RD

STO
RRA

R RD

TW
EEDSMUIR RD

D
A

LM
U

IR RD

C
RA

IG
M

U
IR RD

D
ESSM

U
IR RD

SKATHMUIR RD

KENMUIR RD

W
H

IT
M

U
IR

 R
D

C
LY

D
ES

M
U

IR
 R

D

SWINTON ST

H
A

RO
LD

 ST
TH

EO
D

O
RA

 ST

FARMVILLE RD

RUNWAY RD

ME IR
IO

N P

L

H
O

R
W

O
O

D CL

BERESFO
RD

 RD

M
O

O
RLA

N
D

 RD

M
O

O
RLA

N
D

 RD

WILLOWS AVE

MERVYN RD

M
A

D
O

C RD

H
ELEN

 ST

BURNABY ST

EYRE ST

COVENY ST

SEYMOUR ST

M
OIR

A ST ECLIPSE ST

COMET ST SPLOTT RD

M
U

IRTO
N

 RD

ORDELL ST

HABE
RS

HO
N S

T

WALKER RD

CO
URTE

NAY
 R

D

JANET ST

MARION ST

ADELINE ST

RAIL
W

AY S
T

CARL
IS

LE
 S

TSYSTEM
 ST

PRINCE LEOPOLD ST
GALSTON ST

HOW
ARD GDNS

NEWPORT RD LN

EAST G
RO

VE

THE WALK

CH URCH TERR

W
ATERLO

O
 RD

W
ATERLO

O
 RD

TIMBERS SQ

STALLCOURT AVE

FF
O

R
DD

 N
O

W
EL

L

PEA
RL 

ST

D
IA

M
O

ND
 ST

AGATE ST

N
O

RA
 ST

IRON ST

DIAMOND ST

AN

DERSON PL
ZINC ST

H
ELEN

 PL

CECIL ST

RIC
HARDS T

ERR

WATERLOO GDN S

ST
ACE

Y 
RD

BERTRA
M

 ST

EMERALD ST

SILVER ST

ORBIT ST

LONGCROSS ST

TOPAZ ST

LEAD ST

SUN ST

GOLD ST

SAPPHIRE ST

RUBY ST

COPPER ST

STAR ST

PLANET ST

M
OIR

A TERR

M
ETAL ST

CA
STLE LN

W
O

RDSW
O

RTH AVE

GORSEDD GDNS RD

WYEVERNE RD

LETTY ST

KING EDW
ARD VII AVE

COLLEGE RD

RO
AT

H
 C

O
U

RT
 P

L

SANDRINGHAM RD

G
RE

N
VI

LL
E 

RD

AGIN
CO

URT 
RD

UPPER KINCRAIG ST

LILY ST

ROSE ST

CLIFTO
N

 ST

ELM ST

Q
U

A
IL

 C
T

NINIAN RD

MARLBOROUGH RD

CLAUDE PL

BLENHEIM
 RD

RO
ATH

 CO
U

RT RD

ARRAN PL

CLIVE PL

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 RD

W
EL

LF
IE

LD
 S

T

PE
N-Y

-L
AN R

D

CYNCOED RD

C
YN

C
O

ED
 RD

C
YN

C
O

ED
 RD

CYN
CO

ED
 RD

CYNCOED RD

BANGO
R S

T

A
RA

BELLA
 ST

KE
LV

IN
 R

D

D
O

N
A

LD
 ST

D
IA

N
A

 ST

TY’N-Y-COED PL

A
LFRED

 ST

KEPPOCH ST

GLENROY ST

STRATHNAIRN ST

C
RO

FT
S 

ST

OXFORD LN

PR
IN

CE
S 

ST

SN
IP

E 
ST

OAKFIELD ST

WILLOW CT

ELM ST LN

PARTRIDGE LN

TE
A

L 
ST PARTRIDGE RD

CO
N

N
AU

G
H

T RD

CLAU
D

E RD

SOUTHEY ST

O
XFO

RD
 ST

VERE ST

ST PETERS ST

M
ILTON ST

DYLAN PL

CYFARTHFA ST

RUSSELL ST

TALW
ORTH ST

BYRON ST

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 RD

TREHARRIS ST

ARRAN ST

M
A

C
KIN

TO
SH

 PL

CITY RD

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 PL

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 SQ

BED

FO
RD ST

BEDFORD ST

C
RA

N
BRO

O
K ST

W
IN

D
SO

R PL

THE PARADE

KNOX RD

NORTHCOTE LN

KIN
CRA

IG ST

N ORTHCOTE LN

RIC
H

M
O

ND CRES

G
O

RD
O

N
 RD

LLANTW
IT ST

ST ANDREWS PL

SA
LISBU

RY RDGLY
NRHONDDA ST

PA
RK G

RO
VE

MUSEUM PL

PA
RK LN

RHYMNEY TERR

CITY RD

CO
BU

RN
 ST

BASIL PL

RIC
HARDS 

ST

HARRIE
T S

T
FI

TZ
ROY ST

RUTHIN
 G

DNS

WYEVERNE RD

MUNDY PL

CATHERINE ST

FA
NNY S

T

BROADWAY

NEWPORT RD

D
U

M
FRIES PL

STUTTGARTER STRASSE

BOULEVARD DE NANTES

CRO

C KHERBTOWN LN

CITY HALL RD

M
USEUM

 AVE

LOWTHER RD

MISKIN ST

FITZALAN RD MOIRA PL

CONSTELLATIO
N ST

TIN ST

PEARL ST

AUGUSTA ST

M
ETEO

R ST

GLOSSOP RD

N
 L

U
TO

N
 P

LN EDWARD STQUEEN ST

STATIO
N

 TERR

CHURC

H
 P

L

ALBANY RDALBANY RD

RICHM
OND RD

FITZA
LA

N
 PL

ALEXANDER ST

SENGHENYDD RD

W
O

O
DVIL

LE
 R

D

TH
ESIG

ER ST

BRYDGES PL

IN
VERN

ESS PL

MOY RD

BRAEVAL ST

GLA
DYS 

STMINNY ST

M
O

NTH
ER

M
ER

 R
D

DALT
O

N S
T

FLORA ST

FA
IR

OAK RD

C
ATH

AYS T ERR

CORBETT RD

GREYFRIARS RD

PARK PL

MAINDY RD

DUKE  S
T

PEPYS C
L

EW1  O� road cycle track utilising wide southern   
  verge/footway area.

EW2  Install Toucan Crossing

EW3  Provide segregated two-way cycle track on   
  western side of carriageway using southern  
  verge area (and carriageway where    
  necessary). 
  Cycle track to have priority at junction with  
  Willowdene Lane.
  Crossing facility to be provided to allow   
  cycle access to Pascal Close. 

EW7  Continue proposed two-way cycle track on  
  southern side of Newport Road. 
  Removal of existing mandatory cycle lanes.

EW9  Continue proposed two-way cycle track on  
  eastern side of Newport Road. Cycle track   
  to have priority at junctions with Clos    
  Hendre Gadno and link to carpark.

EW4  Provide two-way kerbed or light segregated   
  cycle track through roundabout and continuing  
  along southern side of Newport Road.

EW5  Provide Toucan Crossing between start of    
  existing westbound bus layby and start of    
  existing eastbound bus layby, linking to new   
  o�-road facility to Wern Fawr Lane.

EW8  Removal of roundabout control and     
  replacement with tra�c signals, including low   
  level cycle aspects, to enable segregated    
  two-way cycle facility to continue through    
  junction.

EW10  Existing crossing to be incoprorated into 
   signalled treatment to enable movement   
   from one-way facility northeast bound to   
   two way facility on southern side.

EW11  Widen existing cycle lanes on both sides  
   of carriageway and introduce light   
   segregation. Where necessary parking  
   and loading to be provided on    
   carriageway side of cycle lanes.

EW12  Widen bus lanes and install cycle lanes  
    within the bus lanes.
   Cycle lanes to continue through junction  
   of Mount Pleasant Avenue. Signalised   
   junction to include low level cycle signal  
   aspects.

EW13  One directional segregated facility to be  
   installed on either side of carriageway.  
   Where necessary parking and loading to  
   be provided on carriageway side

EW14  Introduce 'parking protected' cycle lanes  
   on either side of carriageway and reduce  
   motor tra�c lanes to one lane in each   
   direction. 

EW15  Redesign carriageway to allow    
   introduction of cycle lanes with light   
   segregation or hybrid cycle lanes on   
   either side of the carriageway

EW17  Option 1: Install high quality  transition  
   between  segregated cycle lanes and   
   o�-road provision. Remove guardrail and  
   reduce carriageway width to allow for   
   widening of  o�-road provision to create  
   cycle track separated from pedestrians.

   Option 2: install additional cycle bridge  
   alongside existing Rumney River Bridge.

EW18  Signals reviewed and altered where   
   necessary. Crossing facilities for cyclists to  
   be improved.

EW19  Introduce two-way segregated cycle track   
   along east side of Newport Road.

EW25  Option 1: Convert Broadway and Four   
   Elms Road to one-way eastbound only,  
   use remaining carriageway space for   
   parking and 'parking protected' cycle   
   lanes on both sides of carriageway. West  
   of Fox Street 'parking protected' cycle   
   lanes to continue on northern side of   
   carriageway only, light segregation to   
   continue on southern side.

   Option 2: Convert Broadway to ‘Bicycle  
   Street’ 

EW28b  Eastbound: cycle track to continue. 
   
   Westbound (to tie into N-S Primary   
   Route): Provide segregated two-way   
   cycle track on western side of    
   carriageway. Provide bus stop island(s)  
   at northbound bus stops between   
   Station Terrace and Windsor Place.   
   Provide cycle priority crossing at    
   junction of Windsor Place.

EW26  Introduce signal junction to allow cycle  
   access to/from eastbound bus lane to   
   Four Elms Road using segregated   
   facilities or low level cycle signal aspects  
   as appropriate.

EW27  Redesign carriageway: cycle lane to be  
   installed within eastbound bus lane,   
   westbound cycle track, separated from  
   pedestrians, remaining carriageway lane  
   widths reduced 

EW28a  Option 1: Cycle lanes to be installed in   
   both east and westbound bus lanes.
   Option 2: Remove one or both bus lanes  
   and install segregated cycle track    
   alongside road, separated from    
   pedestrians. 

EW24  Redesign junction to allow crossing from  
   two- way cycle track to/from Newport   
   Road and to/from Broadway using low  
   level cycle signal aspects and segregated  
   facilities where appropriate. Remove right  
   hand right turn only lane on approach to  
   junction from Broadway and convert to  
   cycle track.

EW20  Remove roundabout and replace with   
   signalised junction with phase for cycle  
   crossing with low level cycle signal   
   aspects

EW16  Provide signalised junction to include   
   cycle facilities enabling cross-over   
   movement from proposed single    
   directional cycle lanes to bi-directional  
   o�-road cycle track under Southern Way.  
   Proposed signalised junction to include  
   low level cycle signals.

EW6  Provide island bus stop (or suitable variation)

EW21  Introduce two-way segregated cycle track   
   along east side of Newport Road.

EW22  Redesign junction to allow cyclists to   
   cross in all directions using low level cycle  
   signal aspects and segregated crossing  
   facilities such as toucan crossings.

EW23  Continue two-way segregated cycletrack   
   along east side of Newport Road.    
   Redesign junctions at Rover Way and   
   Dominion Way to improve facility for   
   cyclists.

PRIMARY ROUTE: EAST-WEST (SECTION 1)

KEY

        PRIMARY ROUTES

        PRIMARY ROUTE ALTERNATIVE ALIGNMENT     

        CYCLE NETWORK LINKS TO PRIMARY ROUTES

           STRATEGIC SITES TO INCORPORATE EXTENSIVE
           INTERNAL NETWORK OF ROUTES   

P
age 191



FAIRWATER LLANDAFF

LLANDAFF
NORTH GABALFA

CATHAYS

ELY

CAERAU

CANTON

RADYR
& MORGANSTOWN

RHIWBINA

HEATH

CYNCOED

PLASNEWYDD

WHITCHURCH
& TONGWYNLAIS

CORNELLY
 S

T

PLAS-Y-LLAN

FORELAND RD
ST M

ARGARETS RD

ST M
ARYS RD

CAM
BOURNE A

VE

KELSTON PL

WEST RD

HAWTHORN RD W

ALFREDA RD

KIN
G

SLA
N

D
 RD

TH
E AVEN

U
E

ATHELSTAN RD

H
EO

L BA
KEM

O
RE

HEOL BOOKER

H
EO

L CH
A

PPELL

H
EO

L 
D

O
N

V
ELIN

D
RE PL

WOODLAND RD
WESTBOURNE RD

TY’N-Y-PWLL RD

SPRINGHU
RST CL

CAEDELYN RD

ST FRANCIS RD

C
U

RL
EW

 C
L

ST
 JO

HNS CRES

HEOL PENTW
YN

PARK LN

HEOL PANT Y RHYN

HEOL PANTYCELY
N

LON-Y-CELYN

GLAS-Y-PANT

ARDW

YN

DAN Y GRAIG

CLOS COED HIR

PARK AVE
PARK CRES

H
A

R
FORD

 C
L

VELINDRE RD

PA
N

TM
AW

R 
RD

PANTMAW
R RD

C
A

ER
 W

EN
A

LL
T

CORYTON RISE

G
REEN

 M
EAD

O
W

 RD

CORYTON CRES

PENDWYALLT RD

W
H

ITW

O R TH SQ

P
ENYDARREN

 D
R

FFO
R D

D
 M

ORG

A NWG

SAM
U

EL
S 

C
RE

S

FOREST FARM RD

JU
N

C
TI

O
N

 T
ER

R

IRON BRID
GE RD

LONGWOOD DR

BLANDON WAY

LIT
TLE MILL

CO
LW

IN
STO

NE C
LC

O
R

W
EN CRES

WHITEFIELD RD

FESTINIOG RD

CO
LL

EG
E 

RD

BLOSS E RD

GABALFA AVE

WATSON RD

COPLESTON RD

BA
LA

 R
D

M
A

N
O

D
 R

D

BISHO
PS CL

BISHOPS PL

CORNELLY
 C

L

CALDY RD

EVANSFIELD RD

WINGFIELD RD

THE PARADE

W
ESTBOURN

E CRES

CLARBESTON RD

ANDREWS RD

MARY ST

COLWINSTONE STHAWTHORN RD E

HILTON PL

RIVERSDALE

BELLE VU
E CRES

RADYR RD

HAZELHURST RD

CHAM
BERLAIN RD

ST
AT

IO
N

 R
D

H
EO

L D
O

N

KELSTON RD

RADYR CT CL

RA
D

YR CT RD

GERDD
I TA

F

TR
ISC

OM BE D
R

HIGHFIELDS

WHITEHALL RD

CLOS TY C LYD

M
EL

IN
GR

IFFITH DR

TY-MAWR RD

T
Y-M

A
W

R RD

HEOL PENLAN

H
O

RNCHURCH CL

FA
IR

W
O

O
D

 RD

FISH
ER H

ILL W
AY

DE CLARE D
R

VISTA RISE

B
R ACKEN PL

ED
W

A
RD

 C
LA

RKE CL

GREE
NW

OO
D R

D

RADYR CT RD

DOUGLAS CL

RA
C

H
EL CL

ALLAN D
U

RST CL

PI
PE

R C
L

HEO
L URBAN

BEALE 
C

L

C
A

D
O

C
 PL

NICHOLSON WEB B CL

ASHD ENE CL

TANGMERE DR

JEVAN  CL

HERBERT MARCH CL

A4119

DANESCOURT W
AY

D
AN

ESCO
U

RT W
AY

HEOL A
RA

DUR

EPSTEIN
 C

L

HEOL SEDD ON

PACE CL

RADYR CT RD

COSHESTON RD

DE BRAOSE CL

BU
C

K
LEY C

L

BL E T HIN CL

TIM
O

THY REES CL

PECKH AM CL

PLAS-Y-MYNACH

WOODFIELD AVE

CLOS PARC RADYR

DRO V E RS W

AY

KINGS RD

H
EO

L 
IS

A
F

H
EO

L ISA
F

STATION RD

W
IN

D
SO

R RD

CEDAR GR

G
O

ETR
E  FAWR

CLEAR WATER WAY

H
U

RO
N

 C
RE

S

EVERARD WAY

W

OOLASTON AVE

FARM DR

ES
KD

A
LE

 C
L

EGREMONT RD

LLYSWEN RD
BETTWS-Y-C

OED RD

LEVEN CL

CARNEGIE DR

PA
D

A
RN

 C
L

D
U

FF
RY

N
 A

V
E

DAN-Y-COED RD

NANT-FAWR CRES

N
A

N
T-

FA
W

R 
RD

LLANDENNIS AVE

CELYN AVE

H
EATH

BRO
O

K

TH
RE

E 
A

RC
H

ES
 A

V
E

ST DOGMAELS AVE

C

RUNDALE CRES

ST
 M

ARTINS CRES

KIM
BERLEY TERRILEX C

L

KEYES AVE

RHYD-Y-P
ENAU RD

TYRWHITT CRES

JELLICOE GDNS WILD GARDENS RD

H
EATH

 H
A

LT RD

C
RYSTA

L AVE

HEATHM EAD

NANT Y WEDAL 

WINGATE D
R

GIBSON CL

TRENCHARD DR

PORTFIE L D  C

RE
S

FISHGUARD
 C

L

W
AVELL C

L

LAKE RD N

H
EA

TH
 H

A
LT

 R
D

KING GEORGE V DR N

ST D
EN

IS RD

CEFN CARNAU RD

CRYSTAL W
OOD RD

ETON CT

ST
 B

RI
O

C
 R

D

ST GILD
AS RD

ST ISAN RD

H
EO

L G
W

YN
ED

D

ST MALO RD

ST ED
W

EN
 G

D
N

S

H
EATH

W
AY

S T  A
ID

A
N

 C
RE

S

ST A
U

G
U

STIN
E RD

ST
 A

N
TH

O
N

Y 
RD

PEDAIR ERW RD

HEOL POWIS

HEOL DYFED

M
O

U
N

TBATTEN
 C

L

KIN
G

 G
EO

RG
E V

 D
R E

BEATTY AVE

ED
IN

G
TO

N
 A

V
E

CRYSTA
L G

LEN

ST IN
A RD

HEATHFIELD PL

M
A

IT
LA

N
D

 S
T

FL
A

X
LA

N
D

 A
VE

ST AGATHA RD

TO
N

-Y
R-

Y
W

EN
 A

V
E

ST A
M

BRO
SE RD

ST
 A

LB
A

N
 A

V
E

ST
 H

EL
EN

S 
RD

ST A
N

TH
O

N
Y RD

KI
N

G
 G

EO
RG

E 
V

 D
R 

W

ST BEN
ED

IC
T C

RES

HEATHFIELD RD

LO
N

G
SP

EA
RS

 A
VE

ST BRIGID RD

JU
BILEE GDN

S

PA
RC

 T
Y 

G
LA

S

PA
RC

 T
Y 

G
LA

S

A
RM

O
U

RY D
R

MILESTONE CL

WAUN-FAWR RD

PHILIP CL

FA
IRFA

X
 RD

TY-W
ERN

 AVE

PORTHAMAL RD

TAIR ERW RD

LLW
YN

FED
W

 G
D

N
S

ST GEORGES RD

RHYDHELIG AVE

N
O

RTO
N

 A
V

E

VIO
LET PL

C
A

ERPH
ILLY RD

C
A

ER
PH

IL
LY

 R
D

LO
N-Y-GROES

PUM ERW RD
ST TANWG RD ST CADOC RDDRYBURGH AVE

THREIPLAN D D
R

SUMMERFIELD PL

MURRAYFIELD RD

DALE AVE

GROVE  P
L

PANTBACH AVE

CORONATION RD

CROMWELL RD

WELWYN RD

H
O

M
ELA

N
D

S RD

PHOENIX WAY

M
A

V
IS G

R

TH
O

RN
BU

RY CL

GREENFIELD RD

KE
YN

SH
AM

 R
D

PANTBACH PL

HEOL WERNLAS

WESTFIELD RD

HEOL DOLWEN

W
AT

ER
ST

O
N

 R
D

ABERDULAIS RD

CA
TH

ED
RA

L 
VI

EW

HEOL AMLWCH

DOLWEN RD

AB

ERDULAIS CRES

BA
C

TO
N

 R
D

GABALFA AVE

BO
N

CA
TH

 R
D

ABERPORTH RD

HEO
L 

BR
YN

G
LA

S

BR
AN

D
RE

TH
 R

D
ALD

ER
 R

D

HEN
DY S

T

DALCROSS ST

TY’N-Y-COED LN

SPENCER ST

GO
W

ER
 S

T

DANIEL ST

LU
CAS 

ST

D
AVIO

T STFLORENTIA ST

FA
NNY S

T

GWEN
N

Y
TH

 ST

BRUCE ST

ROBERT ST

HAZELDENE AVE

TO
RR

EN
S 

D
R

CLOS DERWEN

PANT YR WYN

BO
VER

TO
N S

T

TYDFIL
 P

L

M
ORLA

IS
 S

T

MARYPORT RD

TY-DRAW RD

ENNERDALE C L

LA
D

Y 
M

A
RY

 R
D

CEFN-COED RD

LA
KE

SI
D

E 
D

R

LAKESIDE DR

PEN-Y-WAIN RD

SH
IRLEY RD

LA
KE RO

A
D

 E

WEDAL RD

HEATHWOOD GR

HIGHFIELD RD

LA
KE

 R
D

 W

W
IN

D
ER

M
ER

E 
A

V
E

C
LU

N
 TERR

M
ALE

FA
NT 

ST
DO

GFI
EL

D S
T

MAY ST

TE
W

KES
BURY S

T

INGLEFIELD AVE

HEATH PARK WAY
HEATH PARK W

AY

C
EN

TR
A

L 
W

AY

CANADA RD

THE GATEWAY

LLANISHEN ST

SOBERT O
N

 A
V

E

SU
M

M
ER

FI
EL

D
 A

V
E

MAINDY RD

SA
C

H
V

IL
LE

 A
V

E

CLODIEN AVE

AFRICA GDNS

NEW
 Z

EALAND RD

A
C

A
D

EM
IC

 A
VE

LLANTRISANT ST

GELLIG
AER ST

ALLENSBANK CRES

CROWN WAY

MANOR ST

COSMESTON ST

BRITHDIR ST

CWMDARE ST

HEATH PARK AVE

A
LL

EN
SB

A
N

K 
RD

A
LL

EN
SB

A
N

K 
RD

PENTYRCH S
T

RHYGOES S
T

RHIG
OS G

DNS

TALYGARN ST

PEN-Y-B
RYN RD

PEN-Y-BRYN PL

NEW
FOUNDLAND RD

AUSTRALIA
 RD

H
EA

T
H  PARK LN

ST ANGELA RD

ST
 A

G
N

ES
 R

D

CAERLEON RD

PILTO
N

 PL

MARGAM R D

RO
SEM

O
U

N
T PL

RIC
H

S RD

LLANTARNAM
 RD

LLWYNDERW
 RD

SUNNYBA N K CL

BEVAN PL

PORTHKERRY PL

MYNACHDY RD

RA
DYR PL

GARTH PL

EX
CE

LS
IO

R R

D

CELTIC RD

BATCHELOR RD

CLOS M
ENTER

EXCELSIOR RD

GABALFA AVE

H
EO

L M
A

D
O

C

M
A

ELO
G

 RD

PEN
 Y FA

I

BI
RCHWOO

D
 G

DNS

C
RA

D
O

C
 RD

TROTMAN DICKENSON PL

LLYS TA L- Y-B
ONT R

D

APPLEDORE RD
CEFN RD

MATTH E W SON C
L

ABERBRAN RD

ABERDORE RD

SILVER BIRCH CL

LL
AN

D
IN

AM
 C

RES

LL
AN

M
O

RL
AI

S 
RD

W
ES

TE
RN

 D
R

LYDSTEP CRES

RIVER VIEW

W
ES

TE
RN

 A
VE

 W

ABERTEIFI CRES

MYNACHDY RD

ABERPORTH RD

HEOL CARNE

LON MADOC

FR
A

N
KL

EN
 R

D

KYLE AVE

LO
N

-Y-PA
RC

HEOL IFOR

HEOL NEST

KEN
FIG RD

TWYN-Y-FEDWEN

HEOL Y GORS

PLAS TREODA

CAE GWYN RD

CA
E 

G
W

YN
 R

D

M
A

N
O

R 
RI

SE

KY
LE

 C
RE

S

CAE YORATH YO
RATH

 RD

HEOL IESTYN

H
EO

L CO
ED

 CAE

CO
U

RT RD

HEOL GABRIEL
W

A
U

N
TREO

D
A

 RD

TY’N-Y-CAE GR

LEAMINGTON RD

LON PENLLYN

NORTHERN AVE

CO
LLEG

E C
L

H
EO

L STRA
D

LIN
G

M
ERVYN

 RD

COTTRELL RD

HEOL-Y-W
AUN

L IMEBOURNE CT

FELIN
 FACH

CLAS TEILO

HEO
L CATTW

G

C
O

ED ARIAN

H
EO

L W
AU

N
 Y N

AN
T

HEO
L TY’N

-Y-CAE

H
EO

L-
Y-

N
AN

T

ST DAVIDS RD

TYNANT

BEATRICE RD

HEATHWOOD RD

BIRCHGROVE RD

THE PHILOG

MERTHYR RD

M
ERTHYR RD

GLANDWR PL

HEOL GWRGAN

BISHOPS RD

NORTHERN AVE

A470

HEO
L-Y-FO

RLAN

TYN
EW

YD
D

ERW LAS

MAES GLAS

GLAN-Y-NANT TERR

G
LA

N
-Y-N

A
N

T RD

VICTORIA RD

FID
LA

S AVE
ELA

N
 RD

TO
W

 R
D

EWENNY RD

FISH
G

U
A

RD
 RD

FISH
G

U
A

RD
 RD

SO
LVA

 AVE

FID
LA

S RD

HEOL M
ERLIN

USK RD

FIDLAS RD
MAES-Y-COED RD

MAES-Y-COED RD

TY-WERN RD

TY’N-Y-PARC RD

O
LD

 C
H

U
RC

H
 R

D

CHURCH RD

C
H

IL
TE

RN
 C

L

FIELD
 W

AY

MOSTYN SQ

TASKER DR

W
ATKIN

S SQ TATHAM RD

MALVERN DR

SMITH RD

A
SH

BO
U

RN
 W

AY

TATHAM RD

CO
ED

 G
LA

S 
RD

CLO
S H

EN
D

RE

TY GLAS RD

TY GLAS AVE

WAUN-Y-GROES AVE

HEOL CAERHYS

LON Y MYNYDD

PEN
 Y G

RO
ES RD

C
A

E M
AW

R RD

H
EO

L-Y

R-EFAIL

HEOL AER

CHARLOTTE SQ

TY
 G

W
YN R

D

HEOL ISCOED

HEOL-Y-BONT

WAUN-Y-GROES RD

H
EO

L Y W
ERN

H
EO

L 
TY

N
-Y

-C
O

ED

LO
N-Y-DDERW

EN

RHOS LLAN

HEOL Y  FELIN

ERW W
EN

MUR G
WYN

LO
N-Y-DERI

MAES-Y-D
ERI

LON-Y-RHYD

LO
N

-Y-D
AIL

LON ISA

H
EO

L W
EN

LON UCHA

GRO
ES LO

N

HEOL LLANISHEN FACH

HEO
L DERLW

YN

HEOL-Y-DERI

HEOL-Y-COED

HEOL-Y
-B

RYN

M4 JUNCTION 32

PEN-Y-DRE

BEULAH RD

BLA
EN

 Y C
O

ED

HEOL FAIR

CA
TH

ED
RA

L CL

M
A

Y
N

A

R D CT

LLA
N

D
A

FF  CHASE

TYNEWYDD

COLLEGE R
D

CO
LL

EG
E 

RD

M
IT

RE
 P

L

BRIDGE ST

FORDWELL

LLANTRISANT RD

CARD
IFF RD

CARDIFF RD

LLA
N

D
A

FF RD

LLANDAFF RD

LLANIDLOES RD

CO
LW

IL
L 

RD

RIVER VIEW

G
ABALFA RD

BR
ID

G
E 

RD

BRIDGE RD

LLANDE
N

N
IS

 RD

TINTERN ST

EG
ERTO

N
 ST

PARRY ST

LLAN DAFF PL

WESTMORELAND ST

CUMBERLAND ST

HANOVER ST

N
O

RT
H

U
M

BE
RL

A
N

D
 S

T

TH
EO

BA
LD

 S
T

BRECO
N

 ST PEN
-Y-PEEL RD

RA
D

N
O

R 
RD

CARDIGAN ST

PEMBROKE RD

SYR DAVID’S AVE

DULWICH GDNS

EG
H

A
M

 S
T

PE

NHIL L 
C

L

LANSDOWNE AVE E

LANSDOWNE AVE W

LAWRENNY AVE

YO
RK

 S
T

W
EM

BL
EY

 R
D

BROADHAVEN

BROADSTAIRS RD

BE
D

A
 R

D

AU
BREY AVE

N
O

RF
O

LK
 S

T

LI
N

C
O

LN
 S

T

LI
O

N
EL

 R
D

SU
RR

EY
 S

T

N
ES

TA
 R

D

TU
RN

ER
 R

D

BRUNSWICK ST

N
O

TT
IN

G
H

A
M

 S
T

FE
RN

 S
T

FLINDO CRES

VERALLO
 D

R

HEOL TERRELL

ETHEL ST

FORREST RD

DAISY ST

KI
N

G
SL

A
N

D
 R

D

W
ES

SE
X

 S
T

T
H

E 
CR

ES
CENT

BURLINGTON TERR

M
IL

L 
LN

VISHWELL RD

OVINGTON TERR

WESTBURY TERR

V
IC

TO
RI

A
 P

A
RK

 R
D

 E

HALSBU
RY

 R
D

VICTORIA AVE

G
RO

SV
EN

O
R 

ST

C
LIV

E RD

IV
Y 

ST
CO

N
YB

EA
RE

 R
D

CHAPEL ST

PALACE RD

PA
LA

C
E AVE

HENDRE C
L

ELY RD

C
A

EW
A

L R
D

R O WAN CT

H
EN

D
RE G

D
N

S

HOW
EL

LS
 C

RE
S

ST MICHAELS RD

C
H

A
RG

O
T RD

PEN
C

ISELY RISE

PENCISELY AVE

G
REEN

W
IC

H
 RD

P
EN

CISELY C R ESW
IN

D
W

AY RD

C
A

EW
A

L RD

TH
E  GRA

N
G

E

VAUGHAN AVE

INSOLE G
D

N
S

HIG
H S

T

H
A

R
D

W
ICKE CT

BISH
O

PS W
A

LK

IN
SO

LE G
RO

VE W
PRO

S PEC
T D

R

BISHOPS PL

KEN
ILW

O
RTH

 C
T

PWLLMELIN LN

RO
O

KW
O

O
D

 AVE

FA
IRW

ATER G
RO

VE E

ROOKWOOD CL

N
O

RBU
RY RD

M
ARIO

NVILLE G
D

N

S

BISHOPS AVE

OLD SC
HOOL RD

VIC
TO

RIA
 PA

RK RD
 W

WINDWAY AVE

THOMPSON AVE

BERNARD AVE

KEN
SIN

G
TO

N
 AVE

GRAN
VILLE AVE

M
AYFIELD

 AVE

FA
IRFIELD

 AVE

REDCLIFFE AVE

PAPER MILL RD

SANATORIUM RD

W

 O
RCH

A
RD

 C
RE

S

BU
TL

EI
G

H
 A

V
E

ELY RD

ELY
 R

D

ELY
 R

D

ALD
SW

O
RTH

 RD

FAIRFIELD CL

BIRCH
FIELD

 CRES

D
AVIES PL

SHEARS RD

FA
IRW

ATER G
RO

VE W

A48 EASTERN AVE

A
48

   
 W

ES
TE

ER
N

 A
VE

A48   WESTERN AVE

ST FA
G

A
N

S RD

BRO
O

K RD

ST
AT

IO
N

 T
ER

R

ARLES W
AY

BARNARD AVE

ROBERT ST

AIN
T

R
EE  DR

LITTLECROFT AVE

CHIC
HESTER W

AY

LLANGYNIDR RD

LLA
N

G
ATTO

CK RD

BAILEY CL

MILTON PL

DYFRIG RD

COLIN W
AY

PENGWERN RD

PENYGARN R
D

PENDIN
E RD

BROMLEY D
R

DEW CRES

PEN
CAD

ER RD

RO
NALD PL

M
IL

L P
L

C
H

A
RTEERIS  RD

EVERSWELL AVE

THE CRESCEN
T

FERN PL PERROTS CL

O
XW

IC
H C

L

ELY RD

LIM ES L ADE CL

TH
E C

H
A

N
TRY

FAIRW
O

O
D

 RD

KIRTON CL

W
H

ITLAND
 CL

KEYSTON RD

W
H

ITLA
N

D
 CR ES

ELFED GRN

FAIRWATER RD

TH
E D

R

CARTER PL

BIRCH RD

HEOL GWILYM

WRO
UGHTON PL

CLARKE ST

PALMERS DR

VINCENT RD

M
ORRIS FINER C L

H
EO

L-Y-FELIN

CH
ER

RY
D A L

E
 R

D

LLANBEDR RD

AMETHYST RD

HEOL DENNANT

DOYLE AVE

LLA
N

D
ETTY RD

CYMRIC CL

AD
D

IC

OTT C
L

OGMORE RD

NEYLAND PL

BROMLEY DR

LLANDOW RD

CAMROSE RD

RED
 H

O
U

SE CL

CHO RLEY CL

SPINNEY CL

EFFORD RD

H
O

W
ELL RD

HILES RD

HEOL EGLWYS

C
A

LD
IC

O
TT

 R
D

HAVERFORD WAY

HEOL EBWY

BISHOPSTON RD

DEERE PL

NOTTAGE RD

ABERTHAW
 RD

AM
RO

TH
 RD

TRESEDER W
AY

FONMON CRES

HIGHMEAD RD

COWBRIDGE RD W

HIRST CRES

G
O

U
G

H
 RD

NARBERTH RD

RED H
OUSE CRES

ST FA
G

A
N

S RISE

CA
RTW

RIG
H

T LN

EVERSW
ELL RD

FAIRW
AYS CRES

W
ELLRIG

H
T RD

HOLLY RD

FERRIER AVE

HONEYSUCKLE CL

LA
VE

NDER GR

SH
A

M
RO

CK
 R

D

BR
IA

R 
C

L

WILLOWDALE RD

ROCH
E 

CR
ES

LL
ANW

ERN RD

ADDISON CRES

HILLSN
O

O
K R

D

HIGHBURY RD

VACHELL RD

HAZEL
 P

L

YEWTREE CL

FREWER AVE

POPLAR RD

LLANTRISANT RD

W
AT

ER
H

A
LL

 R
D

PLAS-M
AW

R RD

HEOL-Y-PAVIN

FAIRWATER RD

PWLLMELIN RD

PWLLMELIN RD

CAERA

U CT RD

PORTHCAW
L R

D

CAERAU PARK RD

M
O

O
RE RD

TY CO
C

H
 RD

CRO
SSW

AYS RD

ARCHER RD

MOORE C
L

ELDERBERRY RD

MAPLE RD

LIM
E G

R

FI
RS

 A
VE

G
LAN

 ELY CL

TATEM DR

CLOS T Y B
R

O
NN

A

ORANGE GR

ASHCROFT CRES

GRAND AVE

W
ILSON

 RD

HEOL MUSTON

PET
H

YB
RI

D
GE R

D

FRANK RD

PETHYBRIDGE RD

C
H

A
RT

ER
IS

 C

RES

A
RC

H
ER

 C
RE

S

MILL RD

PLYMOUTH WOOD RD

GORSE PL

OAKWAY

NORBURY RD

FINCHLEY RD
BWLCH RD

RED
 H

O
U

SE RD

PLYMOUTH WOOD CRES

ARCHER RD

LLEW
ELLYN AVE

ROSED
ALE CL

HILL VIEW

WHEATLEY RD

PEN
ALLY RD

HEOL TRELAI

COWBRIDGE RD W

COWBRID
GE RD W

EST

BEECHLEY DR

PENTREBANE RD

STANWAY RD

PL YMOUTHW O
O

D
 C

L

W
ESLEY LN

ROLLS ST

LITTLETO
N

 ST

CHANCERY LN REN
N

IE ST

TE
LF

O
RD

 S
T

WELLS ST LN

LECKWITH AVE

LECKWITH PL

R
AILW

AY TERR

D
EN

TO
N

 R
D

SUDCROFT ST

BR
O

AD
H

AV
EN

GORSEDD GDNS RD

WYEVERNE RD

LETTY ST

KING EDW
ARD VII AVE

COLLEGE RD

QUEEN ANNE SQ

NINIAN RD

A
RA

BELLA
 ST

KE
LV

IN
 R

D

D
O

N
A

LD
 ST

TY’N-Y-COED PL

KEPPOCH ST

GLENROY ST

STRATHNAIRN ST

RUSSELL ST

M
A

C
KIN

TO
SH

 PL

CITY RD

BEDFORD ST

C
RA

N
BRO

O
K ST

W
IN

D
SO

R PL

NORTHCOTE LN

N ORTHCOTE LN

RIC
H

M
O

ND CRES

G
O

RD
O

N
 RD

LLANTW
IT ST

ST ANDREWS PL

SA
LISBU

RY RDGLY
NRHONDDA ST

PA
RK G

RO
VE

MUSEUM PL

PA
RK LN

RHYMNEY TERR

CITY RD

A469     WHITCHURCH RD

CO
BU

RN
 ST

BASIL PL

RIC
HARDS 

ST

HARRIE
T S

T
FI

TZ
ROY ST

RUTHIN
 G

DNS

WYEVERNE RD

MUNDY PL

CATHERINE ST

FA
NNY S

T

D
U

M
FRIES PL

STUTTGARTER STRASSE

BOULEVARD DE NANTES

CRO

C KHERBTOWN LN

CITY HALL RD

M
USEUM

 AVE

LOWTHER RD

MISKIN ST

BRIG

A N TINE PL

PELLETT ST

SANDON ST

W CAN AL W

HARF

N EDWARD STQUEEN ST

BRIDGE ST

STATIO
N

 TERR

CHURC

H
 P

L

CH
ARLES ST

DA

VID
 S

T

CAROLIN
E ST

CALLAGHAN SQ

TYNDALL ST

HERBERT ST

C ALLAGHA N SQ

JOHN ST

CHURCHILL W
AY

ALBANY RD

RICHM
OND RD

ADAM ST

BUTE TERR

CUS TOM HOUSE ST

THE HAYES

WORKING ST

ST M
ARYS ST

H
IG

H
 ST

SAU NDERS RD

GREAT W
ESTERN

 LN

ALEXANDER ST

SENGHENYDD RD

W
O

O
DVIL

LE
 R

D

TH
ESIG

ER ST

BRYDGES PL

IN
VERN

ESS PL

MOY RD

BRAEVAL ST

TUDOR LN

M
A

RD
Y ST

ALLERTON ST

JU BILEE ST
STAFFORD RD

WEDMORE RD

GLA
DYS 

STMINNY ST

M
O

NTH
ER

M
ER

 R
D

DALT
O

N S
T

PARK LN

CHURCH ST
WESTGATE ST

PLA
N

TA
G

EN
ET ST

BEA
U

C
H

A
M

P ST

MARK ST

CLARE PL
DESPENSER PL

GRE
EN

 S
T

RAWDEN MEWS

FITZH
AM

O
N

 EM
BAN

KM
EN

T

DESPENSER ST

NEVILLE P
L

G
LO

U
CESTER ST

BROOK ST

CRADDOCK ST

ST
EP

H
EN

SO
N

 S
T

MACHEN PL

H
EA

TH
 P

L

RA
W

D
EN

 P
L

DE BURGH ST

NEVILLE ST

MA NDEVIL
LE S

T

PENDYRIS ST

COURT R
D

TREHERBERT ST

LISVANE ST

D
A

RRA
N

 ST

FLORA ST
HIRWAIN ST

FA
IR

OAK RD

C
ATH

AYS T ERR

CORBETT RD

GREYFRIARS RD

PARK PL

COLUM RD

COLU
M

 D
R

MAINDY RD

TREORKY ST

MINISTER ST

M
ERTHYR ST

CASTLE ST
DUKE  S

T

N
O

RTH
 RD

N
O

RTH
 RD

HAMILTON ST

CRADDOCK ST

TREVETHIC
K ST

SOPHIA
 C

L

TALBOT ST

PLASTURTON P
L

KYVEILOG STBERTHW
IN

 ST

DOGO S
T

G
IL

ES
TO

N
 R

D

W
ELLS ST

LYNDHURST ST

A
LBERT ST

ORCHARD PL

KINGS RD

SNEYD ST

IE
ST

YN ST

SPRINGFIELD PL

GLYNNE ST

W
YNDHAM

 RD

SEVERN
 RD

G
RAY LN

DYFRIG
 S

T

GREENFIELD AV E

SEVERN
 G

RO
VE

RYDER ST

PLASTURTON AVE

PITM
AN ST

MALDWYN ST

CO
N

W
AY RD

MORTIMER RD

LO
W

ER
 C

AT
H

ED
RA

L 
RD

CATHEDRAL RD

CATHEDRAL RD

PENHILL RD
PENCISELY RD

WAUNGRON RD

ST FAGANS RD

PE
N

LL
YN

 R
D

C
H

U
RC

H
 R

D

LLANFAIR RD

W
YNDHAM

 CRES

ROMILLY CRES

ROMILLY RD

ROMILLY RD W

CARMARTHEN ST

G
LA

M
O

RG
A

N
 ST

MARKET  PL

FAIRLEIGH RD

S 
M

O
RG

AN
 PL LEW

IS ST

TEIL
O S

T

PO
N

TC
A

N
N

A
 ST

SOPHIA
 W

K

SM
EA

TO
N

 S
T

WOOD ST

TUDOR ST

NINIAN PARK RD

MAJOR RD
WYNDHAM PL

WYNDHAM
 PL

A
LBER T  ST

PICTON PL

BROAD ST

E ARLE PL

LEC
KW

ITH
 RD

LECKW
IT

H R
D

RE
C

TO
RY

 R
D

M
A

RKET RD

A
LE

X
A

N
D

RA
 R

D

COWBRIDGE RD EAST

COWBRIDGE RD EAST

COWBRIDGE RD EAST

WELLINGTON ST

ATLAS R D

LANSDOWNE RD

C
LA

RE ST

FI
EL

D
S 

PA
RK

 R
D

WHARTON ST

TREDEGAR ST

M
IL

L 
LN

HILLS ST

GROVELAND RD

CH
ATSW

O
RTH

 CL

ST
 D

AV
ID

S 
C

R
ES

EW29  Option 1: Install cycle track alongside   
   road, separated from pedestrians.
   
   Option 2: One existing westbound   
   tra�c lane to be converted to two way  
   cycle track alongside road, separated   
   from pedestrians.
   
   Option 3: Further improve existing   
   o�-road cycle track, ensure widths meet  
   WG guidance and provide junction   
   schemes at either end to allow better   
   continuity. 

EW30  Junction redesigned to allow for cycle   
   movements through the junction from  
   provision on Bld de Nantes to Bute Park  
   entrance and from Bld de Nantes to   
   proposed route on Castle Street. 
   Redesign to allow for bus and general   
   tra�c �ow through junction. 

EW31  Kerb line and tra�c lane amendments  
   to provide segregated two-way cycle   
   track along east side.

EW32  Kerb line and tra�c lane amendments  
   to provide segregated two way cycle   
   track along south side

EW33  Redesign junction to incorporate    
   proposed segregated cycle facilities and  
   permit cyclist turning movements. 

EW34  Amend layout to align with proposed   
   treatment along rest of Castle Street   
   route.

EW35  Upgrade access to existing toucan   
   crossing from proposed cycle track on  
   Cardi� Bridge. 

EW36  Widen and resurface existing    
   path to create cycle track away from   
   road, separated from pedestrians.

EW37  Resurface, remove/replace humps,  
   redesign roundabout. Potential to  
   provide pedestrian improvements  
   also.

EW38  Install cycle track away from road,   
   separated from pedestrians following   
   desire line where possible.

EW39  Widen waiting area. 
   Widen crossing area. 
   Adjust signals to be more reactive to   
   pedestrians/cyclists at all times. 
   Investigate options for single stage   
   crossing for cyclists.

EW40  Widen existing route and provide cycle  
   track away from road, separated from   
   pedestrians.

EW44  Signalise junction with appropriate   
   cycle and pedestrian facilities.

EW45  Remove one northbound tra�c lane   
   and redesign carriageway to provide   
   cycle lane with light segregation in each  
   direction

EW48  Option 1: Convert roundabout to signal  
   controlled junction to allow for    
   segregation of cyclists from general   
   motor tra�c. 

   Option 2: Continue segregated cycle   
   facilities through roundabout with part  
   signalisation.

EW41  Clear signing to highlight route and   
   presence of cyclists. 

EW42  Clear signing to highlight route and   
   presence of cyclists. 

EW43  Clear signing to highlight route and   
   presence of cyclists. 

EW46  Convert roundabout to signal controlled  
   junction to allow for segregation of   
   cyclists from general motor tra�c. 

EW49  Clear signing to highlight route and   
   presence of cyclists. 

EW50  Upgrade existing path to cycle track   
   away from road, separated from    
   pedestrians.

EW47  Option 1: Cycle lanes to become cycle   
   tracks using grass verge and carriageway  
   to provide necessary widths. Cycle track  
   to have priority at side roads. 

   Option 2: Remove centreline and install  
   wide advisory cycle lanes. 
   
   Option 3: Install o� road cycle    
   track on one side only with appropriate
   crossings at each end.

PRIMARY ROUTE: EAST-WEST (SECTION 2)

KEY

        PRIMARY ROUTES

        PRIMARY ROUTE ALTERNATIVE ALIGNMENT     

        CYCLE NETWORK LINKS TO PRIMARY ROUTES

           STRATEGIC SITES TO INCORPORATE EXTENSIVE
           INTERNAL NETWORK OF ROUTES   Page 192



RADYR
& MORGANSTOWN

ST FAGANS
& CREIGIAU

GRAIG LW
YD

CHAPEL RD

M
EADOW

FIE
LD W

AY

PEN
RHOS

BL
A

EN
-Y

-C
O

ED

MAES Y C
RO

FF
T

TY M
YN

YD
D

 C
L

MIN-Y-CO
ED

CLOS PARC RADYR

PARK RD

DRO V E RS W

AY

PENTWYN

D
A

N
-Y-BRYN

 AVE

FFORDD LAS

H
EO

L ISA
F

G
ELYN

IS TERR N

W
IN

D
SO

R RD

WINDSO
R AVE

CEFN COCH

BRYN DERWEN

BRYN
 D

ERW
EN

DRYSGOL RD

CAE’R GRAIG

HAZEL TREE CL

LL
EW

EL
LY

N G
O

C
H

RH
YDLAFA R D

R

O
LD

 M
ILL D

R

WINDSOR CLIVE DR

PRINCE  OF WALES DR

LLANTRISANT RD

LLANTRISANT RD

SH
A

M
RO

CK
 R

D

BEE
CH R

D

WILLOWDALE RD

ELDERBERRY RD

MAPLE RD

LIM
E G

R

BI
SH

O
P 

H
AN

NON DR

FI
RS

 A
VE

TATEM DR

CLOS T Y B
R

O
NN

A

ASHCROFT CRES

C
RO

FFT-Y-G
ENAU RD

C
RO

FFT-Y-GENAU RD

ST FAGAN
S D

R

G
RE

EN
W

O
O

D
 L

N

ST FAGANS DR

ST BRIDES RD
BEECHLEY DR

ST FAGANS RD

PENTREBANE RD

EW51  Segregated cycle route through new   
   development with spur routes to local  
   centres, and priority at junctions over   
   other transport modes.

EW52  Segregated cycle route.

EW55  Segregated cycle route. 

EW54  Segregated cycle route through   
   new development with spur    
   routes to local centres, and    
   priority at junctions over other   
   transport modes.

EW53  Segregated cycle route through   
   new development with spur    
   routes to local centres and    
   priority at junctions over other   
   transport modes

PRIMARY ROUTE: EAST-WEST (SECTION 3)

KEY

        PRIMARY ROUTES

        PRIMARY ROUTE ALTERNATIVE ALIGNMENT     

        CYCLE NETWORK LINKS TO PRIMARY ROUTES

           STRATEGIC SITES TO INCORPORATE EXTENSIVE
           INTERNAL NETWORK OF ROUTES   

P
age 193



C
A

IRM
U

IR RD

TAYMUIR RD
NEWPORT RD

CAMERON ST

SPRIN
G G

ARDENS TERR

SPRING GARDENS PL

BERESFORD RD LN

WILSON ST

FLORENCE ST

ARTHUR ST

FORT  ST
TYLER ST

FOX ST

PRIEST RD

SEAWALL RD

M
ERED

EITH
 RD

M
O

NA PL

DUNSMUIR RD

BRA
D

LEY ST

BLAN
CHE ST

SKELM
U

IR RD

DEEMUIR RD

TW
EEDSMUIR RD

D
A

LM
U

IR RD

C
RA

IG
M

U
IR RD

D
ESSM

U
IR RD

SKATHMUIR RD

KENMUIR RDC
LY

D
ES

M
U

IR
 R

D

PO
RTM

A
N

M
O

O
R RD

SWINTON ST

H
A

RO
LD

 ST
TH

EO
D

O
RA

 ST

VIKING PL

RO
V

ER
 W

AY

FORESHORE RD

GLASS AVE

FRESHMOOR RD

TIDAL SIDINGS

PACIFIC RD

ROVER W
AY

OLD CLIPPER RD

LO
NGSHIP

S R
D

FARMVILLE RD

H
O

R
W

O
O

D CL

BERESFO
RD

 RD

M
O

O
RLA

N
D

 RD

M
O

O
RLA

N
D

 RD

WILLOWS AVE

MERVYN RD

M
A

D
O

C RD

PO
RTM

AN
M

O
O

R RD

H
ELEN

 ST

TITAN RD

KEEN
 RD

BURNABY ST

EYRE ST

COVENY ST

SEYMOUR ST

M
OIR

A ST ECLIPSE ST

COMET ST SPLOTT RD

M
U

IRTO
N

 RD

ORDELL ST

HABE
RS

HO
N S

T

WALKER RD

CO
URTE

NAY
 R

D

ABERYSTWYTH ST

HINTON ST

VANGUARD WAY

JANET ST

MARION ST

SINGLETON RD

ADELINE ST

RAIL
W

AY S
T

HOWARD ST

BAYSID
E RD

CU
M

RA
E ST

CARL
IS

LE
 S

T

SANQUHAR ST

CUMNOCK PL

CLYDE ST

KERRYCRO
Y ST

A
SG

O
G

 ST

KILCATTA
N

 ST

LADY MARGARET TERR

ROATH DOCK RD

CLIPPER RD

CO
LD

 S
TO

RE
S 

RD

CARGO R
D

COMPASS RD

PIE
RHEAD ST TYN

ESID
E RD

NETTLEFORD RD

E M
O

O
RS RD

SPRUCE C
L

OCEAN WAY

LEW
IS RD

EAST TYNDALL ST

A

PPL EW OOD CL

E M
O

O
RS RD

SYSTEM
 ST

PRINCE LEOPOLD ST

KAM
ES PL

GALSTON ST

ADAMSDOWN LN

ADA

MSDOWN S Q

A DAM
S

C ROFT PL

EAST TYNDALL ST

CEN
TRA

L LIN
K

M

ORGAN ST

ATLANTIC WHARF

HOW
ARD GDNS

NEWPORT RD LN

EAST G
RO

VE

THE WALK

HEMINGWAY RD

W
 B

U
TE

 S
TM

O
UN

T STUART SQ

HEOL GLANRHEIDOL

RERESBY  CT

OVERS TON
E CT

YS
TR

A
D

 S
T

ABER
CYNO

N S
T

CO
RVETTE CT

LLANSANNOR DR

S LOUDOUN PL

HANNAH ST

A
LICE ST

WEST CL

LETTON RD

LO
U

D
O

U
N

 SQ

MARIA ST

W
ESLEY LN

LO

UISA PL

A
D

ELA
ID

E ST

H
A

R
RO

W
BY

 S
T

ELEANOR PL

C
H

A
N

D
LERY W

AY

H
A

RR
O

W
BY

 L
N

CLARENCE PL

WINDSOR ESPLANADE

AVONDAL E GDNS

TA
FF

 T
ER

R

POMEROY ST

HUNTER STCLARENCE EMBANKMENT

CA
M

BR
ID

G
E 

ST

AVOND AL E  G
DNS

JI
M

 D
RI

SC
O

LL
 W

AY

MOORDALE RD

NEWPORT ST

COSSLETT PL

BRADFORD ST

BARGOED S
TCLY

DACH S
T

CYM
M

ER S
T

LLANBRADACH S
T

G
RA

N
G

E G
D

N
S

BESSBOROUGH D R

AM
YAS CL

ROLLS ST

LITTLETO
N

 ST

CHANCERY LN REN
N

IE ST

TE
LF

O
RD

 S
T

A4232   GRANGETOWN LINK

LANGH
A

M

 W AY

FONTHIL L PL

WELLS ST LN

R
AILW

AY TERR

FABER W
AY

W

ATERH O

U
SE

 D
R

NEWTON RD

ST D
O

N
ATS RD

DUNRA
VE

N RD

P
O

W
D

ERH
AM

 DR

WHITTLE RD

BE
SS

EM
ER

 R
D

HOLDEN RD

PEA
RL 

ST

D
IA

M
O

ND
 ST

AGATE ST

N
O

RA
 ST

IRON ST

DIAMOND ST

AN

DERSON PL

ZINC ST

H
ELEN

 PL

CECIL ST

RIC
HARDS T

ERR

ST
ACE

Y 
RD

BERTRA
M

 ST

EMERALD ST

SILVER ST

ORBIT ST

LONGCROSS ST

TOPAZ ST

LEAD ST

SUN ST

GOLD ST

SAPPHIRE ST

RUBY ST

COPPER ST

STAR ST

PLANET ST

M
OIR

A TERR

M
ETAL ST

CA
STLE LN

W
O

RDSW
O

RTH AVE

GORSEDD GDNS RD

WYEVERNE RD

KING EDW
ARD VII AVE

COLLEGE RD

QUEEN ANNE SQ

LILY ST

ROSE ST

CLIFTO
N

 ST

ELM ST

Q
U

A
IL

 C
T

RO
ATH

 CO
U

RT RD

CLIVE PL

C
RO

FT
S 

ST

OXFORD LN

PR
IN

CE
S 

ST

SN
IP

E 
ST

OAKFIELD ST

WILLOW CT

ELM ST LN

PARTRIDGE LN

TE
A

L 
ST PARTRIDGE RD

CO
N

N
AU

G
H

T RD

CLAU
D

E RD

SOUTHEY ST

O
XFO

RD
 ST

VERE ST

ST PETERS ST

M
ILTON ST

DYLAN PL

THARSIS CL

DAVIS ST

CYFARTHFA ST

RUSSELL ST

TALW
ORTH ST

BYRON ST

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 RD

TREHARRIS ST

ARRAN ST

CITY RD

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 PL

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 SQ

BED

FO
RD ST

BEDFORD ST

C
RA

N
BRO

O
K ST

W
IN

D
SO

R PL

THE PARADE

KNOX RD

NORTHCOTE LN

KIN
CRA

IG ST

N ORTHCOTE LN

RIC
H

M
O

ND CRES

G
O

RD
O

N
 RD

LLANTW
IT ST

ST ANDREWS PL

SA
LISBU

RY RDGLY
NRHONDDA ST

PA
RK G

RO
VE

MUSEUM PL

PA
RK LN

RHYMNEY TERR

CO
BU

RN
 ST

FI
TZ

ROY ST

RUTHIN
 G

DNS

WYEVERNE RD

MUNDY PL

BROADWAY

NEWPORT RD

D
U

M
FRIES PL

STUTTGARTER STRASSE

BOULEVARD DE NANTES

CRO

C KHERBTOWN LN

CITY HALL RD

M
USEUM

 AVE

LOWTHER RD

MISKIN ST

FITZALAN RD MOIRA PL

CONSTELLATIO
N ST

TIN ST

PEARL ST

AUGUSTA ST

WINDSOR PL

M
ETEO

R ST

GLOSSOP RD

HEN
KE C

T

N
 L

U
TO

N
 P

L
S 

LU
TO

N P
L

CELERITY DR

RO
SE

M

ARY ST

ELLEN
 ST

SC
HO

O
N

ER
 W

AY

SILU
RIA

N
 PL

SILU
RIAN

 PL

BRIG

A N TINE PL

PELLETT ST

SANDON ST

A
N

G
ELIN

A ST

W CAN AL W

HARF

CRA
IG

LEE D
R

N EDWARD STQUEEN ST

BRIDGE ST

STATIO
N

 TERR

CHURC

H
 P

L

CH
ARLES ST

DA

VID
 S

T

CAROLIN
E ST

CALLAGHAN SQ

LLO
YD

 G
EO

RG
E AVE

TYNDALL ST

HERBERT ST

C ALLAGHA N SQ

JOHN ST

CHURCHILL W
AY

RICHM
OND RD

FITZA
LA

N
 PL

ADAM ST

BUTE TERR

CUS TOM HOUSE ST

THE HAYES

WORKING ST

ST M
ARYS ST

H
IG

H
 ST

SAU NDERS RD

GREAT W
ESTERN

 LN

SENGHENYDD RD

W
O

O
DVIL

LE
 R

D

TH
ESIG

ER ST

CANAL PARADE

TRA DE 
ST

 L
N

TRA
D

E ST

D
U

M
BA

LLS RD

D
U

M
BALLS RD

BURT 
ST

ABE
R 

ST

C
U

RRA
N

 EM
BA

N
K

M
EN

T

C
U

RRA
N

 RD

BROMFIELD ST
AVONDALE C R ES

GRANGE PL

CORPORATION RD

TAFF EM
BANKM

ENT

FERNDALE ST

H
A

FO
D

 ST

PENTRE G
DNS

COEDCAE S
T

TA
FF EM

BA
N

KM
EN

T

TA
FFS M

EA
D

 EM
BA

N
KM

EN
T

TUDOR LN

UNIVERSAL ST

D
IN

A
S ST

MERCHES GDNS

M
A

RD
Y ST

M
A

RD
Y ST

ALLERTON ST

W
A

RW
IC

K 
PL

CHESTER ST

JU BILEE ST

SUSSEX ST

COMPTON STSOMERSET ST

STAFFORD RD

WEDMORE RD

W
ED

M
O

RE RD

TYN
AN

T ST

CORNW
ALL ST

VIRGIL ST

VIRG
IL CT

WARW
ICK ST

D
EVO

N
 ST

PARK LN

CHURCH ST
WESTGATE ST

PLA
N

TA
G

EN
ET ST

BEA
U

C
H

A
M

P ST

MARK ST

CLARE PL
DESPENSER PL

GRE
EN

 S
T

RAWDEN MEWS

FITZH
AM

O
N

 EM
BAN

KM
EN

T

DESPENSER ST

NEVILLE P
L

G
LO

U
CESTER ST

BROOK ST

CRADDOCK ST

ST
EP

H
EN

SO
N

 S
T

MACHEN PL

H
EA

TH
 P

L

RA
W

D
EN

 P
L

DE BURGH ST

NEVILLE ST

MA NDEVIL
LE S

T

RUTLAND ST

PENDYRIS ST

COURT R
D

DORSET ST

C
ATH

AYS T ERR

CORBETT RD

GREYFRIARS RD

PARK PL

COLUM RD

MAINDY RD

CASTLE ST
DUKE  S

T

N
O

RTH
 RD

HAMILTON ST

CRADDOCK ST

TREVETHIC
K ST

SOPHIA
 C

L

TALBOT ST

PLASTURTON P
L

KYVEILOG STBERTHW
IN

 ST

DOGO S
T

G
IL

ES
TO

N
 R

D

W
ELLS ST

LYNDHURST ST

A
LBERT ST

ORCHARD PL

KINGS RD

SNEYD ST

IE
ST

YN ST

SPRINGFIELD PL

GLYNNE ST

W
YNDHAM

 RD

SEVERN
 RD

DYFRIG
 S

T

SEVERN
 G

RO
VE

RYDER ST

PLASTURTON AVE

PITM
AN ST

MALDWYN ST

MORTIMER RD

LO
W

ER
 C

AT
H

ED
RA

L 
RD

CATHEDRAL RD

CATHEDRAL RD

W
YNDHAM

 CRES

ROMILLY CRES

FAIRLEIGH RD

S 
M

O
RG

AN
 PL LEW

IS ST

TEIL
O S

T

PO
N

TC
A

N
N

A
 ST

SOPHIA
 W

K

SM
EA

TO
N

 S
T

WOOD ST

TUDOR ST

NINIAN PARK RD

MAJOR RD
WYNDHAM PL

WYNDHAM
 PL

A
LBER T  ST

PICTON PL
E ARLE PL

LEC
KW

ITH
 RD

COWBRIDGE RD EAST

WELLINGTON ST

ATLAS R D

LUDLOW ST

AMHERST STEARL L N

CH
A

N
N

EL VIEW
 RD

KENT ST

SEVEN
O

A
KS ST

O
A

KLEY PL

FERRY RD

H
O

LM
ES

D
AL

E 
ST

EARL ST

BROMSGROVE ST

W
O

RCESTER ST

PENHEVAD ST

LLANMAES ST

ST FAGANS CT

PA
G

ET ST

C
LA

RE ST

C
LA

RE ST

AVONDALE RD

REDLAVER ST

STOCKLAND ST

S C
LIVE ST

PENTREBANE ST

C
LIVE LN

C
LIVE ST

N
 C

LIVE ST

DURHAM ST

HAVELOCK PL

COLERIDGE RD

HADFIELD RD

FLEET WAY

G
LY

N
ST

EL
L 

CL

BR
IN

D
LE

Y 
RD

PE
N

AR
TH

 R
D

LYON CL

PENARTH
 R

D

PENARTH RD

PE
N

AR
TH

 R
D

SLO
PER RD

BU
TE ST

HAVANNAH ST

BUTE PL

JAMES ST

CLARENCE RD

WHARTON ST

TREDEGAR ST

M
IL

L 
LN

HILLS ST

NS1  Provide appropriate cycle markings on existing shared 
  space area to clearly indicate the presence of a cycle route.

NS2  Convert existing two-stage toucan crossing to   
  provide parallel single-stage crossing for cyclists,  
  with low-level cycle signals.

NS3  Provide segregated two-way cycle track    
  on eastern side of carriageway. Replace existing   
  block paving with surface appropriate for cycling.

NS4  Widen existing Toucan crossing to provide parallel cycle   
  crossing with low-level cycle signals. Remove guardrailing 
  at side road junctions to allow continuity for cyclists.

NS8  Install pu�n crossing with parallel signalised cycle   
  crossing with low-level cycle signals

NS9  Option 1: Provide footpath and segregated cycle lanes  
  in each direction

  Option 2: Provide wide two-way raised cycle track on  
  one side with footway on the other
  
  Option 3: Retain existing unsegregated shared-use   
  facility

NS10 Ensure clear continuity of route with appropriate signing

NS11 Remove westernmost line of car parking spaces in  
  Adam Street car park (18 spaces) and provide   
  segregated two-way cycle track on eastern    
  side of carriageway

NS14 Continue proposed segregated two-way cycle   
  track on northern side of carriageway

NS15 Widen existing shared-use path to provide     
  wide northbound segregated cycle track on    
  western side of carriageway. Southbound cyclists   
  to be accommodated on carriageway given    
  one-way system and low tra�c �ows. Resurface    
  carriageway and clearly mark as primary route.

NS16 Convert existing  advisory northbound cycle lane  
  and convert to mandatory cycle lane with light   
  segregation throughout.
  Southbound cyclists to be accommodated on   
  carriageway given low tra�c �ows. Resurface   
  carriageway and clearly sign as primary route.
  Provide transition between Guildford Crescent and  
  proposed segregated two-way cycle track on   
  eastern side of Guildford Street. Amendments to  
  the existing kerb radii likely to be required.

NS5  Continue proposed segregated two-way cycle   
  track on eastern side of Lloyd George Avenue.   
  Remove signal control from side roads and convert  
  each to priority junctions with parallel zebra   
  crossings for Pedestrians & Cyclists. Remove   
  guardrailing at side road junctions. Replace   
  existing block paving with appropriate smooth   
  surface suitable for cycling.

NS6  Redesign junction to allow for segregated    
  two-way cycle track on eastern side of Lloyd   
  George Avenue and southern side of Herbert   
  Street.

NS7  Continue proposed segregated two-way cycle   
  track on southern side of carriageway. Relocate   
  westbound bus stop or incorporate into design.

NS12 Continue segregated two-way cycle track on  
  southern side of carriageway. 

NS13 Widen existing Toucan crossing to provide parallel  
  cycle crossing with low-level cycle signals

NS19 Provide segregated two-way cycle track on      
  western/southern side of carriageway. Provide     
  bus stop island(s) at northbound bus stops  between    
  Station Terrace and Windsor Place. Provide cycle priority   
  crossing at junction of Windsor Place.

NS17 Provide segregated two-way cycle track    
  on southern/eastern side of carriageway

NS18 Redesign junction to include dedicated cycle   
  signals, allowing cyclists to connect to/from Station  
  Terrace and Dumfries Place/Newport Road,   
  including between the E-W and N-S primary routes.

NS20 Convert existing pedestrian crossing of Windsor Place to    
  provide parallel single-stage crossing for cyclists. Widen central  
  island at Windsor Place to  accommodate pedestrians and cyclists.   
  Convert existing two-stage toucan crossing across Stuttgarter   
  Strasse to provide parallel single-stage crossing for cyclists, with  
  low-level cycle signals.

NS21 Retain one-way system for all tra�c with cyclists to  
  be accommodated on-street given low tra�c �ows.  
  Ensure surface is of appropriate quality. Provide   
  appropriate signing and markings. Introduce   
  20mph speed limit.

NS22 Option 1: Retention of priority control. Extend   
  20mph zone to St Andrews Crescent.
  Option 2: Signalise junction.

NS23 Provide advisory cycle lanes on both sides of   
  carriageway. Remove one tra�c lane westbound  
  under bridge and one tra�c lane eastbound on   
  approach to signal junction to accommodate.   
  Amend signal staging to run east and westbound  
  seperately. Provide high quality surfacing. Provide  
  road markings for cyclists and consider coloured  
  surfacing.

PRIMARY ROUTE: NORTH-SOUTH (SECTION 1)

KEY

        PRIMARY ROUTES

        PRIMARY ROUTE ALTERNATIVE ALIGNMENT     

        CYCLE NETWORK LINKS TO PRIMARY ROUTES

           STRATEGIC SITES TO INCORPORATE EXTENSIVE
           INTERNAL NETWORK OF ROUTES   

P
age 194



C
LO

S  G W Y

HEOL PONTPRENNAU

AMBERLEY CL

CLO S CWM DU

GELLI FRON GOCH

CL
O

S 
NANT Y CWM

HEO
L 

PONTPRENNAU H
EO

L GLAN

DULAIS

CLOS N
ANT M

W
LAN

AM
BE

RG
AT

E 
D

R

ALMOND DR

TH
E M

ALTINGS
TARRAGON W

AY

TY CERRIG

LLWYN CASTAN

HY
SSO P C

L

BO
RA

G E CL

GLYN R H O
SY

N

G
LY

N
 RH

O
SYN

PEPPERMINT DR

BR
YN

 H
EU

LO
G

BRYN HAI D D

G
LYN

 EID
D

EW

BRYNCYN

C
O

ED
EN

 D
A

L

W
A

U
N

 FACH

BRYN PINWYDDEN

PENTWYN RD

DARTINGTON DR

FELBRIGG
 CRES

P E N NSYLVANIA

WERN GOCH W

BRYN CELYN RD

PE
N

TW
YN

 D
R

THE HAW THORNS

THE H
A

W
TH

O
RN

S

LI
N

N
ET

 C
L

H
O

LLY
BUSH HGHTS

F ORSYTHIA D R

FO
RSYTH

IA
 D

R

H A W FIN
CH C

L

MAGNOLIA CL

A
ZA

LEA CL

CO
ED-Y-G

ORES

BR
YN

-Y
-N

A
N

T

COED-Y-G
ORES

AEL-Y-BRYN

PIN
EW

OOD C
RES

KING W
O

O
D

 CL

LLANEDEYRN RD

QUEENWOO D

ROUNDWOOD

LL
AN

ED
EY

RN
 D

R

LLA
N

ED
EYRN

 D
R

MAELFA

W
ELLW

O
O

D

LOTHIAN CRES

LLW
YN

-Y-G
RAN

T TERR

DOE CL

BA
RO

N
S C

T RD

DERI R
D

HOLLYBUSH RD

COED-Y-G
ORES

BR
YN

FEDW

G
LY

N
 C

O
ED

G
LYN

 CO
ED

 RD

G
LY

N
 C

O
ED

 R
D

CHAPEL WOOD

BRYNFEDW

PENNSYLVANIA

IPSW

ICH RD

IP
SW

IC
H

 R
D

A4232

SIN C L AIR D
R

SO
U

TH
CO

U
RT RD

WINCHESTER AVE

EA
RLS C

T RD

TY
-G

W
YN

 R
D

MELROSE AVE

DORCHESTER AVE

HAMMOND WAY

OAK WOOD AVE

LONSDALE RD

O
RM

O
ND

E CL

W
ELL W

O
OD CL

LLANEDEYRN RD

HAMPTON CT RD

FO
S

TER  D R

LLWYN-Y-GRANT RD

PEN
-Y-LAN

 TERR

GRAFTON CL

AMESBURY RD

ILTON RD

PEN-Y
-L

AN P
L

ALM
A R

D

BALA
CLA

VA
 R

D

CRESSY R
D

M
AFEK

IN
G

 R
D

HARRIS
M

IT
H R

D

LLANEDEYRN RD

CARISBROOKE W
AY

TY-GWYN CRES

TY-GWYN AVE

SP
RI

N
GW

OOD

HILLRISE

CLEAR WATER WAY

SPRINGWOOD

H
ILLRISE

CEFN-CO E D G
D

N
S

FF
O

RD
D

 C
W

EL
LY

N

FFORD D  B
O

D
LY

N

PENNAN
T C

RES

WERNGOCH RD

RANNOCH D R

LO
M

ON
D CRES

A
RN

SI
D

E 
RD

H
U

RO
N

 C
RE

S

EVERARD WAY

W

OOLASTON AVE

HUNTERS RDG

FARM DR

ES
KD

A
LE

 C
L

EGREMONT RD

CYNCOED AVE

GLENW
OOD

C
YN

CO
ED

 RISE

C
YN

C
O

ED
 A

V
E

ST EDEYRNS RD

HOLLYBUSH RD

HOLLYBUSH RD

CYNCOED C

RES

GOLDCREST DR
WOODVALE AVE

CELY N G
R

ALD
ER

BROOK

LLYSWEN RD

BRYN
-G

W
YN

 RD

ALLTMAW
R RD

LLANGORSE RD

D
U

FFRYN
 RD

WESTMIN
STER C

RE
S

SHERBORNE AVE

DAN-Y-COED RD

CYNCOED PL

WINNIP

EG
 D

R

ONTARIO W
AY

C
EF

N
 C

O
ED

 A
V

E

HENLLYS RD

DERWEN RD

BETTWS-Y-C
OED RD

LEVEN CL

CLAERWEN DR

CARNEGIE DR

PA
D

A
RN

 C
L

OGWEN DR

D
U

FF
RY

N
 A

V
E

LLYN CL

G
W

YN
ANT CRES

DAN-Y-COED RD

NANT-FAWR CRES

N
A

N
T-

FA
W

R 
RD

LLANDENNIS AVE

CELYN AVE

CELYN AVE

H
EATH

BRO
O

K

TH
RE

E 
A

RC
H

ES
 A

V
E

ST DOGMAELS AVE

C

RUNDALE CRES

ST
 M

ARTINS CRES

KIM
BERLEY TERR

LU
N

D
Y CL

W
ATTO

N
 C

L

ILEX C
L

KEYES AVE

RHYD-Y-P
ENAU RD

TYRWHITT CRES

JELLICOE GDNS WILD GARDENS RD

H
EATH

 H
A

LT RD

C
RYSTA

L AVE

HEATHM EAD

NANT Y WEDAL 

WINGATE D
R

GIBSON CL

TRENCHARD DR

PORTFIE L D  C

RE
S

FISHGUARD
 C

L

W
AVELL C

L

LAKE RD N

H
EA

TH
 H

A
LT

 R
D

KING GEORGE V DR N

ST D
EN

IS RD

CEFN CARNAU RD

CRYSTAL W
OOD RD

ETON CT

ST
 B

RI
O

C
 R

D

ST GILD
AS RD

ST ISAN RD

H
EO

L G
W

YN
ED

D

ST MALO RD

ST ED
W

EN
 G

D
N

S

H
EATH

W
AY

S T  A
ID

A
N

 C
RE

S

ST A
U

G
U

STIN
E RD

ST
 A

N
TH

O
N

Y 
RD

PEDAIR ERW RD

HEOL POWIS

HEOL DYFED

M
O

U
N

TBATTEN
 C

L

KIN
G

 G
EO

RG
E V

 D
R E

BEATTY AVE

ED
IN

G
TO

N
 A

V
E

CRYSTA
L G

LEN

ST IN
A RD

HEATHFIELD PL

M
A

IT
LA

N
D

 S
T

FL
A

X
LA

N
D

 A
VE

ST AGATHA RD

TO
N

-Y
R-

Y
W

EN
 A

V
E

ST A
M

BRO
SE RD

ST
 A

LB
A

N
 A

V
E

ST
 H

EL
EN

S 
RD

ST A
N

TH
O

N
Y RD

KI
N

G
 G

EO
RG

E 
V

 D
R 

W

ST BEN
ED

IC
T C

RES

HEATHFIELD RD

LO
N

G
SP

EA
RS

 A
VE

ST BRIGID RD

JU
BILEE GDN

S

PA
RC

 T
Y 

G
LA

S

PA
RC

 T
Y 

G
LA

S

A
RM

O
U

RY D
R

MILESTONE CL

WAUN-FAWR RD

PHILIP CL

FA
IRFA

X
 RD

TY-W
ERN

 AVE

PORTHAMAL RD

TAIR ERW RD

LLW
YN

FED
W

 G
D

N
S

ST GEORGES RD

RHYDHELIG AVE

N
O

RTO
N

 A
V

E

VIO
LET PL

C
A

ERPH
ILLY RD

C
A

ER
PH

IL
LY

 R
D

LO
N-Y-GROES

PUM ERW RD
ST TANWG RD ST CADOC RDDRYBURGH AVE

THREIPLAN D D
R

SUMMERFIELD PL

MURRAYFIELD RD

DALE AVE

GROVE  P
L

PANTBACH AVE

CORONATION RD

CROMWELL RD

WELWYN RD

H
O

M
ELA

N
D

S RD

PHOENIX WAY

M
A

V
IS G

R

TH
O

RN
BU

RY CL

GREENFIELD RD

KE
YN

SH
AM

 R
D

PANTBACH PL

HEOL WERNLAS

WESTFIELD RD

HEOL DOLWEN

WESTVILLE RD

A
N

G
U

S ST

PEN
-Y-LAN

 RD

BR
O

N
 W

YD
D

 A
VE

BIRCHW
OOD RD

BR
AN

D
RE

TH
 R

D

BRANDRETH RD

TY-
DRAW

 P
L

LO
CHABER S

T

ALD
ER

 R
D

HEN
DY S

T

W
ERFA

 S
T

DALCROSS ST

TY’N-Y-COED LN

SPENCER ST

GO
W

ER
 S

T

DANIEL ST

LU
CAS 

ST

D
AVIO

T STFLORENTIA ST

FA
NNY S

T

GWEN
N

Y
TH

 ST

BRUCE ST

ROBERT ST

HAZELDENE AVE LI
N

D
EN

 A
VE

CORSHAM RD

TO
RR

EN
S 

D
R

BIRCHWOOD LN

BOLEYN WALK

CLOS DERWEN

PANT YR WYN

BO
VER

TO
N S

T

TYDFIL
 P

L

M
ORLA

IS
 S

T

MARYPORT RD

KIMBERLEY RD

TY-DRAW RD

ENNERDALE C L

LA
D

Y 
M

A
RY

 R
D

CEFN-COED RD

LA
KE

SI
D

E 
D

R

LAKESIDE DR

PEN-Y-WAIN RD

SH
IRLEY RD

LA
KE RO

A
D

 E

WEDAL RD

HEATHWOOD GR

HIGHFIELD RD

LA
KE

 R
D

 W

W
IN

D
ER

M
ER

E 
A

V
E

C
LU

N
 TERR

M
ALE

FA
NT 

ST
DO

GFI
EL

D S
T

MAY ST

TE
W

KES
BURY S

T

INGLEFIELD AVE

HEATH PARK WAY
HEATH PARK W

AY

C
EN

TR
A

L 
W

AY

CANADA RD

THE GATEWAY

LLANISHEN ST

SOBERT O
N

 A
V

E

SU
M

M
ER

FI
EL

D
 A

V
E

MAINDY RD

SA
C

H
V

IL
LE

 A
V

E

CLODIEN AVE

AFRICA GDNS

NEW
 Z

EALAND RD

A
C

A
D

EM
IC

 A
VE

LLANTRISANT ST

GELLIG
AER ST

ALLENSBANK CRES

CROWN WAY

MANOR ST

COSMESTON ST

BRITHDIR ST

CWMDARE ST

HEATH PARK AVE

A
LL

EN
SB

A
N

K 
RD

A
LL

EN
SB

A
N

K 
RD

PENTYRCH S
T

RHYGOES S
T

RHIG
OS G

DNS

TALYGARN ST

PEN-Y-B
RYN RD

PEN-Y-BRYN PL

NEW
FOUNDLAND RD

AUSTRALIA
 RD

H
EA

T
H  PARK LN

ST ANGELA RD

ST
 A

G
N

ES
 R

D

CAERLEON RD

PILTO
N

 PL

MARGAM R D

RO
SEM

O
U

N
T PL

RIC
H

S RD

LLANTARNAM
 RD

LLWYNDERW
 RD

SUNNYBA N K CL

BEVAN PL

PORTHKERRY PL

MYNACHDY RD

RA
DYR PL

GARTH PL

EX
CE

LS
IO

R R

D

CELTIC RD

BATCHELOR RD

CLOS M
ENTER

EXCELSIOR RD

GABALFA AVE

H
EO

L M
A

D
O

C

M
A

ELO
G

 RD

PEN
 Y FA

I

BI
RCHWOO

D
 G

DNS

C
RA

D
O

C
 RD

TROTMAN DICKENSON PL

LLYS TA L- Y-B
ONT R

D

APPLEDORE RD
CEFN RD

MATTH E W SON C
L

ABERBRAN RD

ABERDORE RD

SILVER BIRCH CL

W
ES

TE
RN

 D
R

LYDSTEP CRES

W
ES

TE
RN

 A
VE

 W

ABERTEIFI CRES

MYNACHDY RD

ABERPORTH RD

HEOL CARNE

LON MADOC

FR
A

N
KL

EN
 R

D

KYLE AVE

HEOL NEST

KEN
FIG RD

TWYN-Y-FEDWEN

HEOL Y GORS

CA
E 

G
W

YN
 R

DKY
LE

 C
RE

S

CO
U

RT RD

HEOL GABRIEL

W
A

U
N

TREO
D

A
 RD

HEATHWOOD RD

BIRCHGROVE RD

THE PHILOG

MERTHYR RD

NORTHERN AVE

CLA
V

ERTO

N  WAY

CLOS NANT GLASW
G

CEFN M
ABLY

 R
D

BUTTERFIE

LD D
R

GW
ERN-RHUDDI RD

BRYN
-AW

ELO
N

 RD

TY-DRAW RD

PO
N

TFA
EN

CRANBOURNE W
AY

C OTSWOLD A
VE

BA
LM

O
RA

L C
L

THE FAIRWAY

HA C KERFORD RD

HAMPTON CRES W

HURFORD PL

 
BL

AC
K 

O
AK 

RD

PLAS Y DELYN

LARCH GROVE

MILL PL

LO
N

G
LE

AT

 CL

M
ILL RD

CWRT CEFN

MILLGATE

M
IL

L 
RD W

O
O

D
SID

E CT

CHARTWELL DR

HEOL S
T 

D
EN

YS

MILLBROOK PARK

E RISE

N
 RI SE

S 
RI

SE

COURT FIELD L
N

ROWAN WAY

PENTWYN RD

RUDRY R
D

CHURCH
 RD

MAERDY LN

RI
D

GE

WAY

RIDGEWAY

IVYDALE

H
EO

L CEFN O
NN

CHERRY ORCHARD RD

MILL C
L

OLD M
ILL  R

D

HEOL-Y-DE LYN

CL
O

S 
LL

YSF
A

EN

TENSI
N

G
 C

L

SPRIN
G

 G
R

O
VE

CHERITO
N

 D
R

PIN

ECREST DR

RA
G

N
A

L L
 C

L

PIC
K

W
IC

K CL

BRIARM

EAD
O

W

 DR

FID
LA

S AVE
ELA

N
 RD

TO
W

 R
D

EWENNY RD

M
ILLRA

C
E CL

M
IL

LW
O

O
D

W
 R

IS
E

TH
E RISE

FISH
G

U
A

RD
 RD

FISH
G

U
A

RD
 RD

SO
LVA

 AVE

FID
LA

S RD

HEOL M
ERLIN

MELBOURNE RD

USK RD

FIDLAS RD

R E DWOOD CT

EVEREST W
AL K

COPPERFIELD
 D

R

EVEREST AVE

ST MELLONS RD

ST MELLONS RD

LISVANE RD

GARRICK DR

H
EO

L H
IR

NORW
O

O D

LYRIC WAY

G
LEN

D
A

LE AVE
TRECA

STLE A
V

E

WOLFS CASTLE AVE

GILWERN CRES

MERLIN CL

W
O

O
DL AWN WAY

LLANON RD

NE W
BO

R
O

U
G

H
 A

VE

MAES-Y-COED RD

MAES-Y-COED RD

TY-WERN RD

TY’N-Y-PARC RD

C
H

IL
TE

RN
 C

L

FIELD
 W

AY

MOSTYN SQ

CO ED COCHWYN AVE BLU
E H

O
U

SE RD

TASKER DR

W
ATKIN

S SQ TATHAM RD

MALVERN DR

SMITH RD

A
SH

BO
U

RN
 W

AY

TATHAM RD

CO
ED

 G
LA

S 
RD

CLO
S H

EN
D

RE

CO
ED YR YNN

TEMPLETON AVE

TY GLAS RD

TY GLAS AVE

WAUN-Y-GROES AVE

HEOL CAERHYS

W
H

ITE BA
RN

 RD

CI
LG

ER
A

N
 C

RE
S

LON Y MYNYDD

PEN
 Y G

RO
ES RD

C
A

E M
AW

R RD

CORNFIELD CL

MAYFLOWER AVE

H
EO

L-Y

R-EFAIL

HEOL HENDRE

HEOL AER

CLOS TO
N

 M
A

W
R

H
EO

L H
IR

B
R

O
O

KVALE DR

H
E

OL-Y-CARW

MAYFAIR DR

H

EO L-Y-CADNO

PE
RC

IV
A

L 
C

L

TANSY CL

W
O O D RUFF W

AY

LO
N

 C
AE

 PORTH

CHARLOTTE SQ

TY
 G

W
YN R

D

HEOL ISCOED

HEOL-Y-BONT

WAUN-Y-GROES RD

H
EO

L Y W
ERN

H
EO

L 
TY

N
-Y

-C
O

ED

RHOS LLAN

HEOL Y  FELIN

MUR G
WYN

HEOL LLANISHEN FACH

HEOL-Y-DERI

ORCHARD CASTLE

BARDSEY CRES

GLE
NMOUN T WAY

LOWFIELD  DR

H
AVEN

W
O

O
D DR

HEOL PEREDUR

CAE G ARW

LAUNCELOT CRES

C
A

M
ELO

T  W

AY

AVO NRI

DGE

CH
ARLOCK CL

ANGELICA
 W

AY

LU
C

ER
N

E 
DR

PEN Y CEFN

EXCALIBUR DR

BRYN GLA
S

GAR ETH
 C

L

RH
I W

LA
S

TH
O

RN
H

ILL RD

M

OR RIS  AVE

JOHNSTON RD

LLANGRANOG RD

GUENEVER CL

GA L A HAD C
L

HEOL ERWIN

HEOL ISAF

H
EO

L 
LE

W
IS

M
4

BEULAH RD

BLA
EN

 Y C
O

ED

HEOL UCHAF

CARDIFF RD

LLA
N

D
A

FF RD

LLANDAFF RD

COLCHESTER AVE

OA K LEAFE
 D

R

LLANDE
N

N
IS

 RD

CI
RC

LE
 W

AY
 E

CIRCLE WAY E

C
IR

C
LE

 W
AY

 W

CIRCLE WAY W

PARRY ST

N
O

RT
H

U
M

BE
RL

A
N

D
 S

T

TH
EO

BA
LD

 S
T

BRECO
N

 ST PEN
-Y-PEEL RD

RA
D

N
O

R 
RD

CARDIGAN ST

PEMBROKE RD

BE
D

A
 R

D

BRUNSWICK ST

A48 EASTERN AVE

A48 EASTERN AVE

A
48

   
 W

ES
TE

ER
N

 A
VE

NEWPORT RD

CAMERON ST

SPRIN
G G

ARDENS TERR

SPRING GARDENS PL

BERESFORD RD LN

WILSON ST

FLORENCE ST

ARTHUR ST

SOUTHMINSTER RD

AXM
INSTER RD

FORT  ST
TYLER ST

FOX ST

STURM
INSTER RD

LA
D

YS
M

IT
H

 R
D

M
IN

ST
ER

 R
D

PRIEST RD

SEAWALL RD

ROVER WAY

DUNSMUIR RD

BRA
D

LEY ST

BLAN
CHE ST

SKELM
U

IR RD TW
EEDSMUIR RD

D
A

LM
U

IR RD

C
RA

IG
M

U
IR RD

SKATHMUIR RD

C
LY

D
ES

M
U

IR
 R

D

SWINTON ST

H
A

RO
LD

 ST
TH

EO
D

O
RA

 ST

FARMVILLE RD

H
O

R
W

O
O

D CL

BERESFO
RD

 RD

M
O

O
RLA

N
D

 RD

M
O

O
RLA

N
D

 RD

WILLOWS AVE

H
ELEN

 ST

BURNABY ST

EYRE ST

COVENY ST

SEYMOUR ST

M
OIR

A ST ECLIPSE ST

COMET ST SPLOTT RD

M
U

IRTO
N

 RD

ORDELL ST

HABE
RS

HO
N S

T

WALKER RD

CO
URTE

NAY
 R

D

JANET ST

MARION ST

ADELINE ST

RAIL
W

AY S
T

CARL
IS

LE
 S

TSYSTEM
 ST

PRINCE LEOPOLD ST
GALSTON ST

HOW
ARD GDNS

NEWPORT RD LN

EAST G
RO

VE

THE WALK

CH URCH TERR

W
ATERLO

O
 RD

W
ATERLO

O
 RD

TIMBERS SQ

STALLCOURT AVE

FF
O

R
DD

 N
O

W
EL

L

PEA
RL 

ST

D
IA

M
O

ND
 ST

AGATE ST

N
O

RA
 ST

IRON ST

DIAMOND ST

AN

DERSON PL

ZINC ST

H
ELEN

 PL

CECIL ST

RIC
HARDS T

ERR

WATERLOO GDN S

ST
ACE

Y 
RD

BERTRA
M

 ST

EMERALD ST

SILVER ST

ORBIT ST

LONGCROSS ST

TOPAZ ST

LEAD ST

SUN ST

GOLD ST

SAPPHIRE ST

RUBY ST

COPPER ST

STAR ST

PLANET ST

M
OIR

A TERR

M
ETAL ST

CA
STLE LN

W
O

RDSW
O

RTH AVE

GORSEDD GDNS RD

WYEVERNE RD

LETTY ST

KING EDW
ARD VII AVE

COLLEGE RD

QUEEN ANNE SQ

RO
AT

H
 C

O
U

RT
 P

L

SANDRINGHAM RD

G
RE

N
VI

LL
E 

RD

AGIN
CO

URT 
RD

UPPER KINCRAIG ST

LILY ST

ROSE ST

CLIFTO
N

 ST

ELM ST

Q
U

A
IL

 C
T

NINIAN RD

MARLBOROUGH RD

CLAUDE PL

BLENHEIM
 RD

RO
ATH

 CO
U

RT RD

ARRAN PL

CLIVE PL

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 RD

W
EL

LF
IE

LD
 S

T

PE
N-Y

-L
AN R

D

CYNCOED RD

C
YN

C
O

ED
 RD

C
YN

C
O

ED
 RD

CYN
CO

ED
 RD

CYNCOED RD

BANGO
R S

T

A
RA

BELLA
 ST

KE
LV

IN
 R

D

D
O

N
A

LD
 ST

D
IA

N
A

 ST

TY’N-Y-COED PL

A
LFRED

 ST

KEPPOCH ST

GLENROY ST

STRATHNAIRN ST

C
RO

FT
S 

ST

OXFORD LN

PR
IN

CE
S 

ST

SN
IP

E 
ST

OAKFIELD ST

WILLOW CT

ELM ST LN

PARTRIDGE LN

TE
A

L 
ST PARTRIDGE RD

CO
N

N
AU

G
H

T RD

CLAU
D

E RD

SOUTHEY ST

O
XFO

RD
 ST

VERE ST

ST PETERS ST

M
ILTON ST

DYLAN PL

CYFARTHFA ST

RUSSELL ST

TALW
ORTH ST

BYRON ST

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 RD

TREHARRIS ST

ARRAN ST

M
A

C
KIN

TO
SH

 PL

CITY RD

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 PL

PLA
SN

EW
YD

D
 SQ

BED

FO
RD ST

BEDFORD ST

C
RA

N
BRO

O
K ST

W
IN

D
SO

R PL

THE PARADE

KNOX RD

NORTHCOTE LN

KIN
CRA

IG ST

N ORTHCOTE LN

RIC
H

M
O

ND CRES

G
O

RD
O

N
 RD

LLANTW
IT ST

ST ANDREWS PL

SA
LISBU

RY RDGLY
NRHONDDA ST

PA
RK G

RO
VE

MUSEUM PL

PA
RK LN

RHYMNEY TERR

CITY RD

A469     WHITCHURCH RD

CO
BU

RN
 ST

BASIL PL

RIC
HARDS 

ST

HARRIE
T S

T
FI

TZ
ROY ST

RUTHIN
 G

DNS

WYEVERNE RD

MUNDY PL

CATHERINE ST

FA
NNY S

T

BROADWAY

NEWPORT RD

D
U

M
FRIES PL

STUTTGARTER STRASSE

BOULEVARD DE NANTES

CRO

C KHERBTOWN LN

CITY HALL RD

M
USEUM

 AVE

LOWTHER RD

MISKIN ST

FITZALAN RD MOIRA PL

CONSTELLATIO
N ST

TIN ST

PEARL ST

AUGUSTA ST

M
ETEO

R ST

GLOSSOP RD

N
 L

U
TO

N
 P

LN EDWARD STQUEEN ST

STATIO
N

 TERR

CHURC

H
 P

L

ALBANY RDALBANY RD

RICHM
OND RD

FITZA
LA

N
 PL

ALEXANDER ST

SENGHENYDD RD

W
O

O
DVIL

LE
 R

D

TH
ESIG

ER ST

BRYDGES PL

IN
VERN

ESS PL

MOY RD

BRAEVAL ST

GLA
DYS 

STMINNY ST

M
O

NTH
ER

M
ER

 R
D

DALT
O

N S
T

TREHERBERT ST

LISVANE ST

D
A

RRA
N

 ST

FLORA ST
HIRWAIN ST

FA
IR

OAK RD

C
ATH

AYS T ERR

CORBETT RD

GREYFRIARS RD

PARK PL

COLUM RD

COLU
M

 D
R

MAINDY RD

TREORKY ST

MINISTER ST

M
ERTHYR ST

DUKE  S
T

N
O

RTH
 RD

N
O

RTH
 RD

HAMILTON ST

SOPHIA
 C

L

TALBOT ST

PLASTURTON P
L

KYVEILOG STBERTHW
IN

 ST

DOGO S
T

G
IL

ES
TO

N
 R

D

ORCHARD PL

KINGS RD

SNEYD ST

IE
ST

YN ST

SPRINGFIELD PL

GLYNNE ST

W
YNDHAM

 RD

SEVERN
 RD

G
RAY LN

DYFRIG
 S

T

GREENFIELD AV E

SEVERN
 G

RO
VE

RYDER ST

PLASTURTON AVE

PITM
AN ST

MALDWYN ST

CO
N

W
AY RD

MORTIMER RD

LO
W

ER
 C

AT
H

ED
RA

L 
RD

CATHEDRAL RD

CATHEDRAL RD

PENHILL RD

PE
N

LL
YN

 R
D

C
H

U
RC

H
 R

D

LLANFAIR RD

W
YNDHAM

 CRES

ROMILLY CRES

ROMILLY RD

CARMARTHEN ST

G
LA

M
O

RG
A

N
 ST

MARKET  PL

FAIRLEIGH RD

TEIL
O S

T

PO
N

TC
A

N
N

A
 ST

SOPHIA
 W

K

LEC
KW

ITH
 RD

RE
C

TO
RY

 R
D

M
A

RKET RD

A
LE

X
A

N
D

RA
 R

D

COWBRIDGE RD EAST

COWBRIDGE RD EAST

FI
EL

D
S 

PA
RK

 R
D

GROVELAND RD

NS24 Provide eastbound contra�ow cycle facility.

NS25 Option 1: Improvements to existing    
  arrangement.  Widen advisory cycle lanes   
  where possible. Replace existing     
  cushions with road humps.

  Option 2: Provide hybrid cycle lanes    
  in both directions with continuation    
  through junctions

NS26 Replace existing pedestrian crossing with   
  signal facility to incorporate cycle and    
  pedestrian movements to link Cathays   
  Terrace with Senghennydd Road.

NS28 Provide low-level signals for cyclists and early  
  start on Cathays Terrace approach. 
  Use existing footway area in front of    
  Cathays Library to provide signaled right turn  
  facility for cyclists from Whitchurch Road to  
  Cathays Terrace.

NS29 Amend existing cross section to provide   
  footways, hybrid cycle lanes on both    
  sides and 3  tra�c lanes (as existing).    
  Continue hybrid cycle lanes through side road  
  junctions.

NS35 Continue wide two-way cycle track with   
  light segregation on northern side of    
  carriageway.  Relocate kerbline on northern  
  side. Remove tra�c lane on King George V   
  Drive East approach to junction.
  Provide cycle route priority at alleyway and  
  private driveway. Resurface footway.

NS36 Replace block paving at King George V Drive   
  East road-end with surface appropriate for    
  cycling. Provide dropped kerbs and cycle    
  bypass at existing road closure and appropriate   
  signing/markings.

NS37 Cyclists to be accommodated on-street given  
  low tra�c �ows. Resurface carriageway where  
  required to ensure appropriate surface for   
  cyclists.  Provide appropriate premium quality  
  route signing and markings. Provide    
  road humps to reduce speeds.

NS38 Cyclists to be accommodated on-street given  
  low tra�c �ows. Resurface carriageway where  
  required to ensure appriopriate surface for   
  cyclists.  Provide appropriate premium quality  
  route signing and markings.
  Provide road humps to reduce speeds.

NS41 Surfacing Improvements. Provide cycle  
  signing / markings.

NS42 Remove centreline markings/hatching.   
  Provide road humps across full length.   
  Provide cycle logo markings.

NS47a Continue o�-road cycle path via existing   
  reservoir paths, suitably improved with   
  lighting and appropriate cycle signing and   
  markings.

NS47 Remove carriageway centreline and provide  
  large cycle logos

NS48 Provide kerbed build-outs to introduce   
  de�ection at roundabout. Provide single lane  
  entries on all approaches to reduce speeds   
  and improve conditions for cycling with
  possible raised junction in association with   
  above.

NS44 Widen existing shared use footway on western side  
  to provide wider shared-use facility up to Toucan  
  crossing. Widen existing footway on eastern side  
  between Toucan crossing and Nant Fawr Woods  
  path to allow continuation of shared use facility.  
  Provide raised table at crossing at junction with   
  Cardi� High School with cycle priority.

NS30 Provide signalised cycle facility to allow   
  north-west bound cyclists to cross from   
  Whitchurch Road (westbound) to proposed  
  two-way facility on eastern side of Allensbank  
  Road.
  Provide low-level cycle signal with early start  
  for southbound cyclists to make left turn or  
  provide signal bypass for left turn.

NS27 Option 1: Improvements to existing       
  arrangement/removal of built-out areas. Widen     
  advisory cycle lanes where possible. Removal     
  of central refuges.

  Option 2: Provide hybrid cycle lanes in both     
  directions with continuation through junctions. With   
  option to permit loading in proposed hybrid cycle    
  lane.

NS31 Provide two-way cycle track with light    
  segregation on eastern side of     
  carriageway. 

NS32 Provide signalised cycle facility to allow   
  crossing of Wedal Road for north and    
  southbound cyclists.
  Provide detection  at signals for north and   
  southbound cyclists to provide continuity.

NS33 Provide two-way cycle track with light      
  segregation on eastern side of carriageway.    
  Relocate kerbline on eastern side. May require some   
  kerbline realignment on western side to north of bridge.

NS34  Provide signalised crossing facility for cyclists  
   across northern leg of junction to enable   
   cycle movements between north-south   
   two-way cycle track on Allensbank Road and  
   facility on King George V Drive East.

NS39 Option 1: Minor improvements to existing layout and   
  signing to improve continuity for cyclists. Also option to   
  provide raised table through junction to reduce speeds   
  and highlight crossing movement.
  
  Option 2: Signalise junction and include separate stage for  
  east-west cycle movements. Include controlled pedestrian  
  facilities.

NS40 Option 1: Provide road humps across    
  full length to reduce vehicle speeds and make   
  route less attractive to motor vehicles.

  Option 2: As above but convert to cycle street

NS43 Widen existing path to north-west of roundabout  
  to 3.0m and convert to segregated two-way cycle  
  track. Path to be widened su�ciently to also   
  accommodate pedestrians.
  Widen existing zebra crossing on Lake Road North  
  to allow cyclists to make right turn from path.
  Provide cycle signing and markings.

NS45 Upgrade existing path to cycle track away from   
  road separated from pedestrians. Path should be  
  appropriately lit and surfaced, with cycle signing  
  and markings.

NS46 Remove existing central island and replace   
  with parallel zebra crossing

NS49 Remove carriageway centreline and provide  
  large cycle logos

NS50 Remove priority workings and replace with  
   road humps at appropriate spacings. 
  Remove carriageway centreline/hatched areas  
  and refuges.
  Provide large cycle logos.
  Potential work to provide high quality surface.

NS51 Ensure appropriate cycle provision at    
  junction, dependent upon proposed stategic  
  site access arrangements.

PRIMARY ROUTE: NORTH-SOUTH (SECTION 2)

KEY

        PRIMARY ROUTES

        PRIMARY ROUTE ALTERNATIVE ALIGNMENT     

        CYCLE NETWORK LINKS TO PRIMARY ROUTES

           STRATEGIC SITES TO INCORPORATE EXTENSIVE
           INTERNAL NETWORK OF ROUTES   Page 195



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Cardiff Existing Routes Map Cycling

Produced by the Active Travel web site.   Gynhyrchwyd gan y wefan Teithio Llesol.

© Crown Copyright and database right 2014. Ordnance Survey 100021874. Welsh Government. © Hawlfraint a hawliau cronfa ddata’r Goron 2014. Rhif Trwydded yr Arolwg Ordnans 100021874.
Whilst the Welsh Government have made every effort to ensure that the information on this website is accurate and up-to-date, the Welsh Government takes no responsibility for any incorrect information. The data is compiled from Public Rights of Way, Ordnance Survey ITN, Ordnance Survey ITN Urban Path and aerial photography 
derived data supplemented by field survey. The online map is provided for guidance only and is not a legal record.
Er bod Llywodraeth Cymru wedi gwneud pob ymdrech i sicrhau bod y wybodaeth ar y wefan hon yn gywir ac yn gyfredol, mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn cymryd unrhyw gyfrifoldeb am unrhyw wybodaeth anghywir. Lluniwyd y data o hawliau tramwy cyhoeddus, RhTI yr AO, Llwybrau Trefol RhTI yr AO a data sy'n deillio o ffotograffau o'r 
awyr wedi'i ategu gan arolwg maes. Yn y map ar-lein yn darparu canllaw yn unig ac nid yw cofnod cyfreithiol.

Cardiff Council
County Hall

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff, CF10 4UW

Legend / Eglurhad

Active Travel Routes / Llwybrau Teithio Llesol

20 Jan 2016 14:19 PM

Appendix3

Page 197



 

 

Cardiff Existing Routes Map Cycling: Statement and Explanation 

Colum Road 

Route offers dedicated facilities for cyclists on a traffic calmed street and provides an important link 

to employment and education at Cathays Park, however the 1.7m cycle lanes do not meet the 

desirable minimum width for this type of facility. The Colum Rd/Corbett Rd Toucan crossing has high 

pedestrian flows at peak times during term time. 

Cathays Terrace 

Route offers dedicated facilities for cyclists and provides an important link to employment and 

education, however the 1.8m cycle lanes do not meet the desirable minimum width for this type of 

facility. Furthermore, there is currently no formal crossing for cyclists to link Cathays Terrace to 

Senghenydd Road, and cyclists are therefore currently required to dismount to continue their 

journey. 

 

This document is available in Welsh / Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg. 

Page 198



Cardiff Existing Routes Map Walking Ely and Caerau
Produced by the Active Travel web site.   Gynhyrchwyd gan y wefan Teithio Llesol.

© Crown Copyright and database right 2014. Ordnance Survey 100021874. Welsh Government. © Hawlfraint a hawliau cronfa ddata’r Goron 2014. Rhif Trwydded yr Arolwg Ordnans 100021874.
Whilst the Welsh Government have made every effort to ensure that the information on this website is accurate and up-to-date, the Welsh Government takes no responsibility for any incorrect information. The data is compiled from Public Rights 
of Way, Ordnance Survey ITN, Ordnance Survey ITN Urban Path and aerial photography derived data supplemented by field survey. The online map is provided for guidance only and is not a legal record.
Er bod Llywodraeth Cymru wedi gwneud pob ymdrech i sicrhau bod y wybodaeth ar y wefan hon yn gywir ac yn gyfredol, mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn cymryd unrhyw gyfrifoldeb am unrhyw wybodaeth anghywir. Lluniwyd y data o hawliau tramwy 
cyhoeddus, RhTI yr AO, Llwybrau Trefol RhTI yr AO a data sy'n deillio o ffotograffau o'r awyr wedi'i ategu gan arolwg maes. Yn y map ar-lein yn darparu canllaw yn unig ac nid yw cofnod cyfreithiol.

Cardiff Council
County Hall

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff, CF10 4UW

Legend / Eglurhad
Active Travel Routes / Llwybrau Teithio Llesol

20 Jan 2016 14:32 PM

P
age 199



Cardiff Existing Routes Map Walking Grangetown
Produced by the Active Travel web site.   Gynhyrchwyd gan y wefan Teithio Llesol.

© Crown Copyright and database right 2014. Ordnance Survey 100021874. Welsh Government. © Hawlfraint a hawliau cronfa ddata’r Goron 2014. Rhif Trwydded yr Arolwg Ordnans 100021874.
Whilst the Welsh Government have made every effort to ensure that the information on this website is accurate and up-to-date, the Welsh Government takes no responsibility for any incorrect information. The data is compiled from Public Rights 
of Way, Ordnance Survey ITN, Ordnance Survey ITN Urban Path and aerial photography derived data supplemented by field survey. The online map is provided for guidance only and is not a legal record.
Er bod Llywodraeth Cymru wedi gwneud pob ymdrech i sicrhau bod y wybodaeth ar y wefan hon yn gywir ac yn gyfredol, mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn cymryd unrhyw gyfrifoldeb am unrhyw wybodaeth anghywir. Lluniwyd y data o hawliau tramwy 
cyhoeddus, RhTI yr AO, Llwybrau Trefol RhTI yr AO a data sy'n deillio o ffotograffau o'r awyr wedi'i ategu gan arolwg maes. Yn y map ar-lein yn darparu canllaw yn unig ac nid yw cofnod cyfreithiol.

Cardiff Council
County Hall

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff, CF10 4UW

Legend / Eglurhad
Active Travel Routes / Llwybrau Teithio Llesol

20 Jan 2016 14:23 PM

P
age 200



Cardiff Existing Routes Map Walking Llanishen
Produced by the Active Travel web site.   Gynhyrchwyd gan y wefan Teithio Llesol.

© Crown Copyright and database right 2014. Ordnance Survey 100021874. Welsh Government. © Hawlfraint a hawliau cronfa ddata’r Goron 2014. Rhif Trwydded yr Arolwg Ordnans 100021874.
Whilst the Welsh Government have made every effort to ensure that the information on this website is accurate and up-to-date, the Welsh Government takes no responsibility for any incorrect information. The data is compiled from Public Rights 
of Way, Ordnance Survey ITN, Ordnance Survey ITN Urban Path and aerial photography derived data supplemented by field survey. The online map is provided for guidance only and is not a legal record.
Er bod Llywodraeth Cymru wedi gwneud pob ymdrech i sicrhau bod y wybodaeth ar y wefan hon yn gywir ac yn gyfredol, mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn cymryd unrhyw gyfrifoldeb am unrhyw wybodaeth anghywir. Lluniwyd y data o hawliau tramwy 
cyhoeddus, RhTI yr AO, Llwybrau Trefol RhTI yr AO a data sy'n deillio o ffotograffau o'r awyr wedi'i ategu gan arolwg maes. Yn y map ar-lein yn darparu canllaw yn unig ac nid yw cofnod cyfreithiol.

Cardiff Council
County Hall

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff, CF10 4UW

Legend / Eglurhad
Active Travel Routes / Llwybrau Teithio Llesol

20 Jan 2016 14:28 PM

P
age 201



Cardiff Existing Routes Map Walking Llanrumney
Produced by the Active Travel web site.   Gynhyrchwyd gan y wefan Teithio Llesol.

© Crown Copyright and database right 2014. Ordnance Survey 100021874. Welsh Government. © Hawlfraint a hawliau cronfa ddata’r Goron 2014. Rhif Trwydded yr Arolwg Ordnans 100021874.
Whilst the Welsh Government have made every effort to ensure that the information on this website is accurate and up-to-date, the Welsh Government takes no responsibility for any incorrect information. The data is compiled from Public Rights 
of Way, Ordnance Survey ITN, Ordnance Survey ITN Urban Path and aerial photography derived data supplemented by field survey. The online map is provided for guidance only and is not a legal record.
Er bod Llywodraeth Cymru wedi gwneud pob ymdrech i sicrhau bod y wybodaeth ar y wefan hon yn gywir ac yn gyfredol, mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn cymryd unrhyw gyfrifoldeb am unrhyw wybodaeth anghywir. Lluniwyd y data o hawliau tramwy 
cyhoeddus, RhTI yr AO, Llwybrau Trefol RhTI yr AO a data sy'n deillio o ffotograffau o'r awyr wedi'i ategu gan arolwg maes. Yn y map ar-lein yn darparu canllaw yn unig ac nid yw cofnod cyfreithiol.

Cardiff Council
County Hall

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff, CF10 4UW

Legend / Eglurhad
Active Travel Routes / Llwybrau Teithio Llesol

20 Jan 2016 14:29 PM

P
age 202



Cardiff Existing Routes Map Walking Roath
Produced by the Active Travel web site.   Gynhyrchwyd gan y wefan Teithio Llesol.

© Crown Copyright and database right 2014. Ordnance Survey 100021874. Welsh Government. © Hawlfraint a hawliau cronfa ddata’r Goron 2014. Rhif Trwydded yr Arolwg Ordnans 100021874.
Whilst the Welsh Government have made every effort to ensure that the information on this website is accurate and up-to-date, the Welsh Government takes no responsibility for any incorrect information. The data is compiled from Public Rights 
of Way, Ordnance Survey ITN, Ordnance Survey ITN Urban Path and aerial photography derived data supplemented by field survey. The online map is provided for guidance only and is not a legal record.
Er bod Llywodraeth Cymru wedi gwneud pob ymdrech i sicrhau bod y wybodaeth ar y wefan hon yn gywir ac yn gyfredol, mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn cymryd unrhyw gyfrifoldeb am unrhyw wybodaeth anghywir. Lluniwyd y data o hawliau tramwy 
cyhoeddus, RhTI yr AO, Llwybrau Trefol RhTI yr AO a data sy'n deillio o ffotograffau o'r awyr wedi'i ategu gan arolwg maes. Yn y map ar-lein yn darparu canllaw yn unig ac nid yw cofnod cyfreithiol.

Cardiff Council
County Hall

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff, CF10 4UW

Legend / Eglurhad
Active Travel Routes / Llwybrau Teithio Llesol

20 Jan 2016 14:21 PM

P
age 203



Cardiff Existing Routes Map Walking Whitchurch
Produced by the Active Travel web site.   Gynhyrchwyd gan y wefan Teithio Llesol.

© Crown Copyright and database right 2014. Ordnance Survey 100021874. Welsh Government. © Hawlfraint a hawliau cronfa ddata’r Goron 2014. Rhif Trwydded yr Arolwg Ordnans 100021874.
Whilst the Welsh Government have made every effort to ensure that the information on this website is accurate and up-to-date, the Welsh Government takes no responsibility for any incorrect information. The data is compiled from Public Rights 
of Way, Ordnance Survey ITN, Ordnance Survey ITN Urban Path and aerial photography derived data supplemented by field survey. The online map is provided for guidance only and is not a legal record.
Er bod Llywodraeth Cymru wedi gwneud pob ymdrech i sicrhau bod y wybodaeth ar y wefan hon yn gywir ac yn gyfredol, mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn cymryd unrhyw gyfrifoldeb am unrhyw wybodaeth anghywir. Lluniwyd y data o hawliau tramwy 
cyhoeddus, RhTI yr AO, Llwybrau Trefol RhTI yr AO a data sy'n deillio o ffotograffau o'r awyr wedi'i ategu gan arolwg maes. Yn y map ar-lein yn darparu canllaw yn unig ac nid yw cofnod cyfreithiol.

Cardiff Council
County Hall

Atlantic Wharf
Cardiff, CF10 4UW

Legend / Eglurhad
Active Travel Routes / Llwybrau Teithio Llesol

20 Jan 2016 14:31 PM

P
age 204



Improvements - Crossings - Calming - Urban Safety - Low Cost Rankings For 16/17

Ranking 
Method

Pos
Cost/Benefit 

score
Letter ref. 
(civica)

Project No Ward ProjectTitle Estimate

1 78.93333 65876   PRJ148 Western Avenue - speed limit reduction 15

2 18.16 60015   PRJ115 Gabalfa Crown Way (nr Whitchurch Rd) Ped facilities 25

3 15.9 16103   8133 Plasnewydd Mackintosh Place - Ped Facilities 90

4 14.28571 31626   PRJ040 Pentwyn Circle Way West, Glyn Coed Road 35

5 14.06667 39777 42467 38620 P126 Fairwater St Fagans Road (Wellright Rd) 45

6 12.93333 45583   PRJ034 Penylan Waterloo Road Footway improvements. 30

7 12.69333 19825   P074 Whitchurch / Tongwynlais Old Church Rd/Church Rd/Merthyr Rd 75

8 12.62 29563   P102 Cyncoed Lake Rd East Zebra Crossing 50

9 12.15556 CR7400   P035 Riverside Kings Rd/Pontcanna St 45

10 11.88889 24462 53066  PRJ006 Cyncoed Gwern Rhuddi Road Traffic Calming Remodelling 90

11 11.17 30069   P009 Pentwyn Pentwyn Drive/Glyn Coed Rd Junct 100

12 10.35 29700   P087 Lisvane Blossom Drive/Cherry Orchard Rd Junct 60

13 10.1875 22353   PRJ107 Cyncoed Cyncoed Road pedestrian facilities 80

14 10.02222 18828   P078 Radyr / Morganstown Heol Isaf nr Min y Coed 45

15 10 17354   8131 Riverside Conway Rd/Severn Grove 50

16 9.8 61607   PRJ089 Plasnewydd Ninian Road near Tydfil Place zebra crossing 45

17 9.755555 7150   3981 Heath Pantbach Rd – Pedestrian Facilities 45

18 9.155556 39778   8336 Grangetown Virgil Street tabled zebra crossing 45

19 8.622857 39883 40391 53811 P114 Penylan Pen-y-Lan Road and Colchester Avenue Junction 350

20 8.552941 48901   PRJ003 Llanishen Thornhill Road Pedestrian Facilities 85

21 8.0875 29130 51620  P092 Pontprennau / Old St Mellons Ty'r Winch Rd 80

22 7.52 57927   PRJ075 Llanrumney Ball Road - Traffic Calming 150

23 7.46 58794 58205  PRJ083 Llanishen Lisvane Road / Woodside Court 50

24 7.2 56504   PRJ079 Canton Sloper Road Traffic Calming 80

25 6.941667 13602   P001 Grangetown Paget Street 120

26 6.8 10192 9271  P107 Plasnewydd Richmond Road / Lowther Road Junction Improvement 225

27 6.75 74443   PRJ147 Penylan Llanedeyrn Rd pedestrian crossing 32

28 6.72 63032   PRJ133 Cathays North Road / Corbett Road 225

29 6.55 652 65267  P106 Riverside Despenser St - Ped Facilities 20

30 6.426667 51608 56709  PRJ045 Canton Lansdowne Road Traffic Calming 75

31 6.325 44643   3673 Cathays St Andrew's Place 80

32 6.266667 50507 51828  PRJ007 Fairwater St Fagans Rd (Nr.Fairwater Green) 45

33 6.171429 58685 49299  PRJ054 Creigiau / St.Fagans Cardiff Road, St Fagans 35

34 6.05 53190   PRJ041 Trowbridge Cypress Drive Speed Reduction Scheme 150

35 6.05 PRJ091 Grangetown Corporation Rd near Avondale Road 60

36 5.95 18576 55129  PRJ094 Grangetown Cornwall Street - Traffic Calming 80

37 5.95 61202   PRJ123 Fairwater St Fagans Road near Shears Road 60

38 5.883333 10440   P083 Cathays Woodville Rd 60

39 5.64 50361   PRJ009 Grangetown Bessemer Road Traffic Management Measures 50

40 5.466667 72834 43023  PRJ149 Llandaff North Aberteifi Crescent one way system 15

41 5.46 63946   PRJ137 Grangetown Avondale Road Traffic Calming 100

42 5.428 49770   PRJ047 Canton Atlas Rd/Leckwith Rd/ Wellington St/Kitchener Rd 250

43 5.3 70663   PRJ143 Penylan Blenheim Road / Kimberley Road junction 50

44 5.222222 60474   PRJ119 Caerau Amroth Road / Llandow Road - Pedestrian Facility 45

45 5.096 62483   PRJ114 Plasnewydd Newport Rd / Rover Way Ped facilities (N side) 125

46 5.075 27786   P112 Fairwater Junction of Cartwright Lane and St Fagans Rd 200

47 4.745454 CR38620   P111 Fairwater St Fagans Road (Fairways Crescent) tabled zebra 55

48 4.711111 48173   PRJ025 Fairwater Pentrebane Road - Controlled crossing 45

49 4.586667 60180   PRJ104 Penylan Albany Road/Marlborough Road/Waterloo Road 75

50 4.44 60440   PRJ110 Cyncoed Lake Road West near park entrance 75

51 4.24 10989   PRJ150 Caerau Heol Trelai traffic calming 200

52 4 34990   P113 Plasnewydd Ty-Draw Rd/Pen-y-Lan/Kimberley Rd 200

53 3.825 52852 51491  PRJ035 Pontprennau / Old St Mellons Croescadarn Road Zebra crossing 40

54 3.5 64862   PRJ136 Heath King George V Drive West into UHW 10

55 2.84 58142   PRJ131 Heath Allensbank Road - UHW Pedestrian Facilities 100

56 2.806667 57399 56060  PRJ095 Llanishen Station Road (Llanishen) Fidlas Road junction 150

57 2.733333 36595   P122 Cathays Cathays Park Junction Buildouts 120

58 2.235 52219 23786  PRJ081 Rhiwbina Pantbach Road / Ty-Wern Road 200

59 0.8388889 67297   PRJ005 Penylan Cyncoed Road Llanederyn Road junction 350

160 3075 Lisvane Mill Rd - Footway (Phase 1) 160

Appendix 4

Page 205



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix 5

Integrated Network Map Engagement Plan

Pre-Network Plan Engagement

 Gehl Workshops on Cycling Strategy with internal and external stakeholders (June 2016 and 
Sept 2016)

 Cycle Liaison Group INM Workshop 28th June 2016
 Car Free Day Information Gathering 22nd September
 Cabinet Member Briefing on Integrated Network Maps – ongoing
 Internal consultation with Council Officers November 2016
 Ward Member consultation on proposed schemes in individual wards – November 2016
 Member Briefings on Integrated Network Maps – TBA November/December 2016
 Environmental Scrutiny Committee – Presentation on Integrated Network Maps

Formal Public Consultation on Draft Integrated Network Maps – December 2016 – March 2017 

Online Engagement

 Information published on Cardiff Council website (www.cardiff.gov.uk/activetravel) and 
Keeping Cardiff Moving with associated online questionnaire

 Social media campaign
 Emails to:

o Stakeholder contact lists
o People and organisations who have requested to be consulted under the Active 

Travel Act (currently around 200 contacts)
o Cardiff Research Centre Contact Lists

Stakeholder Group Meetings

 Cycle Liaison Group
 Additional meetings to be held with:

o Cardiff Council Access Focus Group
o Cardiff Cycle City
o Sustrans Volunteers

Consultation Events

 Standalone consultation events to be undertaken, invitations to people that have requested 
to be consulted under the Active Travel Act and promotion through social media

 Opportunities to be identified throughout Consultation period to attend events to promote 
Cycle Strategy and Network Plan

 Explore possibility of running a community route audit in conjunction with Living Streets

Schools

 Sustrans Active Schools Engagement with Fitzalan High and Ysgol Gyfun Plasmawr
 Schools Community Street Audit in collaboration with Living Streets
 Emails to all schools

Page 207

http://www.cardiff.gov.uk/activetravel


Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Page 1 of 7

CYNGOR DINAS CAERDYDD
CITY OF CARDIFF COUNCIL

CABINET:  15 DECEMBER 2016

CARDIFF WEST TRANSPORT INTERCHANGE

REPORT OF DIRECTOR CITY OPERATIONS

AGENDA ITEM: 9
 

PORTFOLIO: TRANSPORT, PLANNING AND SUSTAINABILITY 
(COUNCILLOR RAMESH PATEL)

Reason for this Report

1. To seek approval to proceed with the development (which has Planning 
Consent) of an Integrated Transport Hub on the site of the former 
Waungron Road Recycling Depot.

Background

2. The Cardiff Bus Network Study (see background paper 1) identified 
shortcomings in the current Cardiff local bus network, in that current local 
bus and rail networks are mainly radial from the City Centre in nature 
which limits opportunities to make orbital cross city journeys by bus.  The 
study reviewed the existing infrastructure and analysed the levels of 
congestion and accessibility using sophisticated modelling techniques.  It 
compared the infrastructure and services in Cardiff with best practice 
examples in Edinburgh (Note:  37.5% of journeys to work were by bus or 
coach in Edinburgh in 2011 compared to 13.3% in Cardiff), Tyne and 
Wear, Merseyside, Hull, Nottingham, Oxford, Brighton, Reading, Bristol, 
Dublin (Ireland), Geneva (Switzerland), Bremen (Germany) and Valence 
(France).  Many of the exemplar cities operate a high proportion of core 
services as cross-city routes, with designated high quality interchange 
hubs on the periphery of the city centre and a small but high quality 
central bus station. The cities tend to operate with a mix of stopping and 
express services, on radial and orbital routes, and extended and 
consistent operating hours and service frequencies across the network.

3. The study suggested that the location of the former Civic Amenity site at 
Waungron Rd/Western Ave is ideally placed to facilitate modal 
interchange from radial routes from Western Cardiff at the adjacent 
Waungron Park rail station, and orbital bus journeys via Western Avenue 
and University Hospital Wales (UHW).  The location plan is provided in 
Appendix A and the general arrangement is provided in Appendix B.  The 
Western Transport Interchange has the potential to provide a highly 

Page 209

Agenda Item 9



Page 2 of 7

accessible interchange reachable from all parts of the city via the 
following routes:

 North West Cardiff – City Centre – East Cardiff;
 City Line Rail Services from Radyr to Central Station; and
 West Cardiff – City Centre – East Cardiff.

4. The study identified a need to ensure that the bus network is flexible 
such that it can be expanded to serve new development sites within 
Cardiff, in particular the proposed housing developments in the north-
west and north-east of Cardiff as set out in the deposit Local 
Development Plan (LDP).  There is significant opportunity to use 
developer contributions to pump prime these bus service expansions and 
the transport interchange at Waungron will contribute towards achieving 
services that can be operated on a commercial basis.

5. The study suggests how bus journey times and reliability could be 
significantly improved.  The principles discussed in the report show how 
the use of an interchange facility can increase service frequency, create 
more reliable journeys and minimise transfer time by redesigning the 
operations of existing services without the need to add new services.  
Therefore, the study confirms that there is significant potential to grow 
bus patronage by creating a more efficient bus network through 
investment in infrastructure that provides operators the confidence to 
invest and improve their bus services, providing a wider choice of 
destinations and making them an attractive and reliable alternative to 
travelling by private car.  The benefits will be further accentuated by 
future plans for integrated ticketing in the region.

6. Pedestrian and toucan crossing improvements will also be provided as 
part of the highway works surrounding the site to improve the 
attractiveness of key walking and cycling routes in the area.

7. The application for planning permission for the Western Transport 
Interchange has been approved, the road created will be adopted 
highway.  Associated Traffic Regulation Orders (subject to the Council 
following due procedure as set out in the Act and the regulations) will 
restrict vehicle access to public service vehicles and vehicles needed for 
essential maintenance.

Issues

8. The Local Transport Plan (LTP) prioritises interventions which facilitate 
easy interchange between transport modes and services to improve 
access for all to employment opportunities, services, health care, tourism 
and leisure facilities. Investment is required in infrastructure to facilitate 
the introduction of new services and local interchanges in order to extend 
the range of destinations which can be reached by public transport and 
thus extend travel choices.

9. The Local Development Plan has a target of 50% of all trips on the 
network to be made by sustainable modes. Significant improvements in 

Page 210



Page 3 of 7

the quality and attractiveness of sustainable travel choices are needed to 
facilitate the trips generated by the development sites in North West 
Cardiff, which will comprise 5000 housing units.  The Cardiff Capital 
Region Metro study in 2013 (see background paper 2) identified the 
Cardiff north-west corridor as the highest priority of the project, 
encompassing new routes and stations to facilitate the expansion of 
Cardiff from Cardiff Bay to Rhondda Cynon Taf via Creigiau to support 
redevelopment and help alleviate congestion on the strategic highway 
network in the region.  The Western Transport Interchange was not 
identified as a scheme in the Metro project.  However, it provides an 
early opportunity to help facilitate development growth in the corridor and 
provide complementary measures that will enhance the effectiveness of 
any future Metro public transport improvements.

10. The Cardiff Infrastructure Plan (see background papers 3 and 4) 
identifies transport hubs as providing interchange facilities for several 
modes of transport at one location and opportunity to link services with 
Park and Ride (see Appendix C: Bus Network Opportunities for Cardiff 
West Interchange).  Benefits include improved accessibility for 
commuters and an associated decrease in journey times for trips 
incorporating more than one mode of transport.  Users will benefit from 
an increased choice of destinations and convenience by being able to 
travel on cross-city services that are not currently available and providing 
alternatives for those travelling into Cardiff from the Region.  Hubs can 
also offer benefits for transport operators in terms of co-ordinating 
service timings.  Transport hubs were identified as an infrastructure 
requirement to be brought forward in the early stages of the Plan’s period 
to facilitate development.  The Western Interchange together with the 
Cardiff Central Integrated Transport Hub will provide an early opportunity 
to achieve this.

11. The development of the Western Interchange will facilitate better public 
transport links from the North West corridor to areas of growing 
employment (Cardiff Bay, redeveloped Central Square, UHW, Cardiff 
Gate), health care (UHW, Llandough Hospital), and education (Cardiff 
University, Cardiff Met, USW). It will also facilitate regional links via the 
local and national rail network accessed via the adjacent Waungron Park 
station.

12. Micro-simulation modelling of the surrounding highway network with the 
junction improvements needed to provide the access for the Western 
Transport Interchange has been undertaken (see background paper 5).  
Following consultation with bus operators, the design was subsequently 
changed to provide 4 stands rather than the 5 included in the modelling 
work which included scenarios of up to 53 buses per hour.  The 
modelling suggests that there will not be any significant additional 
congestion on the network with up to 40 buses per hour using the site.  
This level of service would equate to approximately 6 minutes between 
buses for each of the four stands (similar to service levels at Talbot 
Green in Rhondda Cynon Taf which also operates with 4 stands).

Page 211



Page 4 of 7

13. The initial budgeted estimate of the cost of the scheme included in the 
2016/17 capital programme was £500,000, however this related solely to 
the works within the site curtilage. Improvements to pedestrian and cycle 
access and telematics works needed to enable the site to operate 
efficiently for buses by integrating with existing signalised junctions, 
together with issues to do with site topography, unforeseen land 
remediation works related to the site’s former use and the necessity of 
providing some retaining measures to the adjoining Network Rail 
embankment have meant that the current estimate is now £1.7m (subject 
to soil contamination report outcome and tender). A soil contamination 
report has been prepared which confirms the mitigation measures that 
will be required. The cost estimate will be reviewed from the information 
in the report.

14. The works will also include remediation of the surplus land on the site 
and facilitate the access required for any development that might take 
place on it in the future.  

15. Given the extended scope of the scheme, as outlined in paragraph 13 
above, it is proposed that the future Bus Corridor Improvements budget 
in the Councils Indicative Capital Programme is used to fund this 
scheme.  Future proposed bus corridor improvement schemes would be 
funded either from drawing down from the Parking Reserve, if resources 
permit, or by bidding for additional resources such as specific WG grant 
bids.

16. Using the Department for Transport WebTAG appraisal guidance, it is 
estimated that the improvement will generate a conservatively estimated 
economic benefit of £1.8 million to users of the interchange over the next 
30 years.  This estimate does not account for the wider benefits 
associated with facilitating growth, improving the journey time and 
reliability of bus services, and encouraging mode shift to sustainable 
modes of travel.  There are also additional benefits of interchange with 
the Waungron Rail Station enabling improved access to travel regionally.  
Therefore, the overall economic benefits are likely to be significantly 
higher than the benefits to the users of the interchange.

17. The 2015 Ask Cardiff survey results show that 66% of respondents 
considered bus improvements were a priority.

18. The key timescales for delivery are as follows:

 Planning Permission –Consent obtained November 2016;

 Review Soil Contamination Report - November 2016;
 Prepare Traffic Regulation Orders (TRO’s) – December 2016;
 Issue Invitation to Tender – December 2016;
 Construction Start (16 Week Construction Period) – February 2017;
 Sealed TRO’s (subject to consultation) – May 2017; and
 Construction End – June 2017.

Page 212



Page 5 of 7

Local Member consultation 

19. Consultation is proceeding through the planning process.

Reason for Recommendations

20. To enable the development of Western Transport interchange to 
proceed.

Financial Implications

21. As a result of the extended scope of the proposed scheme, the report 
identifies a significant increase in estimated expenditure of £1.2m 
between the initial estimate of £500,000 and the current projection of 
£1.7m. The report identifies the factors behind this increase to be the 
result of cycle and pedestrian access improvements, integration of 
telematics within the wider immediate network, site topography, land 
remediation work and retaining measures required for the Network rail 
embankment.

22. The report refers to the projected cost of £1.7m being subject to the soil 
contamination report outcome and the tender for the work. A risk remains 
therefore that the projected cost of £1.7m could further increase, 
however, budget contingencies and strong project and contract 
management should be put in place to manage any such potential 
variations.

23. In the absence of any external funding towards the facility, a budget 
needs to be in place before any award of contract. The proposed funding 
for this scheme is the bringing forward of alternative City Operations 
Capital Programme schemes over a four year period. This relates to Bus 
Corridor improvement budgets which are currently £335,000 p.a. in the 
Council’s Indicative Capital programme. This will mean that future 
proposed bus corridor improvement schemes in the medium term would 
need to be funded either from the parking reserve, subject to adequate 
resources being available in the reserve, or other external resources 
such as WG grant bids.

24. A further element of funding for the Transport Interchange is the disposal 
towards the costs of developing the Interchange. Whilst strategic estates 
advice is that any disposal is realistic, this funding is not confirmed in 
either its timing or its amount.

25. The operating costs of the facility are not identified in the report but as 
this will be an unmanned facility the Directorate do not consider that 
these will be significant. Any ongoing maintenance and any future 
operating costs will need to be funded by the Directorate from within 
existing resources

Page 213



Page 6 of 7

Legal Implications

26. The recommendation within the report seeks authority to carry out a 
procurement for a Works contract with an estimated value of £1.7 million, 
with authority delegated to the Director of City Operations.

27. Given the estimated value of the contract falls below the EU Procurement 
not apply.  That said, the proposal is still subject to the EU Treaty 
Principles of (amongst other things) equal treatment, non-discrimination 
openness and transparency and the Council’s Contract Standing Orders 
and Procedure Rules. To this end, Legal Services are instructed a 
competitive tender process will be carried out and legal advice should be 
sought on the proposals and form of contract.  It is understood that a 
separate report will be prepared in line with the delegation set out in 
recommendation 2.

28. In respect of the future arrangements, along with procurement and 
contract law implications detailed advice should be sought as to whether 
the same raise any property and planning law issues. 

29. It is noted the body of the report refers to proposals to make traffic 
regulation orders.  It must be appreciated the Council must comply with 
the procedure set out in the Act and the regulations and cannot 
guarantee the orders will be made. The making of any traffic regulation 
order is dependent upon, amongst other things, the outcome of the 
statutory consultation process. 

Equalities/Public Sector Duties

30. In considering this matter the decision maker must have regard to the 
Council’s duties under the Equality Act 2010. Pursuant to these legal 
duties Councils must, in making decisions, have due regard to the need 
to (1) eliminate unlawful discrimination, (2) advance equality of 
opportunity and (3) foster good relations on the basis of protected 
characteristics.   Protected characteristics are: (a). Age,( b ) Gender 
reassignment( c ) Sex (d) Race – including ethnic or national origin, 
colour or nationality, (e) Disability, (f) Pregnancy and maternity, (g) 
Marriage and civil partnership, (h)Sexual orientation (i)Religion or belief – 
including lack of belief.

31. The decision maker must be satisfied that the proposal is within the 
Policy and Budget framework of the Council.  

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended that Cabinet; 

1. Approve the proposed Western Transport Interchange development; and

2. Delegate authority to the Director of City Operations in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Finance, Cabinet Member for Transport, 
Planning and Sustainability, the Council’s s151 Officer and the Director 

Page 214



Page 7 of 7

of Law and Governance to deal with all aspects of the procurement of the 
Works for the Western Interchange Development as set out in this report, 
up to and including the award of the contract.

3. Approve the transfer of Indicative Capital Programme allocation from Bus 
Corridor improvements to the Cardiff West Interchange Scheme.

ANDREW GREGORY
Director
9 December 2016

The following appendices are attached: 

Appendix A:  Location Plan of the Western Transport Interchange
Appendix B:  General Arrangement Drawings CO16017-2 and CO16017-3. 
Appendix C:  Bus Network Opportunities for Cardiff West Interchange.

The following background papers have been taken into account:

1.  “Transforming the Bus Network, Cardiff Bus Network Study”, 
6th November 2014, by Arup for Cardiff Council in Conjunction with 
Cardiff Bus (Local Development Plan Examination Document Library 
Reference ED026).

2. “Report to the Minister for Economy, Science and Transport, A Cardiff 
Capital Region Metro: Impact Study”, October 2013.

3. “Background Technical Paper No.6, Infrastructure Plan”, updated 
November 2014 (Local Development Plan Examination Document 
Library Reference ED009.11).

4. “Cardiff Infrastructure Plan”, September 2016 (Community Infrastructure 
Levy supporting documents, Reference CIL009).

5. “Waun Gron Modelling – Two Way Bus Hub Modelling”, update v2, by 
Aecom dated July 2016.

 

Page 215



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix A
 

Location Plan of the Western Transport Interchange

Page 217



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol



Appendix B

Appendix B:  General Arrangement Drawing CO167017-2

Page 219



Appendix B

 General Arrangement Drawing CO167017-3

Page 220



Appendix C:  
Bus Network Opportunities for Cardiff West Interchange

Page 221



Mae'r dudalen hon yn wag yn fwriadol


	Agenda
	1 Cofnodion y Cyfarfodydd Cabinet a gynhaliwyd 10 a 21 Tachwedd 2016
	Draft Mins - 21Nov16

	2 Adroddiad Dilyn i Fyny Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru ar yr Asesiad Corfforaethol - Datganiad Gweithredu
	CAB 15 December 2016 - WAO Statement of Action Update - App A
	CAB 15 December 2016 - WAO Statement of Action Update - App B

	3 Cofrestr Risg Corfforaethol - Adolygiad Canol Blwyddyn 2016/17
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Risk Register - Appendix A
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Risk Register - Appendix B
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Risk Register - Appendix C

	4 Sail y Dreth Gyngor 2017-18
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Council Tax Base Report 2017-18 - Appendix A 2017-18
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Council Tax Base Report 2017-18 - Appendix B
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Council Tax Base Report 2017-18 - Appendix C
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Council Tax Base Report 2017-18 - Appendix D
	CAB 15 Dec 2016- Council Tax Base Report 2017-18 - Appendix E
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Council Tax Base Report 2017-18 - Appendix F
	CAB 15 Dec 2016- Council Tax Base Report 2017-18 - Appendix G

	5 Ail-gomisiynu Teuluoedd yn Gyntaf
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Families First - Appendix A Future development of the FF programme - Cabinet Secretary d....
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Families First - Appendix B EIA for SRE
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Families First - Appendix C EIA for ASSIST
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Families First - Appendix D EIA for Sustainable Employment
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Families First - Appendix E EIA for remaining programme
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Families First - Appendix F Scrutiny Letter

	6 Gofynion Llety yn Ysgol Uwchradd Cantonian
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Cantonian - Confidential App A

	7 Ffordd Gyswllt Dwyrain y Bae
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - EBL - App A

	8 Map Rhwydwaith Integredig
	CAB 15 Dec 2016  - Integrated Network Map - Appendix 1 - Cardiff Integrated Network Map for Walking
	01. WalkingINM_Overview
	02. Cyncoed North
	03. Fairwater
	04. Lisvane & Thornhill Station
	05. Llanedeyrn
	06. Pontcanna
	07. Radyr
	08. Roath Park
	09. Roath
	10. WaterlooGdns&NewportRd
	11. Whitchurch Village

	CAB 15 Dec 2016  - Integrated Network Map - Appendix 2 - Cardiff Integrated Network Map for Cycling
	01. Overview
	02. Canton_Grangetown_Butetown
	03. Fairwater_Caerau_Ely_StFagans
	04. LlandaffN_Llandaff_Radyr_Whitchurch
	05. Llanishen_Lisvane_Cyncoed_Heath_Rhiwbina
	06. Llanrumney_Rumney_Pentwyn_StMellons_Trowbridge
	07. Penylan_Plasnewydd_Splott_Adamsdown
	08. Riverside_Cathays_Gabalfa
	09. Primary Route_EW1
	10. Primary Route_EW2
	11. Primary Route_EW3
	12. Primary Route_NS1
	13. Primary Route_NS2

	CAB 15 Dec 2016  - Integrated Network Map - Appendix 3 - Cardiff Existing Route Map
	1. Cycling ERM
	2. Statement and Explanation_Eng
	3. Walking ERM Ely Caerau
	4. Walking ERM Grangetown
	5. Walking ERM Llanishen
	6. Walking ERM Llanrumney
	7. Walking ERM Roath
	8. Walking ERM Whitchurch

	CAB 15 Dec 2016  - Integrated Network Map - Appendix 4 - Transport Projects Future Programme
	CAB 15 Dec 2016  - Integrated Network Map - Appendix 5 - Integrated Network Map Engagement Plan

	9 Cyfnewidfa Drafnidiaeth Gorllewin Caerdydd
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Cardiff West Transport Interchange - App  A
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Cardiff West Transport Interchange - App B
	CAB 15 Dec 2016 - Cardiff West Transport Interchange - App C




